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CONFIRMATION HEARING
ON THE NOMINATION OF
HON. WILLIAM PELHAM BARR
TO BE ATTORNEY GENERAL
OF THE UNITED STATES

TUESDAY, JANUARY 15, 2019

UNITED STATES SENATE ,
COMMITTEE ON THE  JUDICIARY ,
Washington, DC.

The Committee met, pursuant to notice, at 9:32 a.m., in Room
SH-216, Hart Senate Office Building, Hon. Lindsey O. Graham,
Chairman of the Committee, presiding.

Present: Senators Graham [presiding], Grassley, Cornyn, Lee,
Cruz, Sasse, Hawley, Tillis, Ernst, Crapo, Kennedy, Blackburn,
Feinstein, Leahy, Durbin, Whitehouse, Klobuchar, Coons,
Blumenthal, Hirono, Booker, and Harris.

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. LINDSEY O. GRAHAM,
A U.S. SENATOR FROM THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

Chairman G raHAM . Thank you, all. You are not going to get a
good shot of me. So, thank you, all.

So, Happy New Year, New Congress, and we will see how this
goes.

| recognize Senator Grassley.

Senator GRAsSSLEY. Okay. | do this with a point of personal privi-
lege, Mr. Chairman, and | appreciate that courtesy of you and the
Members.

This is the first meeting of the Senate Judiciary Committee in
this 116th Congress. It is also the first time that we convene while
my friend Lindsey Graham holds the gavel and will proceed to be
Chairman.

So | would like to congratulate the new Chairman, thank him for
his leadership, and say that | look forward to working with you
and the other Members of this Committee as we seek to address
some of our Nation's most pressing problems. | have every con-
fidence that you will steer our 200-year-old Committee in the right
direction.

Chairman G raHAM . Well, thank you. | really appreciate that. In
my view, nobody looks over 100, so we are actually—we are aging
well as a Committee.

The bottom line is, how do you get this job? Your colleagues have
to vote for you. Thank you. You have to get re-elected and outlive
the person to your right. So | have been able to do that.

)
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And | look forward to working with Senator Feinstein, who is—
| have a lot of affection and fondness for. She, to me, represents
a seriousness that the body needs and a demeanor that | think we
should all aspire to.

To the new colleagues—Senators Hawley, Blackburn, and
Ernst—thank you for being part of this Committee. To Senators
Blackburn and Ernst, thank you for making history, | think, on our
side.

As to the hopes and dreams for this Committee, to get as much
done as possible and to fight when we have to over things that
matter to the public and show two different views of an issue that
is important, but do it as respectfully as possible.

Sentencing reform. Criminal justice reform was a very big deal,
and this Committee delivered for the country. Senator Durbin, |
want to thank you very, very much for working with Senator Lee
and Senator Grassley and Senator Booker. That is a big deal that
is going to change lives, | think, in a positive way.

So this Committee has within it the ability to do big things long
overdue. | know Senator Blackburn wants to do something on so-
cial media. Senator Klobuchar has got some ideas about how to
make sure if you put an ad up on social media, you have to stand
by it.

We are all worried about social media platforms being hijacked
by terrorists and bad actors throughout the international world.
We are worried about privacy. Do you really know what you are
signing up for when you get on one of these platforms? | would like
this Committee working with Commerce to see if we can find some
way to tame the “wild West.”

Intellectual property. Senator Tillis and Senator Coons have
some ideas that | look forward to hearing about. Senator Sasse
wants to make sure that we act ethically. You have got a package
of ethic reforms, and | look forward to working with you there.

On this side, | know there are a lot of ideas that | am sure that
if we sat down and talked we could embrace, and | look forward
to solving as many problems as we can and having a contest over
ideas that really matter to the American people.

Senator Hatch, thank you for coming. In terms of my Chairman-
ship, if I can do what you and Senator Grassley were able to do
during your time, | will have done the Committee a good service.

Senator Grassley, thank you very much. Last year was tough,
but | think you and Senator Feinstein did the best you could in the
environment in which we live. The times in which we live are very
difficult times. | do not see them getting better overnight, but | do
see them getting better if we all want them to.

So, about me, | want us to do better, and | will be as measured
as possible. The Immigration Lindsey will show up, but the other
guy is there, too, and | do not like him any more than you do.

So the bottom line is, we are starting off with something that
would be good for the country. We have a vacancy for the Attorney
General spot. We have a chance to fill that vacancy.

Mr. Barr, you cannot hold a job. When you look at what he has
done in his life, it is incredible. So | want to thank the President
for nominating somebody who is worthy of the job, who will under-
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stand on day one what the job is about and can right the ship over
there.

| think we all have concerns. | know Senator Whitehouse is pas-
sionate about cybersecurity and “Fort Cyber” and all of these other
ideas that Sheldon has been pushing. It is just a matter of time be-
fore we are hit and hit hard if somebody does not step up to the
plate with some solutions.

But a little bit about the nominee. He has been Attorney General
before, from 1991 to 1993 by voice vote. Those were the days. Dep-
uty Attorney General from 1990 to 1991, unanimous consent with-
out a recorded vote. Assistant Attorney General, Office of Legal
Counsel, voice vote. That is pretty amazing. | think you are going
to have an actual vote this time.

Academically gifted: George Washington Law School, Columbia
University undergraduate. Outside of DOJ, he was the General
Counsel, Legislative Counsel for the CIA. That is how he met Bush
41. He has been a law clerk. He has worked in private practice. |
am not going to bore the Committee with all the things he has
done. He has been the senior vice president and general counsel of
GTE.

He has lived a consequential life—general counsel of Verizon.
You have lived a life that | think has been honorable and note-
worthy and accomplished, and | want to thank you for being will-
ing to take this task on. We have got a lot of problems at the De-
partment of Justice. | think morale is low, and we need to change
that.

So | will look forward to this hearing. You will be challenged.
You should be challenged. The memo, there will be a lot of talk
about it, as there should be. But | just want to let you know, Mr.
Barr, that we appreciate you stepping up at a time when the coun-
try needs somebody of your background and your temperament to
be in charge of the rule of law.

And with that, | will turn it over to my colleague, Senator Fein-
stein.

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. DIANNE FEINSTEIN,
A U.S. SENATOR FROM THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Senator FEINSTEIN . Thanks very much, Mr. Chairman.

And | want you to know | really look forward to working with
you.

Chairman G rRAaHAM . Me, too.

Senator FEINSTEIN . And | think we can work productively to-
gether.

And Senator Grassley, | want to thank you for the time we
worked together. It really was a pleasure, and | had an opportunity
to get to know you as the fine person that you are. So thank you
very much.

| want to say just one word or two or three about women. Twen-
ty-five years ago, there were no women on this Committee. | will
never forget watching the Anita Hill hearing on a television in the
London airport with a lot of people gathered around. So | went over
to take a look, and | saw, and | saw this all-male Judiciary Com-
mittee.
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And it took all these years, but here we are. And | want to par-
ticularly welcome Senator Ernst and Senator Blackburn. | think it
is extraordinarily important that this Committee be representative
of our society at large and that we are growing that way, and so
thank you very much for being here.

| would also like to welcome Bill Barr and his family. | know you
are proud to be here, and you served as Attorney General before
from 1991 to 1993, and | think we all have great respect for your
commitment to public service.

When we met, your previous tenure marked a very different—we
talked about a very different time for our country, and today, we
find ourselves in a unique time with a different administration and
different challenges. And now, perhaps more than ever before, the
country needs someone who will uphold the rule of law, defend the
independence of the Justice Department, and truly understand
their job is to serve as the people’s lawyer, not the President’s law-
yer.

Top of mind for all of us is the ongoing Mueller investigation. Im-
portantly, the Attorney General must be willing to resist political
pressure and be committed to protecting this investigation. | am
pleased that in our private meeting, as well as in your written
statement submitted to the Committee, you stated that it is vitally
important—and this is a quote—that “the Special Counsel be al-
lowed to complete his investigation” and that “the public and Con-
gress be informed of the results of the Special Counsel’'s work.”

However, there are at least two aspects of Mr. Mueller’s inves-
tigation: first, Russian interference in the United States election
and whether any U.S. persons were involved in that interference
and, second, possible obstruction of justice. It is the second compo-
nent that you have written on. And just 5 months before you were
nominated, | spent the weekend on your 19-page legal memo to
Deputy Attorney General Rod Rosenstein criticizing Mueller’s in-
vestigation, specifically the investigation into potential obstruction
of justice.

In the memo, you conclude, | think, that Special Counsel Mueller
is “grossly irresponsible for pursuing an obstruction case against
the President and pursuing the obstruction inquiry is fatally mis-
conceived.” So, | hope we can straighten that out in this hearing.

But your memo also shows a large, sweeping view of presidential
authority and determined effort, |1 thought, to undermine Bob
Mueller, even though you state you have been friends and are in
the dark about many of the facts of the investigation. So it does
raise questions about your willingness to reach conclusions before
knowing the facts and whether you prejudge the Mueller investiga-
tion. And I hope you will make that clear today.

It also raises a number of serious questions about your views on
Executive authority and whether the President is, in fact, above
the law. For example, you wrote, “The President’—and | quote—
“alone is the executive branch. As such, he is the sole repository
of all Executive powers conferred by the Constitution. Thus, the
full measure of law enforcement authority is placed in the Presi-
dent’s hands, and no limit is placed on the kinds of cases subject
to his control and supervision.”
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This is in your memo on page 10, and | will ask you about it.
This analysis included cases involving potential misconduct, where
you concluded, and | quote, “The President may exercise his super-
visory authority over cases dealing with his own interests, and the
President transgresses no legal limitation when he does so.” That
is on page 12.

In fact, you went so far as to conclude that, “The Framers’ plan
contemplates that the President’'s law enforcement powers extend
to all matters, including those in which he has a personal stake.”
You also wrote, “The Constitution itself places no limit on the
President’'s authority to act on matters which concern him or his
own conduct.” Page 10.

Later, you conceded that certain supervisory actions, such as the
firing of Director Comey, may be unlawful obstruction. However,
this, too, is qualified. You argue that in such a case, obstruction of
justice occurs only if, first, a prosecutor proves that the President
or his aides colluded with Russia. Specifically, you conclude, and |
quote, “The issue of obstruction only becomes ripe after the alleged
collusion by the President or his campaign is established first.”

So that is some of the things | hope to ask you about. And in
conclusion, let me just say that some of your past statements on
the role of Attorney General and presidential power are concerning.
For instance, you have said in the past that the Attorney General
is the President’s lawyer.

In November 2017, you made comments suggesting it would be
permissible for the President to direct the Justice Department to
open an investigation into his political opponents, and this is nota-
ble in light of President Trump’s repeated calls for the investiga-
tion of Hillary Clinton and others who disagree with him. | believe
it is important that the next Attorney General be able to strongly
resist pressure, whether from the administration or Congress, to
conduct investigations for political purposes.

He must have the integrity, the strength, and the fortitude to tell
the President no, regardless of the consequences. In short, he must
be willing to defend the independence of the Justice Department.

So my questions will be do you have that strength and commit-
ment to be independent of the White House pressures you will un-
doubtedly face? Will you protect the integrity of the Justice Depart-
ment above all else?

Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

[The prepared statement of Senator Feinstein appears as a sub-
mission for the record.]

Chairman G raHAM . Thank you, Senator Feinstein.

Senator Hatch, welcome back. We truly miss you. You were a
great Chairman and an incredible Member of this body, and you
are very welcome to share your thoughts about Mr. Barr with this
Committee.

STATEMENT OF HON. ORRIN G. HATCH
FORMER U.S. SENATOR FROM THE STATE OF UTAH

Senator H ATcH. Well, thank you so much, Mr. Chairman, Rank-
ing Member Feinstein as well, and Members of the Committee.

It is my distinct pleasure to be here today to introduce William
Barr, the President’s nominee to be Attorney General of the United



6

States. | have known and worked with Bill closely over the years
and am glad to call him a friend.

Bill has had a distinguished career in public service and in the
private sector. He started his career at the Central Intelligence
Agency. While there, he went to law school part time at George
Washington University. Following graduation, he was selected for
a prestigious clerkship with a Federal Judge on the D.C. Circuit
before heading to private practice. Later, he served in the Reagan
White House in the Office of Policy Development.

Following another stint in private practice, Bill began his distin-
guished career at the Department of Justice under President
George H.W. Bush. Bill served as the Assistant Attorney General
for the Office of Legal Counsel, then as Deputy Attorney General,
and finally, as Attorney General of the United States.

As Attorney General, Bill oversaw a number of sensitive criminal
investigations, including the investigation into the Pan Am Flight
103 bombing. He prioritized fighting violent crime and became
known as a law and order Attorney General.

Throughout his time at the Justice Department, Bill earned a
reputation as a fierce advocate for the rule of law, as a principled
and independent decisionmaker, and as a lawyer’'s lawyer. He has
shown his commitment to the Constitution time and time again
while serving our country. That is why he has been confirmed by
the Senate unanimously three times.

After completing his service at the DOJ, Bill returned to the pri-
vate sector, working at law firms and as Counsel for some of Amer-
ica’s largest companies. | could do—I could go on at length describ-
ing Bill's distinguished career. There is no question, none whatso-
ever, that Bill is well qualified to serve as Attorney General. He
has held this position before and won high praise during his tenure
for his fairness, his tenacity, and his work ethic.

So instead of droning on about Bill's re “sumé, | want to tell you
about what Bill identifies as the most important achievement of his
private service as Attorney General, at least, | believe this is what
he believes. | believe his answer tells you much about how he will
approach the job and who he is.

When asked what his most important accomplishment was as At-
torney General, Bill does not point to one of his many policy suc-
cesses. He does not talk about his role in setting antitrust merger
guidelines. He does not say it was his role leading the DOJ'’s re-
sponse to the savings and loan crisis. No, for him, it was something
more. It was something more tangible. It was Talladega.

Three days after Bill was named Acting Attorney General by
President Bush, 121 prisoners noted and seized control of the
Talladega Federal Correctional Institution in Alabama. This was a
very serious matter, and they took 10 hostages. Planning at the
DOJ began immediately for how best to resolve the situation and
secure the safe release of the hostages.

In such a situation, some would have sought political cover, not
Bill. He was in charge. He knew the response was his decision to
make, his responsibility. He maintained his focus on the safety of
the men and women held hostage by the prisoners.

The standoff lasted 10 days. Then on Bill's order, FBI agents
stormed the prison. Three minutes later, it was over. The hostages
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were safe. The mission was well planned and executed. The Fed-
eral agents did not even have to fire a single shot. Bill's decision-
making and judgment helped save lives.

When President Bush nominated Bill to be Attorney General in
1991, | noted why he had been selected. He was not a member of
President Bush’s political or personal inner circle. He was not a
part of the President’s brain trust. He was not a politician or
former politician who brought political clout to the position from
prior elections or prior elected office. Bill Barr was a lawyer’s law-
yer. Talent, merit, and performance—those were the reasons Presi-
dent Bush selected him to be the Attorney General at that time.

That statement holds true today. Bill Barr, in my opinion, is an
outstanding choice for Attorney General. His vast experience, re-
nowned judgment, and reputation as an ardent defender of the rule
of law make him a nominee that the American people, the Presi-
dent, and the Senate should all be proud of.

So | feel very honored to be here today to speak in his favor, and
I hope that his nomination will be approved expeditiously.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman G rRAHAM . Thanks, Senator Hatch.

| would like to note at the outset that the Rules of the Senate
prohibit outbursts, clapping, or demonstrations of any kind. This
includes blocking the view of people around you. Please be mindful
of these rules as we conduct this hearing. | will ask the Capitol Po-
lice to remove anyone who violates the rules of this Committee.

Thank you, Senator Hatch.

Mr. Barr, would you come forward, please?

Chairman G raHAM . Raise your right hand, please. Do you affirm
that the testimony you are about to give to this Committee will be
the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth, so help you
God?

General B ARR. | do.

Chairman G raHAM . The floor is yours.

STATEMENT OF HON. WILLIAM PELHAM BARR, NOMINEE
TO BE ATTORNEY GENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES

General B ARR. Before | begin, Mr. Chairman, could | introduce
my family?

Chairman G rRaHAM . Absolutely.

General B ARR. My wife of 46 years, Christine, a retired librarian.
My daughter Margaret, who we call Meg, she was an Assistant
United States Attorney in the District of Columbia, but now has
moved up to Capitol Hill and works for Senator Braun.

My middle daughter, Patricia, who is also an attorney, and she
has been Counsel to the House Agriculture Committee for how long
now, Patty, 10—11 years. And my daughter Mary, who is a long-
time Federal prosecutor and is currently the coordinator for opioid
enforcement in the Office of the Deputy Attorney General.

Mary’s husband, Mike, who is also an attorney at the Depart-
ment of Justice in the National Security Division, and their son—
Mary and Mike's son—Liam, who will someday be in the Depart-
ment of Justice.

[Laughter.]
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General B ARR. Patricia’s husband, Pelham, who is a founding
partner of a consulting firm. And Meg’s husband, Tyler, who is also
an Assistant United States Attorney in the Eastern District of Vir-
ginia.

Did | leave anyone out?

Chairman G raHAM . Think about medical school, Liam.

[Laughter.]

Chairman G rRaHAM . Somebody needs to make money in the fam-

ily.

General B ARR. When Meg was starting at Notre Dame, | told her
| wanted a doctor in the family, and | made her take organic chem.
Needless to say, she is now a lawyer. So——

Good morning, Mr. Chairman, Ranking Member Feinstein, and
Members of the Committee. It is a privilege to come before you
today, and | am honored that President Trump has nominated me
for the position of Attorney General.

| regret that | come before this Committee at a time when much
of our Government is shut down, and my thoughts are with the
dedicated men and women of the Department of Justice and other
Federal workers, many of whom continue to perform their critical
jobs.

As you know, if the Senate confirms me, this would be my second
time | would have the honor of holding this office. During the 4
years | served under President George H.W. Bush, he nominated
me for three successive positions in the Department—the Assistant
Attorney General for the Office of Legal Counsel, the Deputy Attor-
ney General, and finally, the Attorney General—and this Com-
mittee unanimously approved me for each of those offices.

Twenty-seven years ago at my confirmation hearing, | explained
that the office of Attorney General is not like any other Cabinet
post. It is unique and has a critical role to play under our constitu-
tional system. | said then, the Attorney General has a very special
obligation, unique obligations. He holds in trust the fair and impar-
tial administration of justice.

It is the Attorney General's responsibility to enforce the law
evenhandedly and with integrity. The Attorney General must en-
sure that the administration of justice, the enforcement of the law,
is above and away from politics. Nothing could be more destructive
of our system of Government, of the rule of law, or the Department
of Justice as an institution, than any toleration of political inter-
ference with the enforcement of the law.

| believe this as strongly today as | did 27 years ago, indeed,
more strongly. We live in a time when the country is deeply di-
vided. In the current environment, the American people have to
know that there are places in the Government where the rule of
law, not politics, holds sway and where they will be treated fairly
based solely on the facts and the evenhanded application of the
law. The Department of Justice must be that place.

| did not pursue this position, and when my name was first
raised, | was reluctant to be considered and, indeed, proposed a
number of alternative candidates. | am 68 years old, partially re-
tired, and nearing the end of a long legal career. My wife and |
were looking forward to a peaceful and cherished time with our
daughters and grandchildren. And | have had this job before.
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But ultimately, | agreed to serve because | believe strongly in
public service, | revere the law, | love the Department of Justice
and the dedicated professionals who serve there, and | believe that
| can do a good job leading the Department in these times.

If confirmed, | will serve with the same independence | did in
1991. At that time, when President Bush chose me, he sought no
promises and asked only that his Attorney General act with profes-
sionalism and integrity. Likewise, President Trump has sought no
assurances, promises, or commitments from me of any kind, either
express or implied, and | have not given him any, other than that
| would run the Department with professionalism and integrity.

As Attorney General, my allegiance will be to the rule of law, the
Constitution, and the American people. This is how it should be,
this is how it must be, and if you confirm me, this is how it will
be. Now let me address a few matters | know are on the minds of
some of the Members of this Committee.

First, | believe it is vitally important that the Special Counsel be
allowed to complete his investigation. | have known Bob Mueller
for 30 years. We worked closely together throughout my previous
tenure at the Department of Justice. We have been friends since,
and | have the utmost respect for Bob and his distinguished record
of public service. And when he was named Special Counsel, | said
his selection was good news and that, knowing him, | had con-
fidence he would handle the matter properly. And I still have that
confidence today.

Given his public actions to date, | expect that the Special Coun-
sel is well along in his investigation. At the same time, the Presi-
dent has been steadfast that he was not involved in any collusion
with Russian attempts to interfere in the election. | believe it is in
the best interest of everyone—the President, Congress, and the
American people—that this matter be resolved by allowing the Spe-
cial Counsel to complete his work.

The country needs a credible resolution to these issues, and if
confirmed, | will not permit partisan politics, personal interests, or
any other improper consideration to interfere with this or any other
investigation. | will follow the Special Counsel regulations scru-
pulously and in good faith, and on my watch, Bob will be allowed
to finish his work.

Second, | also believe it is very important that the public and
Congress be informed of the results of the Special Counsel's work.
My goal will be to provide as much transparency as | can, con-
sistent with the law. | can assure you that where judgments are
to be made, | will make those judgments based solely on the law,
and | will not let personal, political, or other improper interests in-
fluence my decision.

Third, | would like to briefly address the memorandum that |
wrote last June. | wrote the memo as a former Attorney General
who has often weighed in on legal issues of public importance, and
| distributed it broadly so that other lawyers would have the ben-
efit of my views. My memo was narrow, explaining my thinking on
a specific obstruction of justice theory under a single statute that
| thought, based on media reports, the Special Counsel might be
considering.
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The memo did not address or in any other way question the Spe-
cial Counsel's core investigation into Russian efforts to interfere in
the election, nor did it address other potential obstruction of justice
theories or argue, that some have wrongly suggested, that a Presi-
dent can never obstruct justice. | wrote it myself on my initiative
without any assistance and based solely on public information.

I would like to comment very briefly on my priorities, if con-
firmed as Attorney General.

First, we must continue the progress we have made on violent
crime, while at the same time recognize the changes that have oc-
curred since | last served as Attorney General. The recently passed
First Step Act, which | intend to diligently implement if confirmed,
recognizes the progress we have made over the past 3 decades in
fighting violent crime. As Attorney General, | will ensure that we
will continue our efforts to combat violent crime.

In the past, | was focused on predatory violence, but today | am
also concerned about another kind of violence. We can only survive
and thrive as a Nation if we are mutually tolerant of each other’s
differences, whether they be differences based on race, ethnicity,
religion, sexual orientation, or political thinking. And yet we see
some people violently attacking others simply because of their dif-
ferences. We must have zero tolerance for such crimes, and | will
make this a priority as Attorney General, if confirmed.

Next, the Department will continue to prioritize enforcing and
improving our immigration laws. As a Nation, we have the most
liberal and expansive immigration laws in the world. Legal immi-
gration has historically been a huge benefit to this country. How-
ever, as we open our front door and try to admit people in an or-
derly way, we cannot allow others to flout our legal system by
crashing in through the back doors. In order to ensure that our im-
migration system works properly, we must secure our Nation’s bor-
ders, and we must ensure that our laws allow us to process, hold,
and remove those who unlawfully enter.

Finally, in a democracy like ours, the right to vote is paramount.
In a period of great political division, one of the foundations of our
Nation is our enduring commitment to the peaceful transition of
power through elections. If confirmed, | will ensure that the full
might of our resources are brought to bear against foreign persons
who unlawfully interfere in our elections. Fostering confidence in
the outcomes of elections also means ensuring that the right to vote
is fully protected as well as ensuring the integrity of elections.

Let me conclude by making the point that over the long run, the
course of justice in this country has more to do with the character
of the Department of Justice as an enduring institution than with
the tenure of any particular Attorney General. Above all else, if
confirmed, | will work diligently to protect the professionalism and
integrity of the Department as an institution, and | will strive to
leave it and the Nation a stronger and better place.

Thank you very much for your time today, and | look forward to
answering your questions.

[The prepared statement of General Barr appears as a submis-
sion for the record.]
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Chairman G rRAHAM . Thank you, Mr. Barr. We will try to break
around 11:30, | think, to get a quick bite and break up the day for
you.

But one thing | want to tell you is, that | support the idea that
politicians, no matter of what Party, should not interfere with
criminal investigations. That makes imminent sense to me. Once
you go down that road, then the rule of law collapses.

But there is another side to this equation—if | may say, a two-
way street. What about those in charge of enforcing the law? What
about those with the power to bring charges against American citi-
zens, including people up here? | remember Senator Stevens' case
in Alaska. So, we should always be on guard about the politician
interfering in an investigation, but we should also have oversight
of how the Department works, and those with this tremendous
power use that power.

Are you familiar with the January 11th New York Times article
about, “FBI Opened Inquiry Into Whether Trump Was Secretly
Working on Behalf of Russia”?

General B ARR. Yes, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman G raHAM . Would you promise me and this Committee
to look into this and tell us whether or not, in the appropriate way,

a counterintelligence investigation was opened up by somebody at
the FBI, Department of Justice against President Trump?

General B ARR. Yes, Mr. Chairman, | think there are a number
of investigations, as | understand it, going on in the Department.

Chairman G raHAM . Have you ever heard of such a thing in all
the time you have been associated with the Department of Justice?

General B ARR. | have never heard of that.

Chairman G raHAM . Are there rules about how you can do coun-
terintelligence investigations?

General B ARR. | believe there are, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman G rRaHAM . So if you want to open up one against the
President, are there any checks and balances?

General B ARR. Not outside the FBI.

Chairman G raHAM . Okay. Well, we need to look at that. In terms
of people who are actually enforcing the law, don't we want to
make sure they don't have an agenda?

General B ARR. That is right, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman G raHAM . Do you know a Lisa Page or Peter Strzok?

General B ARR. | have heard their names.

Chairman G raHAM . But do you know them personally?

General B ArRR. No, | do not.

Chairman G rRAaHAM . This is a message, August 8th, 2016, a text
message: “Trump’s not ever going to become President, right?
Right? " Strzok responded, “No, no, he’s not. We'll stop him.” Strzok
was in charge of the Clinton email investigation. Ms. Page worked
at the Department of Justice. August 15th, 2016: “l want to believe
the path you threw out for consideration in Andy’s office, that
there’s no way he gets elected, but I'm afraid we can't take that
risk. It's like an insurance policy in the unlikely event you die be-
fore 40.” March 4th, 2016, Page to Strzok: “God, Trump is a loath-
some human being.” October the 20th, 2016: “Trump is an ‘F-ing
idiot, is unable to provide a coherent answer.”
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To all those who enforce the law, you can have any opinion of
us that you like, but you are supposed to do your job without an
agenda. Do you promise me as Attorney General, if you get this job,
to look in to see what happened in 20167?

General B ARR. Yes, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman G rRaHAM . How do these statements sit with you?

General B ARR. | was shocked when | saw them.

Chairman G raHAM . Okay. Please get to the bottom of it. | prom-
ise you we will protect the investigation, but we are relying upon
you to clean this place up.

FISA warrants. Are you familiar with a FISA warrant?

General B ARR. Yes, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman G raHAM . Okay. During the process of obtaining a war-
rant, is there a certification made by the Department of Justice to
the court that the information being provided is reliable?

General B ARR. Yes, sir.

Chairman G rRAHAM . Are you familiar with Bruce Ohr?

General B ArRR. NO, | am not.

Chairman G raHAM . Bruce Ohr was Associate Deputy Attorney
General for Organized Crime and Drug Enforcement. His wife
worked at Fusion GPS. Are you familiar with Fusion GPS?

General B ARR. Yes, | have read about that.

Chairman G raHAM . Fusion GPS, Mr. Barr, was hired by the
Democratic National Committee and the Clinton Campaign to do
opposition research against Candidate Trump and maybe other
candidates, but we now know that they hired Fusion GPS, Michael
Steele, who is a former British agent, to do opposition research and
produce the famous dossier. Are you aware that Mr. Ohr's wife
worked for that organization?

General B ARR. | have read that.

Chairman G raHAM . Does that bother you if he had anything to
do with the case?

General B ARR. Yes.

Chairman G rRAHAM . Are you aware that on numerous occasions,
he met with Mr. Steele while his wife worked with Fusion GPS?

General B ARR. | have read that.

Chairman G rRAHAM. Okay. The warrant certification against
Carter Page on four different occasions certifies that the dossier,
which was the main source of the warrant, was reliable. Would you
look in to see whether or not that was an accurate statement and
hold people accountable if it was not?

General B ARR. Yes, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman G rRAHAM . Mueller. You say you have known Mueller a
long time. Would you say you have a close relationship with Mr.
Mueller?

General B ARR. | would say we are good friends.

Chairman G raHAM . Would you say that you understand him to
be a fair-minded person?

General B ARR. Absolutely.

Chairman G rRaHAM . Do you trust him to be the fair to the Presi-
dent and the country as a whole?

General B ARR. Yes.

Chairman G raHAM . When his report comes to you, will you share
it with us as much as possible?
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General B ARR. Consistent with regulations and the law, yes.

Chairman G rRaHAM . Do you believe Mr. Mueller would be in-
volved in a witch hunt against anybody?

General B ARR. | do not—I| do not believe Mr. Mueller would be
involved in a witch hunt.

Chairman G raHAM . What are the circumstances that would
allow a Special Counsel to be appointed, generally speaking?

General B ArRr. Well, | appointed three, Mr. Chairman, Special
Counsel. And generally, when something comes up—an issue comes
up that needs to be investigated and there are good reasons to have
it investigated by a Special Counsel outside the normal chain at
the Department, someone usually of public stature that can provide
additional assurance of nonpartisan——

Chairman G raHAaM . Do you believe that Attorney General Ses-
sions had a conflict because he worked on the Trump Campaign?
General B ARR. | am not sure of all the facts, but | think he prob-

ably did the right thing recusing himself.

Chairman G raHAM . | agree. | think he did the right thing to
recuse himself. Do you know Rod Rosenstein?

General B ARR. Yes, | do.

Chairman G rRaHAM . What is your opinion of him?

General B ARR. | have a very high opinion of Rod Rosenstein and
his service in the Department.

Chairman G raHAM . Okay. Why did you write the memo?

General B ARR. | wrote the memo because starting, | think, in
June 2017, there were many news reports, and | had no facts, and
none of us really outside the Department have facts. But | read a
lot of news reports suggesting that there were a number of poten-
tial obstruction theories that were being contemplated or, at least,
explored.

One theory in particular that appeared to be under consideration
under a specific statute concerned me because | thought it would
involve stretching the statute beyond what was intended, and
would do it in a way that would have serious adverse consequences
for all agencies that are involved in the administration of justice,
especially the Department of Justice. And | thought it would have
a chilling effect going forward over time. And my memo is very
clear that is the concern that was driving me, the impact, not the
particular case, but its impact of a rule over time.

And | wanted to make sure that before anyone went down this
path, if that was, in fact, being considered, that the full implica-
tions of the theory were carefully thought out. So | wanted my
views to get in front of the people who would be involved and the
various lawyers who would be involved in those discussions.

So, | first raised these concerns verbally with Rod Rosenstein
when | had lunch with him early in 2008, and when he did not re-
spond and was Sphinx-like in his reaction, expounded on my con-
cerns. And then | later attempted to provide a written analysis as
follow-up. Now, | initially thought of an op-ed, and because of the
material, it was not working out. And | talked to his staff, and I
said, you know, | want to follow up and send something to Rod in
writing, but is he a one-pager kind of guy or, you know, how much
will he read? And the guy said, he is like you, he does not mind
wading into a dense legal memo.
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Chairman G rRAHAM . Don't you think President Trump is a one-
pager kind of guy?

General B ARR. Excuse me?

Chairman G rRAHAM . President Trump is a one-pager kind of guy.

General B ARR. | suspect he is.

Chairman G rRaHAM . Okay. Just remember that. Go ahead.

General B ARR. Yes.

[Laughter.]

General B ARR. And so | provided the memo to Rod, and | pro-
vided it—distributed it freely among the other lawyers that |
thought would be interested in it, and | think it was entirely prop-
er. It is very common for me and for other former senior officials
to weigh in on matters that they think may be ill advised and may
have ramifications down the road.

For example, just a few months before that, | had weighed in re-
peatedly to complain about the idea of prosecuting Senator Menen-
dez. | think | made three calls. | think it was two to Sessions, to
AG Sessions, and one to Rosenstein. Now, | did not know Senator
Menendez. | do not represent Senator Menendez. No one was pay-
ing me to do it, and, in fact, | do not support Senator Menendez
politically, but | carefully watched this case. My friend, Abbe Low-
ell, was his Defense Counsel, and it was very much like a line of
cases that | had been concerned about when | was AG. And so |
was watching it, and | thought the prosecution was based on a fal-
lacious theory that would have bad long-term consequences. And so
| freely weighed in at the Department, and | did so because | care
about the rule of law.

And | want to say one final thing on the rule of law because it
picks up on something you said, Mr. Chairman. What is the rule
of law? We all use that term. In the area of enforcement, | think
the rule of law is that when you apply a rule to A, it has to be the
rule and approach you apply to B, C, D, and E, and so forth. And
that seems to me to suggest two corollaries for an Attorney Gen-
eral. The first, that is why we do not like political interference. Po-
litical interference means that the rule being applied to A is not
the rule you are applying. It is special treatment because someone
is in there exerting political influence.

The corollary to that, and this is what you are driving at, Mr.
Chairman, is that when you apply a rule—when a prosecutor is ap-
plying a rule to A, you got to be careful that it is not torqued spe-
cially for that case in a way that could not be applied down the
road, or if it is applied, will create problems down the road. And
| think the Attorney General's job is both. It is both to protect
against interference, but it is also to provide oversight to make
sure that in each individual case, the same rule that would be ap-
plied broadly is being applied to the individual.

Chairman G rRAHAM . Senator Feinstein.

Senator FEINSTEIN . Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Six quick “yes” or
“no” questions. Will you commit to no interference with the scope
of the Special Counsel’s investigation?

General B ARR. | will—the scope of the Special Counsel's inves-
tigation——

Senator FEINSTEIN . By not——
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General B ARR [continuing]. Is set by his charter and by the regu-
lations, and | will ensure that those are maintained.

Senator FEINSTEIN . Will you commit to providing Mr. Mueller
with the resources, funds, and time needed to complete his inves-
tigation?

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator FEINSTEIN . Will you commit to ensuring that Special
Counsel Mueller is not terminated without good cause consistent
with Department regulations?

General B ARR. Absolutely.

Senator FEINSTEIN . If the Special Counsel makes any request, for
instance, about the scope of investigation or resources for his inves-
tigation, will you commit to notifying Congress if you deny that re-
quest?

General B ARR. | think the regulations require notification of Con-
gress if there is a disagreement.

Senator FEINSTEIN . Thank you. And | have two questions from
the Chairman of the House Judiciary Committee. Will you commit
to making any report Mueller produces at the conclusion of his in-
vestigation available to Congress and to the public?

General BARR. As | said in my statement, | am going to make
as much information available as | can, consistent with the rules
and regulations that are part of the Special Counsel regulations.

Senator FEINSTEIN . Will you commit to making any report on the
obstruction of justice public?

General B ArRR. That is the same answer. Yes.

Senator FEINSTEIN . Thank you. In your June 2018 memo about
obstruction of justice to the Mueller investigation, you repeatedly
referred to Mr. Mueller's “sweeping and all-encompassing interpre-
tation of Section 1512,” which is the—a statute on obstruction. How
do you know what Mr. Mueller’s interpretation of 1512 is?

General B ARR. Well, as | said, | was—I was speculating. | freely
said at the beginning | was writing in the dark, and we are all in
the dark. Every lawyer, every talking head, everyone who thinks
about or talks about it does not have the facts.

Senator FEINSTEIN . So | spent my Saturday reading that memo-
randum.

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator FEINSTEIN . So are you saying this is all your specula-
tion? It is a big memao.

General B ARR. Well, it was informed to the extent that | thought
that that was one of the theories being considered. | do not know
how seriously—whether it was being considered or how seriously it
was being considered. But [—as a shorthand way in the memo of
referring to what | was speculating might be the theory, | referred
to it as “Mr. Mueller's theory” rather than go in every time | men-
tion it say, well, this is speculative.

Senator FEINSTEIN . But do you know what Mueller's interpreta-
tion of 1512 is?

General B ARR. No, | do not know what Mueller’s interpretation.

Senator FEINSTEIN . Okay.

General B ARR. And just one point, Senator. | think—you said in
your opening statement | said he was grossly irresponsible. | think
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| said if something happens, it would be grossly irresponsible. |
was not calling Mueller grossly irresponsible.

Senator FEINSTEIN . | understand.

General B ArRR. Okay.

Senator FEINSTEIN . Thank you. | appreciate that. Has anyone
given you non-public information about Mueller’s investigation?

General B ARR. | do not—I do not recall getting any confidential
information about the investigation.

Senator FEINSTEIN . Your 2018 memo—in it you stated, and |
quote, “The Framers’ plan contemplates that the President's law
enforcement powers extend to all matters, including those in which
he had a personal stake,” end quote. Please explain what you based
this conclusion on.

General BARR. Yes. Here is the Department of Justice—right
here, and within the Department of Justice, enforcement decisions
are being made. The President is over here, and | think of it as,
there are two categories of potential communications. One would be
on a case that the President wants to communicate about that he
has no personal interest in, no political interest in. Let us say, the
President is concerned about Chinese stealing trade secrets and
says, “l| want you to go after this company that is being—you know,
that may be stealing trade secrets.” That is perfectly appropriate
for him to do—to communicate that.

But, whether it is bona fide or not, the Department of Justice’s
obligation and the Attorney General's obligation is not to take any
action unless we reach—"we,” the Department of Justice and the
Attorney General—reach their own independent conclusion that it
is justified under the law, and regardless of the instruction. And
that is my quote that everyone is saying, you know, | am siccing
the—you know, it is okay for the—for the President to direct
things. All | said was, it is not per se improper for the President
to call on the Department for doing something, especially if he has
no personal or political interest in it.

The other category of cases—and let us pick, you know, an easy
bad example—would be if a member of the President’s family or a
business associate or something was under investigation, and he
tries to intervene. He is the chief law enforcement officer, and you
could say, well, he has the power, but that would be a breach of
his obligation under the Constitution to faithfully execute the laws.

So, in my opinion, if he attempts—if a President attempts to in-
tervene in a matter that he has a stake in to protect himself, that
should first be looked at as a breach of his constitutional duties—
whether it also violates a statute, depending on what statute comes
into play, and what all the facts are.

Senator FEINSTEIN . Including the Emoluments Clause of the
Constitution.

General B ArRrR. Well, | think there is a dispute as to what the
Emoluments Clause relates to. | have not personally researched
the Emoluments Clause. | cannot even tell you what it says at this
point. Off the top of my head | would have said, well, emoluments
are essentially a stipend attached to some office, but | do not know
if that is correct or not. But | am sure it is——

Senator FEINSTEIN . Okay. Well—

General B ARR. | think it is being litigated right now.
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Senator FEINSTEIN . | am going to—I do not know either, so | am
going to try and find out, and we will come back another day and
maybe discuss it.

General B ARR. Okay. Okay.

Senator FEINSTEIN . Your memo stated, “a fatal flaw in Mueller’s
interpretation of § 1512(c)(2), is that, while defining obstruction
solely as acting ‘corruptly,” Mueller offers no definition of what ‘cor-
ruptly’ means.” My understanding is that there is nothing in the
public record that sheds light on his definition of “obstruction.” Do
you know what his definition is?

General B ARR. | do not know what his definition is. | read a book
where people were asking whether someone—I think—I| do not
know if it is accurate, but whether someone—the President was
acting with corrupt intent. And what | say in my memo is, actually
the—people do not understand what the word “corruptly” means in
that statute. It is an adverb, and it is not meant to mean with a
state of mind. It is actually meant the way in which the influence
or obstruction is committed. That is an adverbial function in the
statute.

And what it means is, using in the 19th century sense, it is
meant to influence in a way that changes something that is good
and fit to something that is bad and unfit, namely the corruption
of evidence or the corruption of a decisionmaker. That is what the
word “corruptly” means because once you dissociate it from that, it
really means—very hard to discern what it means. It means “bad.”
What does “bad” mean?

Senator FEINSTEIN . Let me go on because my time is so limited.
You argue that the—and | quote, “The Constitution’s plenary grant
of those powers to the President also extends to the unitary char-
acter of the executive branch itself.” Specifically you argue, and
this is a quote, “While Mueller's immediate target is the Presi-
dent’s exercise of his discretionary powers, his obstruction theory
reaches all exercises of prosecutorial distinction by the President’s
subordinates, from the Attorney General down to the most junior-
line prosecutor.”

So, if the President orders the Attorney General to halt a crimi-
nal investigation for personal reasons, would that be prohibited
under your theory?

General B ARR. Prohibited by what?

Senator FEINSTEIN . By—

General B ARR. The Constitution?

Senator FEINSTEIN [continuing]. The Constitution.

General B ARR. | think it would be—I think it would be a breach
of the President’s duties to faithfully execute the law. It would be
an abuse of power. Whether it would violate a statute depends on
all the facts and what statute | would—someone would cite me to.
But | certainly think it would be an abuse of his power. And let
me just say that the position——

Senator FEINSTEIN . Would that be the same thing if an Attorney
General fired U.S. Attorneys for political reasons?

General B ARR. No, because U.S. Attorneys are political appoint-
ments.

Senator FEINSTEIN . According to news reports, President Trump
interviewed you and asked you to be part of the legal team defend-
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ing him in the Mueller investigation—twice, first in the spring of
2017 when the investigation was just beginning and again earlier
this year. Is that correct?

General B ARR. No, he—I had one conversation with him that re-
lated to his private representation, and | can describe that for you.
That was—that was in June 2017. That is the only time | met him
before | talked to him about the job of Attorney General, which ob-
viously is not the same as representing him.

Senator FEINSTEIN . Have you discussed the Mueller investigation
with the President or anyone else in the White House?

General B ARR. | discussed the Mueller investigation, but not in—
not in any particular substance. | can go through my conversations,
with you, if you want.

Senator FEINSTEIN . Well, not at that time, but | may come back
to you—

General B ArRR. Okay.

Senator FEINSTEIN [continuing]. And ask you about that. |1 do not
want to take any more time. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman G rRAHAM . Senator Grassley.

Senator GRASSLEY. Before | ask my first question, and | do not
want you to respond to this. | just want you to know what my in-
terest is in the transparency of the Mueller report. When we spend
35— do not know whether it is $25 million or $35 million, the tax-
payers—that is billions of dollars—the taxpayers ought to know
what their money was spent for. So if you have got some reserva-
tions about some part of it not being public, | hope that that is re-
lated to traditional things that—of the public’'s business that
should not be public, like national security is an example, not being
made public. But beyond that, the only way | know for the tax-
payers to hold anybody that spend the taxpayers’ money respon-
sibly is through transparency because that brings accountability.

My first question, and as you would expect from our conversation
in my office, in 1986, Reagan signed the False Claims Act. |
worked hard to get that passed, especially provisions empowering
whistleblowers to help Government identify fraud. More than a
decade ago, you said, the qui tam provisions in the False Claims
Act were—your words, “an abomination and were unconstitu-
tional.” You said, you, in your words, “wanted to attack the law,
but the Supreme Court upheld the law’s constitutionality.”

Prosecutors from both sides of the aisle have praised the law as
the most effective tool Government has to detect and actually re-
cover public money lost to fraud. Since 1986, the law that was
passed in 1986 brought in $56 billion into the Federal treasury.
Most of that is because patriotic whistleblowers found the fraud
and brought the case to the attention of the Government.

Is the False Claims Act unconstitutional?

General B ARR. No, Senator. It has been upheld by the Supreme
Court.

Senator GRAsSLEY. Do you consider the False Claims Act to be
an abomination?

General B ArRR. No, | do not.

Senator GRASsSLEY. Does the False Claims Act benefit the tax-
payer, specifically its provisions to empower and protect whistle-
blowers?
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General B ARR. Yes, Senator.

Senator GRASSLEY. If confirmed, do you commit to not take any
action to undermine the False Claims Act? Further, if confirmed,
will you continue current Justice Department staff and funding lev-
els to properly support and prosecute False Claims Act cases?

General B ARR. Yes, | will diligently enforce the False Claims Act.

Senator GRAssLEY. Now, with all those positive answers, you
would think | would be done, wouldn’t you, with that? But let me
go on.

[Laughter.]

Senator GRASSLEY. Just to show you that there are some forces
out there that | am suspicious about within the Department of Jus-
tice, we have a new Department of Justice guidance document out
last year, known as the “Granston Memo.” It provides a long list
of reasons that the Department can use to dismiss False Claims
Act cases, some of them pretty darn vague, such as preserving—
these are their words: “preserving Government resources.” Just
think of all the mischief those three words can bring.

Of course, the Government can dismiss, obviously, meritless
cases. | do not argue with that. But even when the Department de-
clines to participate in False Claims Act cases, the taxpayer can in
many cases still recover financially. So it is important to allow
whistleblowers to pursue cases even when the Department is not
able to be involved.

Under what circumstances can or should the Justice Department
move to dismiss False Claims cases?

General B ARR. Senator, | have not reviewed that memorandum,
so | am not familiar with the thinking of the people in the—I think
it is the Civil Division that did that. But if | am confirmed, | will
review it, and | would be glad to come and sit down with you and
discuss it, and if there are areas you are concerned about, | would
be glad to work with you on that.

Senator GRAssLEY. Unless you find that my presumption is
wrong, that there are reasons to be suspicious, | hope you will take
into consideration my feeling about how in various suspicious ways
people that are faceless bureaucrats can undermine this effort.

In circumstances where the Government does not intervene in
False Claims cases, if confirmed, will you commit to ensuring the
Department does not unnecessarily dismiss False Claims Act
cases?

General B ARR. Yes, Senator. | will enforce the law in good faith.

Senator GRASSLEY . Okay. Now, we have got an Act that the Jus-
tice Department just took, and | cannot obviously expect you to re-
spond specifically to the Act, but | use it as an example of their
uncooperation with the Department of Congressional Oversight.
This uncooperative behavior needs to change. On December the
10th, last year, the Department confirmed a briefing for your staff
regarding the Asset Forfeiture Fund, and to do that last week, Jan-
uary the 8th. On January the 7th, the Department of Justice Office
of Legislative Affairs informed our staff that they will no longer
provide the briefing because they consider the matter closed as a
result of the change in Chairmanship and because you released a
public memo—because | released a public memo on the Marshals
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Service study or investigation. It is important to gain your commit-
ment on how you would handle this as an example.

Let me explain how ridiculous it is to get somebody in this ad-
ministration saying that they do not have to answer if you are not
Chairman of a Committee. We went through this in January, the
first month this President was in office, when he said—or he put
out a memo, “We are not going to answer any oversight except for
Chairmen of Committees.” So, you are going to write off 500 Mem-
bers of Congress not doing oversight.

So, we told them all about this and the constitutional cases on
this. We got them up. They wrote a memo again 2 months later
that said that they were going to respond to all this stuff. Now you
have got people in the bowels of the bureaucracy that are still say-
ing, If you are not a Chairman, you ain’t going to get an answer
to anything. How ridiculous. It is our constitutional responsibility.

So then | laid out—I will give you an example. | sent the Justice
Department a classified letter regarding information acquired from
the Justice Department Inspector General report on the Clinton in-
vestigation. The Department ought to answer for what the Attor-
ney Inspector General has found. But | have not heard a peep, not
a peep on that yet.

On December the 10th, the Justice Department—well, | am re-
peating here. So the question is: Do you understand that, if you are
confirmed, you have an obligation to ensure that the Justice De-
partment—and particularly the FBI is a problem—respond to con-
gressional inquiries and to do it in a timely manner?

General B ARR. Absolutely, Senator.

Senator GRASSLEY. You understand that this obligation applies
regardless of whether you are a Member of Congress or a Com-
mittee Chairman?

General B ARR. Yes, Senator. You know, you and Senator Leahy,
| think, are the only Members of the Committee now who were
here 27 years ago when | was first confirmed, but | think you will
recall that we were able to establish very cooperative and produc-
tive relationships with all the Members and try to respond to their
questions and deal with their concerns and work with them on
projects they are interested in. And that will be the same approach
that | will bring to the job if you confirm me.

Senator GRAssLEY. Okay. Then let me be specific on my last
question on oversight. You remember when you were in my office
| gave you, as | gave Attorney General Sessions, as | gave Holder,
a long list of things that the Department has not answered. And
one of these was an October 17, 2018, letter, and | would like to
have your response to answering that letter and respond to all out-
standing and future oversight requests in a timely manner.

And then, remember, | said all you Cabinet people come up here
to tell us “yes” when we ask you if you are going to answer our
stuff, | said, maybe you better say, “maybe.” So if you want to say
“maybe” now and be really honest, say, “maybe.” Otherwise, | hope
you will answer that October 17th letter once we get you voted into
office.

General B ARR. Yes, Senator.

Senator GRASsSLEY. Throughout your career you have expressed
concern with congressional attempts to enact criminal justice re-
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form and at times advocated for stricter mandatory minimum sen-
tences. In 1992, under your direction, DOJ published a report enti-
tled, “The Case for More Incarceration.” This report declared that
the problem with our criminal justice system was that we were in-
carcerating too few criminals.

More recently, in 2015, you signed a letter opposing the Sen-
tencing Reform and Corrections Act of 2015. This letter states quite
clearly your opposition to sentencing reform, particularly the less-
ening of mandatory minimum sentences and any sort of retro-
activity.

The First Step Act was signed by President Trump. As Attorney
General, it will be your job to implement the legislation. Even
though you have opposed criminal justice reform in the past, will
you commit to fully implementing the First Step Act?

General B ARR. Yes, Senator. But, you know, in 1992, when | was
Attorney General, the violent crime rates were the highest in
American history. The sentences were extremely short. Typically,
in many States the time served for rape was 3 years; for murder,
time served 5 to 7 years. The system had broken down. And | think
through a series of administrations—Reagan, Bush, and Clinton—
the laws were changed, and we targeted violent, chronic violent of-
fenders, especially those using guns. And | think the reason the
crime rate is much lower today is because of those policies.

So | do not think comparing the policies that were in effect in
1992 to the situation now is really fair. And | think—and | have
said, that right now we have greater regularity in sentencing.
There is broader recognition that chronic violent offenders should
be incarcerated for significant periods of time to get them off the
streets. And | think the time was right to take stock and make
changes to our penal system based on current experience.

So | have no problem with the approach of reforming the sen-
tencing structure, and | will faithfully enforce that law.

Senator GRASSLEY. Do not take it personal if | raise my voice to
you. | am not mad at you.

[Laughter.]

Chairman G raHAam . If | were you, | would answer his letters.
Just a tip that may help you through your job, if you get it.

I will take the time away from my second round. | am very curi-
ous about the conversations you had about personal representation
or being Attorney General. You mentioned it to Senator Feinstein.
Can you just kind of give us a summary of what you were talking
about?

General B ARR. Yes, so in June 2017, the middle of June, Ambas-
sador David Friedman, who is the U.S. Ambassador to Israel—who
| did not know. | knew that he was a top-tier lawyer in New York
and apparently a friend of the President’s. He reached out to me,
and we talked one evening, and he said that he—well, my under-
standing was he was interested in finding lawyers that could aug-
ment the defense team, and failing that, he wanted to identify
Washington lawyers who had experience, you know, broad experi-
ence whose perspective might be useful to the President’s. And he
asked me a number of questions, like, you know, “What have you
said about the President publicly?” “Do you have any conflicts?”
and so forth. And | told him that | did not think | could take this
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on, that | had just taken on a big corporate client that was very
important to me and | expected a lot of work. And | said at my
point in life, | really did not want to take on this burden and that

| actually preferred the freedom to not have any representation of
an individual, but just say what | thought about anything without
having to worry about that. And | said that my wife and | were
sort of looking forward to a bit of respite and | did not want to
stick my head into that meat grinder.

He asked me if | would nonetheless meet—briefly go over the
next day to meet with the President. And | said, “Sure, | will go
and meet with the President.” And he brought me over and was
squeezing me in—it looked to me like it was before the morning
staff meeting because people were grouping by the door to get in,
and | went in. And he was there, the Ambassador was there, sat
through the meeting. It was a very brief meeting where essentially
the President wanted to know—he said, “Oh, you know Bob
Mueller. How well do you know Bob Mueller?” And | told him how
well | knew Bob Mueller and how, you know, the Barrs and
Muellers were good friends and would be good friends when this
is all over and so forth. And he was interested in that, wanted to
know, you know, what | thought about Mueller's integrity and so
forth and so on. And | said, “Bob is a straight shooter and should
be dealt with as such.”

And he said something to the effect like, “So are you envisioning
some role here?” And | said, “You know, actually, Mr. President,
right now | could not do it. Just my personal and my professional
obligations are such that | am unable to do it.” So he asked me for
my phone number. | gave it to him, and | never heard from him
again until——

Chairman G raHAam . Well, | tried that once.

[Laughter.]

Chairman G rRAHAM . You did better than——

General BARR. Well, | did not hear from him until, you know,
later, but about something different, which was the Attorney Gen-
eral position.

Chairman G RAHAM . Senator Leahy.

Senator L EAHY . Thank you.

Mr. Barr, good to see you again. As you mentioned, Senator
Grassley and | were here at your hearing a number of years ago.
Let me go back even before that. Forty-six years ago, | was not in
the Senate. | was State’s attorney in Vermont, and | watched with
a great deal of interest the Elliot Richardson hearings. He had
been nominated to be Attorney General, and it was in the midst
of Watergate. He made several commitments to the Committee, in-
cluding appointing a Special Prosecutor, and he promised to protect
his independence. And as one who had total independence as an
elected prosecutor in Vermont, | thought how important it was to
have that same independence at the national level. And Mr. Rich-
ardson said it was necessary to create the maximum possible de-
gree of public confidence in the integrity of the process. | have
never forgotten that. | think the integrity of our institutions is just
as much at risk today.

President Trump has made it clear he views the Justice Depart-
ment as an extension of his political power. He has called on it to
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target his opponents. He obsesses over the Russia investigation,
which looms over his presidency, may define it. He attacks the Spe-
cial Counsel almost daily. He fired both the previous FBI Director
and Attorney General for not handling the investigation as he
pleased. That tells me the rule of law can no longer be taken for
granted.

So, if confirmed, the President is going to expect you to do his
bidding. | can almost guarantee you he will cross the line at some
point. That is why the commitments you make here today, just like
those | watched Elliot Richardson make years ago, matter greatly.
So will you commit, if confirmed, to both seeking and following the
advice of the Department’'s career ethics officials on whether you
must recuse from the Special Counsel's investigation?

General BARR. | will seek the advice of the career ethics per-
sonnel, but under the regulations, | make the decision as the head
of the agency as to my own recusal. So | certainly would consult
with them, and at the end of the day, | would make a decision in
good faith based on the laws and the facts that are evident at that
time.

Senator L EAHY . The same thing if you are talking about a con-
flict of interest?

General B ARR. Well, no, some conflicts, as you know, are manda-
tory.

Senator L EAHY . | am thinking of what Attorney General Sessions
said, when asked a similar question, he said he will seek and follow
the advice—seek and follow the advice—of the Department of Jus-
tice’s designated ethics officials. So let me ask you maybe in a dif-
ferent way.

I know you have promised to not interfere with the Special Coun-
sel. Are there any circumstances that would cause you to terminate
the investigation or any component of it or significantly restrict its
funding?

General B ARR. Under the regulations, Bob Mueller could only be
terminated for good cause, and, frankly, it is unimaginable to me
that Bob would ever do anything that gave rise to good cause. But,
in theory, if something happened that was good cause, for me it
would actually take more than that. It would have to be pretty
grave and the public interest would essentially have to compel it,
because | believe right now the overarching public interest is to
allow him to finish.

Senator L EaHY. Well, | would agree with that, but | also think
over the past 18 months you have rather harshly prejudged the in-
vestigation in some of your writings.

General B ARR. Well, you know, | do not see that at all, Senator.
You know, when you strip away a lot of the rhetoric, the two things
that have been thrown up as me sort of being antagonistic to the
investigation are two things: One, a very mild comment | made
that, “Gee, | wish the team had been more balanced.” | was not
criticizing Mueller. | believe that prosecutors—and | think you
would agree—they can handle the case professionally, whatever
their politics are. You know, a good prosecutor can leave their poli-
tics at the door and go in and do the job. And | think that is what
Justice Department prosecutors do in general.
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Senator L EAHY. But you were also very critical of the Russian
probe, and, | mean, | cannot think of anything that would—in your
memo, for example, that would jump out more for this President
because of his commitment to it. And | ask that because some have
said, on both sides of the aisle, that it looked like a job application,
and so that is what | wanted you to refer to.

General B ARR. Well, you know, that is ludicrous. If | wanted the
job and was going after the job, there are many more direct ways
of me bringing myself to the President’s attention than writing an
18-page legal memorandum, sending it to the Department of Jus-
tice and routing it to other——

Senator L EAHY. But you also publicly criticized the Russian
probe. | mean—

General B ARR. How have | criticized the Russian probe?

Senator L EAHY. You do not have any criticism of the Russian
probe?

General B ARR. Not at all. | believe the Russians interfered or at-
tempted to interfere with the election, and | think we have to get
to the bottom of it.

Senator L EAHY . So you would be in favor of releasing the inves-
tigative report when it is completed?

General B ARR. As | have said, | am in favor of as much trans-
parency as there can be consistent with the rules and the law.

Senator L EAHY. Do you see a case where the President could
claim executive privilege and say that parts of the report could not
be released?

General B ARR. Well, | do not have a clue as to what would be
in the report. The report could end up being, you know, not very
big. 1 do not know what is going to be in the report. In theory, if
there was executive privilege, material to which an executive privi-
lege claim could be made, it might—you know, someone might raise
a claim of executive privilege.

Senator L EaHY. That would be very difficult following u.s. v.
Nixon when the Supreme Court unanimously rejected President
Nixon’s claims of executive privilege over the Watergate tapes. But
| ask it because the President’s attorney, Mr. Giuliani, said the
President should be able to correct the Mueller report before any
public release. So, in other words, he could take this investigative
report, put his own spin on it, and correct it before it is released.
Do you commit that would not happen if you are Attorney General?

General B ARR. That will not happen.

Senator L EAHY . Thank you.

You had—when you were AG—I remember this well because |
was here in the Senate at the time you encouraged President
George H.W. Bush to pardon all six individuals who were targeted
in Iran—Contra. The independent prosecutor who investigated the
matter labeled that a “cover-up.”

Now, you and | talked about this in my office, and | appreciate
you coming by. | found the conversation the two of us had to be
well worthwhile. Do you believe a President could lawfully issue a
pardon in exchange for the recipient’s promise to not incriminate
him?

General B ARR. No. That would be a crime.

Senator L EAHY . Thank you.
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In 1990, you argued that Congress’ appropriation power is not an
independent source of congressional power to control the allocation
of Government resources. There are only three Committees in the
Senate that have a Vice Chairman; Appropriations is one of them.
Obviously, as Vice Chairman, | kind of looked at that. You claimed
that if a President finds no appropriated funds within a given cat-
egory, he may use funds from another category as long as both cat-
egories are in his constitutional purview.

Now, as Vice Chairman of the Appropriations Committee, do not
be surprised | disagree. Congress’ power of the purse, Article I,
Section 9, | believe constitutes one of the most fundamental and
foundational checks and balances on the executive branch. So do
you believe the President can ignore Congress’ appropriations, allo-
cations, conditions, and restrictions in law, just ignore them and
take the money and transfer——

General B ARR. Not as a general proposition, but |—that was——

Senator L EAHY . A general proposition——

General B ARR. | actually thought that was a good Law Review
article. | gave it as a speech, and it was really a thought piece. And
what | was really saying was—and | say right up front that the
more | thought about the appropriations power, the more confused
| got. And | was just laying out a potential template, which is this:
People frequently say, you know, the power to spend money on this
division or this missile system is part of the power of the purse.
And what | was actually saying was—you know, actually, with the
power being exercised there is the substantive power that Congress
has to raise armies, and it does not come from the power of—

Senator L EAHY . It was also specific on appropriations on Agri-
culture or on Finance. | mean, for example, could the President
just build a wall along our southern border because he wanted to
and just take the money, whether appropriated or not? What about
eminent domain?

General B ARR. What about eminent domain?

Senator L eEaHy . Well, if you are going to build a wall, you are
going to take a whole lot of land away from landowners in Texas
and elsewhere.

General B ARR. Well, you know, you would have to show me what
statute is being invoked and also what appropriation is being used.
| cannot answer that in the abstract.

Senator L EAHY. SO0 you are saying the President, though, can
have the power to go into money even if the Congress has appro-
priated it for a different purpose?

General B ARR. | did not say that, but some have——

Senator L EAHY . Do you mean that?

General BARR. No, | do not mean that. | am saying that, you
know, there are moneys that the President may have power to shift
because of statutory authority.

Senator L EAHY . But that would have been because Congress gave
him that authority.

General B ARR. Right.

Senator L EAHY . Not because he has it automatically.

General B ARR. | am not taking that position. As | said, my Law
Review—it was published as a Law Review article, and it was a
thought piece exploring what limits there might be to the appro-
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priations power and where Congress’ power comes from in certain
areas.

Senator L EAHY . Thank you.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman G raHAM . Just to follow up on that real quick, and |
will not take this against Senator Cornyn. Do the Article Il powers,
the inherent authority of the Commander-in-Chief, give him the
ability to take appropriated dollars from the Department of De-
fense and build a wall?

General B ARR. | cannot—without looking at the statute, | really
could not answer that.

Chairman G rRaHAM . | am not talking about the statute. | am
talking about the inherent authority of the President as Com-
mander-in-Chief.

General B ARR. That is the kind of question | would go to OLC
to answer.

Chairman G raHAM . Okay. Get back with us on that.

Senator Cornyn.

Senator CorNYN. Well, Mr. Chairman, let me congratulate you
on your election as Chairman of the Judiciary Committee and tell
you | look forward to working with you and supporting this Com-
mittee’s efforts. And thank you for convening today’s hearing.

And | want to express my profound and sincere thanks to the
nominee, Mr. Barr, for agreeing to serve a second time as Attorney
General. | noted in your statement you said it was 27 years ago
that you sat in this chair and went through your first confirmation
hearing, and to me that says a lot about your character and your
commitment to the rule of law that you would be willing to go
through this process again and serve once again as the chief law
enforcement officer of the country. Thank you for doing that.

General B ArRR. Thank you, Senator.

Senator CorNYN . Thank you to your family as well.

To me, the Attorney General is one of the most challenging Cabi-
net offices to hold because, as you point out in your opening state-
ment, you are committed to the rule of law and enforcing the laws
of the land, but you are also a political appointee of the President.
If you serve in another Cabinet position, certainly you are com-
mitted to implementing the President’s agenda or the agenda of an
administration, but as Attorney General, that is not an unequivocal
commitment because there may be some things that the adminis-
tration wants you to do that you cannot do consistent with the rule
of law. Correct?

General B ARR. That is right, Senator. One of the reasons | ulti-
mately decided that | would accept this position if it was offered
to me was because | was—I feel that | am in a position to be inde-
pendent. You know, over the years a lot of people have—some poli-
ticians have called me up saying, you know, “l am thinking of
going for the Attorney General position in this administration,” and
so forth. And | would say, “You are crazy, because if you view your-
self as having a political future down the road, do not take the job,
because if you take this job, you have to be ready to make decisions
and spend all your political capital and have no future because you
have to do—you have to have that freedom of action.” And | feel
| am in a position in life where | can do the right thing and not
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really care about the consequences in the sense that | do not—I can
truly be independent.

Senator CorNYN. Mr. Barr, thinking back about the run-up to
the 2016 election where the nominee of both political parties for
President of the United States ended up being investigated by the
FBI, can you think of any precedent in American history where
that has occurred that you know of?

General B ArRR. No, | cannot, Senator.

Senator CorNYN. In thinking back to James Comey’s press con-
ference of July 7, 2016, where he took the step of talking about the
evidence against Mrs. Clinton, talking about the legal standard
that would apply as to whether she might or might not be indicted
for committing a crime under the Espionage Act, have you ever
seen a situation where an FBI Director would usurp the authority
of the Department of Justice to make that charging decision and
hold a press conference and talk about all of the derogatory infor-
mation that the investigation had gleaned against a potential de-
fendant and then say now we are not going to—no reasonable pros-
ecutor would indict her? Have you ever seen anything like that
happen before?

General B ARR. No, | have never seen that, and | thought it was
a little bit—more than a little bit. It was weird at the time. But
my initial reaction to it was, | think Attorney General Lynch had
said something—you know, she was under pressure to recuse her-
self, | think, because of the so-called tarmac meeting. And | think
she said something like she was going to defer to the FBI. So my
initial reaction to that whole thing was, well, she must have agreed
or it must have been the plan that he was going to make the deci-
sion and go out and announce his decision.

Senator CorNYN. Under the normal rules, if the—if the Attorney
General has a conflict of interest——

General B ARR. It would go to the Deputy.

Senator CorNYN . It would go to the Deputy.

General B ARR. Correct.

Senator CorNYN. Not to the FBI Director to make that decision.
Correct?

General BARR. Right. So that is why | thought it was very
strange, but | think later it became clearer, to the extent there was
anything clear about it, that | do not think Attorney General Lynch
had essentially delegated that authority to the Director. And |
think Jim Comey, as | have said, is an extremely gifted man who
has served the country with distinction in many roles, but |
thought that to the extent he actually announced a decision was
wrong.

And the other thing is if you are not going to indict someone,
then you do not stand up there and unload negative information
about the person. That is not the way the Department of Justice
does business.

Senator CorNYN. | was shocked when Mr. Comey later wrote a
letter saying that based on the discovery of Clinton emails on the
Weiner laptop, that they were reopening the investigation that he
had already announced closed. And then, finally, just days before
the general election—November the 6th, 2016—said we did not find
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anything on the laptop that would change my conclusions based on
the press conference of July the 6th.

Did you likewise find that to be an extraordinary, | will use the
word, “bizarre,” but certainly unprecedented event?

General B ARR. Yes, the whole sequence was very herky-jerky and
bizarre. But at that time, | was a little of a contrarian in that |
basically took the position that once he did what he did in July and
said the thing was over and then found out it was not over, he—
you know, he had no choice but to correct the record.

So | said that he had no choice but to do what he did, but it sort
of shows you what happens when you start disregarding the nor-
mal procedures and established practice is that you sort of dig
yourself a deeper and deeper hole.

Senator CorNYN. Why is it that the Department of Justice rules,
which also apply to the FBI, make it clear that our chief law en-
forcement agencies in this country should not get tangled up in
election politics? Are there policies in place that try to insulate the
investigations and the decisions of the Department of Justice and
FBI from getting involved in elections?

General B ARR. Yes, Senator, there are.

Senator CorNYN . And why is that?

General B ARR. Well, obviously, because the incumbent party has
their hands on the—among other reasons, they have their hands on
the levers of the law enforcement apparatus of the country, and
you do not want it used against the opposing political party.

Senator CorNYN. And that is what happened when the counter-
intelligence investigation of the Trump campaign began in late
July and continued on through, well, presumably, to Director
Comey'’s firing and beyond?

General B ARR. Well, | am not in a position to, you know, make
a judgment about it because | do not know what the predicate was
for it. | think | said, you know, it is strange to have a counterintel-
ligence investigation of a President. But | am not—you know, | just
do not know what the predicate is. And if | am confirmed, | assume
I will find out.

Senator CorNYN. Rod Rosenstein’s memo recommending the ter-
mination of James Comey as FBI Director was dated May the 9th,
2017. It is entitled, “Restoring Public Confidence in the FBIL.” |
take it you have read the memo, and do you agree with its conclu-
sion?

General BARR. | completely agree with Rod Rosenstein. And |
thought the important point he made, from my standpoint, was not
the particular usurpation that occurred, but it was, as, | think, he
says, that Director Comey just did not recognize that that was a
mistake. And so it was going to potentially be a continuing prob-
lem, his appreciation of his role vis-a-vis the Attorney General.

Senator CorRNYN. As | have said, the title of the memo is “Restor-
ing Public Confidence in the FBI.” Do you agree that restoration
of public confidence in the FBI and Department of Justice as an
apolitical or nonpolitical law enforcement organization is impor-
tant?

General B ARR. It is critical——

Senator CorNYN . And needed?
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General B ARR. It is critical. And that is one of the reasons | am
sitting here. | would like to help with that process.

Senator CorNYN. Well, Mr. Barr, | think you are uniquely quali-
fied to do that, and | wish you Godspeed.

General B ARR. Thank you, Senator.

Senator CoRrNYN. It could not be more important.

Thank you.

Chairman G rRAHAM . Senator Durbin.

Senator DuURrBIN . Mr. Barr, we have never had a chance to meet,
but | welcome you to this Committee.

General B ARR. Thank you.

Senator DURBIN . You seem like a rational person, and | would
like to ask you a question. When you consider what Jeff Sessions
went through as the Attorney General for President Donald Trump,
where he was subjected to unrelenting criticism, primarily because,
as a matter of conscience, he decided he had a conflict of interest
and should remove himself from any decisions by the Special Coun-
sel concerning the Russia investigation; when you consider that
this President has lashed out on a personal basis against Federal
Judges who ruled against his administration; when you consider
the criticism which he has leveled at the chief law enforcement in-
vestigative agency, the Department of Justice, the FBI, as well as
our intelligence agencies; when you see the exit lanes glutted of
those leaving the White House at every single level, why do you
want this job?

General B ARR. Well, because | love the Department and all its
components, including the FBI. | think they are critical institutions
that are essential to preserving the rule of law, which is the heart-
beat of this country. And | would like to think that there was bi-
partisan consensus when | was last in this position that | acted
with independence and professionalism and integrity, and | had
very strong and productive relationships across the aisle, which
were important, | think, to trying to get some things done.

And | feel that | am in a position in life where | can provide the
leadership necessary to protect the independence and the reputa-
tion of the Department and serve in this administration.

Senator DURBIN . A number of my colleagues on both sides have
asked, and | will bet you will hear more, questions along the line
of what would be your breaking point? When would you pick up
and leave? When is your Jim Mattis moment, when the President
has asked you to do something which you think is inconsistent with
your oath? Does that not give you some pause as you embark on
this journey?

General B ARR. It might give me pause if | was 45 or 50 years
old, but it does not give me pause right now. Because | had very
good life—I have a very good life. | love it. But | also want to help
in this circumstance, and | am not going to do anything that |
think is wrong. And | will not be bullied into doing anything |
think is wrong by anybody, whether it be editorial boards or Con-
gress or the President. | am going to do what I think is right.

Senator D URBIN . You have a very nice family behind you.

General B ARR. Thank you.

Senator D UrBIN . | am glad you introduced them.

General B ARR. Thank you, Senator.
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Senator DurBIN . And | do not want to give your grandson any
career advice. He has received quite a bit this morning already.
But he ought to consider, at least, for some balance, being a Public
Defender.

[Laughter.]

Senator D urBIN . One of the things that you alluded to as a major
issue of concern is immigration, and | am glad you said it. Our
Government is shut down now over the issues of border security
and immigration. And the Attorney General plays a central role,
which many people do not know, as they look at the Department
of Homeland Security for most of the action on the issue of immi-
gration.

| was surprised at the exit interview by General Kelly when he
said, and | am paraphrasing, that Attorney General Sessions was
responsible for the zero-tolerance policy that was announced in mid
2018. And that it was because of that policy, that was one of the
reasons why he was being asked to leave. That is the first | had
ever heard.

Are you familiar with the zero-tolerance policy?

General B ARR. Generally, Senator, yes.

Senator DuUrBIN . | can tell you that it was an effort to take es-
corted children—infants, toddlers, and children—and forcibly re-
move them from their parents at the border. This policy by our
Government separated up to 2,800 of those children and put them
into the system, the same system as unaccompanied children. The
results were horrible. | saw them firsthand.

And you have alluded in your opening statement to stopping peo-
ple from crashing through the border, breaking and flouting the
laws. Those young children, for the most part, were being brought
to this country by their parents to seek asylum. You can present
yourself at America’s border and seek asylum legally, can you not?

General B ARR. Yes, Senator, you can.

Senator D URBIN . So separating those children from their parents
in an effort, as Attorney General Sessions explained, to get tough
with families presenting themselves at the border, was a policy de-
cision on his part. Do you agree with that policy decision?

General B ARR. Well, | am not sure | know all the details because
one of the disadvantages | have is | am not in the Department and
do not really have the same backing | did in terms of information
that | had last time. But my understanding is that DHS makes the
decision as to who they are going to apprehend and hold.

Now you can claim asylum, but that does not mean you can
waltz into the country freely.

Senator D ursIN . No, of course not.

General B ARR. Okay? And you have to be processed. And my un-
derstanding is a majority of people do not qualify for asylum. But
DHS makes the decision who to hold and charge with the crime of
illegal entry, and then they refer it to the Department of Justice.
And | believe the Department’s policy, when they say—when the
Department says zero tolerance, they are saying whatever DHS re-
fers to us in the way of illegal entry prosecutions we will prosecute.

Now, now what is being done, because | think the administration
has changed the policy, is DHS is not referring for prosecution fam-
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ily units that would lead to the separation of children from the
family unit.

Senator DURBIN . It is true that the President and the adminis-
tration abandoned the policy after there was a public reaction to
the separation of these children.

| am concerned—I want to go back to your University of Virginia
Miller Center speech, which is——

General B ARR. It is a gem, is it not?

[Laughter.]

Senator DURBIN . It is a classic. And it goes back many years. But
you described your previous tenure as the Attorney General, and
you said, “After being appointed, | quickly developed some initia-
tives on the immigration issue that would create more border pa-
trols, change immigration rules, streamline processing. It would,
furthermore, put the Bush campaign ahead of the Democrats on
the immigration issue, which | saw as extremely important in
1992. | felt that a strong policy on immigration was necessary for
the President to carry California, a key State in the election.”

That is a pretty revealing statement about a political agenda.

General B ARR. Yes, and there is nothing wrong with that. Be-
cause as | have said, you know, the Attorney—and | have spoken
on this a number of times. There are sort of three roles the Attor-
ney General plays.

One is, the enforcer of the law. In that, the role of the Attorney
General is to keep the enforcement process sacrosanct from polit-
ical influence.

The second one is, as legal adviser, and that is in the Judiciary
Act of 1789, legal adviser to the President and the Cabinet. And
there, | say the Attorney General’s role is to provide, you know, un-
varnished, straight from the shoulder legal advice as to what the
Attorney General believes is the right answer under the law.

And then the third role is, the policy role, which is law enforce-
ment policy, which includes immigration policy. And there you are
a political subordinate of the President, and it is okay to propose
policies that are politically advantageous.

Senator D urBIN . Well—

General B ARR. But | have to say that—you know, that was cas-
ual conversation. The point was | was pursuing a strong immigra-
tion policy, even when | was Deputy, long before the election was
on the horizon. And in traveling around the country, visiting the
border, paying a lot of visits to California, | saw how important the
issue was, and | thought the administration has to be more respon-
sive to it. And yes, there was a political benefit to it.

Senator D URBIN . | just have a short time left. The Chairman, our
new Chairman—congratulations—Graham noted 10 years of work
by a number of us on this Committee on a bipartisan basis to deal
with criminal sentencing and prison reform. And the First Step Act
signed by the President around Christmas, | think, is a significant
departure.

| learned, as many have, that the approach, the “get tough” ap-
proach that we imposed with 100-to—1 sentencing disparity be-
tween crack and powder did not work. Did not work. The number
of drugs being sold on the street increased. The price of the drugs
went down. The people being incarcerated went up dramatically.
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And we learned the hard way that was not the way to deal with
the issue, and now we are trying to clean up 10 years later, more—
25 years later, from the 100-to—1 disparity. | voted the wrong way
on 100-to—1. Now | know, in retrospect.

You have made some hardline statements about this issue and
criminal sentencing in the past, and many of us believe on a bipar-
tisan basis we have got to look at this anew and not repeat these
mistakes again. So | would like to hear your assurance that you
are—you have learned, as | have, that there is a better way, could
be a more effective way. And that as Attorney General, you will
help us implement the First Step Act and design the second step?

General BARR. Absolutely, Senator. From my perspective, the
very draconian penalties on crack were put into place initially be-
cause when the crack epidemic first hit, it was like nuclear weap-
ons going off in the inner city. And as | think you will recall, a lot
of the community leaders at that time were saying you have got
to—you know, this is killing us. You have to do something.

So the initial reaction of draconian penalties was actually, you
know, trying to help those communities. And over time and now
the same leaders are saying to us this has been devastating. You
know, generation after generation of our people are being incarcer-
ated—have been incarcerated and lost their lives because of this,
and you have to change the policies. And | think that that is—we
should listen to the same people we were listening to before.

| supported generally strong penalties on drugs because—not just
crack—because | felt the money involved was so high that, you
know, you needed something to counteract that. | also said repeat-
edly, over the years of the drug war, that | felt that the head of
the snake is outside the country. And the place to fight this aggres-
sively is at the source more than on the street corner, and | used
to say we could, you know, stack up generation after generation of
people in prison, and it will still keep on coming.

And so | always felt that—and | support an adjustment to these
sentences and the safety valve and so forth. To me, the corollary
is we have to really start thinking and using all our national forms
of power in the sense of our diplomacy and our, you know, eco-
nomic leverage and so forth to get better results overseas.

So, for example, now fentanyl is sort of the new crack. Fentanyl
and fentanyl analogs are sort of the new crack, and they are com-
ing in from China. So——

Senator D URBIN . Across the Mexican border.

General B ArRR. Correct. Correct.

Senator D URBIN . At ports of entry, 90 percent.

General B ARR. So that is a long-winded answer to your question,
which is | understand that things have changed since 1992. |I—you
know, | held on a little bit longer to keeping strong sentences
maybe than others. Part of that was | was not involved in the busi-
ness anymore. | was not at Justice Department looking at reports
and studies, learning about different things in the country. | was,
you know, arguing with the FCC about telecommunications rules.

So—

Chairman G RAHAM . Mr. Barr?

General B ARR. Yes?
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Chairman G rRAHAM . That was a great answer, and it was long-
winded.

General B ARR. Okay.

[Laughter.]

Chairman G rRAHAM . Senator Lee.

Senator L Ee. Mr. Barr——

Chairman G rRAHAM . After this, we will break until 12:15 p.m. for
lunch and a comfort break.

Senator L Ee. Mr. Barr, thank you very much for your willingness
to spend time with us today and your willingness to be considered
for this important position yet again.

General B ARR. Thank you.

Senator L Ee. Great to have your family here. And | cannot help
but comment. A lot of people have talked about Liam today. Prob-
ably more than any of his other friends or classmates, people of his
age, cohort, people are thinking about what he might do for a liv-
ing.

Unless some of my colleagues who have suggested medicine, |
want to just sort of suggest what | suggested to my three children,
which is that | am not going to push them into any career choice,
which in our family means that you could be any kind of lawyer
you want.

[Laughter.]

Senator L Ee. Just keep that in mind with Liam.

I would like to talk to you first about civil asset forfeiture. As
you know, civil forfeiture and criminal forfeiture are two very dif-
ferent things, two very different species of Government taking
someone’s asset. With criminal forfeiture, of course, the Govern-
ment’s ability to take something away is predicated upon a convic-
tion of a crime. With civil asset forfeiture, that happens even in the
absence of a conviction.

There are some serious questions, of course, regarding the legal-
ity and the constitutionality of civil asset forfeiture, and Justice
Thomas, for example, has questioned whether some of these prac-
tices are constitutional. | was encouraged to note that in your testi-
mony in 1991, you identified this as an issue.

When you testified before this Committee, you criticized what
you described as the “speed trap mentality of forfeiture.” Your
point was that, “Agencies should not feel that just because they
seize money, they are going to get the money.”

Now since 1991, | have seen our Government, our law enforce-
ment agencies actually move more toward the sort of speed trap
mentality rather than away from it, as many of us would have pre-
ferred. Too often, law enforcement agencies have too strong an in-
centive to use civil asset forfeiture in a way that lines their own
coffers outside of the relevant appropriations process.

So let me just ask you the question. Do you think that the speed
trap mentality is a problem? And if so, is that something that you
will work to address within the Department of Justice, if you are
confirmed?

General BARR. Yes, | think constant vigilance is necessary be-
cause, you know, there are incentives there that should be of con-
cern in administering the law. And | understand that there are
some, you know, people who are concerned about it, have some hor-
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ror stories. The people at the Justice Department have been trying
to clamp down. | think Attorney General Sessions put out some
guidelines that were supposed to address that.

| have not gotten into it myself. | plan to get into it and see ex-
actly, you know, what the horror stories are, where the problems
and potential abuses are, and also how—whether Attorney General
Sessions’ guidelines are providing sufficient protection.

At the same time, you know, | think it is a valuable tool in law
enforcement and the State and local law enforcement officer, our
partners, it is very important to them. So | want to make sure we
strike the right balance. And once | have a chance to review it, |
would be glad to come up and talk to you about that.

Senator L Ee. Thank you. | appreciate that.

| understand that it is a tool that many consider valuable and
a—but a tool that can be considered valuable for some of those
same reasons. Something that is considered valuable to the Gov-
ernment can in many instances jeopardize an individual right that
is protected under the Constitution. We have got to be careful of
that.

You refer to the partnership that sometimes takes place between
State and Federal authorities. This is sometimes where we see it
abused. In the case of a procedure known as equitable sharing
where sometimes State law might prohibit the use of civil asset for-
feiture under certain circumstances, and in those circumstances,
those State law enforcement agencies might work with Federal law
enforcement for the specific purpose of evading State law that
would otherwise prohibit that. So | hope that is something you will
look into as well.

Let us talk about antitrust for a minute. Along with Senator
Klobuchar, | chair the Antitrust Subcommittee. And, as | am sure
you are aware, there are a growing number of people who take the
position, who embrace the viewpoint that we should use antitrust
law to address a whole host of social and economic harms to—
among other things, to ensure that companies respect the First
Amendment or to prevent large companies from becoming too big
or to shape labor markets or conform industries to a particular aes-
thetic or achieve some other broadly defined social interest.

| would like to know what your view is on this. Are you a be-
liever in the sort of “big is bad” mentality, or do you gravitate more
toward the idea that our antitrust laws are there to protect con-
sumers and should focus on consumer welfare and prices that con-
sumers face?

General BARR. Yes. | mean, generally, that is where | stand,
which is the purpose of the antitrust laws, obviously, is to protect
competition. And that competition—it is competition that ulti-
mately redounds to consumer benefits.

At the same time, | am sort of interested in stepping back and
reassessing or learning more about how the Antitrust Division has
been functioning and what their priorities are. | do not think big
is necessarily bad, but | think a lot of people wonder how such
huge behemoths that now exist in Silicon Valley have taken shape
under the nose of the antitrust enforcers.
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And you know, you can win that place in the marketplace with-
out violating the antitrust laws, but | want to find out more about
that dynamic.

Senator L EE. Right. Yes, and in some circumstances, a company
that becomes too big ends up behaving in a way and exerting mar-
ket dominance in a way that impairs consumer welfare anti-com-
petitively. In other circumstances, consolidation can bring about
lower prices and increase competition. | assume you would not dis-
agree with either of those statements?

General B ARR. NO, Senator.

Senator L Ee. As you know, and as several of my colleagues have
mentioned, President Trump signed into law the First Step Act
about a month ago. This is legislation that | applaud and legisla-
tion that | have been working on in one way or another for 8 years
and was pleased to team up with Senator Grassley, Senator Dur-
bin, Senator Booker, and others to work on that over the course of
many years.

As you know, the Attorney General has an important role under
the First Step Act in appointing members to something called the
Independent Review Commission. That Independent Review Com-
mission will make recommendations concerning which offenders
might be eligible for earned credits under this legislation and
which programs will be approved.

When we drafted this legislation, there were some Members who
were concerned that whoever was the Attorney General at the time
of this law’s passage and implementation might be able to under-
mine the effectiveness of this law by appointing members who did
not agree with or believe in the objectives of the bill. So will you
commit to me, Mr. Barr, that you will appoint people to that Inde-
pendent Review Commission who are honest brokers to decide
which offenders should be eligible and which programs should be
eligible to participate?

General B ARR. Yes, Senator.

Senator L Ee. Thank you.

Are you familiar with the Ashcroft-Sessions policy, namely the
policy requiring prosecutors to charge the most significant readily
provable offense?

General B ARR. Yes, Senator.

Senator L ee. Tell me how that should best be balanced out with
the discretion of a prosecutor, most frequently, of course, with the
discretion of a local U.S. Attorney’s Office.

General B ARR. Well, | was going to say | think the best way of
balancing it out is to have a supervisor who is able to approve de-
partures from that policy based on the specific circumstances. And
there are countless different, you know, permutations of facts that
might justify a departure from it. So | think it is best handled by
supervisory people, but I also think it has to be looked at centrally.

| am not saying that each case has to be approved centrally, but
there has to be some monitoring of what is going on because, as
you know, one of the things that led to the sentencing guidelines
was, you know, just difference—big differences in the way the laws
were being applied and enforced around the country. And | think
we need to try to strive for as much uniformity as we can.

Senator L EE. But you intend to continue that policy?



36

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator L EE. And——

General B ARR. Unless someone tells me a good reason not to.

Senator L EE [continuing]. If I'm understanding you correctly, you
are saying that if you do follow it, you will defer to the judgment
of the office in question in the case of determining when to not
charge the most serious readily provable offense?

General B ARR. No. | mean | will not defer to my—I mean, | am
not going to say, yes, | will defer to my subordinate. | mean, usu-
ally you do defer to your subordinates. But there might be a case
| disagree with, and | will assert myself on it.

Senator L Ee. Okay. | see my time has expired.

Thank you, sir.

Chairman G raHAM . Thanks, Senator Lee.

We will take a recess to 12:15 p.m. and start with Senator
Whitehouse when we come back.

[Whereupon the Committee was recessed and reconvened.]

Chairman G rRaHAM . The hearing will come to order, and | recog-
nize Senator Whitehouse.

Thank you, Mr. Barr.

Senator WHITEHOUSE . Thank you, Chairman. This is my first
chance at a Committee hearing to congratulate you on taking the
gavel here. We worked well together when you were Chairman of
the Crime and Terrorism Subcommittee, and | hope that that will
continue here.

Mr. Barr, welcome.

Did you make it a condition of taking this job that Rod Rosen-
stein had to go? Just to be clear, so we are not bandying words
here, did you request or signal or otherwise communicate in any
way that you wanted Rod Rosenstein to go?

General BARR. No. The President said that the decision on the
Deputy was mine. Anything | wanted to do on the Deputy was fine.

Senator WHITEHOUSE . So we will find no William Barr finger-
prints on Rosenstein’s departure.

General B ARR. No. Rod and | have been talking, you know, about
his plans. He told me that he viewed it as a 2-year stint and would
like to use, if I am confirmed, my coming in as an occasion to leave.
But we talked about the need for a transition, and | asked him if
he would stay for a while, and he said he would. And so, as of right
now, | would say there is no—he has no concrete plans, | have no
concrete plans in terms of his departure.

Senator W HITEHOUSE . And you——

General BARR. We are going to sort of play it by ear and see
what makes sense.

Senator WHITEHOUSE . And you have not undertaken to run him
out in any way.

General B ARR. Absolutely not.

Senator WHITEHOUSE . That leaves an opening at the DAG posi-
tion whenever you work this out. Can you tell us, since Attorneys
General are very often defined by the immediate appointments
around them, at chief of staff, DAG, criminal chief, what are the
characteristics and qualifications that you will seek as you fill par-
ticularly that position, but all three that | mentioned?
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General B ARR. | am sorry, the Deputy and what was the other
one?

Senator WHITEHOUSE . Deputy, chief of staff, and criminal chief.

General B ARR. There is already a criminal chief.

Senator WHITEHOUSE . | know, yes. Already a Deputy Attorney
General, but he is leaving.

General B ARR. Well, for a Deputy, | would like someone who is
a really good manager and who has good management experience
running Government programs. And | want a first-rate lawyer and
someone |—whose judgment | feel comfortable in.

Senator W HITEHOUSE . Experience in the Department?

General B ARR. Not necessarily, but experience in Government at
a high level.

Senator WHITEHOUSE . When we met, | gave you a letter that you
have seen just so none of these questions would be a surprise, so
| hope it is no surprise to you that | am going through some of
them. If you are confirmed, what will be the Department’s rule re-
garding communications between White House and Department of
Justice officials regarding criminal and investigative matters? Who
at DOJ will be allowed to have those conversations with the White
House, and who at the White House will you entertain those con-
versations from at DOJ?

General B ARR. So, you know, | have looked through the existing
regime, and my instinct is to keep it, maybe even tighten it up a
little bit more. | remember when George W. Bush’s administration
was coming in, my advice was start tight, and then as you realize
who has judgment and so forth——

Senator W HITEHOUSE . Yes.

General B ARR [continuing]. You can go back to a——

Senator WHITEHOUSE . They went the other way, and it was a
bad day for Attorney General Gonzales in the hearing room when
that was brought to his attention. What is your understanding
right now of who at the Department of Justice is authorized to
have communications with the White House regarding investiga-
tions?

General B ARR. Well, it depends—it depends what it is, but on
criminal matters | would just have the AG and the Deputy.

Senator WHITEHOUSE . And what do you think the rule is now in
the Department?

General B ARR. | think that is what it is.

Senator WHITEHOUSE . Okay. So if the reports are true that as
chief of staff, Mr. Whitaker was involved in conversations with the
White House about bringing criminal investigations against the
President’'s political enemies, that would not be consistent with
your understanding of that policy.

General B ARR. Well, it would depend upon, you know, what his
understanding is with the Attorney General. | mean, the——

Senator WHITEHOUSE . Well, the Attorney General was recused,
so hard to step into the shoes of a recused Attorney General mat-
ter, right?

General B ARR. Well, | do not know what the communication is
related to. | am not really sure what you are talking about.

Senator WHITEHOUSE . Okay. | hope you will become sure when
you get there because there is a fair amount of, | think, question-
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able behavior that has gone on that does not reflect well on the De-
partment that | hope will get your attention. | also asked you
about the Special Counsel investigation and to give us a clear expo-
sition of how that memo came to be: who you talked to, when, who
was involved in it. There were a number of questions in that letter
that at this point you have not answered.

You have, | gather, told the Chairman the names of some dozen
or so people whom you contacted, as | understand it, once the
memo was written, but it is not clear. Do you have any objection
to answering the questions that | wrote as questions for the record
so that the Committee can understand who you worked with, who
you talked with about this idea, who you worked with in preparing
the memo, who helped you with things like citations that people at
your level do not often do yourselves, and where it was circulated
and vetted, and what edits were made, and so forth?

General B ARR. NoO, | have no objection to that.

Senator W HITEHOUSE . Great.

[The information appears as a submission for the record.]

General B ARR. But |——

Senator W HITEHOUSE . We will expect you——

General B ARR. Just to—just to be clear, no one helped me write
the memo, and | know how to do legal citations, which | do.

Senator WHITEHOUSE . Well, a lot of people know how, but that
does not mean they always do it.

General B ARR. | do it. | did.

Senator W HITEHOUSE . Okay.

General B ARR. Okay.

Senator WHITEHOUSE . You might want to get out of that habit.

[Laughter.]

Senator W HITEHOUSE . You may have other things to look at.

General B ARR. I'd like to have some fun in life.

Senator WHITEHOUSE . If you think citations are fun, you are
going to——

[Laughter.]

Senator WHITEHOUSE . You are not going to have the problem
some other nominees have had. My letter to you also asked about
the Bork Order that set out a series of protections for the then-
Independent Counsel operation. Do you have any objection to any
of those rules or principles applying, and should we see those rules
and principles, which | gave to you then, as being more or less
adopted into the statement that you made earlier about your pro-
tection of the Mueller investigation from political interference?

General B ARR. You know, | looked at them. | think the current
regime is what | am happy with. In other words, | would not—I
would not change the current rule that we are—those rules were
put in place at the end of the Clinton administration, and sort of,

I think, reflects the back-on-back experience of the Reagan/Bush
years and then the Clinton years, and then sort of Justice Depart-
ment’s thinking under the Clinton administration as to how to bal-
ance all the equities. And | think it is working well. So that is—
that is——

Senator WHITEHOUSE . Well, if there is anything that you would
disagree with in the so-called Bork Rules, | would ask you to ex-
plain that in a—
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General B ARR. In a follow-up?

Senator W HITEHOUSE . In a follow-up.

General B ARR. Okay. Okay.

[The information appears as a submission for the record.]

Senator WHITEHOUSE . Now, also in my letter to you, | expressed
my concern that Mr. Whitaker was paid $1.2 million through what
I consider to be a front group that has very little reality to it, and
that the funding that came to that front group to pay him the mil-
lion dollars came through another entity that is essentially an
identity-laundering operation that has no independent business op-
eration. And the result of all of this is that somebody out there ar-
ranged to get over a million dollars to Mr. Whitaker, and we have
no idea who that somebody is.

And as | mentioned to you in our conversation, | do not see how
the Department can do a proper recusal and conflict analysis for
somebody when the player who delivered the million dollars is still
hidden behind the curtain. Is that something that you will help us
fix?

General B ARR. Well, first, you know, | do not think there was
anything wrong done or, at least——

Senator W HITEHOUSE . Well, we do not know that yet because we
do not know what the facts are.

General B ARR. Yes. Well, | am just saying just the facts that you
have said, you know, does not necessarily mean there was anything
wrong done. What you are saying is that if the ultimate financial
backers are behind some entity and the current ethics laws require
only the reporting of the entity, you are not really sure where the
money is coming from. And that—you know, | think that that
raises a very interesting point that, | think, 1 would like to review
with the ethics people and experts and even OGE to talk about
that because |—the more | thought about it, the more | thought
that the trick is going to be deciding what kind of entities and how
far back you go because that can be said of a lot of different kinds
of entities.

Senator W HITEHOUSE . Yes.

General B ARR. And sometimes you have first——

Senator WHITEHOUSE . | would submit to you that if the Depart-
ment’'s money laundering folks looked at this operation, they would
see it as almost amateurish and simple and something quite easy
to penetrate, and it would be quite easy simply to ask Mr.
Whitaker what he knew, to ask whoever is still at FACT, if it even
has any existence with Whitaker’'s departure, what they knew, and
to ask Donor’'s Trust to cough up the identity of the donor, and
then you can do your homework. And if they refuse to do that,
nothing guarantees anybody a job at the highest levels of Govern-
ment who is not willing to provide those disclosures.

General B ARR. Well, as | said, you know, one of the—my first
consideration always is, where do you—where do you draw the line,
and also what are the implications for other kinds of entities be-
cause, you know, there are membership groups and First Amend-
ment interests——

Senator W HITEHOUSE . Yes.

General BARR [continuing]. And you do not want to disclose
memberships and who support—
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Senator WHITEHOUSE . Yes. My point was, | think, if your money
laundering folks took a look at that, they would be able to help
show that this is something that looks a little bit different than
that. My time has expired and see you in the second round. Thank
you.

Senator GRASSLEY [presiding]. Senator Sasse.

Senator SAssk. | believe Senator Ernst is filling in for Senator
Cruz next. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Senator GRASSLEY . Okay with me.

Senator ERNST. Thank you.

Mr. Barr, | want to commend you for stepping forward. Thank
you very much. And | want to say thank you to your family as well
for being so supportive in this endeavor. | am really pleased to
have all of you here, so thank you for doing that.

Mr. Barr, later this month | do plan on reintroducing Sarah’s
Law, which is a bill that would require the detention of illegal
aliens who have been charged with a crime that resulted in the
death or serious injury, bodily injury, of another person. Now, that
sounds pretty common sense, but | will give you a little back-
ground.

This bill is named after Sarah Root. She was a resident of Coun-
cil Bluffs, lowa, and Sarah was killed by an illegal alien who was
driving drunk. And that alien had a blood alcohol content of more
than 3 times the legal limit, yet he was allowed to post bond and
has not been seen since. It is important to me that Congress act
to close these loopholes in our immigration system and do better
to enforce the laws that are already existing on the books. And |
know that Attorney General Sessions, he had a real passion for
this, and he had a strong record of trying to make sure that we
are correcting wrongs in the system.

How do you, as Attorney General, plan on making sure that we
are restoring the rule of law in our immigration system?

General BaARrRrR. Well, first, that sounds like a very
commonsensical bill—

Senator ERNST. Yes, thank you.

General B ARR [continuing]. And something that | would certainly
be inclined to support. | think one of our major problems, as the—
as the President says, is that the immigration laws just have to be
changed, and to provide sensible and commonsense ways of proc-
essing immigration and claims of asylum. Right now, this goes—
this goes all the way—this goes back 27 years. We were facing ex-
actly the same kind of problem, maybe on a smaller scale.

But Congress has—where people are abusing the asylum system,
coming in, they are being coached as to what to say, and then once
they come in, we do not have the facilities to keep them, and they
are released into the population. And this was a big abuse, as |
say, 27 years ago, and it is getting—and it has gotten worse. So
we need to change the laws to stop that kind of abuse and enable
us to run a lawful immigration system where we process people
into the country who are entitled to come into the country, and we
keep out those that are flouting our laws. And it is long overdue,
and the President is right that until we are able to do that, we are
just not going to be able to get control over illegal immigration.
And it creates a lot of unsafe conditions for many people.
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Senator ERNST. Absolutely, and | appreciate your thoughts on
that. This is a very important issue. | think all of us understand
that immigration is so vital to our country, but it has to be done
in the right manner. And for those that are causing bodily injury
and death to those here in the United States, we want to make
sure that they are brought to justice. And in this case, that ille-
gal—undocumented was not brought to justice, and | feel a lot of
empathy for that family.

I will move into another situation that is really important to
lowans. According to the U.S. Department of Health and Human
Services, after drug dealing, human trafficking is tied with—arms
dealing is the second-largest criminal industry in the world, and it
generates about $32 billion each year. The Department of Justice
has said that 83 percent of sex trafficking victims identified in the
United States are U.S. citizens with the average age of a victim
being between 12 and 14 years. Twelve and 14 years. Since 2007,
there have been over 300 cases of human trafficking in lowa alone,
and lowa is a very rural State. Three hundred cases. That is very
concerning to my constituents back home.

What do you see as the main contributor to human trafficking
here in the United States, and then how can the DOJ impact and
combat and prevent those heinous crimes?

General B ARR. This is a—this is an area that, frankly, was not
very much on the radar scope of the Department of Justice when
| was last there. | know it is—and it is an abhorrent area of crimi-
nality that | know the Department and Attorney General Sessions
have been focused on and have put in place various programs and
entities within the Department to focus on it and work with State
and local law enforcement on it. | am not sure what the—what the
major contributor to it is. It is an area that | am going to have to
study when | get into the Department and see what are the factors
contributing to it.

Senator ERNST. Okay. | appreciate that, and as | mentioned in
my question as well, drugs and drug trafficking, that is also a very,
very big industry. And in Fiscal Year 2017, 65 percent of drug-re-
lated prison sentences in lowa were related to methamphetamine.
We talk a lot about the opioid crisis, but in lowa it still is meth.
In 2016, lowa reported over 1,500 founded child abuse reports re-
lating methamphetamine being found in the child’s body. According
to the DEA, most of the meth available in the United States is
being produced in Mexico and smuggled across our southern bor-
der.

How do you see the situation at our southern border contributing
to the prevalence of controlled substance use here in the United
States?

General B ARR. Well, as been pointed out earlier, it is the major
avenue by which drugs come into the country. Heroin, fentanyl, all
the serious drugs are coming across that border. And, again, | feel
it is a critical part of border security that we—that we need to have
barriers on the border. We need a barrier system on the border to
get control over the border. And | think—obviously there are some
places that more of the traffic comes over than others, but unless
you have a system across the border, you are not going to be able
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to deal with it because you will just displace it. If you build a bar-
rier in one place, you will just displace it to another.

So we need a barrier system across the border to—part of that
is illegal immigration, but a big part of it also is preventing the in-
flux of drugs.

Senator ERNST. Absolutely. And you stated earlier that really,
the head of the snake lies outside of the United States. Is there a
way that DOJ can be working with additional ideas, methodology
with other departments that you might think would help?

General BARR. Yes. You know, this is an area—again, because |
am out of the Government, | do not know how it is functioning,
how the drug war is being coordinated. But | think Justice can play
a big role in pushing for partners like the State Department, De-
fense Department, the intelligence agencies, and so forth to help
deal with this. It is not, to me, not just a law enforcement problem.
It is a national security problem.

Senator ERNST. Yes. And you mentioned, as well, the situation
on the border: where we do need barriers in place to control the
influx of, whether it is drugs, human trafficking, gun trafficking,
so forth. Do you believe that sanctuary cities play a role in har-
boring some of those activities?

General B ARR. Yes, | do. | think there are a number of sort of—
you know, of factors that have a hydraulic effect in that they pull
people into the United States or induce them to make—you know,
take the hazards of coming into the United States and coming up
hundreds of miles through Mexico and so forth. And things like
sanctuary cities, where they feel that they will be able to come up
and hide and be protected is one of those factors that | think is ir-
responsible because it attracts the illegal aliens coming in. And ob-
viously | think that the main problem with sanctuary cities is that
they are not giving us information about criminals that they have
in their custody.

This is not chasing after, you know, families or anything like
that. This is going after criminals who the State and local law en-
forcement have in custody and not allowing us to take custody of
them and get them out of the country. That is the problem with
sanctuary cities.

Senator ERNST. Correct, which could be the situation with Edwin
Mejia, who killed Sarah Root. So we would love to see that young
man brought to justice. Thank you very much for your time.

Chairman G rRaHAM [presiding]. Thank you.

Just to follow up on that with—Senator Klobuchar. Do not count
this against her time.

So you are saying that you want access to people who have com-
mitted crimes or are accused of committing crimes outside of a sta-
tus violation. Is that what——

General B ARR. That is right, Senator.

Chairman G raHAM . Senator Klobuchar.

Senator K LOBUCHAR . Thank you.

Thank you, Mr. Barr. | take it as a positive that your grandson
has gotten out a pen and a pad of paper to take notes during my
questions.

[Laughter.]
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Senator K LOBUCHAR . | am also impressed by your daughters and
that they all chose to go into public service. But as you know, em-
ployees of the Justice Department now are either furloughed or
they are working without pay. And | have talked to a number of
them at home, and it is an outrage. Very briefly, what do you have
to say to them?

General BARR. | would—I would like to see a deal reached
whereby Congress recognizes that it is imperative to have border
security, and that part of that border security as a commonsense
matter needs barriers.

Senator K LOBUCHAR . And you are aware that in the comprehen-
sive Senate immigration bill that we passed, there was literally bil-
lions of dollars for border security back in 20137

General B ARR. | am generally aware of that.

Senator K LOBUCHAR . And that, also—we had an agreement ear-
lier last year which would allow the DREAMers to stay legally that
also had money for border security?

General B ARR. The point is, we need money right now for border
security——

Senator K LoBUCHAR . Yes, but we have——

General B ARR [continuing]. Including a—including barriers, and
walls, and slats, and other things.

Senator K LOBUCHAR . Yes.

General B ARR. Anything that makes sense in different—in dif-
ferent areas of the border.

Senator K LOBUCHAR . Okay. In different areas. That is a good
point. So President George H.W. Bush said back in 1980 that he
did not want to see 6- and 8-year-old kids being made to feel that
they are living outside the law, and you were his Attorney General.
He also said that immigration is not just a link to America’s past,
but it is a bridge to America’s future. Do you agree with those
statements?

General B ARR. Yes. | think—as | said, | think legal immigration
has—we have a great system—I think it needs reforming, but legal
immigration has been good for the United States. It has been great
for the country.

Senator K LOBUCHAR . And that is why we were trying to work on
that comprehensive reform. | want to just briefly turn to FBI lead-
ership. The President has made statements accusing the FBI of
making politically motivated decisions. Many of us up here and in
the Senate have confidence in Director Wray and the leadership at
the FBI and believe they can do their jobs without politics getting
in the way. Do you agree with that?

General B ARR. | am looking—if | am confirmed, | am looking for-
ward to getting to know Chris Wray. From what | know, | think
very highly of him.

Senator K LOBUCHAR . Okay. Thank you. In the memo from back
in June—the one comment that Senator Grassley made, he talked
about how much the Mueller investigation was costing. And | actu-
ally did a little Googling here, and there was a CNBC report that
it actually could bring in more money than it costs because of the
wealthy people being prosecuted, that Manafort's assets could be
well over $40 million. | do not know if that includes that ostrich
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jacket. But do you think that is possible based on your experience
with white-collar crime?

General B ARR. | do not know enough about it.

Senator K LOBUCHAR . Okay. In your memo, you talked about the
Comey decision, and you talked about obstruction of justice, and
you already went over that, which | appreciate. You wrote on page
1 that a President persuading a person to commit perjury would be
obstruction. Is that right?

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator K LOBUCHAR . Okay.

General B ArRrR. Well, you know, any person who persuades an-
other——

Senator K LOBUCHAR . Any person.

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator K LOBUCHAR . Okay. You also said that a President or any
person convincing a withess to change testimony would be obstruc-
tion. Is that right?

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator K LOBUCHAR . Okay. And on page 2, you said that a Presi-
dent deliberately impairing the integrity or availability of evidence
would be an obstruction. Is that correct?

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator KLoBUCHAR . Okay. And so, what if a President told a
witness not to cooperate with an investigation or hinted at a par-
don?

General B ARR. You know, | would have to know the specific—I
would have to know the specific facts.

Senator K LoBUCHAR . Okay. And you wrote on page 1 that if a
President knowingly destroys or alters evidence, that would be ob-
struction.

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator KLOBUCHAR . Okay. So, what if a President drafted a
misleading statement to conceal the purpose of a meeting? Would
that be obstruction?

General B ARR. Again, you know, | would have to know the—I
would have to know the specifics.

Senator K LOBUCHAR . You would seek the advice of career ethics
officials in the Department of Justice for any recusal, and | appre-
ciate that. And you said in the past that you commended Attorney
General Sessions for following the advice of those ethics lawyers,
but you did not commit today to following that advice. Is that
right?

General BARR. No, | did not—I did not commend him for fol-
lowing the advice. As the Agency had, he makes his—he is the one
responsible for making the recusal decision. | do not know why he
said—Ilocked himself into following the advice. That is an abdica-
tion of his own responsibility.

Senator K LOBUCHAR . So what did you think about what Acting
Attorney General Whitaker did when he rejected the Justice De-
partment’s ethics advice to recuse himself out of an abundance of
caution?

General B ARR. | have not seen the advice he got, and | do not
know the specific facts. But an abundance of caution suggests that
it could have gone either way.
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Senator K LOBUCHAR . You have committed to recuse yourself from
matters involving the law firm where you currently work. Are you
aware of any of your firm’'s clients who are in any way connected
to the Special Counsel’'s investigation?

General B ARR. | am not—| am not aware. You know, |I—to tell
the truth, | am Of Counsel there, and | have one client which | am
representing, and | do not pay very much attention to what else
is going on.

Senator K LOBUCHAR . Okay. Well, you can also supplement that.

General B ARR. Yes, | will supplement my answer.

Senator K LOBUCHAR . Okay. No problem.

[The information appears as a submission for the record.]

Senator K LoBUCHAR . Will you commit to make public all of the
report's conclusions—the Mueller report—even if some of the evi-
dence supporting those conclusions cannot be made public?

General B ARR. You know, that certainly is my goal and intent.
It is hard for me to conceive of a conclusion that would, you know,
run afoul of the regs as currently written. But that is certainly my
intent.

Senator K LOBUCHAR . Secure elections. You and | had a talk
about that in my office. Do you think backup paper ballots are a
good idea? This is a bill that Senator Lankford and | have intro-
duced with Senator Graham and Senator Harris.

General BARR. Yes, | do not know what is a good idea and what
is a bad idea right now because | have not gotten into this area.
But—

Senator K LOBUCHAR . Okay. Well, | will just tell you, backup
paper ballots is a good idea.

General B ARR. Okay.

Senator KLoBucHAR . And we can talk about it later as well
as——

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator K LOBUCHAR . Audits, along the lines of voting, State elec-
tion officials in North Carolina, as you know, contacted the Justice
Department about the integrity of their elections. The Justice De-
partment may have failed to take action in a timely manner. What
steps would you take to make sure these failures do not occur
again?

General B ArRR. Not specifically with respect to North Carolina.
You are talking generally.

Senator K LOBUCHAR . Yes.

General B ARR. Yes. Well, as | say, | want to make one of my pri-
orities the integrity of elections. And so, this is not an area | have
been involved with deeply before. And when | get to the Depart-
ment if | am confirmed, | am going to start working with the peo-
ple and making sure that those kinds of things do not happen.

Senator K LOBUCHAR . Part of this, of course, is also voting rights
and our concern about some of the changes in Department policy.
And | hope you will seriously look at that because the last thing
we should be doing is suppressing voting, and that is what we have
been seeing under this current administration. My dad was a re-
porter, so | grew up knowing the importance of a free press. We
obviously have the tragic case of a journalist who worked right
here at The Washington Post, Jamal Khashoggi, and it is a par-
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ticular concern. So | want to ask you something | asked Attorney
General Sessions. If you are confirmed, will the Justice Depart-
ment jail reporters for doing their jobs?

General B ARR. | think that—you know, | know there are guide-
lines in place, and | can conceive of situations where, you know, as
a—as a last resort and where a news organization has run through
a red flag or something like that, knows that they're putting out
stuff that will hurt the country. There might be a—there could be
a situation where someone would be held in contempt, but——

Senator K LOBUCHAR . Well, Attorney General Sessions had said
he was going to look at potentially changing those rules at one
point, so | would like you to maybe respond in writing to this be-
cause that was very concerning.

[The information appears as a submission for the record.]

Senator K LOBUCHAR . And last, when you and | were in my office,
we talked about your work with Time Warner with this major
merger on appeal from the Justice Department. And | just wanted
you to commit today to me in the office that you would recuse your-
self from any matters regarding that appeal.

General B ARR. Absolutely.

Senator K LOBUCHAR . Okay. And, as you know, you were on the
board of Time Warner at the time, and you signed a sworn affidavit
questioning whether the Justice Department’s decision to block the
merger was politically motivated, “given"—and this is from the affi-
davit—"the President’s prior public animus toward the merger.”
Are you talking here about his view on CNN? What did you mean
by “prior public animus”?

General B ARR. | am sorry. Could you repeat that?

Senator K LOBUCHAR . Sure. You were on the board of Time War-
ner, and you signed a sworn affidavit questioning whether the Jus-
tice Department’s decision to block the merger was politically moti-
vated, “given the President’s prior public animus toward the merg-
er.” And so, what did you mean by that?

General BARR. | mean that the affidavit speaks for itself, and
that at that meeting | was concerned that the Antitrust Division
was not engaging with some of our arguments, and | got concerned
that they were not taking the merits as seriously as | would hope
they would. But | have no—I am not sure why they acted the way
they did.

Senator K LoBUCHAR . Okay, very good. And | will ask you more
on antitrust policy-wise in the second round, and | appreciated the
discussion we had on that. It is very important. Thank you very
much.

General B ARR. Okay.

Chairman G rRaHAM . Thank you.

Senator Hawley did a good thing by allowing Senator Ernst to
go because no good deed goes unpunished around here, but you do
have a credit with the Chairman, so | appreciate that.

Senator Cruz, you are next.

Senator CrRuz. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Thank you, Senator Hawley, as well, and welcome to the Com-
mittee.

Welcome to all the new Members of the Committee.
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And congratulations, Mr. Chairman. We are looking forward to
the Lindsay Graham Chairmanship of Judiciary, and | am sure
if—

Chairman G rRAHAM . They will make a movie about it, | am sure.

Senator Cruz. | am certain whatever else happens, it will not be
boring.

Welcome, Mr. Barr. Congratulations on your nomination yet
again. And let me say, thank you. You and | have visited before
about this, but the past 2 years have been a difficult time at the
Department of Justice, and you and |—and many on this Com-
mittee—hold the Justice Department in very high esteem, indeed,
| would even say revere the Department and its century-long tradi-
tion of enforcing the law without regard to party and without re-
gard to partisanship, and | commend you for your willingness to go
back and serve once again. | think that is a good step for the De-
partment, and a good step for strengthening the Department.

You know, | would note, 27 years ago, when you did this pre-
viously, when you were last nominated to be Attorney General, and
| think you may have been about Liam’'s age at the time, it was
a different time. Then-Chairman of the Judiciary Committee, Joe
Biden, said at the time, that he found you to be, quote, “honest,”
and that you, quote, “understand and are committed to the dual re-
sponsibility of the office of the Attorney General.” Chairman Biden
also said, that, quote, “This commitment to the public interest
above all else is a critical attribute in an Attorney General, and |
will vote to confirm Mr. Barr.”

Senator Ted Kennedy likewise noted your dedication to public
service.

Senator Fritz Hollings said, quote, “Mr. Barr has a distinguished
academic background, an impressive experience in the private sec-
tor, as well as in public service. Most important, Bill Barr is a
known quantity. He has done a truly outstanding job as Deputy At-
torney General for the last year-and-a-half, during which time he
has worked with many of us in this body, earning our respect for
his professionalism and confidence.”

And Senator Kohl said, that, quote, “Your willingness to discuss
the issues is a refreshing change in the confirmation process, and
it would be wise of future nominees to follow Mr. Barr’'s example.”

At that hearing, you were confirmed by this Committee unani-
mously, as you had been twice previously for senior appointments
to the Department of Justice.

Now, we all recognize that was a different time. | think, given
the environment we are in now, few expect this Committee vote to
be unanimous. But | would hope those voices from the past, from
Democrats who were respected by Members of this Committee, will
be heard today as well.

One of the questions you were asked, if | might paraphrase, was
why on earth would you take this job? And your answer, if | recall
correctly, concerned your commitment both to the Department and
the rule of law.

Would you tell this Committee, in your judgment, why the rule
of law matters? Why is that important?

General B ARR. Well, you know, as our Framers said in the Fed-
eralist Papers, the art of setting up a government is to have a gov-
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ernment that is strong enough to perform the functions that the
government has to perform while at the same time not being so
strong that it can oppress its own people, and the rule of law en-
sures precisely that the Government does not oppress its own peo-
ple.

And when people are accused of wrongdoing, our system essen-
tially gives them the benefit of the doubt and gives them rights to
bring them up essentially to the same level as the Government,
and the process we go through is there to ensure that justice is not
arbitrary but it is done according to a set of rules, and the basic
protection that we have is that the rule that applies to one applies
to all. That, at the end of the day, is what keeps us all free. That
is the protection of individual freedom.

And to me, the rule of law is exactly that, that we do not allow
special rules to go into effect for a particular individual. A rule has
to be universalized. Anything we do against A has to be
universalized across everyone who is similarly situated. That is our
basic protection, and to me that is what the rule of law is.

Senator CrRuUz. So, | do not want to see a Republican Department
of Justice or a Democratic Department of Justice. | do not want to
see a Republican FBI or a Democratic FBI. What we should see,
what the American people have a right to see and a right to expect,
is a Department of Justice that is committed to and faithful to the
Constitution and the laws regardless of political party, and a cor-
ollary to that is a Department that is willing to hold anyone who
commits criminal conduct accountable regardless of that individ-
ual's political party or whatever partisan interest there might be.
Would you agree with that characterization?

General B ARR. Yes, Senator.

Senator Cruz. | would note, as well, during the previous admin-
istration there was concern by many—including me—on this Com-
mittee, that the previous administration, and in particular the IRS,
had targeted individual citizens and citizen groups for exercising
their First Amendment rights and had abused its power in doing
so.

In the current Justice Department, | have been dissatisfied with
the degree of scrutiny they have given to that potential abuse of
power, and | am going to ask you going forward, if you are con-
firmed, to examine that conduct and ensure that if laws were bro-
ken, that individuals are held accountable.

Let me shift to a different topic. One of the most important safe-
guards of our liberties is the Bill of Rights, and the Attorney Gen-
eral has a unique responsibility defending the Constitution. Can
you share for this Committee, in your view, the importance of free
speech, of the protections that the First Amendment provides to
Americans to speak, and even to speak on unpopular or politically
disfavored topics?

General B ARR. | think free speech is at the core of our system
because we believe in the democratic process and power shifting
through the processes of voting by an informed electorate, and free
speech is foundational to the ability to have a democratic process.
The Framers, | think, believed that the dialectic, the clashing of
ideas in the public marketplace, is the way to arrive at the truth,
and that is one function.
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Another function of free speech is that it is the substitute for
other means of settling differences. In some ways it is a safety
valve. People are allowed to speak their mind and persuade their
neighbors of their position, and | think that performs a very impor-
tant function in keeping the peace within a community. And if
speech is suppressed, it can lead to the building up of pressures
within society that sometimes can be explosive.

Senator CrRuz. How about your views on religious liberty, and
would you share your thoughts on the importance of the religious
liberty protections in the First Amendment in terms of protecting
our diverse and pluralistic society?

General BARR. Yes. | think the Framers believed that our sys-
tem—they said that our system only works if the people are in a
position to control themselves. Our Government is an experiment
in how much freedom we can allow the people without tearing our-
selves apart, and they believed fewer laws, more self-control; and
they believed that part of that self-control—and | know there are
many people here who disagree, not here but in our society who
disagree. But they believed part of that self-control ultimately came
from religious values. | think it is an important underpinning of
our system that we permit—I believe in the separation of church
and state, but | am sometimes concerned that we not use govern-
mental power to suppress the freedoms of traditional religious com-
munities in our country.

Senator Cruz. A final question. The Department of Justice is
charged with defending the United States, but that does not mean
that the Department of Justice always must argue for maximum
Federal power. There are important restraints on Federal power,
whether civil liberties protections in a criminal context, whether
the Takings Clause, or whether the Tenth Amendment and fed-
eralism.

Can you briefly share your thoughts on the appropriate balance
of respecting limitations on Federal power?

General B ARR. Well, as you say, the Constitution has many dif-
ferent forms of restraint on Federal power. Part of it is, in fact, the
separation of powers within the Federal Government. A part of it
is the balance between the Federalist system we have and the cen-
tral Government and respecting the rights of the States and local
communities. And part of it is the Bill of Rights, that on certain
topics it constrains the role of Federal Government, and those are
all important checks on Federal power.

| am concerned about our country becoming just a unitary state
that we try to govern centrally, 350 million people. | think a lot of
our current tensions in society are because we are turning our back
on the Federalist model. There are certain things that have to be
protected by the Federal Government. There are no ifs, ands, or
buts about that. But the more we can decentralize decisionmaking,
the more we can allow people real diversity in the country of ap-
proaches to things, | think we will have less of an explosive situa-
tion.

Senator Cruz. | very much agree.

Thank you, Mr. Barr.

Chairman G raHAM . The freedom of speech has to be balanced by
the freedom to question.
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Senator Coons.

Senator Coons. Congratulations, Chairman Graham. | look for-
ward to working with you in this Congress.

And thank you, Mr. Barr, to you and your family for their service
to our country through Federal law enforcement and the Depart-
ment of Justice.

You just faced some questioning from Senator Cruz about your
own confirmation hearing back in 1991, and | would like to take
us back to a previous confirmation hearing which was at a more
similar time to today, 1973.

Senator Leahy asked you about the confirmation of Elliot Rich-
ardson, President Nixon's nominee to be Attorney General. That
confirmation took place in the context of a similarly divided period
in American history where there was great concern over the, at
that point, ongoing Watergate investigation. Elliot Richardson reas-
sured the country by making some important commitments during
his confirmation hearing before this Committee. Then-Senator
Strom Thurmond asked Richardson if he wanted a Special Pros-
ecutor who would, and | quote, “shield no one and prosecute this
case, regardless of who is affected in any way, shape or form.”
Richardson responded, “Exactly.”

Do you want Special Counsel Mueller to shield no one and pros-
ecute the case regardless of who is affected?

General B ARR. | want Special Counsel Mueller to discharge his
responsibilities as a Federal prosecutor and exercise the judgment
that he is expected to exercise under the rules and finish his job.

Senator CooNns. Senator Kennedy followed up by asking Richard-
son if the Special Prosecutor would have the complete authority
and responsibility for determining whom he prosecuted and at
what location. Richardson said, simply, “Yes.” Would you give a
similar answer?

General B ARR. No. | would give the answer that is in the current
regulations, which is that the Special Counsel has broad discretion,
but the Acting Attorney General, in this case Rod Rosenstein, can
ask him about major decisions, and if they disagree on a major de-
cision, and if, after giving great weight to the Special Counsel's po-
sition, the Acting Attorney General felt that it was so unwarranted
under established policies that it should not be followed, then that
would be reported to this Committee.

Senator CooNs. Forgive me. | have got only 7 minutes left. |
have a number of other questions. Let me just make sure | under-
stand you.

Senators asked Elliot Richardson what he would do if he dis-
agreed with the Special Prosecutor. Richardson testified to the
Committee the Special Prosecutor’'s judgment would prevail. That
is not what you are saying. You are saying——

General B ARR. That is not—that is not——

Senator CooNs. You are saying if you have a difference of opin-
ion with Special Counsel Mueller, you will not necessarily back his
decision. You might overrule it.

General B ARR. Under the regulations, there is the possibility of
that. But this Committee would not—would be aware of it.

You know, a lot of water has gone under the dam since Elliot
Richardson. A lot of different administrations of both parties have
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experimented with Special Counsel arrangements, and the existing
rules, | think, reflect the experience of both Republican and Demo-
cratic administrations and strike the right balance. They are put
together in the Clinton administration after Ken Starr's investiga-
tion.

Senator CooNns. That is right. So the current regulations on the
books right now prevent the Attorney General from firing without
cause the Special Counsel. They require misconduct, dereliction of
duty, incapacity, conflict. Will you follow that standard?

General B ARR. Of course.

Senator CooNs. What if the President asked you to rescind or
change those Special Counsel regulations?

General B ARR. | think those Special Counsel regulations should
stay in place for the duration of this investigation, and we can do
a postmortem then. But | have no reason to think they are not
working.

Senator Coons. So, most famously, when directed by President
Nixon to fire the Special Counsel, the Prosecutor investigating Wa-
tergate, Richardson, refused and resigned instead, as we all well
know.

If the President directed you to change those regulations and
then fire Mueller, or simply directly fired Mueller, would you follow
Richardson’s example and resign instead?

General B ARR. Assuming there was no good cause?

Senator CooNs. Assuming no good cause.

General B ARR. | would not carry out that instruction.

Senator Coons. Let me bring us forward to your 1991 hearing
in front of this Committee. You explained at the time how you
would handle the BCCI case; and ironically, Robert Mueller, the
same individual, was at that point the head of the Criminal Divi-
sion, and you testified that you had directed Mueller to spare no
resources, use whatever resources are necessary and pursue the in-
vestigation as aggressively as possible, and follow the evidence any-
where and everywhere it leads.

Would you give similar direction to Robert Mueller today?

General BARR. | do not think he needs that direction. | think
that is what he is doing.

Senator Coons. You also said at that hearing that Robert
Mueller and that investigation had full cooperation, full support,
and carte blanche. Could he expect a similar level of support from
you as Attorney General?

General B ARR. He will—as | said, | am going to carry out those
regulations, and | want him to finish this investigation.

Senator Coons. | think we all do, and | am encouraged by things
you have said about this and just want to make sure we have had
as clear a conversation as we can.

Attorney General Richardson also testified the relationship be-
tween the President and the Justice Department should be arm’s
length. You have said similar things about the importance of
shielding the Department from political influence.

Can you make a similar commitment to us to maintain an arm’s
length relationship between the Justice Department and the Presi-
dent regarding the Special Counsel investigation and other inves-
tigations?
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General B ARR. Well, remember | said that there are like three
different functions generally that the Attorney General performs?
| think on the enforcement side, especially where matters are of ei-
ther personal or political interest to people at the White House,
then there would be—there has to be an arm’s length relationship.
The White House Counsel can play a constructive role in that as
well.

Senator CooNs. Let me ask, if the President asked for informa-
tion that could well be used to interfere with the Special Counsel
investigation to misdirect or curtail it in some way, would you give
it to him?

General B ARR. There are rules on what kind of information can
flow and what kind of communications can go between the White
House, and | would follow those. But the basic principle is that the
integrity of an investigation has to be protected. There are times
where you can share information that would not threaten the in-
tegrity of an investigation, for example when | was Attorney Gen-
eral and we were investigating something that related to Presi-
dent—someone who had a relationship with President Bush. |
could just orient them that there is going to be a story tomorrow
that says this, but in that particular case, there was no chance that
it would affect the investigation. So sometimes judgment calls are
necessary.

Senator Coons. If you learn that the White House, not directly
through you but through other means, was attempting to interfere
with the investigation, would you report that information to the
Special Counsel and to Congress?

General B ARR. There are some conclusions in there about inter-
fering. If 1 thought something improper was being done, then |
would deal with it as Attorney General.

Senator Coons. Last, in that confirmation hearing back in 1973,
then-Senator Birch Bayh of Indiana asked Richardson: “Suppose
the prosecutor determines it is necessary to get the President’s affi-
davit or to have his testimony personally. Would that be the kind
of determination he, the Special Prosecutor, could make?” Richard-
son said, “Yes.”

Will you give a similar answer today that you will not interfere
with Special Counsel Mueller seeking testimony from the Presi-
dent?

General B ARR. | think, as | say, the regulations currently provide
some avenue if there is some disagreement. | think that in order
to overrule Mueller, someone would have to determine—the Attor-
ney General or the Acting Attorney General would have to deter-
mine, after giving Mueller's position great weight, that it was so
unwarranted under established policies that it should not be done.
So that is the standard | would apply. But | am not going to sur-
render the—the regulations give some responsibility to the Attor-
ney General to have this sort of general—not day-to-day super-
vision, but sort of be there in case something really transcends the
established policies. | am not surrendering that responsibility. | am
not pledging it away.

Senator CooNs. What gives me pause and sort of led me to this
line of questioning, Mr. Barr, was that June 2018 memo you sent
to the Deputy Attorney General in which at one point you state
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Mueller should not be permitted to demand the President submit
to interrogation about alleged obstruction. If the Special Counsel
wants to subpoena the President’s testimony to ask questions about
obstruction, and you are supervising the investigation, would you
rely on that theory to block the subpoena?

General B ARR. Well, the question for me would be what is the
predicate, you know, and | do not know what the facts are. | do
not know what the facts are. If there was a factual basis for doing
it and | could not say that it violated established policies, then |
would not interfere. But | do not know what the facts are.

Senator Coons. Well, if | might just in closing, Mr. Chairman,
we are in this unique situation where you have known Robert
Mueller for 30 years. You said you respect and admire his profes-
sionalism, his conduct. He is been entrusted by you with signifi-
cant, complex investigations in the past. There is no reason to
imagine, since he is the person who would know the facts, that he
would not be acting in an inappropriate way. So it is my hope, even
my expectation, that you would trust Robert Mueller to make that
decision about whether to compel the President to testify in an ap-
propriate way, and that he would not face any interference.

Thank you for your testimony today. | look forward to the next
round.

General B ARR. Thank you.

Chairman G RAHAM . Senator Sasse.

Senator SAsse. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and congratulations
on your new calling here. While 1 might have career advice, | will
not do it on camera. We want to know if you are taking notes for
your cousins about career advice that we will ask you later.

General, congratulations on your nomination, and thanks for
your past service. | had planned to ask you for some pledges re-
lated to the Mueller investigation in private to me. In public today,
| think you have already done that.

How should the American people think about what the Mueller
investigation is about?

General B ARR. | think that there were allegations made of Rus-
sian attempts to interfere in the election, and there were allega-
tions made that some Americans were in cahoots with the Rus-
sians, and the word that is now being used is collusion. As | under-
stand it, Mueller is looking into those allegations.

Senator SAsse. You know, a lot of the media summary of the in-
vestigation starts with people’s views and who they voted for in the
2016 presidential election. And for those of us who spend a lot of
time reading intelligence reports—a handful of us on this Com-
mittee are about to leave to go to an intelligence briefing—what
Russia is doing to the U.S. is big and broad and not constrained
to the 2016 election. And increasingly, it feels like the American
people reduce Russia to just how you thought about the 2016 presi-
dential election.

So, since you will have serious supervisory responsibilities over
parts of the intelligence community, is Putin a friend or a foe, and
what are his long-term objectives for the U.S.?

General B ARR. Well, | do not hold myself out as a foreign policy
expert, but I think that he is—I think the Russians are a potent
rival of our country, and his foreign policy objectives are usually di-
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rectly contrary to our goals. | think he wants to weaken the Amer-
ican alliances in Europe, and he also wants to become a player in
the Middle East, more of a player in the Middle East. A lot of his
foreign policy objectives are at odds with ours.

At the same time, | think the primary rival of the United States
is China. | think, you know, Russia is half the size it was when
we were facing them at the peak of the cold war. Their economy
is—long-term prognosis is nowhere near China’s.

| also feel that part of what Russia is up to is trying to hold onto
Ukraine and Belorussia in their orbit. But | am concerned that the
fixation on Russia not obscure the danger from China.

Senator SAsSE. | want to ask you some China questions as well.
| want to ask about your role on the President’s Intelligence Advi-
sory Board.

But sticking with Russia for a minute, does Putin have any long-
term ideological alignment with the U.S., or does he have other ob-
jectives, trying to sow discord broadly here?

General B ARR. You know, | am not an expert on this area, but
| think there are—I think there may be some potential areas where
our interests could be aligned.

Senator SAsse. But when he interferes here, does he have long-
term interests in the success of one or another political party, or
does he have specific interests in sowing chaos and discord to make
Americans distrust one another? And one of the reasons | ask is,
because | would love to have you say in public some of what you
said to me, about at the end of this investigation, what happens
next. Are you concerned that when the Mueller report is received,
quite apart—the narrowest pieces—you know where | am headed.

General B ARR. So, | mean, | think that the basic vulnerability of
the United States in the age in which we live, the internet age, the
globalization of information and so forth, is the vulnerability that
we are seeing, which is people can create doubt, undercut con-
fidence in our election process, and also torque our public discourse
in ways that we find hard to perceive, and this has long-term dan-
ger for the United States and the survival of a democratic society
like ours. And so | hope that whatever the outcome of the Mueller
investigation, that we view this as a bigger problem of foreign in-
terference in our elections, which is why | said it was one of my
priorities, and it is not just the Russians. It is other countries as
well, and we have to focus on that. We have to ensure that we are
doing all we can.

| am not sure all of that is defensive either. | mean, in terms of
law enforcement, | think we have to look at all options, including
sanctions and other options to deter organized efforts to interfere
in our elections.

Senator SASSE. So you have no reason to doubt any aspect of the
intelligence community’s composite assessment about Russian ef-
forts in the 2016 election?

General B ARR. | have no reason to doubt that the Russians at-
tempted to interfere in our election.

Senator Sasse. And Dan Coats, the National Intelligence Direc-
tor, has testified in public and has said in different media contexts
that Russia is already plotting for the 2020 elections in the U.S.
You have no reason to doubt that?
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General B ARR. | have not—you know, | have not seen those re-
ports. | had reviewed the reports about the 2016, but | have no rea-
son to doubt it.

Senator SAasse. And can you explain what your role is on the
President’s Intelligence Advisory Board?

General BARR. | am actually a consultant. | am an adviser on
sort of legal issues. Obviously, | am stepping down from that posi-
tion if I am confirmed. But | have been just advising. | am not a
member of the board. | am on the CIA’'s External Advisory Board
and, you know, have been participating on that as well.

Senator Sasse. When you talk about the long-term Chinese ef-
forts to also sow different kinds of discord in the U.S., obviously not
crossing any classified lines here, but long-term interests that other
countries have in strategic rivalry with the U.S. to use gray space
and information operations warfare against us, how do you see the
role of the National Security Branch, and the FBI more broadly,
fitting into the larger IC, and what responsibilities do you see
would be on your priority list as you arrive at the Department?

General B ARR. Well, you know, | have been out of the Depart-
ment for so long. You know, | am not really sure about how that
is currently being handled. You know, | also think that we have
had our attention focused on terrorism, which we cannot let up.
And, but | want to make sure that—and | am sure Chris Wray is
on top of this and, you know, looking forward to talking to him
about it. But making sure that the Bureau is playing, you know,
a central role in combating, you know, efforts by foreign countries
to engage in those kinds of hostile intelligence activities.

Senator SAsse. You have unpacked a couple of times today the
three different roles or functions of the Attorney General. Could
you do that one more time in summary? And then | want to ask
you a particular question. What are those three roles, as you see
them?

General B ARR. | see the three roles. In 1789, the first—set up the
office. The first role was providing advice to the President and the
Cabinet and representing the United States in cases before the Su-
preme Court. And | see the three roles as providing advice, being
a policy adviser on legal and law enforcement policy issues, and the
top law enforcement officer enforcing the laws.

Senator SAsse. And so in no way would the job of protecting the
President be a subset of any of those three jobs? The language of
“protecting the President” has been used occasionally in this ad-
ministration to refer to the way it was conceived of how Eric Hold-
er did his job. Is there any sense in which it is the Attorney Gen-
eral’s job to protect the President?

General B ARR. No, that was not included in my description of the
role of the Attorney General. Obviously, as a policy—in the policy
arena, the Attorney General is someone who should be sympathetic
to the administration and its policy goals.

Senator SAsse. But there are circumstances where those three
roles could come into some internal conflict, or you could be asked
to do things that do not align with them. And there is probably a
list that you have—I will not ask you to enumerate it here. But
there is probably a list of issues where you could imagine needing
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to resign because of what you were asked to do in the space of so-
called protecting the President?

General B ARR. If |—if | was ever asked to do something that |
felt was unlawful and directed to do that, | would not do it, and
I would resign rather than do it. But | think that should be true
of every officer who serves anywhere in Government, whatever
branch.

Senator SAssSe. | am at time. But | had a series of questions re-
lated to some of what Senator Ernst said about Sarah’s Law. She
and | have jointly been active in that space. The tragic case of the
young woman that she was talking about from Council Bluffs was
actually—it occurred in Omaha.

And Edwin Mejia, her killer, is still at large, and both the last
administration and this administration have not prioritized that
enough in our understanding. And | imagine that Senator Ernst
and | will follow up with a letter to you on that as well.

Thank you.

Chairman G rRaHAM . Senator Blumenthal.

Senator BLUMENTHAL . Thanks, Mr. Chairman. | congratulate
you, and | look forward to working with you and congratulate also
the new Members of our Committee that have joined us.

And thank you very much, Mr. Barr, for being here today, for
your past record of public service, and | hope | am perhaps the last
to make reference to your grandson by saying that if he makes it
through this hearing today, he can have any job he wants in this
building.

[Laughter.]

Senator BLUMENTHAL . Let me say first that as a former United
States Attorney, | share your allegiance and admiration for the De-
partment of Justice and, equally so, the Federal Bureau of Inves-
tigation, and | know that you respect Mr. Wray, the current Direc-
tor. But | think you would agree with me that the FBI is probably
one of the best, if not the most professional, accomplished, skilled,
and dedicated law enforcement agencies in the world. Would you
agree?

General B ARR. Yes, Senator.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . And | hope that the President agrees with
you and perhaps shares that view more publicly in the future.

When the FBI begins a counterintelligence investigation, if it is
of the President of the United States for working with a foreign ad-
versary, that decision would be subject to multiple levels of review
within the FBI. Correct?

General B ARR. | assume. | do not know what rules were in effect
at the time.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Well, in your experience, it would be?

General B ARR. Yes. Yes.

Senator BLUMENTHAL . And you have no reason to think that
those rules have changed?

General BArRR. | do not know what the practice was. There
was——

Senator B LUMENTHAL . And almost certainly in that kind of ex-
traordinary investigation, you would agree with me it would be ex-
traordinary for the FBI to be investigating the President for work-
ing with a determined foreign adversary. There probably would be



57

information shared with the Deputy Attorney General or the Attor-
ney General. Agree?

General B ARR. | would hope so. The reason | am hesitating is be-
cause some of these texts that we have all read are so weird and
beyond my experience with the FBI, | do not know what was going
on.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Well, these reports are stomach-turning in
terms of the absolutely stunning and unprecedented kind of inves-
tigation that they reflect. You would agree?

General B ARR. You mean the texts are stomach-turning?

Senator BLUMENTHAL . The reports of the investigation of the
President.

General B ARR. | am not sure what you are talking about when
you say, “the reports of the investigation.”

Senator B LUMENTHAL . The reports that the FBI opened an inves-
tigation of the President for working with a foreign adversary, Rus-
sia.

General B ARR. And what is stomach-turning about that? Which—
what is stomach-turning, the allegation against the President——

Senator B LUMENTHAL . That that kind of—

General B ArRR [continuing]. Or the fact that an allegation would
be made and be under investigation?

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Well, let me move on. | want to talk about
transparency. Would you commit—will you commit to this Com-
mittee that you will not allow the President or his attorneys to edit
or change the Special Counsel report before it is submitted to Con-
gress or the public?

General B ARR. | already said that | would not permit editing of
my report, whatever report I—or whoever is the Attorney General,
makes.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . And will you commit that you will come
to Congress and explain any deletions or changes that are made to
that report before it is issued?

General B ARR. Okay. So there are different reports at work here.
Which report are you—there are two different reports——

Senator B LUMENTHAL . | am talking about the Special Counsel re-
port.

General B ARR. Okay. Well, under the current regulations, the
Special Counsel report is confidential. The report that goes public
would be a report by the Attorney General.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Will you commit that you will explain to
us any changes or deletions that you make to the Special Counsel
report that is submitted to you in whatever you present to us?

General B ARR. | will commit to providing as much information as
| can, consistent with the regulations. Are you saying, for example,
that if information is deleted that would be like, for classification
purposes, | would identify that and things like that?

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Well, that you will commit to explaining
to us what the reasons are for your deleting any information that
the Special Counsel includes that you are preventing us—or the
public—from seeing?

General B ARR. That would be my intent. | have to say that the
rules—I do not know what kind of report is being prepared. | have
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no idea. And | have no idea what Acting Attorney General Rosen-
stein has discussed with Special Counsel Mueller.

If I am confirmed, | am going to go in and see what is being con-
templated and what they have agreed to and what their interpreta-
tion—you know, what game plan they have in mind.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Will you permit the Special Counsel—

General B ARR. But my purpose is to get as much accurate infor-
mation out as | can, consistent with the regulations.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Well, the regulations and rules give you
extraordinarily broad discretion. And | am hoping, and | am asking
you to commit, that you will explain to us information that you
have taken out of that Special Counsel report.

And, | also want to ask you about restrictions on the Special
Counsel. Will you commit that you will allow the Special Counsel
to exercise his judgment on subpoenas that are issued and indict-
ments that he may decide should be brought?

General BARR. As | said, | will carry out my responsibilities
under the regulations. Under the regulations, whoever is Attorney
General can only overrule the Special Counsel if the Special Coun-
sel does something that is so unwarranted under established prac-
tice. | am not going to surrender the responsibilities | have.

I would—you would not like it if | made some pledge to the
President that | was going to exercise my responsibilities in a par-
ticular way. And | am not going to make the pledge to anyone on
this Committee that | am going to exercise it in a particular way
or surrender it.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Will you allow the Special Counsel to ex-
ercise his judgment as to what resources are necessary? Will you
meet those needs for resources?

General B ARR. That would be my expectation. | think, you know,
I mean, if you believe the media, they are sort of starting to reduce
their resources. So | would not expect that would be a problem.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Will you allow the Special Counsel to ex-
ercise his judgment as to what the scope should be? The President
has talked about red line around finances. Will you allow the Spe-
cial Counsel to exercise his judgment about what the scope should
be, even if the President says that there should be red line?

General BARR. | think the scope of the investigation is deter-
mined by his charter from the Acting Attorney General. And if he
wants to go beyond that charter, | assume he would come back and
talk to whoever the Attorney General is about that.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Will you impose any restrictions on other
prosecutors who are also investigating the President? As you are
well aware, in the Southern District of New York, the President
has been named, in effect, as an unindicted co-conspirator. The
Eastern District of Virginia has an investigation that is relevant to
the President. Will you impose any restrictions on those prosecu-
tors?

General B ArRR. The Office of Attorney General is in charge of
the—with the exception of the Special Counsel, who has special
rules applicable to him—is in charge of the work of the Department
of Justice.

Senator BLUMENTHAL . But you have a responsibility to allow
prosecutors to enforce the law.
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General BARR. | have a responsibility to use my judgment and
discretion that are inherent in the Office of Attorney General to su-
pervise, and | am not going to go around saying, well, this U.S. At-
torney, or that U.S. Attorney, | am going to defer to. And——

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Well, you referred earlier about the possi-
bility of firing——

General B ARR. Excuse me?

Senator BLUMENTHAL [continuing]. A United States Attorney.
Would you allow the President to fire a United States Attorney and
thereby stop an investigation?

General B ARR. | would not stand by and allow a U.S. Attorney
to be fired for the purpose of stopping an investigation, but the
President can fire a U.S. Attorney. They are a presidential appoint-
ment.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . But the President should have a cause be-
yond simply stopping an investigation for firing a United States At-
torney, even if he or she is a political——

General B ARR. Well, as | said, | would not stand by and allow,
you know, an investigation to be stopped if | thought it was a law-
ful investigation. | would not stand by for that. But the President
is free to fire his, you know, officials that he has appointed and——

Senator BLUMENTHAL . | want to ask a different—a question on
a different topic. You have said that, and | am quoting you, “I be-
lieve Roe v. Wade should be overruled.” You said that in 1991.

Do you still believe it?

General B ARR. | said in 1991 that | thought, as an original mat-
ter, it had been wrongly decided. And that was, what—within 18
years of its decision? Now it has been 46 years, and the Depart-
ment has stopped—under Republican administrations stopped as a
routine matter asking that it be overruled, and | do not see that
being turned—you know, | do not see that being resumed.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Would you defend Roe v. Wade if it were
challenged?

General B ARR. Would | defend Roe v. Wade? | mean, usually the
way this would come up would be a State regulation of some sort
and whether it is permissible under Roe v. Wade. And | would hope
that the SG would make whatever arguments are necessary to ad-
dress that. | think the Justices, the recent ones, have made clear
that they consider Roe v. Wade an established precedent, and it has
been on the books 46 years.

Senator BLUMENTHAL . And you would enforce the Clinic Access
Protection Act?

General B ARR. Absolutely.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman G rRAHAM . Senator Hawley.

Senator H AwLEY . Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Barr, congratulations on your nomination. Thank you for
being here.

You were eminently qualified for this position when you were
confirmed unanimously by this Committee 27 years ago, and you
are eminently qualified today. It is a pleasure to have you here.

| wanted to start where Senator Blumenthal started as well,
with the reports about the FBI counterintelligence investigation
launched against the President, which | also find to be stomach-
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turning, though perhaps for different reasons. The New York Times
report indicates that the FBI began the probe in part because they
were concerned about the President’s foreign policy stances, com-
ments he made during the 2016 campaign about foreign policy, and
the Republican Party’s official position on the Ukraine.

In your experience with the FBI, is it strange to have a counter-
intelligence investigation begun because members of that Bureau
disagree with the foreign policy stances of a candidate for President
or a President of the United States?

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator H AwLEY . The Supreme Court has been unequivocal that
the President—in our system of Government, the President pos-
sesses, and | am going to quote now, “the plenary and exclusive
power as the sole organ of the Federal Government in the field of
international relations, a power which does not require as its
basis—as a basis for its exercise an act of Congress.”

That is the very famous Curtiss-Wright case. To your knowledge,
is that still good law?

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator H AwLEY . And do you think that was rightly decided?

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator H AwWLEY . Let me ask you this: Would it concern you as
Attorney General if FBI agents were making decisions about when
and how to launch an investigation of an elected official if it was
in order to avoid being supervised or directed by their agency lead-
ership? Would that be concerning to you?

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator H AWLEY . As is, | might just add, reported by The New
York Times.

Let me switch gears and ask you about another topic that you
mentioned a little bit earlier in the field when we were talking gen-
erally about antitrust. This is something, you talk about things
that have changed in the 27 years since you were last here, one
of the things that has changed is the extraordinary concentration
of power in our economy in the hands of a few corporations, no
more so than in Silicon Valley, which you referenced earlier today,
and | just want to ask you a little bit about that.

Big tech companies, like, for instance, Google and Facebook, who
have drawn much attention of late, pose significant challenges not
just for competition, but also for the larger issues of privacy and
the free flow of ideas. The Justice Department has recently de-
ferred to the FTC across this range of issues, and while | am hope-
ful that Chairman Simons will right the course here, the FTC has
perhaps too often allowed these companies, in my view, to violate
privacy and maybe antitrust laws without meaningful con-
sequences.

Here is my question. What role do you think the Justice Depart-
ment has, working with the FTC or independently, to address anti-
competitive conduct, potential bias, and privacy violations by these
big tech companies?

General B ARR. Well, obviously, competition is of central concern
to the Antitrust Division, and you know, there are, | guess, concor-
dats that have been reached between the FTC and the Antitrust
Division as to who has primary jurisdiction in different areas. But
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| would like to weigh in to some of these issues. | would like to
have the Antitrust support that effort to get more involved in re-
viewing the situation from a competition standpoint.

| also am interested in the issue of privacy and the question of
who owns this data. And you know, it is not an area that | have
studied closely or become an expert in, but | think it is important
for the Department to get more involved in these questions.

Senator H AWLEY . Just on the subject of ownership of data, as you
know, Facebook is currently subject to a 2011 consent decree, as
part of which it agreed not to release or share or sell personal user
information without the knowledge and consent of its users.
Facebook’s CEO Mark Zuckerberg has adamantly insisted under
oath, as recently as April 10th of 2018, that on Facebook, users
have complete control—those are his words—over everything that
they share.

However, as | am sure you are aware, recent media reports have
indicated that Facebook, in fact, routinely has shared user informa-
tion without users’ consent or even knowledge. Now the Justice De-
partment has the authority to enforce the terms of the 2011 con-
sent decree and potentially to prosecute any violation. Will you con-
sider doing so?

General B ARR. Because that is something that | might have to
get involved with and supervise if | am confirmed, | would rather
not make any comments about it right now.

Senator H AWLEY . Let me ask you this. These same technology
companies also control the flow of information, or, at least, influ-
ence it, the flow of information to consumers to an unprecedented
degree. | mean, you have to go way back in American history to
find any analog, back to the paper trusts, to find an analog of a
group, small group of companies that control the information and
influence the news and its flow to Americans to the extent that
these companies do.

And there is growing evidence that these companies have lever-
aged their considerable market power, if not monopoly status, to
disfavor certain ideological viewpoints, particularly conservative
and libertarian viewpoints. Do you think the Department of Justice
has authority under the antitrust laws or consumer protection laws
or other laws to address bias by dominant online platforms?

General B ARR. | would just say, generally, you know, | would not
think it would—I would have to think long and hard before | said
that it was really the stuff of an antitrust matter. On the other
hand, it could involve issues of disclosure and other—and other—
implicate other laws like that.

Senator H AWLEY . Is there any point, do you think, at which polit-
ical bias could require response? And | am thinking, for example,
Harvard law professor Jonathan Zittrain has written how Google
or Facebook, for example, could manipulate their algorithms to sig-
nificantly swing voter turnout to favor a candidate of their choice.

Would that sort of conduct require a response from the Depart-
ment?

General B ARR. | would have to think about that. | am not sure.
You know, | would like to know more about the phenomena and
what laws could be implicated by it.
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Senator H AwLEY . Let me ask you this. The Justice Department’s
case against AT&T-Time Warner focused on how the merged com-
pany would control or could control the distribution of information
to discriminate against rival content. And | understand that you,
of course, are recusing yourself from that matter.

But generally speaking, generally speaking, do you see similar
concerns regarding how dominant Silicon Valley firms could use
their market power in social media or search to discriminate
against rival products or services or viewpoints?

General B ARR. Yes. And making clear that what | am saying now
has no application to, you know, the transaction we just talked
about and talking about the other companies, yes.

Senator H AwWLEY . Let me ask you more broadly about the ques-
tion of antitrust and mergers. And you gestured toward this earlier
in your testimony. | am increasingly worried that the Department
is not enforcing vigorously the antitrust statutes in many sectors
of the economy, not just technology.

We see—again, as you have alluded to, we see growing con-
centration of power in various sectors held by just a few firms. And
if you look at recent trends in the Department’'s scrutiny of pro-
posed mergers, it is at record lows. Last year, for instance, the De-
partment of Justice Antitrust Division scrutinized mergers through
second requests for information in less than 1 percent of all eligible
cases.

That is, | believe, the lowest level of merger scrutiny recorded
since the FTC started tracking those statistics back in 1981. And
just for comparison purposes, in 1981, that review was five times
higher than it was in 2018.

My question is, do you think this record low level of merger scru-
tiny is appropriate? And if you are confirmed as Attorney General,
what might you do to ensure that the Antitrust Division faithfully
and vigorously enforces the law?

General B ARR. Well, | am for vigorous enforcement of the anti-
trust laws to preserve competition, and as | said, this is going to
be an area | am going to want to get into and work with Makan
Delrahim on, if | am confirmed.

I would not necessarily use, you know, the incidence of merger
review as a proxy for failure of competition. At the end of the day,
it is competition we are worried about in different markets. But |
am interested in exploring those—you know, those statistics you
were just using.

Senator H AwLEY . And do you think it is fair to say, would you
agree that the historic levels of concentration that we are seeing
in many parts of the economy, technology in particular, is poten-
tially detrimental to competition? | mean, it is, again, potentially
and in general, but it is something that is worth scrutinizing and
being concerned about if one is concerned about free, fair, and open
competition?

General B ARR. You said the size?

Senator H AWLEY . Yes, historic levels of concentration.

General BARR. Yes. | think what is—the thing | am concerned
about are the network effects that have now—that are now at
work, where they are so powerful that particular sectors could es-
sentially be subsumed, you know, subsumed into these—into these
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networks. There are just very powerful network effects because of
the size.

Senator H AWLEY . Yes. | see my time has almost expired.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman G rRAHAM . Senator Hirono.

Senator H IRoNO . Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Chairman, | welcome the arrival of the immigration Lindsey
Graham of 2013. The other Lindsey Graham, we shall see, as you,
yourself, have acknowledged.

Mr. Barr, | ask these questions, these two questions, of every
nominee who comes before any of the Committees on which | sit,
and these are the questions: Since you became a legal adult, have
you ever made unwanted requests for sexual favors or committed
any verbal or physical harassment or assault of a sexual nature?

General B ARR. No.

Senator HIRONO . Have you ever faced discipline or entered into
a settlement related to this kind of conduct?

General B ARR. No.

Senator HIRONO . | have a question relating to recusal. You have
been asked a number of times. It is very clear that the President
does not want an Attorney General who will recuse himself from
the Mueller investigation. So when he came before us for confirma-
tion in January 2017, Jeff Sessions wrote on his Committee ques-
tionnaire that he would “seek and follow the advice of the Depart-
ment of Justice’s designated agency ethics official, if confronted
with a conflict of interest.”

And in fact, he did do that, and he was basically pummeled by
the President ever since. So Matthew Whitaker has not come be-
fore us for the job of Attorney General, but we know that when it
came time to make the decision about recusal, he did not want to
be the object of Trump’s wrath, so he proceeded to listen to and
then ignore the advice of the career ethics officials at the DOJ who
recommended recusal.

So your answer to Senator Klobuchar makes it clear that you are
going to basically follow the Whitaker model. Can you understand
why that is not terribly reassuring to us?

These are not normal times. This is not 27 years ago. Today, the
President is Donald Trump, who will do anything to protect him-
self. He wants you—who has written a manifesto about why the
President should not be prosecuted, at least, for obstruction of jus-
tice; who has met with and consulted with the President’'s defense
attorneys; who has written op-eds defending his firings of Sally
Yates and James Comey—to be his Attorney General.

So in this context, just asking us to trust you is not enough. Why
will you not simply follow Jeff Sessions’ lead and take and follow—
the critical question being “follow”—the advice of the Department’s
ethics officials?

General B ARR. Because the regulations and the responsibilities of
the Attorney General as the head of the agency vest that responsi-
bility in the Attorney General. And—and | am not going to sur-
render the responsibilities of the Attorney General to get the title.
| do not need the title.

If you do not—if you do not trust me to——

Senator H IRoNO . Well, —you have—excuse me.
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General B ARR. Yes.

Senator HIRONO. You have repeated that answer many, many
times. However, | think we all acknowledge that Jeff Sessions pos-
sibly did not want to recuse himself, but he did. And so you have
it within your power to follow the ethics advice of your own Depart-
ment, and you are telling us you are not going to. So that is the
bottom line.

General B ARR. No, Senator. | think Jeff Sessions recused himself
because of a different provision, which was the political conflict
provision.

Senator HIRoNoO. | think in the context of all of the things
that——

General B ARR. He played a role in—he played a role in the cam-
paign.

Senator HIRoNO. In the context of all of the things that you have
done, basically to get the attention of President Trump to nominate
you, | would say that there is a political context to what your deci-
sion should be also.

Let me move on. You have said that you will allow Mueller to
complete his work. Although | do want to ask you very specifically,
because you did write that 19-page memo relating to the obstruc-
tion of justice issue, would you allow the Mueller investigation with
regard to obstruction of justice to also go forward unimpeded by
you?

General B ARR. | do not know whether there is an investigation
of obstruction of—

Senator HIroNo . Well, definitely obstruction of justice. You read
the papers as well as we do, that that is an element of the Mueller
investigation. | do not think you can sit here and tell us that you
do not think that that is a part of the investigation.

But let us say that it is. Having written what you did, would you
seek to stop that portion of the Mueller investigation, that being
the obstruction of justice portion, assuming that that is, in fact,
part of the investigation?

General B ARR. Okay, but you have to remember, my memo was
on a very specific statute and a specific theory that | was concerned
about.

Senator H IRONO . | understand that.

General B ARR. | have no basis for suspecting at this point that
that is in play at all.

Senator HIRONO. You mean that particular provision? So
Mueller——

General B ArRR. That provision or theory. Or theory.

Senator HIrRoNO. Well, | did say let us assume that, in fact, ob-
struction of justice is part of the Mueller investigation.

General B ARR. When | say “theory,” | mean, what | was address-
ing was, you know, whether the removal of Comey in and of itself
would be obstruction.

Senator H IRoNO . Of course, it is not in and of itself—

General B ARR. Under a particular statute——

Senator HIrRONO. | hate to be interruptive, but, you know, | only
have 4 minutes, so thank you very much.

You were asked about the investigations that are going on in the
Southern District of New York, the Eastern District of Virginia, the
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District of Columbia, and there are various investigations brought
by various U.S. Attorneys’ Offices relating to the activities of Don-
ald Trump, his campaign, his inauguration, his foundation, his
businesses, his family, his associates. Do you consider these to be
lawful investigations? Because | believe that you responded to Sen-
ator Blumenthal that, if these are lawful investigations by the U.S.
Attorneys’ Offices, you do not see yourself interfering with them.

General B ARR. | have no reason to think they are not lawful in-
vestigations, whatever they are. You seem to know more than | do
about what is under investigation.

Senator HIrRONO. That is reassuring, that you are wanting to
have the Mueller investigation go forward extends to all of these
other U.S. Attorneys’ investigations.

| believe you also said that the Mueller report will be confiden-
tial? It is confidential under the Special Counsel’'s—whatever the
criteria are. So what | am hearing you say is that, in spite of the
fact that you want to be transparent, neither Congress nor the pub-
lic will get the Mueller report because that is confidential. So what
we will be getting is your report of the Mueller report subject to
applicable laws limiting disclosure. So is that what you are telling
us?

General B ARR. | do not know what—at the end of the day what
will be releasable. | do not know what Bob Mueller is writing.

Senator H IrRoNnO. Well, you said that the Mueller report is con-
fidential pursuant to whatever the regulations are that applies to
him. So | am just trying to get as to what you are going to be
transparent about.

General B ARR. As the rules stand now, people should be aware
that the rules, | think, say that the Special Counsel will prepare
a summary report on any prosecutive or declination decisions, and
that that shall be confidential and shall be treated as any other
declination or prosecutive material within the Department. In addi-
tion, the Attorney General is responsible for notifying and report-
ing certain information upon the conclusion of the investigation.

Now, how these are going to fit together and what can be gotten
out there, | have to wait and—I would have to wait. | would want
to talk to Rod Rosenstein and see what he has discussed with
Mueller and, you know, what——

Senator HIRoNO. But you have testified that you would like to
make as much of the original report—

General B ARR. Right, and so all | can say right now is——

Senator H IRONO [continuing]. Public as possible.

General B ARR. Yes. All | can say right now is my goal and intent
is to get as much information out as | can consistent with the regu-
lations.

Senator HIRoNO. Thank you. So in the minute that | have, |
would just like to go over some of the policies that Jeff Sessions
has followed. One is a zero-tolerance policy which led to the separa-
tion of children from their parents. He refused to defend the Af-
fordable Care Act and argued in the Texas lawsuit that key parts
of the ACA were unconstitutional. He failed to bring a single law-
suit to enforce the Voting Rights Act to stop voter suppression ef-
forts. And he issued a memo making it harder for the Civil Rights
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Division to enter into consent decrees to address systemic police
misconduct.

Do you agree with these policies? Do you intend to continue
them?

General B ARR. The last one, yes. | agree with that policy. The
other ones, | am not—I would have to see what the basis was for
those decisions.

Senator HIRONO. So do you think that as to the last one, which
has to do with consent decrees, that there is a role for the Depart-
ment of Justice in addressing system police misconduct?

General B ARR. NO, there——

Senator HIRONO. You do not see much of a role in that? Or you
see a more limited——

General BARR. That is your characterization of it. That is not
what | understand the policy to be. Of course, the Department has
a role in pattern and practice violations.

Senator H IRONO . So Attorney General Sessions has issued a rule
that makes it a lot tougher to enter into these kinds of decrees.

General B ARR. Why do you say it is a lot tougher?

Senator HIRONO. Because it is not just relying on the career at-
torneys. Now it goes to the Deputy AG or whoever, that there are
more political appointees who are going to get involved in that
process, and that makes it much more limited, | would say, in utili-
zation.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman G rRaHAM . Thank you, Senator Hirono.

We will take a 10-minute comfort break and start with Senator
Tillis. If my math is right, we have got about an hour left on round
one. So will 10 minutes be okay, Mr. Barr?

General B ARR. Yes.

Chairman G raHAM . Okay. Thank you. Ten minutes.

[Whereupon the Committee was recessed and reconvened.]

Chairman G raHAM . Thank you, Mr. Barr.

| think—who we have left on our side is, Senators Kennedy,
Blackburn, and Tillis, and Senators Booker and Harris. Anybody
else? | think that is it in round one.

So, Senator Kennedy.

Senator K ENNEDY . Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Barr, do you know of any instance in which anybody has
tried to interfere in Mr. Mueller’'s investigation?

General B ARR. No. | mean, | am not in the Department of Jus-
tice, and | have no—you know, | am not privy to that information,
but | do not know of any.

Senator K ENNEDY . | understand you know Mr. Mueller, do you?

General B ARR. Yes, | do.

Senator K ENNEDY . Is he big enough to take care of himself?

General B ARR. He is a Marine.

[Laughter.]

Senator K ENNEDY . If someone had tried to interfere with his in-
vestigation, based on your knowledge of Mr. Mueller, would he
have something to say about it, including but not limited to in a
court of law?

General B ARR. Yes, Senator.
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Senator K ENNEDY . | want to try to cut through some of the innu-
endo here. Did President Trump instruct or ask you, once you be-
come Attorney General, to fire Mr. Mueller?

General B ARR. Absolutely not.

Senator K ENNEDY . Did he ask you to interfere in Mr. Mueller’s
investigation?

General B ARR. Absolutely not.

Senator K ENNEDY . Has anybody in the White House made that
suggestion to you?

General B ARR. Absolutely not.

Senator KENNEDY . Has anybody in the Western Hemisphere
made that suggestion to you.

General B ARR. Absolutely not.

[Laughter.]

Senator K ENNEDY . Okay. | want to associate myself with the re-
marks of Mr. Blumenthal about the FBI being the premier law en-
forcement agency in the history of the world, in my opinion, and
the high esteem in which we all hold the Department of Justice.
But | have a question for you. This counterintelligence investiga-
tion that was started by the FBI and Justice, allegedly about Presi-
dent Trump, how did The New York Times get that information?

General B ARR. | do not know, Senator.

Senator K ENNEDY . Well, didn't it have to come from the FBI or
the Department of Justice?

General B ARR. | just cannot say. | do not know how they got it,
and | do not know whether that is an accurate report.

Senator K ENNEDY . All right. What do you intend to do about the
leaks coming out of the FBI and the Department of Justice?

General B ARR. The problem of leaks is a difficult one to address.
| think the first thing is to make it clear that there is an expecta-
tion that there are no leaks and punish people through internal
discipline if there are leaks; also keep—you know, exercise more
compartmentalization and discipline; and make the institutions
that are responsible, if you are talking about the FBI, that their
leadership is taking aggressive action to stop the leaks.

Senator K ENNEDY . Okay. You have had some experience with the
enforcement of our immigration laws. Is that correct?

General B ARR. That is right, Senator.

Senator K ENNEDY . Do you believe it is possible to secure a 1,900-
mile border without, in part, at least, using barriers?

General B ARR. NoO, | do not think it is possible.

Senator K ENNEDY . Okay.

General B ARR. When | was Attorney General, we had the INS as
part of the Department, and | remember another part of my kib-
itzing was trying to persuade George W. Bush’s administration not
to break that out. But in those days, | had some studies done, and
| was trying within the budget to put as much as we could on bar-
riers as we could.

Senator K ENNEDY . Okay. Do you believe that ICE should be abol-
ished, as some of my colleagues do?

General B ARR. Certainly not.

Senator K ENNEDY . Okay. You are Roman Catholic, are you not?

General B ARR. Yes, | am.
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Senator K ENNEDY . Do you think that disqualifies you from serv-
ing in the United States Government?

General B ARR. | do not think so, no.

Senator K ENNEDY . Okay. Why is that?

General B ARR. Why doesn't it disqualify me?

Senator K ENNEDY . Yes. Some of my colleagues think it might.

General B ARR. Because you render under Caesar that which is
Caesar’s and under God that which is God’s, and | believe in the
separation of church and state. And |—if there was something that
was against my conscience, | would not impose it on others. |
would resign my office.

Senator K ENNEDY . Yes, | think it is called freedom of religion, as
| recall.

General B ARR. Yes, that is right.

Senator K ENNEDY . If the Federal Government threatens to with-
hold Federal money from a university if that university does not
investigate, prosecute, punish sexual assault in a way prescribed
by the Federal Government, does that make the State university
a state actor—or the university a state actor?

General B ARR. It may. You know, | would have to look at the
cases. | am not up to speed on those. But | would think so.

Senator K ENNEDY . Well, if the Federal Government says to a
university, look, if you do not prosecute, investigate, punish allega-
tions of sexual assault in a way that the Federal Government says
you must, otherwise we are going to take away your Federal
money, does the accused in one of those sexual assault allegations
still have the protection of the Bill of Rights?

General B ARR. | would hope so.

Senator K ENNEDY . Should he, or her?

General B ARR. You know, | would have to look and see exactly
the State actor law right now, but what you are getting at is, you
know, the rules that were forced on universities in handling sexual
harassment cases——

Senator K ENNEDY . Right.

General B ARR [continuing]. That, you know, | felt essentially did
away with due process.

Senator K ENNEDY . Yes.

General B ARR. And, you know, | think the victim—you know, as
a father of three daughters, | take very seriously any question of
sexual harassment. It is a serious problem. And the word of a vic-
tim has to be taken very seriously and it has to be pursued, but
we cannot do it at the expense of the Bill of Rights or basic fairness
and due process.

Senator K ENNEDY . Both the accused and the accuser deserve due
process, do they not?

General B ARR. That is right.

Senator K ENNEDY . Tell me what the legal basis is for a universal
injunction.

General BARR. | think universal injunctions have no—well, let
me say that they are a recent vintage. They really started arising
in the 1960s, and | think that they have lost sight of the limitation
on the judicial power of the United States, which is case or con-
troversy.

Senator K ENNEDY . It is all based on a D.C. Circuit case.
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General B ARR. Right.

Senator K ENNEDY . The Wirtz case, is that right?

General B ARR. | forgot the name of the case, but | think the D.C.
Circuit case was the first one, and | think that was in the 1960s.
And people have lost sight of the fact that it is really a question
of who gets the relief in a case, and under the case or controversy,
it should be limited to the parties. And, you know, earlier you could
have a court in one jurisdiction decide it, and that would be the
rule in that jurisdiction. But that did not debar the Government
from continuing its policies elsewhere, and eventually you would
get differences, and they would work their way up to the Supreme
Court.

So | think that | would like to see these universal injunctions
challenged.

Senator K ENNEDY . Well, | do not know how many Federal Dis-
trict Court Judges we have, let us say 650. As | understand it, one
can enjoin a congressional statute nationwide even if the other 624
judges disagree.

General B ARR. That is right. And not just a statute, Senator. |
think what is different, what we are seeing is the willingness of
courts to set aside, you know, even the kinds of exercises of na-
tional security power that, you know, 20 years ago would have been
unimaginable for a court to challenge, and yet a District Court
Judge somewhere can enjoin some action that has a bearing on the
safety of the Nation, and then the judicial process can take years
and years to get that up to the Supreme Court.

Senator K ENNEDY . | have just got a few seconds left. As | under-
stand your testimony, General, Mr. Mueller will write a report,
submit it to you as Attorney General, and then you will write a re-
port based on that report and release your report. Is that right?

General B ARR. That is essentially it, but | would not assume—
you know, it could easily be that the report is communicated to the
Department—assuming | was confirmed, that could be a month
away. | do not——

Senator K ENNEDY . Let me tell you what | am getting at. | have
got 6 seconds—now 4. The American people deserve to know what
the Department of Justice has concluded, and they are smart
enough to figure it out. | have said this before. The American peo-
ple do not read Aristotle every day. They are too busy earning a
living. But if you give them the facts, they will figure it out, and
they will draw their own conclusions. It does not matter who spins
them. They will figure it out for themselves. And | would strongly
encourage you to put this all to rest, to make a report, a final re-
port public, to let everybody draw their own conclusions so we can
move on.

If somebody did something wrong, they should be punished. But
if they did not, let us stop the innuendo and the rumors and the
leaking and let us move on.

General B ARR. | agree, Senator, and let me say, you know, ear-
lier I misspoke, because the Acting Attorney General is Matt
Whitaker, and | referred to Rod as the Acting Attorney General.
But, in fact, the report would go to Matt Whitaker.

Senator K ENNEDY . Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman G rRaHAM . Senator Booker.
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Senator B ooker. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and | would like to
remark, Mr. Barr, that your family is showing a prodigious level
of patience, indefatigable endurance, and that should be marked for
the record. You are a very lucky man.

You know that about 30-plus States have legalized medical mari-
juana for adult use. You are aware of that, correct?

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator BooKer. In 2018, Attorney General Jeff Sessions re-
scinded the Cole Memorandum, which provided guidance to U.S.
Attorneys that the Federal marijuana prohibition should not be en-
forced in States that have legalized marijuana in one way or the
other. Do you believe it was the right decision to rescind the Cole
Memorandum?

General B ARR. My approach to this would be not to upset settled
expectations and the reliance interests that have arisen as a result
of the Cole Memoranda, and investments have been made and so
there has been reliance on it. So | do not think it is appropriate
to upset those interests.

However, | think the current situation is untenable and really
has to be addressed. It is almost like a back-door nullification of
Federal law. To me it is a binary choice. Either we have a Federal
law that applies to everybody——

Senator B ooker. | am sorry to interrupt you, sir, but how would
you address that? Do you think it is appropriate to use Federal re-
sources to target marijuana businesses that are in compliance with
State laws?

General BARR. No, | said that—that is what | said. | am not
going to go after companies that have relied on the Cole Memo-
randa. However, we either should have a Federal law that pro-
hibits marijuana everywhere—which | would support myself be-
cause | think it is a mistake to back off on marijuana. However,
if we want a Federal approach, if we want States to have their own
laws, then let us get there and let us get there the right way.

Senator Booker. And if you do not mind, | am going to just
move on, but it is good to hear, at least, the first part of what you
said.

During your previous tenure as Attorney General, you literally
wrote the book on mass incarceration or, at least, wrote this report,
“The Case for More Incarceration.” You argue that we as a Nation
were “incarcerating too few criminals.”

General B ARR. In those days.

Senator Booker. And that the solution was more incarceration
for more people.

General B ARR. Excuse me.

Senator B 0OOKER . Please, sir.

General B ARR. For chronic violent offenders and gun offenders.

Senator B ooker. Well, | mean, that is the challenge, sir, and you
argued against the bipartisan legislation in 2015 quite strenuously.

General B ARR. | did.

Senator B ooker. But that is not the nature of incarceration in
this country. In Fiscal Year 2016, only 7.7 percent of the Federal
prison population was convicted of violent crimes. Overwhelmingly,
what was initiated in those times that led to an 800-percent in-
crease in the Federal prison population, overwhelmingly that was
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nonviolent drug offenders. Right now our Federal prison population
is overwhelmingly nonviolent—47.5 percent of the Federal prison
population are incarcerated for drug offenses. And | guess hearing
your arguments then and hearing your arguments against the bi-

partisan legislation that we brought out of the Committee in

2016——

General B ARR. But, Senator, | think that is wrong, what you just
said, okay? | think when you have violent gangs in the city killing
people, murder and so forth and so on, sometimes the most readily
provable charge is their drug-trafficking offenses rather than prov-
ing culpability of the whole gang for murder. So you can take out—
you can take out a gang on drug offenses, and you could be taking
out a lot of violent offenders. Do you think that the murders in
Chicago are—they are related to gangs, and gangs involved in—

Senator B ookeER. And, sir—and, again, we can get into the data
if you would like, and | would like to get some more pointed ques-
tioning. But this is the sort of—these are sort of the tropes that
make people believe that in inner cities we should have such pro-
found incarceration rates. And | would like to ask you specifically
about that data because | think it is language like that that makes
me kind of concerned and worried.

You said you had not reviewed—you said earlier in your testi-
mony that you had not reviewed criminal justice data about this
actual issue of incarceration versus non-incarceration. | just want
to know, will you commit to commissioning a study on just the con-
cerns that we are talking about right now about the efficacy of re-
ducing mass incarceration and publish those results? Would you be
willing to do such a study yourself?

General BARR. Well, as | understand it, | have been told that
there is a lot of data to support the First Step Act.

Senator BookeR. Yes, and that First Step Act goes directly to-
ward addressing a lot of the problems we have had in mass incar-
ceration. And so if you are saying that it is necessary to deal with
violence in communities by overincarcerating, here is a bipartisan
group of Senators that is working toward reducing mass incarcer-
ation. And that is why | think it is very important—which | appre-
ciate you saying you did not know because you had not reviewed
the data. | think it is very important that you review the data and
understand the implications for the language that you are using,
which brings up this language of race, which is often not said ex-
plicitly, but when you talk about Chicago in the way you just did,
it brings up racial fears or racial concerns. And you stated that, “if
a Black and a White"—this is quoting you directly—"are charged
with the same offense, generally they will get the same treatment
in the system and ultimately the same penalty.” You previously
quoted, and | quote you again, “There is no statistical evidence of
racism in the criminal justice system.” Do you still believe that?

General B ARR. No, what | said was that—I think that is taken
out of a broader quote, which is, the whole criminal justice system
involves both Federal but also State and local justice systems. And
| said there is no doubt that there are places where there is racism
still in the system. But | said overall | thought that, as a system,
it is working—it does not—it is not predicated on——
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Senator BooKER. So can | press you on that, overall the system
treats Blacks and Whites fairly? From my own experience, | have
lived in affluent communities; | have gone to college campuses.
There are certain drug laws applied there that are very different
in the inner-city community in which 1 live. But let us talk stats;
let us not talk our personal experiences. And so | have sat with
many of my colleagues and many conservatives who readily admit
what the data shows. And so | have a whole bunch of reports which
I will enter into the record from nonpartisan, bipartisan groups,
even conservative leaders, talking about the rife nature of racial
bias within the system.

For example, the Federal Government’'s own data, the U.S. Sen-
tencing Commission’s research shows that Federal prosecutors are
more likely to charge Blacks with offenses that carry harsh manda-
tory minimum sentences than similarly situated for Whites. The
Federal Government’s own data shows that Black defendants were
subject to three strikes sentencing enhancements at a statistically
significant higher rate, which added on average over 10 years to
their sentences.

And so with numerous researchers having found stunning racial
disparities rife throughout our system and in the Federal system
which you will be the chief law enforcement officer of, and pri-
marily for drug—overwhelmingly for drug laws—for example, | do
not know if you are aware or not of the Brookings study that found
that Blacks are 3.6 times more likely to be arrested for selling
drugs, despite the fact that Whites are actually more likely to sell
drugs in the United States of America, and Blacks are 2.5 times
more likely to be arrested for possession of drugs when there is no
difference racially in America for the usage and possession of drugs
in the United States.

I do not know if you are—are you familiar with the Brookings
study?

General B ArRR. NoO, | am not.

Senator B ooker. Okay. So, just to follow up, will you commit to
commissioning a study examining racial disparities and the dis-
parate impacts of the policies that you talked about that led to
mass incarceration, the policies that you defended when you criti-
cized the bipartisan 2015 sentencing reform legislation, will you
commit to, at least, as the most important law enforcement officer
in the land, to studying those well-documented racial disparities
and the impacts it has?

General B ARR. Of course, | will commit to studying that, and |
will have the Bureau of Justice Statistics pull together everything
they have. And if there is something lacking, | will get that. And
| am interested in State experience. But when | looked at—I think
1992 was a different time, Senator. The crime rate had quintupled
over the preceding 30 years, and it peaked in 1992. And it has been
coming down since 1992.

Senator Booker. And, sir, | just want to say, | was a young
Black guy in 1990s, | was a 20-something-year-old, and experienced
a dramatically different justice system in the treatment that | re-
ceived. And the data of racial disparities and what it has done to
Black—because you literally said this about Black communities,
and | know that your heart—I| know that your heart was in the
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right place. You said that, “Hey, | want to help Black commu-
nities.” This is what you were saying: “The benefits of incarceration
would be enjoyed disproportionately by Black Americans living in
inner cities.” You also said that, quote, “A failure to incarcerate
hurts Black Americans most.”

General B ARR. And | will tell you what——

Senator B ooker. And | just want to ask a yes-or-no question be-
cause | have seconds left. Do you believe now, 30, 40 years of mass
incarceration, targeted disproportionately toward African Ameri-
cans, harsher sentences, disproportionately represented in the
criminal justice system, with the American Bar Association talking
about once you have been incarcerated for even a low-level drug
crime, there are 40,000 collateral consequences that impact your
life—jobs, Pell grants, loans from banks. Do you think, just “yes”
or “no,” that this system of mass incarceration has disproportion-
ately benefited African-American communities? “Yes” or “no,” sir.

General B ARR. | think the reduction in crime has, since 1992, but
| think that the heavy drug penalties, especially on crack and other
things, have harmed the Black community, the incarceration rates
have harmed the Black community.

Senator B ookeR. And | would just conclude to my Chairman and
partner, thank you, sir, on this, because | am really grateful for
this bipartisan group, the Heritage Foundation, | have spoken at
the AEI Conference, just found such great partnership. But | worry
about the highest law enforcement officer in the land and some of
the language | still hear you using that goes against the data and
that you are going to be expected to oversee a justice system that
you and | both know needs the faith and confidence of communities
that has dramatically lost that confidence because of implicit racial
bias. And the DOJ—and | will give you a chance to respond. The
DOJ itself has said, mandated implicit racial bias training, and |
hope that is something that you will agree to do.

But this is the thing | will conclude on, that we live on a planet
Earth where you can tell the most about a nation by who they in-
carcerate. In Turkey, they incarcerate journalists. Thank God we
do not do that here, even though they have been called, “the enemy
of the people.” In Russia, they incarcerate political opponents. | am
glad we do not do that, even though with chants of, “Lock her up.”
But you go into the American criminal prisons, sir, and you see the
most vulnerable people. You see overstigmatized mentally ill people
clogging our system. You see overstigmatized addicted people clog-
ging our system. You see a system where, as Bryan Stevenson
says, it treats you better if you are rich and guilty than if you are
poor and innocent. And you see disproportionately, overwhelmingly
for drug crimes, African Americans and Latinos being incarcerated.

The importance of your job—and | will ask you this last question,
because you have not met with me yet. You have given that cour-
tesy to others. Would you please meet with me in my office so you
and | can have a heart-to-heart on the urgency, the cancer on the
soul of our country’s criminal justice system, is the disproportionate
impact of that system on those vulnerable communities, including
women over 80 percent of whom, the women we incarcerate, are
survivors of sexual trauma? Can you and | sit down to have a
longer conversation than these 10 minutes will allow on this issue?
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General B ARR. | would very much welcome that, Senator. You
know, my experience back in 1992, when sort of blood was running
on the streets all over the United States, my ideas were actually
first formed when | went to Trenton, and the African-American
community there essentially surrounded me and was saying, “Look,
we are in our golden years. We are trying to enjoy our golden
years, and we cannot even go outside our house. We have bars on
our house and so forth. Please, these gangs are running rough-
shod.”

So | developed this idea called “weed and seed,” and my attitude
was, look, let us stop arguing past each other, let us attack root
causes and let us get tough on crime. And | felt that for programs
to work, like after-school programs and so forth, for housing
projects to be safe, we needed strong enforcement in those commu-
nities, and we needed those other programs to be brought to bear
community by community. And it had to be done with the leader-
ship of the community, and that was this idea of the partnership.
And it caught on. It was very popular. And, in fact, it was contin-
ued by a lot of the U.S. Attorneys in the Clinton administration
after the Bush administration was out. And it actually, under a
number of different names, has continued.

So | am very conscious of the issues you raise, but my goal is to
provide safe—was, and my motivation was to provide safety in
these neighborhoods for the people trying to raise their children
and for the older people and so forth. The neighborhoods are—you
know, the crime rate has gone down. | make a distinction between
the way we treat these chronic violent offenders and the drug pen-
alties. The drug penalties, as | said, very high and Draconian, and
in some cases that might have been necessary. But | supported re-
visiting the penalty structure.

Senator B ookeRr. And, sir, | am the only United States Senator
that lives in an inner-city, low-income community. | have had
shootings in my neighborhood, a young man killed last year on my
block with an assault weapon. | know this urgent need for safety
and security, and actually, | am not saying | am necessarily going
to vote for you one way or the other, but | believe your intentions
are well, but | think that some of the things you have said in the
past lead me to believe that your policies might be misguided. In
the way that Mike Lee and Cornyn and Graham and Grassley have
been incredible partners in changing the American reality, | hope
that you can be that kind of partner, too, and | hope that you and
I can have a good heart-to-heart conversation, trusting that we
both want the same end for all communities, safety and security,
but a justice system that is fair to all American citizens.

General B ARR. | would welcome that, Senator.

Senator B 0ookeR. Thank you, sir.

Chairman G rRAHAM . Senator Blackburn.

Senator B LACKBURN . Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

And we appreciate your time today, Mr. Barr, and that of your
family. | told Liam that Grandpa ought to give him whatever he
wants to eat for dinner tonight.

[Laughter.]

Senator B LACKBURN . He has behaved very well and done a great
job.
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Going back to something that Senator Kennedy mentioned on
leaks and you said you would address that by
compartmentalization, talk for just a little bit about your vision for
the Department of Justice as you look at implementing first steps:
addressing violent crime, dealing with opioids, dealing with online
sex trafficking, the antitrust issues, the Mueller investigation, all
the things we have talked about. How do you intend to lead that
Department that is very different from the DOJ that you led pre-
viously?

General B ARR. In some ways it is different; in some ways it is
not so different. But my basic approach to things is to get good
lieutenants, good subordinates who are running different parts of
the agenda, and give them, you know, their marching orders and
watch them perform and get involved to the extent | can to make
sure that we are pushing the priority things ahead.

One of the interesting things about the Department of Justice
that is a little different than many agencies is one of our—our first
priority has to be to enforce all the laws. It is not like we can just
come into work and say, “Well, we are going to just pay attention
to this, so we are not going to enforce all these other laws.” We
have to cover the waterfront. That is number one.

But beyond that, what | tried to do last time and what | would
try to do if you confirm me this time would be, you know, to make
sure that even though we are enforcing things across the board, we
have an understood set of priorities and we put the effort behind
those priorities, and we define clearly what we are trying to
achieve.

So, for example, in the area of civil rights, when | was Attorney
General last time—and | had discussed this with Senator Ken-
nedy—I said, you know, we are not doing enough on housing dis-
crimination. Housing is very important. It determines where you go
to school, you know, the safety and so forth. And | set up a pro-
gram. We hired testers and stuff like that. And we had a very clear
goal and priority for that, and we launched it. And that is what—
you know, that is what | plan to bring in area after area, defining
what we are trying to accomplish and give the people the tools to
get it done and give them the direction and motivation to get it
done.

Senator B LACKBURN . You have mentioned the Mueller investiga-
tion, your relationship with Mr. Mueller, having him finish the in-
vestigation. If we were to ask him about you, do you think his as-
sessment would be that you are a fair and impartial leader that he
can trust, that we can trust to lead the DOJ?

General B ARR. | hope he would say that, but | am not going to
put—I am not going to put words in his mouth.

Senator B LACKBURN . Words in his mouth, yes. We talked about
technology and my interest in that area. And you have had—Mr.
Lee and Mr. Hawley have also talked about antitrust and some of
the enforcement there, big tech and Silicon Valley, and the power
that is harbored there. They are gobbling a lot of their competitors.
You have got Facebook and Google that are claiming to only be
platforms for their users, but they are also getting into the content
business. And that is why Facebook bought Instagram and
WhatsApp, and Google bought YouTube and DeepMind for Al tech-
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nology. So their tentacles are spreading, and they are moving away
from a platform into that content into artificial intelligence, and
their market dominance is causing some problems.

And as we discussed, these companies are violating users’ pri-
vacy. They are recklessly sharing their users’ personal data with
third parties. This is done without explicit permission. We cannot
let these companies collude to drive out competitors, or to ignore
vital data privacy protections, and big tech operated really without
regard to the law.

And you and | talked a little bit about one of the edge provider
CEOs who, last spring, when he came before a House Committee—
he was also here before this Committee—there was even reference
to how—I discussed how he subjectively manipulated—or asked if
he subjectively manipulated algorithms, and how there was con-
cern that some of these platforms referencing a statement he had
made functioned more like a government than a platform or an in-
formation service. So how—do you intend to begin this conversation
and begin this work addressing the antitrust provisions with big
tech?

General B ARR. Yes. You know, as | mentioned, | am interested
in these issues and would like to have them fully ventilated at the
Department with the Antitrust Division and also with, you know,
outside experts so | can have a better understanding. | do want to
say, however, that | am going to be recusing myself from AT&T be-
cause——

Senator B LACKBURN . Time Warner, yes.

General BARR. Yes, because now Time Warner is part of
AT&T—

Senator B LACKBURN . Right.

General B ARR [continuing]. And | was told that under the rules,
that will carry over to AT&T. So until | talk to the ethics advisors
at the Department, | do not want to get too far ahead of my skis
and sort of talking about the tech area. But as a general policy
matter, | want to get into this area because | think it is on a lot
of people’s minds——

Senator B LACKBURN . Absolutely.

General B ARR [continuing]. And how the law relates to these—
you know, to these developments that we see with these large com-
panies. And | do not mean to cast aspersions on any particular
company or executive.

Senator B LACKBURN . Well, and | think for many of us, if you are
looking at a merger and they cannot prove the efficiencies and they
cannot prove that there will be increased competition, then it does
raise some questions as to how those would be evaluated. And let
me go to one other issue that is developing on this privacy front.
It is a data privacy problem that | do not think a lot of people real-
ize, and it is the embedding of hardware and then the geolocation,
and sometimes that information is sold.

Now, it folds into the encryption issue because law enforcement
has a very difficult time getting the information from devices and
from the services on encryption. But we are now aware that many
times bounty hunters will be paid a few hundred dollars, and then
they can go in and find the location of that phone. And some of
these Android operating systems are specific enough that they do
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the barometric pressure readings, and they can tell you exactly
where in a building that this phone is located.

So | would hope that you are going to look at the legal proce-
dures that surround this kind of data and this kind of tracking and
the privacy provisions that are going to pertain to consumers as
they use these devices.

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator B LACKBURN . Good. Thank you. Let me move on. Senator
Ernst talked a little bit about the online sex trafficking. In Ten-
nessee, we have followed this issue so closely because our TBI car-
ried out an operation where they apprehended 22 traffickers.
Twenty-two men were arrested for sex trafficking, and much of
that work—and the work | have done in the House in the online
sex trafficking, working to shut down BackPage.com, and to keep
our children and keep women safe from these online traffickers.

And, you know, we were so pleased that last April the Justice
Department seized BackPage and charged seven defendants for fa-
cilitating prostitution and sex trafficking crimes. And what we
know is that when you shut down a site like BackPage, the big one,
then you have a lot of small sites that proliferate. And we know
that it is going to really take a lot of effort to arrest this situation
so that you are not constantly playing whack-a-mole with these. So
I would hope that you will be committed to putting an end to this
kind of violence and online trafficking.

General B ARR. Yes, and I—you know, and | know how focused
you are on it and the leadership you have provided over the years
on it. I do not know that much about the problem and also about
what resources are currently being devoted to it in the Depart-
ment, but | would like to come by——

Senator B LACKBURN . Great.

General B ARR [continuing]. And talk to you further about it once
| get exposed to it, if | am confirmed. Okay.

Senator B LACKBURN . Thank you.

My time has expired. Mr. Chairman, | yield back. Thank you,
Mr. Barr.

Chairman G rRAHAM . Senator Harris.

Senator H ARRIS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and congratulations.
And to you, congratulations on your nomination, and thank you for
your lifetime of dedication to public service.

General B ARR. Thank you.

Senator H ARRIS. In response to a question that Senator Ernst
asked, you mentioned that we need barriers across the border to
deal with drug trafficking. Are you advocating a wall?

General B ARR. Well, | think | am advocating a system, a barrier
system in some places, and | would have to find out more about
the situation since | last visited the border.

Senator H ARRIS. From what you know, do you believe that a wall
would address the concern that you have about drug trafficking?

General BARR. Well, a wall certainly would, but |—in some
places it may not be necessary to have, you know, what most peo-
ple imagine as a wall.

Senator H ARRIS. Are you aware that most of the drugs coming
into the United States, and particularly through Mexico, are enter-
ing through ports of entry?
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General B ARR. Yes, but they also come elsewhere, and so do ille-
gal immigrants cross the border and——

Senator H ARRIS. But in particular on the subject of drug traf-
ficking, are you aware that most of the drugs that are trafficked
into the United States enter through points of entry?

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator H ARRIS. Have you recently or ever visited a point of
entry—a port of entry in the United States?

General B ARR. Not recently.

Senator H ARRIS. When was the last time?

General B ARR. | used to spend a lot of—well, when | was Attor-
ney General.

Senator H ARRIS. So a couple of decades ago.

General B ARR. Almost 30 years.

Senator H ARRIS. Okay. | would urge you to visit again if and
when you are confirmed. | think you will see that a lot has changed
over the years. Given the status quo on marijuana and the fact
that 10 States, including the District of Columbia, have legalized
marijuana, and given that the status quo is what it is, and, as you
rightly described, we have Federal laws, and then there are various
States that have different laws, if confirmed, are you intending to
use the limited Federal resources at your disposal to enforce Fed-
eral marijuana laws in the States that have legalized marijuana?

General B ARR. No. | thought | answered that by saying that, you
know, to the extent people are complying with the State laws, you
know, and distribution and production and so forth, we are not
going to go after that.

Senator H ARRIS. Okay.

General B ARR. But | do feel we cannot stay in the current situa-
tion because, | mean, if—you can imagine any kind of situation.
Can an existing administration and an Attorney General start cut-
ting deals with States to say, well, we are not going to apply the
Federal law, you know—some gun law or some other thing, say,
well, we are not going to apply it in your State——

Senator H ARRIS. | appreciate your point, but specifically, and |
appreciate you answering the question, you do not intend to use
the limited Federal resources at your disposal to enforce Federal
marijuana laws in those States or in the District of Columbia that
have legalized marijuana.

General B ARR. That is right.

Senator H ARRIS. Thank you.

General B ARR. But | think the Congress of the United States—
it is incumbent on the Congress to regular—you know, make a de-
cision as to whether we are going to have a Federal system or
whether it is going to be, you know, a central Federal law——

Senator H ARRIS. | agree with you——

General B ARR [continuing]. Because this is breeding disrespect
for the Federal law.

Senator H ARRIS [continuing]. | agree with you. | believe Congress
should act. | agree. Earlier today, Senator Leahy asked whether
you would follow the recommendation of career Department of Jus-
tice ethics officials on whether you should recuse yourself from the
Mueller investigation. You said, “lI will seek advice of the career
ethics personnel, but under the regulations, | make the decisions
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as the head of the Agency as to my own recusal.” You also said to
Senator Klobuchar that you do not want to “abdicate your duty
since a recusal decision would be yours.” So my question is, would
it be appropriate to go against the advice of career ethics officials
that have recommended recusal, and can you give an example of
under what situation or scenario you would go against their rec-
ommendation that you recuse yourself?

General BaArr. Well, there are different—there are different
kinds of recusals. Some are mandated, for example, if you have a
financial interest, but there are others that are judgment calls.

Senator H ARRIS. Let us imagine it is a judgment call, and the
judgment by the career ethics officials in the Agency are that you
recuse yourself.

General B ARR. Then it—

Senator H ARRIS. Under what scenario would you not follow their
recommendation?

General B ARR. If | disagreed with it.

Senator H ArRRIS. And what would the basis of that disagreement
be?

General B ARR. | came to a different judgment.

Senator H ARRIS. On what basis?

General B ARR. The facts.

Senator H ARRIS. Such as?

General BARR. Such as whatever facts are relevant to the
recusal.

Senator H ARRIS. What do you imagine the facts would be that
are relevant to the recusal?

General B ARR. They could be innumerable. | mean, there are a
lot of—you know, for example, there is a rule of necessity, like who
else would be handling it. It could be——

Senator H ARRIS. Do you believe that would be a concern in this
situation if you are—if the recommendation is that you recuse
yourself from the Mueller investigation, do you believe that would
be a concern, that there would be no one left to do the job?

General B ARR. No, | am just—well, in some—in some contexts,
there very well might be because of, you know, the—who is con-
firmed for what and who is in what position. But apart from that,
it is a judgment call, and the Attorney General is the person who
makes the judgment, and that is what the job entails.

Senator H ARRIS. As a general matter that is true, but specifically
on this issue, what—under what scenario would you imagine that
you would not follow the recommendation of the career ethics offi-
cials in the Department of Justice to recuse yourself from the
Mueller investigation?

General B ARR. If | disagreed with them.

Senator H ARRIS. Okay. We will move on. Senator Feinstein pre-
viously asked you whether you would put your June 2018 memo—
whether you put together that memo based on non-public informa-
tion. Your response was that you “did not rely on confidential infor-
mation.” Are you creating a distinction between non-public infor-
mation and confidential information?

General B ARR. No.

Senator H ARRIS. Okay. In response to a question from Senator
Durbin about harsh sentencing laws, you stated in response to the
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crack epidemic that community leaders back when you were Attor-
ney General previously asked for these type of sentencing laws.
Now, my understanding is that many of these community leaders

at that time, and | was a young prosecutor during those days,
knew and said even then that the crack epidemic was a public
health crisis, and that that was really the chorus coming from com-

munity leaders, not that they wanted drug-addicted people to be
locked up. And similarly, now we can find that in most of the com-

munities afflicted by the opioid crisis, they are similarly, these

community leaders, asking that it be addressed for the public
health crisis that it is.

So my question is, if and when you are confirmed in this posi-
tion, would you agree that when we talk about the opioid crisis, the
crisis in terms of methamphetamine addiction, or any other con-
trolled substance, that we should also acknowledge the public
health ramifications and causes, and that there is a role for the
chief law enforcement officer of the United States to play in advo-
cating for a public health response and not only a lock them up re-
sponse?

General B ArRR. Well, | think the commission that was chaired by
Governor Chris Christie came up with a three-pronged strategy,
and | think that recognized that part of it was treatment and edu-
cation, recovery, and prevention, but the third prong of it was en-
forcement and interdiction, and that is the job of the Department
of Justice. The Department of Justice cannot be all things to all
people and——

Senator H ARRIS. Sir, but | would suggest to you that in the inter-
vening almost 30 years since you were last Attorney General that
there is consensus in the United States that when we look at the
drug epidemic, whatever the narcotic may be, that there is now an
understanding that the war on drugs was an abject failure, that
America, frankly, has a crisis of addiction, and that putting the
limited resources of our Federal Government into locking up people
who suffer from a public health crisis is probably not the smartest
use of taxpayer dollars. So, if confirmed, | would ask that you take
a look at the more recent perspective on the drug crisis that is af-
flicting our country, and then | will move on.

Today there is a billion dollar——

General B ARR. Excuse me. May | just say something in response
to that—

Senator H ARRIS. Sure.

General B ARR. Which is, | was just making the observation that
the job of the Department of Justice is enforcement. | recognize
there are a lot of dimensions to the problem, and that is why you
have places like HHS. The Department cannot be—you know, can-
not do the job of everybody.

Senator H ARRIS. Sir, but | would remind you what you said be-
cause | agree with it. You said earlier the role of the Attorney Gen-
eral, one, is to enforce the rule of law; two, is a legal advisor to the
President and the Cabinet; and three, is policy. This is a policy
issue, so | would urge you to emphasize that role and power that
you will have if confirmed and think of it that way.

General B ARR. | see. | see.
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Senator H ARRIS. | would like to talk with you about private pris-
ons. There is a billion-dollar private prison industry that profits off
of incarcerating people, and, frankly, as many as possible. By one
estimate, the two largest private prison companies in the United
States make a total combined profit of $3.3 billion—that is with a
“B"—dollars a year. In August 2016, the Justice Department issued
a report on the Bureau of Prisons’ use of private prisons that con-
cluded, “Contract prisons incurred more safety and security inci-
dents per capita than comparable Bureau of Prisons institutions.”

Given this conclusion that prisons run by for-profit companies
have been found to be less safe than Government-run prisons, if
confirmed, will you commit to no longer renew private prison con-
tracts?

General B ARR. Whose report was this, BOP?

Senator H ARRIS. This was—yes, from the Justice Department.

General B ARR. BOP? Yes, | would like to—you know, | would ob-
viously look at that report, yes.

Senator H ARRIS. Okay. And then——

General B ARR. But | am not committing—I mean, | would want
to see what the report says, yes.

Senator H ARRIS. Sure. And then | would appreciate a follow-up
when you have a chance to read it.

Senator H ARRIS. Thank you. My time is up.

Chairman G raHAM . Senator Tillis.

Senator TiLuis . Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Mr. Barr, thank you for being here, and, Liam, your granddaddy
is doing good. Mr. Barr, | want to go back because it is a long time.
| think 1 am the last person in the first round, so | think we have
to go back and maybe have you restate some things that you said
earlier before | get to a few other things that | hope | have time
to cover on intellectual property, Americans with Disabilities Act,
and a GAO report back from 2014.

| do have to ask a question while Senator Kennedy is here be-
cause | do not think he covered the full landscape. He asked about
anybody in Government, anyone in the Western Hemisphere, but
did you, in fact, talk to anybody in the Eastern Hemisphere with
respect to the Mueller probe?

[Laughter.]

General B ArRR. No, | did not.

Senator TiLLis . Okay. Thank you. We got that—we got that——

Senator K ENNEDY . Ask him about the Milky Way.

[Laughter.]

Senator TiLLis . We got that closed out. You know, would you go
back again and please describe for me the—first off, | think we
have all—you have made it very clear in spite of the fact some peo-
ple thought that you had coaching and some of the citations in the
memo that you wrote, that this is a memo you wrote on your own.
Can you explain to me, again, the motivation behind the memao,
what precisely you were trying to communicate, just for the record?

General BARR. Yes, Senator. So the public commentary and
media commentary was sort of dominated by discussion of obstruc-
tion of justice, and everyone was throwing out obstruction theories
and so forth. And the statute that relates to obstructing a pro-
ceeding that is not yet in being—that is, some future proceeding—
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is 1512. And my view was—of the particular provision, 1512(c),
was, that it requires—what it covers is obstruction by means of im-
pairing evidence that, you know, some evidence is going to be need-
ed in a future proceeding, and you impair it either by making it
not available or by corrupting it in some way, altering it, destroy-
ing it. That is what | thought the scope of that statute dealt with,
and to my knowledge, the only cases ever brought under it involved
the destruction of evidence.

Based on public reports, which may be completely wrong, |
thought that the—it was being—that the Special Counsel may be
trying to interpret the statute to say that any act, not destruction
of evidence or anything like that, but any act that influences a pro-
ceeding is a crime if it is done with a bad intent. My concern there
is, that, unlike something like bribery statute or document destruc-
tion where you prohibit it, that is a bad act. You do not need to
be performing that bad act if you are a Government official.

But if you say that any act that influences a proceeding is a
crime if you have a bad state of mind, that is what the people at
Justice Department do every day of the week is influence pro-
ceedings. That is what they are there for. And what | was worried
about is, the impact on the Department and other agencies if you
say to someone, if you, in supervising a case or handling a case,
make a decision with a—for a bad intent, it can be a crime. And
| thought that that would essentially paralyze the Government.

So just to give an example, you know, Eric Holder made some
pardon recommendations during the Clinton administration which
were controversial. Incidentally, | supported Eric Holder for his po-
sition. But could someone come along then later and say, well, if
you did that for a political reason to help Hillary Clinton run in
New York, that is a crime and when he—when he is exercising his
prerogatives, you know, in that situation? And you can just see
how that could paralyze Government, and that was my concern.

Senator TiLLIs . You also referred to your concerns with the pros-
ecution of Senator Menendez.

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator TiLLis . Did that weave into that same thought process?

General BARR. Yes, because in that case my concern was that
they were basically taking activities that were not, you know,
wrongful acts in themselves. You know, the political contributions
were lawful political contributions, and the things with—you know,
the travel on his friend—that was his friend for 25 years. They
were taking a trip together. And you take those kinds of things and
then you couple it with official action, and then the prosecutor
comes along and says, well, we are going to look into your mind
and see what your subjective intent was for performing these two
sets of lawful acts, and we are going to say, you know, that you
are corrupt.

Senator TiLLis . Good.

General B ARR. So | just think that gives too much power to the
prosecutor, and | think if that kind of—and by the way, you know,
they have had cases like this for, you know—I mean, they have
been pursuing things like this, and they have had to be slapped
down a few times by the Supreme Court on these kinds of aggres-
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sive things involving, you know, quid pro quos on the Hill. So,
|——

Senator TILLIS . Let me——

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator TiLLis [continuing]. If | can. Thank you. | just thought
it was helpful because | think you tried to explain a lot of that and
you were cut off, so I thought | would use some of my time in the
first round to ask you that. Also | think somebody tried to charac-
terize you as having somehow been opposed to any sort of Russia
probe or Russia investigations. Have you ever gone on record as op-
posing any of the things that we are trying to do to figure out
where Russia may have been involved in election tampering?

General B ARR. No, and, in fact, in the op-ed piece where | said
| thought the President was right in firing Comey, | said that the
investigation was going forward under the supervision of Rod
Rosenstein.

Senator TiLuis . Yes. Did you also say more than one time that
you felt like the Special Counsel investigation should reach a con-
clusion, that Special Counsel Mueller should not be—that he
should be allowed to draw this to a conclusion, then he will submit
his report, and you are going to do everything that you can to
present as much of that information as you can—as you can to the
extent that confidential information is not being compromised?

General B ARR. Yes. To the extent that regulations permit it, yes.

Senator TiLLis . Did you also say that there is—even a scenario—
you could not imagine a scenario for cause, but even a scenario for
cause for you to have to—you would have to take under serious
consideration before you removed Special Counsel?

General B ARR. That is right.

Senator TILLIS . Yes. Okay.

General BARR. There has not been a Special Counsel removed
since Archibald Cox, and that did not work out very well.

Senator TiLuis . Did not work out too well, right. And so, and,
again, did you also say that under—in no circumstances have you
had a discussion with the President with respect to—I think you
said you had a discussion about you had a relationship with Mr.
Mueller, but no discussion about the Special Counsel investigation
and your opinions on it with respect to any discussions you have
had with the President?

General B ARR. Right. That was the first meeting | had with the
President, and then in November | met with him about the Attor-
ney General job. And there was no discussion of the substance of
the—of the investigation. The President did not ask me my views
about any aspect of the investigation, and he did not ask me about
what | would do about anything in the investigation.

Senator TiLLIs . With respect to the line of the questioning about
the States that have legalized marijuana either for medicinal pur-
poses or recreational purposes, | think what you were trying to say
in a very, very respectful way is, it is not your job to do our job.
Is that right? That if we ultimately want to provide certainty for
these businesses—you have done a good job in saying that you dis-
agree with the policy of the States, but we are where we are, and
you would not want to undermine that given that investments have
been made, States have moved forward.
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But at the end of the day, we should stop talking about it here
and making it your job. And those Members—I do not happen to
be one of them—who think that we should take these Federal laws
off the books, should probably file a bill and try and get it done.
Is that a fair assessment of your opinion?

General B ARR. That is—that is generally fair, yes.

Senator TiLLis . Okay.

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator TiLuis . Just a few minor things so that we can get to the
next round. There was a report by the Inspector General, in 2014,
that had to do with accountability in the Department of Justice. |
do not expect you to be familiar with this report, but there were
some very interesting observations there about a lack of follow-
through on disciplinary action for a number of—I think the subtitle
of the report was that DOJ could strengthen procedures for dis-
ciplining attorneys.

It is something | would commend to you and maybe dust off and
see if there have been any actions since this report. | did not get
a satisfactory answer when it was contemporary with the nominee
from the Obama administration for the position you are seeking,
which is one of the reasons why | opposed the nomination.

General B ARR. Actually, I—you know, | think very highly of In-
spector General Horowitz, and | have not seen that report. But
that issue is one that | plan to take up with him.

Senator TiLLis . Yes. And then, just so that | do finish on time
versus pretend | am going to and go 2 minutes early—over, one,
| want to get your recommendation on intellectual property. | think
we have more work to do to give the Department of Justice tools
to go after bad actors, which are China, Russia, India, a number
of other countries, Brazil, that are stealing our intellectual prop-
erty. | also want to talk about what | think is the exploitation of
the Americans with Disabilities Act, particularly around website
access. The web did not exist, and now we have attorneys filing a
number of frivolous lawsuits. | would like to get some feedback on
that after you get confirmed.

[The information appears as a submission for the record.]

Senator TiLuis . And finally, | want to make sure that you recog-
nize in the First Step Act that faith-based organizations that have
proven to help reduce recidivism are absolutely in play for the First
Step Act, and hopefully we can make sure the Department of Jus-
tice moves forward with that. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman G rRAHAM . Thank you.

General B ArRR. Thank you, Senator.

Chairman G raHAM . | believe that is the end of the first round.
Mr. Barr, are you able to go for a little bit longer?

General B ARR. Sure.

Chairman G raHAM . Okay. So we will start—we will do 5 min-
utes. As you can tell, | have been pretty liberal with the time, but
let us try to honor it the best we can.

Senator Grassley.

Senator GRAssLEY . Where he left off on working with faith-based
institutions, you were very positive about that?

General B ARR. Absolutely, Senator.

Senator GRASSLEY. That takes care of my first question.
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Enforcement of the antitrust laws is extremely important to en-
sure that markets are fair and participants do not engage in abu-
sive activity harming consumers. | have been particularly active in
making sure that the Justice Department and the Federal Trade
Commission carefully scrutinize mergers, as well as looking out for
anticompetitive behaviors and predatory practices in certain sectors
of the economy, and particularly in my State of lowa, the agricul-
tural industry. But | am also pursuing things in healthcare. In par-
ticular, because | will be Chairman of the Senate Finance Com-
mittee, | am interested in making sure that companies in the drug
and healthcare industries are playing by the rules. Everyone is
concerned about the high cost of healthcare, and especially the sky-
rocketing price of prescription drugs.

Do you agree that the Justice Department has a very important
role in this area?

General B ARR. Yes, Senator.

Senator GRASSLEY. And would you commit to making antitrust
enforcement a priority?

General B ARR. Yes, it has to be a priority.

Senator GRASSLEY . Okay. Thank you.

Now, to a favorite issue of mine, whistleblower protection. Whis-
tleblowers, as | told you in my office, are very critical to exposing
waste, fraud, and abuse. There are our eyes and ears on the
ground. Their courage, when they have it, and most of them do
have great courage or they would not come forward to expose Gov-
ernment malfeasance, that is how important they are. So, | hope
| can have you have a favorable view toward the opportunity to lis-
ten to the whistleblowers, protect them from retaliation, and pro-
mote a culture that values the important contribution from those
patriotic people.

General B ARR. Absolutely, Senator.

Senator GRASSLEY. And now to the Foreign Agents Registration
Act. | hope you understand there have been very few prosecutions
under the Foreign Agents Registration Act since 1938, and so that
lack of enforcement, | think, is getting, obviously, even since the
Mueller investigation, getting a lot more attention now. But we had
a hearing on it before the Committee, and | think it proves that
we should see more transparency and more enforcement against
bad actors, not less.

Do you agree that the Foreign Agent Registration Act is a critical
national security and public accountability tool? And if confirmed,
will you commit to make sure that that act is a top priority?

General B ARR. Yes, Senator.

Senator GRASsSLEY. Okay. So then getting back to the legislation
that | think will improve that 1938 Act, | introduced the Disclosing
Foreign Influence Act to improve transparency, accountability, and
enforcement. You have not probably read that Act, but | would like
to work with you even though it is not in this Committee. It is in
the Foreign Relations Committee. | would like to have you work
with us so it is something that we can pass and make sure that
this law is more useful than it has been over the last 80 years.

| support the Freedom of Information Act and the public disclo-
sure of Government records. Transparency yields accountability.
You hear me say that all the time, and that is true no matter who
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is in the White House. When | was Chairman of the Committee,

| helped steer the FOIA Improvement Act into law, which creates
a presumption of openness, and that presumption of openness is a
very important standard. The Justice Department oversees the
Federal Government’s compliance with FOIA, so | hope you would
agree that FOIA is an important tool for holding Government ac-
countable. And if confirmed, then, would you make sure it is a top
priority to make FOIA and the faithful and timely implementation

of the 2016 amendments a top priority?

General B ARR. Yes, we will work hard on that.

Senator GRASSLEY . Because you know what really happens with-
in the bowels of the bureaucracy. It just takes them forever be-
cause maybe something is going to embarrass someone, so they do
not want it out in the public and you get all sorts of excuses. We
have got to do away with those excuses.

One way to make FOIA work better is by reducing the number
of requests. This will be my last question. One way to make FOIA
work better is by reducing the number of requests that have to be
made in the first place. That is why | am a strong advocate for im-
proved proactive disclosure. If confirmed, will you commit to help
advocate for more proactive disclosure of Government records?
Now, that is not just by the Justice Department, but because you
are the Department’s top dog in this particular area in the Federal
Government overall?

General B ARR. Yes, Senator.

Senator GRASSLEY. Thank you.

Chairman G rRAaHAM . Senator Feinstein.

Senator FEINSTEIN . Mr. Barr, | see you have staying power, and
| see it runs in the family, and particularly your grandson. | would
like to send a little care package to him.

General B ArRR. Thank you, Senator.

Senator FEINSTEIN . You are welcome.

Senator L EAHY . He does not have to share it with the rest of the
family.

[Laughter.]

Senator FEINSTEIN . In 1994, you said that gun control is a dead
end. It will not reduce the level of violent crime in our society. The
year you made this comment, | introduced a Federal assault weap-
ons ban, and the President signed it into law. A 2016 study shows
that compared with the 10-year period before the ban was enacted,
the number of gun massacres between 1994 and 2004 fell by 37
percent, and the number of people dying from gun massacres fell
by 43 percent. In addition, between 2004 and 2014, there has been
a 183 percent increase in massacres and a 239 percent increase in
massacre deaths.

Do you still believe that prudent controls on weapons will not re-
duce violent crime? And if so, what is your basis for this conclu-
sion?

General B ARR. | think that the problem of our time is to get an
effective system in place that can keep dangerous firearms out of
the hands of mentally ill people. That should be priority number
one, and it is going to take some hard work, and we need to get
on top of the problem. We need to come up with—agree to stand-
ards that are prohibiters of people who are mentally ill. We have
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to put the resources in to get the system built up the way we did
many years ago on the felon records and so forth. We have to get
the system working. And as | say, it is sort of piecemeal a little
bit right now. We need to really get some energy behind it and get
it done, and | also think we need to push along the ERPOs so that
we have these red flag laws to supplement the use of the back-
ground check to find out if someone has some mental disturbance.
This is the single most important thing | think we can do in the
gun control area to stop these massacres from happening in the
first place.

Senator FEINSTEIN . Well, thank you. | would like to work with
you in that regard.

In August 2002, the Justice Department’s Office of Legal Counsel
issued opinions authorizing enhanced interrogation methods that
included waterboarding and extended sleep deprivation. These
opinions were later withdrawn and the Justice Department’s Office
of Professional Responsibility found that they reflected a lack of—
this is a quote—"a lack of thoroughness, objectivity, and candor,”
end quote.

In 2015, | worked with Senator McCain to pass legislation mak-
ing clear that enhanced interrogation techniques are unlawful and
limiting authorized interrogation techniques to those listed in the
Army Field Manual, and that is the law today.

If confirmed, will you ensure that the Justice Department up-
holds the law?

General B ARR. Yes, Senator. | think that that was an important
change because | think it gave clarity to the law, and | will support
that law.

Senator FEINSTEIN . Thank you. | am delighted to hear that.

Now, a lot of us have asked about the Mueller report and wheth-
er you would commit to providing it to Congress. When asked, |
thought you said yes, but when 1 tried to clarify it—I meant the
full report, including obstruction of justice—you again said yes.
Then when Senator Blumenthal asked you about the Mueller re-
port, you seemed to make a distinction and said you were going to
provide your own report based on Mueller's report, but not the re-
port—this is the way we understood it—but not the report he sub-
mits at the end of the investigation.

This is concerning as there is nothing in the regulations that pre-
vent you from providing Mueller's report to Congress. While the
regs refer to a confidential report to be provided to the Attorney
General, the regs do not say that confidentiality means the report
cannot be provided to Congress.

So here is the question. Will you provide Mueller’'s report to Con-
gress, not your rewrite or a summary?

General B ARR. Well, the regs do say that Mueller is supposed to
do a summary report of his prosecutive and his declination deci-
sions and that they will be handled as a confidential document, as
are internal documents relating to any Federal criminal investiga-
tion. Now, | am not sure—and then the AG has some flexibility and
discretion in terms of the AG’s report.

What | am saying is my objective and goal is to get as much as
I can of the information to Congress and the public. These are de-
partmental regulations, and | will be talking to Rod Rosenstein and
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Bob Mueller. I am sure they have had discussions about this. There
is probably existing thinking in the Department as to how to han-
dle this. But all | can say at this stage, because | have no clue as
to what is being planned, is that | am going to try to get the infor-
mation out there consistent with these regulations, and to the ex-
tent | have discretion, | will exercise that discretion to do that.

Senator FEINSTEIN . Well, |1 can only speak for this side, and
maybe not all this side, but we really appreciate that, and the de-
gree to which you can get us a prompt report in the fullest possible
form would be really appreciated. | think there has to be a realiza-
tion, too, among the administration, that this is an issue of real
concern to people and to the Congress, and we should be able to
see the information that comes out.

General B ARR. | understand.

Senator FEINSTEIN . So, | am very hopeful. Thank you.

Let me ask this question on “enhanced”—did my time run out?

Chairman G rRAHAM . Yes, but go ahead.

Senator FEINSTEIN . On “enhanced interrogation”: During a 2005
panel discussion, you said the following about interrogating sus-
pected terrorists, and | quote, “Under the laws of war, absent a
treaty, there is nothing wrong with coercive interrogation, applying
pain, discomfort, and other things to make people talk, so long as
it does not cross the line and involve the gratuitous barbarity in-
volved in torture,” end quote. This is a panel discussion on civil lib-
erties and security, on July 18, 2005.

Do you believe that torture is ever lawful?

General B ARR. No.

Senator FEINSTEIN . Is waterboarding torture?

General B ARR. | would have to look at the legal definition. You
are talking about under the—right now it is prohibited. So the law
has definitively dealt with that. |1 cannot even remember what the
old law was that defined torture. | would have to look at that and
then, you know, figure out what is involved in it. But it—sorry.

Senator FEINSTEIN . Keep going. | did not mean to interrupt you.

General B ARR. No, it is okay.

Senator FEINSTEIN . At what point does interrogation cross the
line to the “gratuitous barbarity involved in torture”? That is your
quote.

General BArRR. Well, | was not using that, the gratuitous bar-
barity—that is what | was saying, that torture is gratuitous bar-
barity. So | was not saying that gratuitous——

Senator FEINSTEIN . Oh. Well, that is helpful, then.

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator FEINSTEIN . That is helpful.

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator FEINSTEIN . And you define waterboarding. You know,
one would think these questions would never be necessary. |
thought that all my life. And then | found | was wrong and they
really are. | was Chairman of Intelligence when we did the big Tor-
ture Report, and what | found and what | saw was really indicative
of reform.

So | think for the Attorney General, knowing the position is real-
ly very important, maybe you could concisely state your position on
torture.
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General B ARR. | do not think we should ever use torture, and |
think that the clarification that—was it your legislation of putting
in the Army——

Senator FEINSTEIN . It was Senator McCain—

General B ARR. The Army Field Manual—

Senator FEINSTEIN . That is right.

General B ARR [continuing]. Was important to clarifying where
the line is.

Senator FEINSTEIN . Thank you.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman G raHAM . Senator Cornyn.

Senator CorNYN. Mr. Barr, | want to talk about guns, and |
want to talk about China in the 5 minutes we have together.

Back in 1992, there was some discussion about your position on
the Congress’ role when it comes to banning certain types of semi-
automatic weapons. Sometimes people call those assault weapons,
but in the intervening years, the Supreme Court has now spoken
in both the Heller and McDonald cases and recognized that the
Second Amendment confers an individual and fundamental right to
bear arms.

Could you bring us up to date from your views in 1992 and how
they were affected by Heller and McDonald, and what your views
now are on the Second Amendment?

General B ARR. Sure. | think | opposed an assault weapons ban
because | felt that that was really sort of the aesthetics of the gun.
But since that time, Heller has been decided. Actually, before Hell-
er, | did work at OLC on this issue, and | personally concluded that
the Second Amendment creates a personal right under the Con-
stitution. It is based on the Lockean notion of the right of self-pres-
ervation. It is tied to that, and | was glad to see Heller come out
and vindicate that initial view that | had.

And so there is no question under Heller that the right to have
weapons, firearms is protected under the Second Amendment and
is a personal right. At the same time, there is room for reasonable
regulation, and from my standpoint, what | would look for in as-
sessing a regulation is, what is the burden on law-abiding people,
and is it proportionate to whatever benefit in terms of safety and
effectiveness will be conferred.

As | said just a moment ago, let us get down to the real problem
we are confronting, which is, keeping these weapons out of the
hands of people who are mentally ill, and I think all the rest of this
stuff is really essentially rhetoric until we really get that problem
dealt with in terms of the regulatory approaches.

Senator CorNYN. As our colleague, the Senator for Louisiana,
Senator Kennedy, likes to say, the Bill of Rights is not an a la carte
menu. | agree with that, and | also agree that there are many fac-
ets to these mass violence incidents. After the shooting at Suther-
land Springs, we found out that the background check system, the
National Instant Criminal Background Check System, was not
being used appropriately by the U.S. Government, in that case, the
Air Force. And if it had been, this individual who killed 20 people
and injured 26 more at a Baptist church right outside of San Anto-
nio, would not have been able to legally get his hands on the fire-



90

arm by lying. But certainly the mental health issue that you men-
tioned, we have done work there with——

General B ARR. Fix NICS.

Senator CorRNYN [continuing]. In the Fix NICS area. We have
also done the expanded pilot programs and assisted outpatient
treatment for people suffering from mental iliness, recognizing that
it is difficult for any family member to control, particularly an
adult, but that providing an opportunity to go to court and get basi-
cally a civil order that would require them to comply with their
doctor’'s orders, take their medication, and the like. | am thinking
of Adam Lanza at the Sandy Hook shooting whose mother did not
know how to control him as he was getting more and more ill, only
to have him take her very weapon and then kill her and then go
murder the innocent children.

On China, do you agree with me that China represents probably
one of the preeminent economic challenges to America, particularly
because of their theft of intellectual property and their exploitation
of gaps in foreign investment that we have tried to address through
improvement of the CFIUS process, the Committee on Foreign In-
vestment in the United States? But talk to me a little bit about
what you see as the challenge of China, both economically and from
a national security standpoint.

General B ARR. Well, | think they are the paramount economic
and military rival in the world. | think that they are very formi-
dable because they take the long view. They have been stealing our
technology, and they have been gradually building up their mili-
tary power and investing in new technologies. | think from a mili-
tary standpoint it is very disturbing how much progress they are
making, largely based on U.S. technology.

| really thought that Attorney General Sessions was right on tar-
get in setting up his China initiative in the Department to start
going after the pirating of American technology and other kinds of
illegal activities that Chinese nationals are involved in here in the
United States, and even abroad.

Senator CorNYN. Would you share my skepticism that Chinese
telecommunications companies like Huawei and ZTE, in terms of
how that once in the hands or in the networks of unsuspecting
countries, that that could be used for espionage purposes and theft
of intellectual property?

General B ARR. Yes. In fact, even in my old Verizon days, we un-
derstood the danger and would not use that kind of equipment,
even though it would be economically attractive.

Chairman G raHAM . Before Senator Leahy, | would like to, on be-
half of Senator Feinstein, introduce into the record letters that ex-
press opposition and concern from groups like the Leadership Con-
ference on Civil and Human Rights, Planned Parenthood, People
for the American Way, National Education Association, Alliance for
Justice, NARAL, the National Urban League, the National Council
of Jewish Women, the Center for American Progress, the Human
Rights Campaign, and a letter from Representative Rau | Grijalva—
| hope | got his name right—from Arizona.

In support, we have letters from the International Association of
Chiefs of Police, a letter from the National Fraternal Order of Po-
lice, numerous letters signed from 100 former Federal law enforce-
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ment national security officials, including three former Attorneys

General and a lot of U.S. Attorneys, and heads of the CIA, FBI,
and Department of Homeland Security, a letter from the National

Narcotics Officers Association, a letter from the International

Union of Police Associations, a letter from Major Cities Chiefs As-
sociation, a letter from the Association of State Criminal Investiga-

tive Agencies.

Without objection, | would like to enter all that into the record.

[The information appears as submissions for the record.]

Chairman G RAHAM . Senator Leahy.

Senator L EAHY . Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

You just mentioned being at Verizon during the NSA’s metadata
program known as PRISM and Upstream. It required telecom
internet providers to hand over huge amounts of data to the Gov-
ernment, and you testified in 2003 that the law is clear that a per-
son has no Fourth Amendment rights in these records left in the
hands of third parties, the Third-Party Doctrine.

| actually disagreed with you at that time, and | hope you would
now, especially as the Carpenter decision just came down, written
by Chief Justice Roberts, that this is generally requiring the Gov-
ernment to get a warrant to obtain geolocation information through
the cell site location information. Does that change the opinion you
had back then?

General B ARR. It sounds like—I have not read that decision, Sen-
ator. It may modify my views. | would have to read the decision.
I was going on the Miller decision relating to bank records.

But also you mentioned that you were tying this to the NSA col-
lection, and then tying it to my testimony, because——

Senator LeEaHY. You had said that a person has no Fourth
Amendment rights in these records left in the hands of third par-
ties, the Third-Party Doctrine.

General B ARR. Yes. That was the——

Senator L EAHY . That seems to be undercut by Carpenter.

General B ARR. | will take a look at that. But | do not want peo-
ple to have the impression that Verizon was involved in respond-
ing——

Senator L EAHY . Then would you respond for the record?

General B ARR. Yes, sure. Certainly.

Senator L EAHY . And you said back in November 2017 that you
saw more basis for investigating the Uranium One deal than sup-
posed collusion between President Trump and Russia, and by not
pursuing these matters the Department is abdicating its responsi-
bility. Just about everybody has debunked the Uranium One con-
troversy. | think probably the nail in the coffin was President
Trump’s biggest supporter, Fox News, who debunked it. Did | miss
something in there?

General BARR. No. Actually, that—you will notice that there
were no quotes around that, and then the next sentence is plural,
“matters.” My recollection of that is, what | think it was relating
to, the letter and the appointment of Huber in Utah to look at a
number of things. The point | was trying to make there was that
whatever the standard is for launching an investigation, it should
be dealt with evenhandedly, whatever that trigger is, should be ap-
plied to all.
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I have no knowledge of the Uranium One. | did not particularly
think that was necessarily something that should be pursued ag-
gressively. | was trying to make the point that there was a lot out
there. | think all that stuff at the time was being looked at by
Huber. That is my recollection. | may be wrong on that.

Senator L EAHY . | think the fact that the investigation has been
pretty well debunked, we do not have to worry about it in the fu-
ture. But we do have one thing that is happening right now.

The Trump shutdown is in its 25th day. The Justice Department
has 13,000 FBI agents, 16,000 prison guards, 3,600 U.S. marshals,
4,300 Drug Enforcement agents—all working without pay. The FBI
Agents Association | realize is not part of the Government, but the
Association described the effect of this shutdown as a potential na-
tional security issue.

So let me just ask you, in your years of experience in the Depart-
ment, what impact do you believe a long-term shutdown has on law
enforcement?

General B ARR. Well, | think most people involved in law enforce-
ment are—| do not know if the lingo is still the same. They used
to be called essential. | think it has been changed to something
else, but | think they are on the job. But obviously people would
like to see the shutdown ended, and that is why people want to see
some kind of compromise. You call it the Trump shutdown, but it
takes two to tango.

Senator L EAHY . Only because he called it that.

General B ARR. Okay.

Senator L EAHY . And | said finally | have got something | could
agree with him on.

Senator Shelby and | put together appropriations bills that
passed almost unanimously in the Senate at a time when we could
have kept the Government open, at a time when it is hard to get
something unanimous saying the sun would rise in the East. So |
was just agreeing with the President.

But no matter what you call it, is it not a fact that this does have
an effect on law enforcement?

General B ARR. Well, not having a wall also has an effect on law
enforcement.

Senator L EaHY . And not paying our law enforcement people. We
have both had experience in law enforcement, you at the national
level, me at the State level. If you do not pay our law enforcement
people, | think there is an effect. We have some very dedicated peo-
ple, but you have some very distracted people.

Do you believe that voter ID laws and similar restrictions actu-
ally promote democracy by discouraging voters who are not really
paying attention to what is going on? | am going back to a panel
discussion you had a few years ago.

General B ARR. What | said there was that in that panel discus-
sion there was a lot of people complaining about the lack of—that
many Americans are not educating themselves about the issues
and they are passive, and that it was important, and also that the
voting participation was dropping.

My position was that the underlying problem is the citizen who
is not paying attention to public events, not educating themselves
about the issues and so forth, and that the non-voting is a symp-
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tom, and | did not see driving up participation as addressing the
primary underlying problem. That was my point, and | pointed out
that when the Constitution was adopted, the turnout was about 33
percent, my understanding. So then | said low participation has
been a problem from the very beginning.

But my view is that voter turnout should not be artificially driv-
en up without also addressing the issue of an informed citizenry,
which | think is a problem.

Senator L EaHy. Well, we do have voting laws guarding against
discrimination, the arbitrary closing of the voting booths in pre-
dominantly African-American areas, for example. Would you have
any problem in vigorously enforcing our voting rights laws that are
on the books?

General B ARR. Of what? Vigorously? No, not at all. | said one of
my priorities would be that. | think we have to enforce the voting
rights, and | was not suggesting that voting should be suppressed.
| was just saying that the low turnout is ultimately attributable to
sort of the—I do not know what the word to use is, but that the
citizenry does not seem to be that engaged in the public affairs of
the country.

Senator L EAHY . Well, they are in Vermont. We have one of the
highest turnouts in the country.

General B ARR. That is good. Excellent.

Senator L EAHY . Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman G rRaHAM . Thank you.

We are going to have two votes at 4:10. Can you go for a bit
longer?

Senator Sasse.

Senator SAsse. Thank you, Chairman.

General, | would like to return to the disturbing topics of human
trafficking and sex trafficking. You have answered a few questions
here today. | would like to look at the November 28th Miami Her-
ald investigative series that | know that you followed into the
crimes of Jeffrey Epstein, and | want to quote from that.

Epstein, a wealthy hedge fund manager, quote, “assembled a
large cultlike network of underaged girls with the help of young fe-
male recruiters to coerce into having sex acts behind the walls of
his opulent waterfront mansion as often as three times a day,”
closed quote. The report continues, “He was also suspected of track-
ing minor girls, often from overseas, for sex parties at his other
homes in Manhattan, New Mexico, and the Caribbean.”

The Herald series continues, quote, “in 2007, despite ample phys-
ical evidence and multiple witnesses corroborating the girls’ stories,
Federal prosecutors and Epstein’s lawyers quietly put together a
remarkable deal for Epstein, then age 54. He agreed to plead guilty
to two felony prostitution charges in State Court, and, in exchange,
he and his accomplices received immunity from Federal sex traf-
ficking charges that could have sent him to prison for the rest of
his life. He served 13 months in a private wing of the Palm Beach
County stockade. His alleged co-conspirators, who helped schedule
his sex sessions, were never prosecuted. And the deal called”—
again this is the Miami Herald—"a Federal nonprosecution agree-
ment was sealed so that no one, not even his victims, could know
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the full scope of Epstein’s crimes and who else was involved,”
closed quote.

The fact that Federal prosecutors appear to have crafted this se-
cret sweetheart deal for a child rapist obviously enrages moms and
dads everywhere. On this particular case, will you commit to mak-
ing sure that there is a full and thorough investigation into the
way DOJ handled the Epstein case?

General BARR. So, Senator, | have to recuse myself from
Kirkland & Ellis matters, | am told. And | think Kirkland & Ellis
was, maybe, involved in that case. So | need to sort out exactly
what—what my role can be. But, you know, | will say that if—if
I am confirmed, | will make sure your questions are answered on
this case.

Senator SAasse. Thank you. The Deputy Attorney General, obvi-
ously there have been media reports about the timing of his poten-
tial departure post your confirmation, and the DAG, as you well
know from your prior history, has a key responsibility in
deconflicting different parts of the Department. Those of us who
have been pressing on this matter have found in different parts of
the Department a lot of anxiety about the way this was handled,
and yet kind of a hot potato, have a bunch of people thinking they
are not responsible. Right now, Rod Rosenstein has been helping,
trying to deconflict some of that, but | am worried, with your po-
tential recusal, if the DAG also departs, it is not clear who is actu-
ally going to deconflict this. So | am grateful for your pledge that
the Department will be responsive even if not you personally.

General B ARR. Yes, that is right.

Senator SAsse. More broadly than the miscarriage of justice in
this particular Florida case, would you agree that justice has noth-
ing to do with the size of your bank account or the number of attor-
neys you can hire?

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator SAsse. | agree. And | think that a whole bunch of Ameri-
cans wonder about the Department of Justice and how we are try-
ing to prioritize or how we should be prioritizing our responsibility
to the victims of sex trafficking who are left defrayed and voiceless.
In this particular case, many of the women who were clearly vic-
tims, trafficked rape victims, had no awareness of the fact, and |
think in violation of Federal statutes of victim notification, that
this nonprosecution agreement had been agreed to, and not just
that Epstein and his co-conspirators were not indicted, but the rest
of the investigatory matters of the Department were also sus-
pended. It seems truly bizarre.

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator Sasse. | think moms and dads watching this hearing
would like to know that you will pledge broadly to attack sex traf-
ficking as a scourge in our society on both the supply side and the
demand side as these dirtbags demand this, but on the supply side,
as organizations clearly perpetrate these crimes. Can you pledge to
us that this will be one of your priorities at the Department?

General B ARR. They can count on it.

Senator SAsse. Thank you, sir.
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Chairman G rRAHAM . | want to associate myself with what Senator
Sasse said about the Epstein case and the problem in general, to
the extent you can help us figure this out, please.

General B ARR. Yes.

Chairman G rRAHAM . Senator Durbin.

Senator D UrBIN . Thanks, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Barr, thank you for being with us.

Mr. Barr, my colleague Senator Ernst asked a question earlier
which | am sure will be asked in virtually every State we rep-
resent: What we are doing to stop the flow of narcotics into the
United States. She asked about meth, | believe, in particular, but
about narcotics coming in from Mexico, and your reply was, and |
quote, “It is the major avenue of how drugs come into the country.
They come across that border. | feel it is a critical part of border
security, and we need barriers on the border.” That was your quote.

I am troubled by that answer. And | would like to clarify it be-
cause if we are ever going to have a rational conversation about
border security, there ought to be some basics that we agree on.

The DEA, which you will supervise if confirmed, in its 2018 re-
port, said, quote, “The most common method employed by the
Mexican drug cartels involves transporting illicit drugs through
U.S. ports of entry in passenger vehicles, which concealed compart-
ments are commingled with legitimate goods on tractor trailers.”

The Customs and Border Protection’s own data shows that Cus-
toms officers at legal ports of entry seize the vast majority of lethal
narcotics coming into this country. In Fiscal Year 2017, the last
year we have data, 87 percent of the fentanyl—which has been
identified by the CDC as the most deadly narcotic in America—87
percent seized in our country coming in through ports of entry, 13
percent seized outside of ports of entry.

So, overwhelmingly, when we talk about building new walls and
barriers to stop narcotics, we are ignoring the obvious: 80 to 90
percent of the drugs are coming in through ports of entry. | met
with the head of Customs and Border Protection. He said the num-
ber one thing we can do is to put technology in the ports of entry
to scan the vehicles coming through. Currently, only 17 percent of
trucks and cars coming through those ports of entry are being
scanned, 17 percent. That means 83 percent of them are just flow-
ing right on through there bringing narcotics to lowa and to llli-
nois. Building a new concrete wall from sea to shining sea does not
even address this issue; technology does. | want to reach a point
where we open the Government and have this honest conversation.
Would you reconsider your earlier answer as to the fact that we
need to build more barriers to stop narcotics from coming into the
United States?

General B ARR. Well, it was not tied just to narcotics, it was tied
to overall border security.

Senator DuURrBIN . You said, a major avenue for how drugs come
into this country. It is not.

General B ARR. | said it was across the——

Senator D URBIN . Border.

General B ARR. Wait a minute. |—|—I——

Senator DURBIN . The border is the major avenue, but your an-
swer was, we need barriers on the border.
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General B ARR. Right, because drug—you know, we need barriers
on the border for border security. Part of what we are trying to do
is cut down on drugs. It is also illegal aliens. It is also other—peo-
ple from other countries who may wish to do harm in the United
States that are coming in. And barriers are part of the answer. And
from my experience, the threat is always dynamic. You put tech-
nology at the ports of entry, they will shift somewhere else. It is
a moving target, it always has been, and | think we need a system
that covers all the bases.

Senator DURBIN . | think the reason we cannot reach an agree-
ment with the Trump administration is fundamental to our ex-
change, and it is this, | do not disagree with you, with the notion
that barriers from sea to shining sea will, at least, slow people
down, but when it comes to the next marginal dollar to protect kids
in lllinois and children in your home State, it is ports of entry, it
is technology, to keep these narcotics out of the United States. And
if we cannot really start at the same premise based on reports from
the President's own administration, we are never going to reach a
point of bipartisan agreement on border security.

So, | hope—I think we are close to agreeing, maybe it is seman-
tics, | hope not, but | hope that we can agree that if we are going
to stop narcotics, it is technology and personnel. The experts tell
us that. It is not a wall. And | hope that we can move from there.

The last question | will ask you, and limited time, they asked me
about your—your statements this morning, your testimony, and |
thought they were good, responsive in the most part. The one thing
| am stuck on, and many are, is this report that you gave to this
administration in June of last year about the investigation of the
President.

General B ARR. YOou mean my memo?

Senator D URBIN . Yes.

General B ARR. The memo, yes.

Senator DuUrBIN . And you said in there, “Mueller should not be
permitted to demand that the President submit to interrogation
about alleged obstruction.” You volunteered that. | am trying to get
around this. It sounds like it was an effort on your part to ingra-
tiate yourself with an administration which is now nominating you
for Attorney General. | will give you one last chance. My time is
up. Please respond.

General B ARR. Okay. Well, first, what | was saying there was,
again, based on speculation on my part, was that there has to be
an adequate predicate, and if he was relying on just the firing of
Mueller or the statement about Flynn in this specific statute, those
two things, | did not think it was an adequate predicate. | was not
saying—he may have other facts, he may have other theories, that
would support it. | was just pinpointing that. Number two——

Senator D URBIN . You meant the firing of Comey.

General B ARR [continuing]. | can assure you | was not trying to
ingratiate myself with anybody. The furthest thing from my mind
was coming back into Government, | can assure you that. And if
| wanted to ingratiate myself or signal things, there are a lot more
direct ways of doing it than that.

Senator D urBIN . Just for the record, | think you meant the firing
of Mr. Comey. | think you said “Mueller” earlier.
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General B ARR. Oh, okay, yes. What did | say? Oh, yes, the firing
of Comey. Yes, yes.

Senator D urBIN . Thank you very much.

Senator L EAHY . Just trying to help.

[Laughter.]

Chairman G rRAHAM . Thank you.

I will just take a couple of seconds to see if | can help clarify this
because | think it has been a very interesting hearing. So if there
was some reason to believe that the President tried to coach some-
body not to testify or testify falsely, that could be obstruction of
justice.

General B ARR. Yes, under that—yes, under an obstruction stat-
ute, yes.

Chairman G rRAHAM . So if there is some evidence that the Presi-
dent tried to conceal evidence, that would be obstruction of justice
potentially, right?

General B ARR. Right.

Chairman G rRaHAM . Your point is just simply firing somebody,
which is a personnel decision, is problematic for the system.

General B ARR. Right, especially if you—what | am saying is that
does not fit under that statute.

Chairman G raHAM . No, | got you.

General B ARR. Show me some other statute, but that statute, no.

Chairman G rRAHAM . Yes, okay.

Who is next?

[Voice off microphone.] Senator Hawley.

Chairman G rRAHAM . Senator Hawley. Thank you.

Senator H AwLEY . Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Barr, switching gears a little bit, yesterday, a District—Fed-
eral District Court Judge in Pennsylvania struck down the Trump
administration’s religious and moral exemptions to the contracep-
tive mandate under the Affordable Care Act. As part of this ruling,
the District Court Judge issued a nationwide injunction to any en-
forcement application of these—of these rules. This is a growing
trend. We have seen a lot of this in the last 2 years. We have seen
lots and lots of District Courts all across the country in various
contexts, in the immigration context and others, issue nationwide
injunctions. And now, of course, for those listening at home, the—
the court—the entire Nation is not within the jurisdiction of these
courts. These courts are District Courts, they reach specific geo-
graphic areas delineated by law, and yet they are issuing, increas-
ingly—increasingly commonly, these injunctions that reach the en-
tire country. This is a fairly unusual and fairly recent practice.

In distinction of this, the District Court Judge in Texas who re-
cently heard a challenge to the Affordable Care Act case did not
issue a nationwide injunction, and therefore allowing the appeals
process to take its normal course, and, of course, the ACA remains
in full effect throughout that appeals process because he did not
issue a nationwide injunction.

So, my question is to you, are you concerned about this growing
practice of nationwide injunctions by Federal District Courts? And
what do you think ought to be done about it?

General B ARR. Yes, | am very concerned by it. Earlier | was talk-
ing about this and saying that | think it mistakes the limitation
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on judicial power, which is a case or controversy limitation and
tries to grant relief to people who are not part of the case or con-
troversy that is being decided. And as you said, it really started in
the 1960s, and it has been picking up steam, and the fact of the
matter is, there are a lot of District Court Judges, and you can usu-
ally find one who somewhere in the country will agree with you,
and so major democratic decisions can be held up by one judge na-
tionwide.

| am also concerned that there is another trend, which is the
willingness of some District Court Judges to wade into matters of
national security where, in the past, courts would not have pre-
sumed to be enjoining those kinds of things. And then the appeals
process takes a long time. And so a lot of damage can be done be-
fore it gets to the Supreme Court and you get a definitive decision,
and meanwhile, everything is stuck.

Senator HAwLEY. Can you just say more? You are concerned
about courts that wade into national security issues where tradi-
tionally they have—they have hesitated to do so. Can you just say
more about that? What do you have in mind?

General B ARR. Like the travel ban.

Senator H AwLEY . And the concern there is that——

General B ARR. | mean, the President takes something based on
national security, and one—and—and the Constitution vests that
kind of judgment for that kind of emergency act or acts that he has
the authority to perform to protect the country, he—he is politically
accountable for that, and yet a judge with a lifetime appointment
sitting somewhere in the country who does not have the access to
the information and has no political accountability can stop a na-
tional security measure, you know, globally essentially, and it
takes a long time to get that sorted out. That—that is really trou-
blesome to me.

Senator H AwLEY . Yes, | completely agree with you. Let me ask
you about another recent case, this one from the Southern District
of New York, today, in which the District Courts ruled that the at-
tempt to include—the attempt by the Commerce Department to in-
clude a citizenship question on the census is not permissible and
has stopped the Commerce Department from including that on the
2020 census.

The Department has already, of course—and the Department of
Justice is defending this decision, that including a citizenship ques-
tion, as was done for approximately 100 years on the census, actu-
ally helps identify with greater accuracy the residents of the coun-
try, who is and who is not a citizen, and, of course, helps more ac-
curately apportion and draw congressional districts and make sure
that representation is fair and the Voting Rights Act is fairly en-
forced. Do you agree with that position?

General B ARR. Well, it is being litigated now, so | really would
prefer not to comment on it.

Senator H AwLEY . Do you anticipate that the Department of Jus-
tice will continue its—its vigorous defense of the position that the
administration has taken?

General B ARR. | think generally | have no reason to change that
position.

Senator H AWLEY . Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman G rRaHAM . Senator Whitehouse.

Senator W HITEHOUSE . Thank you.

Mr. Barr, in order to perform its counterintelligence function ef-
fectively, what should the Department of Justice and the FBI know
about the business relationships and entanglements of senior offi-
cials with foreign interests and governments?

General B aArRrR. Well, usually, you know, | guess usually inves-
tigations are started because there is some act that comes to the
attention of the law enforcement agency that suggests someone is
being disloyal to the United States.

Senator W HITEHOUSE . Except where working for a foreigh——

General B ARR. Excuse me?

Senator WHITEHOUSE . Except where we require disclosures in
order to give the law enforcement folks that advantage of knowing
in advance when a senior official has a business entanglement with
a foreign interest or power.

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator W HITEHOUSE . So what should we know?

General B ARR. What official are we talking about?

Senator W HITEHOUSE . Well, let us start with the President.

General B ARR. Are you suggesting that the President go through
a background investigation by the FBI?

Senator WHITEHOUSE . No. | am suggesting that when there is
evidence that he has business relationships with foreign interests,
then that may be a factual determination that would be of some
note to our counterintelligence folks.

General B ARR. Well, the financial disclosures that | think are
filed by other—I—I do not even know if Members of Congress file
financial disclosures. Do they? They do?

Senator WHITEHOUSE . So do many officials in the executive
branch. So——

General BARR. Yes. You know, that is for—that is for financial
conflict. 1 do not think that is for counterintelligence purposes.

Senator WHITEHOUSE . Probably, because very few people have
business relationships with foreign interests, so it turns up much
more often in a conflict——

General B ARR. Well, a business relationship with a foreign inter-
est is not ordinarily a counterintelligence concern.

Senator W HITEHOUSE . Unless, of course, you are——

General B ARR. Unless the person is a traitor.

Senator W HITEHOUSE . Or in a position to make decisions that are
biased or influenced by those business relationships.

General B ARR. Well——

Senator WHITEHOUSE . Counterintelligence and treason are not
the same thing, are they?

General BARR. Counterintelligence, you are usually trying to
counter the intelligence activities of another country.

Senator WHITEHOUSE . Correct. And you may want to head off
things, you may want to be aware of things, you may want to—
there are a whole lot of things short of treason that are the coun-
terintelligence function.

General B ARR. Right, including, you know—counterintelligence
focuses usually on foreign intelligence services and their activities.
| think what we are——
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Senator W HITEHOUSE . With American officials——

General B ARR. | think we are mixing, you know, apples and
grapes—or whatever here, because financial disclosure——

Senator W HITEHOUSE . Well, maybe, or maybe you are just having
a hard time answering what ought to be a really easy question,
which is that when a senior Government official has business rela-
tionships with foreign interests and powers, we ought to know
about it. That ought to be an easy proposition, and in any other
administration, it would be.

General B ARrR. Well, do Congressmen go through background in-
vestigations to get access—access to classified information?

Senator W HITEHOUSE . We—that is a whole separate question.

General B ARR. NOo, it is exactly the same question.

Senator W HITEHOUSE . We do a lot of—we do a lot more reporting
than we do—

General B ARR. Well, your financial reporting, with all due re-
spect, is not the same as a background investigation. You are elect-
ed by the people to hold an office, and, you know, you do not get
a background investigation to get on the Intelligence Committee.

Senator WHITEHOUSE . But we do have to do a lot of reporting.
Okay, if you do not want to answer it, | will move on.

Let us talk about “corruptly” in obstruction cases. | am not sure
| heard you correctly, so | want to make sure you have the chance
to explain, but it sounded like you were saying that the word “cor-
ruptly” used, as you said, adverbially, was a requirement that
there be some form of destruction or interference with evidence. |
have always read that term “corruptly” in obstruction of justice to
impose an intent requirement, which is also what the criminal re-
sources manual at the Department of Justice says, and what |
think virtually every Appellate Court has said. So it worries me if
what you are trying to do here is to redefine the obstruction statute
by narrowing the intent requirement and using the term *cor-
ruptly” to refer to something very different, which is the actual
physical corruption changing or——

General B ARR. | think | can allay your concerns.

Senator WHITEHOUSE . Can you—yes, could you do that? Be-
cause——

General BARR. Yes. Because if you read—if you look at the
memo, you will see that my discussion of “corruptly” is not up in
the plain meaning section where | am talking about how you inter-
pret the statute. And my basic argument as to why the statute cov-
ers destruction of evidence and hiding evidence and stuff like that
is based on the word, “otherwise.” Supreme Court decisions in
Yates and Begay, also the fact that if you actually read it “other-
wise,” it swallows up all—it becomes a one-clause——

Senator W HITEHOUSE . SO——

General B ARR. It wipes out everything else.

Senator W HITEHOUSE . If | can cut to the——

General B ARR. No, so then later on | point out in my memo, |
later point out that that reading is also supported by the under-
standing of the word “corruptly,” which the  Poindexter case, D.C.
Circuit case, | think had the most intelligent discussion of the word
“corruptly,” which is, it does refer to the kind of activity that is
necessary, which is perverting a proceeding by corrupting it.
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Senator W HITEHOUSE . So in the event that the Mueller investiga-
tion has turned up evidence of obstruction of justice by the Presi-
dent or people close to him, you would follow the Department of
Justice’s existing legal guidance with respect to what that word
“corruptly” means.

General BArRR. My—my interpretation of the statute was not
predicated entirely on the word, “corruptly.” | was just pointing
out.

Senator W HITEHOUSE . And it is not your intention to change——

General B ARR. NOo, it is not my intention.

Senator WHITEHOUSE [continuing]. Department policy or Depart-
ment standards or Department definitions, particularly as they
may bear on obstruction by the President or people around him.

General B ARR. That is right.

Senator W HITEHOUSE . Thank you.

Chairman G raHAM . We are about to vote. Let us do one more.
You deserve a break. You are doing great. When—Senator Ernst—
then we will take a break, go vote. | am going to vote and come
back, give you about 15 minutes, then we will just plow through
till we are done.

Senator Tillis.

Senator TiLuis . | will be brief. One question, because people have
asked. They have gone to the wall, it almost sounds like they are
trying to suggest that you believe that the fix for border security
is a 2,300-mile physical barrier from the Pacific to the Gulf. Do you
believe that is the best way to secure the border?

General BARR. | am not sure what the current thinking is on
this, but when | was——

Senator TiLLis . Have you ever advocated for a wall or some sort
of monolithic structure as the plan for—to secure the border?

General B ARR. No. But | do believe we need to have a system all
the way across. When | was looking at this, you know, there were
certain areas where, you know, a wall did not make any sense——

Senator TiLLis . You used the word, “barrier.” |1 do not think a 30-
foot wall makes sense on a, for example, 1,000-foot cliff—

General B ARR. Right.

Senator TiLLis [continuing]. Or one that is out in the middle of
nowhere. Would you agree that, you know, when we get away from
this childish, everybody saying it is a wall or not, that we are prob-
ably—the President has repeatedly said that we need wall struc-
tures, we may need steel-slat structures, we may need to reinforce
chain-link fences with all-weather roads, we need aerostats so that
we can identify people crossing the border that are otherwise deso-
late and not very frequently crossed.

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator TiLLis . We need border patrol agents. And we need tech-
nology that interdicts all the illicit drugs at the legal ports of entry,
that those are all elements of a barrier that actually will better
prepare us to secure the border, eliminate the poison coming across
the border, and perhaps reduce the amount of human trafficking
that is coming through the legal ports of entry. Is that a better way
to characterize your position on barriers——

General B ARR. Yes.
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Senator TiLuis [continuing]. That neither are physical, techno-
logical or otherwise?

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator TiLuis . Thank you. Also, the—I cannot leave without
going back to—you were talking about a time when | was in my
early thirties. | remember vividly just how dangerous things were
getting back in the early 1990s. | was 30 years old in 1990. | re-
member vividly the news reports and everything that we were try-
ing to do to get ahead of the murderous environment that we were
in. 1 think some people are trying to project, or, at least, maybe |
have inferred, maybe incorrectly, but project what you were trying
to do or what you were advocating for in the midst of a crisis,
which was not mass incarceration of low-level nonviolent crimi-
nals—

General B ARR. Right.

Senator TiLLis [continuing]. Onto your view of, let us say, the
First Step Act than what we are trying to do today. If you—hypo-
thetical—maybe you cannot answer it—but let us say you were At-
torney General when we were moving First Step, which | sup-
ported. | supported criminal justice reforms in North Carolina
when | was Speaker of the House. Are you fundamentally opposed
to what we are trying to do with the First Step Act?

General B ARR. No. | think some of those things make sense. If
I was—if | had been at the table, | probably would have urged a
few changes to it, but, you know, overall, | do not have a problem
with it.

Senator TiLLis . And you are fully aware the President and folks
in the White House are supportive of the Act and——

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator TiLLis . So you will do everything you can to help us
state that intent, the statutory intent, of the things that you will
need to do is, implement in your role as Attorney General—I do be-
lieve you are going to be confirmed——

General B ARR. Right.

Senator TiLLis [continuing]. To make sure that we get the full
positive effect that we will get out of the First Step Act.

General B ARR. That is right, Senator. And, you know, there were
a number of things being lumped together. What | espoused in the
1990s, when we had the highest crime rates in our history, was
taking the violent, chronic violent, offenders with long criminal his-
tory records of predatory violence, and especially the ones that use
guns in multiple offenses, and getting them off the streets and into
prison.

Senator TiLLis . And | think you made the point that in some
cases there—there—you were able to more clearly present evidence
where they were involved in drug trafficking, but you knew damn
well that they were a part of what was murdering these commu-
nities and making them very dangerous.

General B ARR. Right.

Senator TiLLis . And the point there was, you were using every
device possible to get them behind bars and off the streets so that
you could make those communities safe.

General B ARR. Right.
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Senator TiLLis . And including the communities in Trenton, New
Jersey.

General B ARR. Right. So the other thing, then there were drug
penalties. And some of the drug penalties, yes, were draconian, and
there were rational reasons for doing that at the time. And some-
times people got—and we were not going after people who needed
treatment who were—you know, just because they were addicts, we
were going after the people who were distributing the drugs. And,
you know, in the current circumstance, | understand there is data
to support what was done in First Step. | understand those
changes on the drug front, but | would not let up on chronic violent
offenders because they commit a disproportionate amount of the
predation in society.

Senator TiLLis . | hope you do not—because they need to go be-
hind bars for a very, very long time.

Thank you.

Chairman G raHAM . All right. Thank you, Mr. Barr.

What we will do, we will come back with Senator Klobuchar. We
are going to take a 15-minute break, and hopefully by then both
of us can vote and come back and continue and we are just going
to plow through till we get done today. So we will be in recess for
15 minutes.

[Whereupon the Committee was recessed and reconvened.]

Senator ERNsST [presiding]. We will go ahead and reconvene the
hearing.

| will recognize Senator Klobuchar.

Senator K LOBUCHAR . Thank you very much.

Thank you, Mr. Barr.

Thanks to your grandson for the mint. That was very nice.

In your previous confirmation hearing for Attorney General, you
stated that the Attorney General is the President’s lawyer. You
have also said that the Attorney General’'s ultimate allegiance must
be to the rule of law. So | am going to characterize that as the peo-
ple’s lawyer. And there have been times throughout our history, in-
cluding during Watergate, when the personal interests of the Presi-
dent do not align with the interests of the country. In those critical
moments, is the Attorney General the people’s lawyer or the Presi-
dent’s lawyer?

General B ARR. Well, as—the reason these—I referred to the At-
torney General as the President’'s lawyer is because in 1789, they
said that the Attorney General is to provide legal advice to the
President and the Cabinet.

Senator K LOBUCHAR . Yes.

General B ARR. And that is in their official capacity. And my view
on that is that, like any lawyer, you give the best advice as to your
view of the law, but if the President determined that he wanted to
do something that you thought was still a reasonable construction
of law, even though you might not have decided that way as an Ar-
ticle Il judge, just as you support congressional enactments that
are—

Senator K LOBUCHAR . Okay.

General B ARR [continuing]. Reasonable, you do the same for the
President.
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Senator K LOBUCHAR . But how about in a situation like Water-
gate?

General B ARR. So |—if the President directs an Attorney General
to do something that is contrary to law, then | think the Attorney
General has to step down.

Senator K LOBUCHAR . Okay.

General B ARR. It is that simple.

Senator K LOBUCHAR . Thank you.

Under the Special Counsel regs, the Special Counsel must send
a second report to Congress documenting any instances where the
AG prohibited the Special Counsel from taking an action. Will you
follow those regulations and send the report to Congress?

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator K LOBUCHAR . Thank you.

And then a few just things that | care a lot about. You had a
great discussion with Senator Booker about the First Step Act and
nonviolent drug crimes. Will you support the use of drug courts,
something my county when | was prosecutor was one of the first
to do that in a big way? And now we have Federal drug courts. Will
you support them for nonviolent offenders?

General B ARR. Yes. | think they are generally a good idea.

Senator K LOBUCHAR . Okay. And there is a bill that | have that
we are reintroducing on guns and stalking. And it is a pretty nar-
row bill. 1t fills a loophole that is called sometimes the boyfriend
loophole. | do not know if you know what that is, but it is when
someone is not married, but they are living together. And then the
question is, would the gun laws apply? And we actually had a hear-
ing. And a number of the Republican witnesses agreed that they
should. So that is part of it. And then the other involves stalking
and whether or not that could also fall under the prohibitions on
guns. So we had the meeting on guns at the White House, and the
President said he thought the bill was terrific. | am just going to
give you——

General B ArRR. Okay.

Senator K LOBUCHAR [continuing]. Lead you into that, but——

General B ARR. It is——

Senator K LOBUCHAR [continuing]. And it has not passed yet, but
I am just asking you to review it.

General B ARR. Absolutely.

Senator K LOBUCHAR . Okay. And | hope we would have your sup-
port. It would be nice to get that done.

And then | also have a second bill with Senator Cornyn, the
Abby Honold Act. And the bill would expand the use of evidence-
paced practices in responding to sex assault crimes. And | hope you
would look at that as well. And, it is part, right now, of the Senate
package on the Violence Against Women Act. And, my bill aside,
| hope that you would support the reauthorization of that bill.

General B ARR. Uh-huh.

Senator K LOBUCHAR . You would? Of the Violence Against Women
Act?

General B ARR. Well, | have not seen it, but if it is reauthorizing
what is in effect now, yes.
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Senator K LOBUCHAR . Okay. And, then, | just want to end here
with a second chance, second go-around on a question. | decided to
leave my antitrust questions for the record——

General B ArRR. Okay.

Senator K LOBUCHAR [continuing]. So | can ask this. | asked ear-
lier today this question because | really meant it as an opportunity
for you to kind of address your troops—and not a “gotcha” question.
So, immigration debates aside, putting aside the differences in this
House and in the White House—and we have now thousands and
thousands of extraordinary people devoting themselves to a good
cause, and that is justice at the Department of Justice and the FBI,
including a few of them right behind you in the front row. And
they, many of them, right now are either furloughed or they are
doing their jobs every single day without pay. And if you get con-
firmed, you will be their leader. And do you want to say anything
to them or about them? And | appreciate it if you would.

General B ARR. Well, thank you, Senator, for giving me the oppor-
tunity because one of the reasons | want to do this, serve as Attor-
ney General, is because of the opportunity to work with the out-
standing people at the Department of Justice. And | think the
country can be very proud of them as their—of their dedication as
they stand their post and continue to perform their mission. It is
a great sacrifice for many of them with the paychecks not coming
in. So | hope this ends soon. But one of the reasons the Depart-
ment is such an important institution to me and a big part of my
life is, the quality of the people there. And | am looking forward,
hopefully, if I am confirmed, to joining them again.

Senator K LoBUCHAR . Okay. Thank you very much.

General B ARR. Thank you.

Senator E RNST. Thank you, Senator Klobuchar.

| love the upward mobility on this Committee. This is my first
Committee hearing.

[Laughter.]

Senator ERNST. And | get to chair. So thank you. | appreciate it
very much.

I will go ahead with my second round of questioning. And there
has been a lot of discussion so far about the Mueller investigation,
which | do think is very appropriate, and as | understand it, the
underlying premise of that investigation was to determine if there
was collusion by an American entity or person with the Russians
during the 2016 election cycle. Is that accurate?

General B ARR. That is my understanding.

Senator ERNST. Okay. And we do know that there was Russian
meddling in our 2016 election cycle. We do know that. And what
can the DOJ do in the future to prevent—whether it is Russia or
other—foreign entities from interfering with our elections process?

General B ARR. Yes. Well, | adverted to in my opening statement
is, obviously, the Department is a law enforcement agency. And so
we can use our law enforcement tools. And the Special Counsel has
already brought cases against Russian nationals for their activities.
And the current leadership of the Department is following suit.
And | would like to build on that experience to sharpen our legal
tools to go after Russian nationals, but nationals of any country
that are interfering in our elections. | also think that the FBI as
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part of the intelligence community can perform, you know—can use
all of their intelligence tools to counteract the threat. And, as | said

in my opening statement, | think we have to look at all our na-
tional resources, such as diplomacy, economic sanctions, other
kinds of countermeasures, to deter and punish foreign countries
that seek to meddle in our elections.

Senator ERNST. Absolutely. So a whole-of-government ap-
proach——

General B ARR. Uh-huh, yes.

Senator ERNST [continuing]. As we look at those entities. Thank
you very much.

| was really pleased to hear Senator Klobuchar mention the Vio-
lence Against Women Act. We had a discussion about that in my
office.

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator ERNST. So thank you. | did serve as a volunteer at an
assault care center while | was at lowa State University—just a
few years ago.

[Laughter.]

Senator ERNST. But the Violence Against Women Act is in des-
perate need of reauthorization, as Senator Klobuchar said. In 2016
alone, over 1 million services were provided to victims and their
families through programs. And the Office on Violence Against
Women is actually housed within the DOJ, as you are aware. In
Fiscal Year 2017, my home State of lowa was awarded $8.7 million
from 13 different OVW grant programs. And these dollars do go to-
ward programs that are in dire need, especially in rural areas like
mine. So what | would like to know from you, sir, is how you will
work to further this engagement and to address violence against
women and families through VAWA or through the Office that is
located within DOJ.

General B ARR. Right. And that Office is not familiar to me be-
cause it did not exist, obviously, when | was there before. So, first,
I am going to familiarize myself with the Office; its work; its pro-
grams; and, you know, strongly support that.

Senator E RNST. Thank you very much.

Domestic violence is largely a State crime. How can we better as-
sist between the DOJ and State officials in this area?

General B ARR. Again, this is not an area of expertise that | have
right now, but | would imagine that technical support and grants
are probably the most effective means for the Federal Government
to assist.

Senator ERNsT. Okay. Very good. Well, | appreciate that so
much.

| have just got a little bit of time left. | do want to go back to
the issue that has been brought up many times over about our bor-
der security. I, as well, agree that there are many ways that we
can use to secure our border, whether it is through technology,
whether it is through a physical barrier, understanding, as has
been rightly pointed out, that a number of the interdictions of
drugs crossing the border are actually done at those ports of entry.
However, | think there are a lot of families that are very concerned
about the fentanyl that might be coming across those areas that
are not watched——



107

General B ARR. Right.

Senator E RNST [continuing]. So families that have lost their loved
ones, | think it does not matter what percentage is coming through
a port of entry or elsewhere. We want to stop it. So your comment?

General BARR. That is right, Senator. And the other thing is,
that the statistics on the port of entry were the interdictions. That
is the stuff we catch.

Senator ERNST. Right.

General B ARR. It does not necessarily reflect the stuff that is get-
ting across elsewhere that we are not catching.

Senator E RNST. Absolutely. Thank you very much, Mr. Barr.

Chairman G rRaHAM [presiding]. Thank you.

Senator Hirono.

Senator H IRoNO . Thank you very much.

Mr. Barr, you have written and spoken about morality and your
worries about the destruction of—and | am quoting you—"any kind
of moral consensus in society,” and you wrote quite extensively on
this when you were Attorney General. And you have been de-
scribed as an institutionalist: someone who cares about the Depart-
ment of Justice and the Government. That is a good thing. But you
have agreed to work for someone who relentlessly attacks the
press, calling them “fake news” and “the enemy of the people.” The
President criticizes the FBI nonstop. He belittles generals. He calls
the Mueller investigation a “witch hunt.” He believes the claims of
Putin over the judgment of our intelligence community. And it has
been objectively verified that he lies every single day and changes
his mind on a regular basis. So, are you concerned, having written
about morality and consensus in our society, are you concerned
about the way Donald Trump undermines the institutions in our
society that help us to maintain a moral consensus?

General B ARR. No, Senator. And | would like to make a point
about the “witch hunt,” which is, we have to remember that the
President is the one that, you know, has denied that there was any
collusion and has been steadfast in that. So presumably he knows
facts. | do not know facts. | do not think anyone here knows facts.
But | think it is understandable that if someone felt they were
falsely accused, they would view an investigation as something like
a witch hunt, where someone like you or me who does not know
the facts, you know, might not use that term.

Senator H IRoNO . Well you are certainly coming to his defense. As
| said, it has been objectively verified that he lies on a regular
basis.

| have a question about immigration. In your written statement,
you wrote that, “We must secure our Nation's borders. And we
must ensure that our laws allow us to process, hold, and remove
those who unlawfully enter.” And this kind of sounds like a Jeff
Sessions zero-tolerance policy. | did ask you that before, whether
you would continue to go after people who are not coming through
our regular checkpoints. Would you go after them for deportation?

General B ARR. | thought | said that our zero-tolerance policy is
to prosecute people who are referred to the Department by DHS for
illegal entry.
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Senator HIrRoNO. Well, under a no-tolerance policy, everybody
who comes in not through the checkpoints would be deemed, |
would say, subject to prosecution. So——

General B ARR. No.

Senator H IRONO . NO?

General B ARR. Anyone who comes in illegally and is going to be
referred to us for a violation of the legal-entry statute will be pros-
ecuted.

Senator H IRONO . Yes.

General B ARR. But DHS is not referring—as | understand it, is
not referring families so that there is no more separation.

Senator HIRONO. Yes. Instead, we have a lot of them in family
detention facilities. | have visited them. What about the 11 million
or so undocumented immigrants in our country because you say
that we have to process, hold, and remove those who unlawfully
enter? Now, the 11 million or so undocumented people have unlaw-
fully entered, | mean, a number of them because they are visa
overstayers. So what do you propose to do with these people who
have been here in our country for a long time, many of whom work
and who pay taxes?

General BARR. Well, | think it just highlights the need for
some—for Congress to address the whole issue of our immigration
laws.

Senator HIRoONO. So do you support comprehensive immigration
reform, an effort that we undertook in the Senate in 2013?

General B ARR. | support addressing some of the problems that
are creating the influx of illegal aliens at this point and also ad-
dressing the question of border security.

Senator HIroNO . Well, what about the 11 million undocumented
people who are already here?

General B ArRrR. Well, at—Congress is the—is able to determine
that policy as part of immigration legislation.

Senator HIRONO. So, that is the largest group of undocumented
people. They are the largest group of people who are here illegally,
as you say you would like to——

General B ARR. The zero-tolerance policy, as | understand it, has
to do with people who are coming in illegally.

Senator HIRONO. Yes, | know that, but you know that when |
talk about the 11 million people, that they are undocumented. They
live in the shadows. Many of them do pay taxes. And so that is the
largest group that is here. This is why we worked really hard for
comprehensive immigration reform. | hope that you support that
kind of effort. Do you believe birthright citizenship is guaranteed
by the Fourteenth Amendment?

General B ARR. | have not looked at that issue.

Senator HIrRONO. It says right there in the Fourteenth Amend-
ment that anyone born basically—born in this country, is a U.S.
citizen. And there are those who think that that should be done
away with. Are you one of them?

Senator K ENNEDY [presiding]. Could you give us a brief answer,
Mr.—

General BARR. Yes. As | say, | have not looked at that issue le-
gally. That is the kind of issue | would ask OLC to advise me on,
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as to whether it is something that is appropriate for legislation. |
do not even know the answer to that.

Senator HIrRoNO. Well, it has certainly been interpreted for a
long time as saying that people who are born in this country are
citizens.

Shall I continue or should | ask for a third round?

Senator KENNEDY . | think the Chairman would like to finish
today, and | think your time has expired.

Senator H IRoNO . So | cannot ask for a third round?

Senator K ENNEDY . | am fine. You can have a third, fourth, fifth
round.

Senator H IRONO . Thank you.

Senator K ENNEDY . But | am not Chairman.

Senator H IRONO . | just have a few more—or | can wait.

Senator K ENNEDY . Okay. Why do we not do that?

Senator H IRoNO . Okay. Thank you.

Senator K ENNEDY . Thank you, Senator.

| think | am next, Mr. Barr. This—we talked about this earlier.
| think we can agree, can we not, that hundreds of thousands, mil-
lions of words have been written speculating about what happened
at the Department of Justice and the FBI in the 2016 election with
respect to the two-party nominees? Can we agree on that?

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator K ENNEDY . Can we agree that the American people have
a right to know what happened at Justice and the FBI?

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator K ENNEDY . Okay. Why do we just not declassify all of the
documents and show them to the American people and let the
American people draw their own conclusions here?

General B ARR. Well, | am not in a position to say because | do
not have access to the documents, and | do not know what it en-
tails.

Senator K ENNEDY . Well, it entails the truth, does it not?

General BARR. Yes, but presumably if they are classified, you
know, there could be collateral consequences. And | am not in a po-
sition to make that judgment.

Senator K ENNEDY . Well, | mean, is your mind open on that, Mr.
Barr, or——

General B ARR. | think, generally——

Senator K ENNEDY . | do not understand why, properly redacted,
those documents have not been shown to the American people.
They are smart enough to figure it out.

General B ARR. | think, ultimately, the best policy is to let the
light shine—if there have been mistakes made, the best policy is
to allow light to shine in and for people to understand what hap-
pened, but sometimes, you know, you have to determine when the
right time to do that is.

Senator K ENNEDY . | understand. | am asking that you seriously
consider that. And | am talking about the investigations with re-
spect to Secretary Clinton and President Trump. Clearly, the FBI
and the Department of Justice, | am not saying that they—either
was imprudent to do so, but we have seen bits and pieces. And
there has been a lot of speculation and innuendo. And people have
drawn conclusions based on incomplete facts. And it would seem to
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me that, if for no other reason but the integrity of the FBI and Jus-
tice Department, both of which | hold in great esteem, we should
redact the portions that would endanger somebody and show the
American people the documents. And | wish you would seriously
consider that.

General B ARR. | will, Senator.

Senator KENNEDY . And |—having watched you here today, |
think you will. I think you will give it serious consideration.

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator K ENNEDY . Let me ask your opinion on something else.
About 10 years ago, we had a problem with our banking system in
America. And we had a lot of bankers who made loans to borrowers
when the bankers and the borrowers knew the money was not
going to be paid back. That is called fraud, and it is illegal. And
then some of those same bankers and other bankers took those gar-
bage loans, and they packaged them together, packaged them to-
gether into security. And they sold them to investors without tell-
ing the investors that the underlying loans were toxic. That is
called securities fraud. And | do not know how many billions of dol-
lars of this bad paper was sold, but | know a lot of people in the
banking industry got rich doing it. And then—and, as a result, the
American economy and almost the world economy almost melted
down.

Now, the Department of Justice prosecuted virtually no one, no
banking executives over this. Why? | realize they made the banks
pay some money, but | saw banking fraud, and | saw securities
fraud. And nobody was prosecuted.

General B ARR. | cannot answer that, Senator, but | can say that
I was in charge of the S&L cleanup. After it was over, it was put
under me in the Deputy’s Office. And——

Senator K ENNEDY . You folks prosecuted people.

General BARR. We prosecuted a lot of people and very quickly,
and we cleaned it up very quickly. My—how many did we get?

Mr. R APHAELSON . Over 900 convictions.

General B ARR. Over 900 convictions in very short order.

Senator K ENNEDY . | do not think we had nine this time. | mean,
what message does that send to the American people?

General B ARR. Well—

Senator K ENNEDY . | mean, | totally think the message it sends
is that the people at the top can cut corners and get away with it.

General B ARR. What | can say, Senator, is, | think my experience
with the S&L shows that | am not afraid of going after fraud——

Senator K ENNEDY . | know that.

General B ARR [continuing]. At the corporate level. And it is one
of the most successful, | think, Government responses to that kind
of whole-sector meltdown that there has been. So | am very proud
of the job that was done by the Department on that.

Senator K ENNEDY . You know, as we say in Louisiana, you were
mean as a mama wasp.

[Laughter.]

Senator KENNEDY . And you did the right thing, but |1 do not
think we did the right thing with the banking meltdown.

Senator Coons.

Senator CooNs. Thank you, Senator Kennedy.
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Thank you, Mr. Barr.

You have declined or, | would say, refused to commit to following
the advice of the career ethics officials at DOJ with regards to
recusal from the ongoing Special Counsel investigation. Will you, at
least, commit to notify this Committee once you receive the ethics
official’s guidance, tell us what it was, and explain whether you
agree or disagree with it?

General B ArRR. To tell you the truth, Senator, | do not know what
the rules are and what the practice is, but, you know, off the top
of my head, | do not think | would have an objection to that.

Senator CooNs. So you would be comfortable letting us know
that you had received an ethics opinion and either declined——

General B ARR. Yes. But | am not sure what the practice and the
rules are. | generally try to follow the rules.

Senator CooNs. You said earlier in this hearing, you have an in-
terest in transparency with regards to the final report of the
Mueller investigation, but | did not hear a concrete commitment
about release. And | think this is a very significant investigation.
And you have been very forthcoming about wanting to protect it.
The DOJ has released information about declination memos, about
descriptions of decisions not to prosecute in the past. | will cite the
Michael Brown case, for example. Would you allow Special Counsel
Mueller to release information about declination memos in the Rus-
sia investigation as he sees fit?

General B ARR. | actually do not think Mueller would do that be-
cause it would be contrary to the regulations, but that is one of the
reasons | want to talk to Mueller and Rosenstein and figure out,
you know, what the lay of the land is. | am trying to——

Senator CooNs. But if appropriate under current regulations,
you would not have any hesitation about saying prosecutorial deci-
sions should be part of that final report?

General BARR. As | said, | want to get out as much as | can
under the regulations.

Senator Coons. You also—

General B ARR. | think it—that is the reason | say it is vitally im-
portant.

Senator Coons. Thank you.

General B ARR. It is related to my feeling that it is really impor-
tant——

Senator Coons. lt is.

General B ARR [continuing]. To, you know, let the chips fall where
they may and get the information out.

Senator CooNs. You also said in response to my first round of
questions that the Special Counsel regulations should not be re-
scinded during this investigation. Just to be clear, you would refuse
to rescind them if the President asked, even if that meant you
would have to resign?

General B ARR. Well, that came up in the context of wanting to
change the rules so Mueller could be fired.

Senator Coons. Right.

General B ARR. That—where there was no good cause.

Senator CooNs. No good cause, correct.

General B ARR. And | said there, yes, | would not agree to that.
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Senator CooNs. There is another ongoing investigation in the
Southern District of New York in which | would argue the Presi-
dent is implicated as “Individual Number 1.” If the President or-
dered you to stop the SDNY investigation in which someone identi-
fied as “Individual 1" is implicated, would you do that?

General B ARR. Well, that goes back to an earlier answer—expla-
nation | gave, which is every decision within the Department has
to be made based on the Attorney General’'s independent conclusion
and assessment that it is in accordance with the law. And so |
would not stop a bona fide lawful investigation.

Senator Coons. So if the President sought to fire prosecutors in
the Southern District of New York to try and end the investigation
into his campaign, would that be a crime? Would that be an unlaw-
ful act?

General B ARR. Well, | mean, that one—usually, firing a person
does not stop the investigation. That is one of the things | have a
little bit of trouble accepting, you know. But to—the basic point is,
if someone tried to stop a bona fide lawful investigation to cover
up wrongdoing, | would resign.

Senator Coons. Deputy Attorney General Rosenstein has said
publicly your memo had no impact on the Special Counsel inves-
tigation. If you are confirmed and you are supervising the Special
Counsel investigation, would you order the Special Counsel’'s Office
to accept and follow the reasoning in your memo?

General B ARR. | would probably talk to Bob, Bob Mueller, about
it. If—you know, if | felt there was a difference of opinion, | would
try to work it out with Bob Mueller. At the end of the day, unless
something violates the established practice of the Department, |
would have no ability to overrule that.

Senator CooNs. You were Attorney General when President
Bush pardoned six administration officials charged with crimes
arising from the Iran—Contra scandal, and you encouraged the
President to issue those pardons. Is it permissible for a President
to pardon a member of his administration in order to prevent testi-
mony about illegal acts?

General B ARR. Is it permissible under what?

Senator Coons. Would it strike you as obstruction of justice for
him to exercise his presidential pardon power for the purpose of
preventing testimony?

General B ARR. Yes. | think that if a pardon was a quid pro quo
to altering testimony, then that would definitely implicate an ob-
struction statute.

Senator CooNs. Would it be permissible for the President to par-
don family members——

General B ARR. Let me just—

Senator CoonNs [continuing]. Simply because they are family
members?

General B ARR. Let me say this. No. | am sorry. Go ahead.

Senator CooNs. Two last questions, and then we will be done. Do
you think it would be permissible for the President to pardon a
family member simply because they are a family member and
where the purpose, the motive, is unclear? And do you think it
would be permissible for a President to pardon himself?
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General B ARR. Yes. So here, the problem is, under the Constitu-
tion, there are powers, but you can abuse a power. So the answer
to your question in my opinion would be yes, he does have the
power to pardon a family member, but he would then have to face
the fact that he could be held accountable for abusing his power
or if it was connected to some act that violates an obstruction stat-
ute, it could be obstruction.

Senator CooNs. How would he be held accountable?

General B ArRR. Well, in the absence of a violation of a statute,
which is—as you know, in order to prosecute someone, they have
to violate a statute. In the absence of that, you know, then he
would be accountable politically.

Senator CooNs. Thank you for your interest today.

Chairman G rRaHAM [presiding]. Senator Blackburn.

Senator B LACKBURN . Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

And, Mr. Barr, thank you for your patience and for staying with
us today.

A couple of questions. We have talked about border security and
immigration law. And that is something that | want to return to.
| appreciated your comments about going after the problem at the
source, and | think that is so vitally important when we talk about
the immigration issues and we look at what has happened when
you are talking about drug traffickers and human traffickers, the
gangs that are coming across that Southern border. And | do think
that a barrier is there. But one of the symptoms, if you will, of an
open-border policy has been the sanctuary city policy. And that per-
tains to those that are illegally in the country. And | tell you what,
it is just absolutely heartbreaking to me every time | meet with an
Angel mom and | hear these stories and then after Officer Singh
was murdered, hearing that law enforcement, local law enforce-
ment, officer talk about, and talk with specificity about, how sanc-
tuary policies emboldened those that were illegally in the country.
And when you look at this practice of sanctuary city, you know, if
we do not do something consistent in this realm, then what is to
say you do not develop sanctuary cities for other violations of the
law, whether it is tax law or environmental protection law or traf-
fickers or any others? So talk to me for just a minute about what
your connection will be between dealing with the sanctuary cities
and then dealing with some of these problems at the source. How
do you—you have talked about compartmentalizing and putting
lieutenants in charge, and this is an issue that affects every single
community because until we stop some of this, we are going to
have every State a border State and every town a border town.

General B ARR. S0, you know, | just think of it, immigration, you
have pull factors and push factors. There are factors down in Latin
America that are pushing people up, and there are attractions to
the United States that are pulling them up. And one of the—you
know, a—I think a pull factor is things like sanctuary cities, the
idea that you can come in and not be—and can get away with flout-
ing our laws in coming in. So | think that is one of the concerns
| have about sanctuary cities.

The second concern | have is that the sanctuary city problem is
a criminal alien problem. | think a lot of people are under the im-
pression that sanctuary cities are there to protect, you know, the
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illegal aliens who are quietly living as productive members of soci-
ety and paying their taxes, as Senator Hirono said. It is not. The
problem with sanctuary cities is that it is preventing the Federal
Government from taking custody of criminal aliens, and it is a de-
liberate policy to frustrate the apprehension of criminal aliens by
the Federal Government. So | do not think those cities should be
getting Federal—

Senator B LACKBURN . Do you think it would be—would it be abid-
ed with any other violation of U.S. law?

General B ARR. No, | do not. And there is a legal issue, which is
the question of, what is the word, commandeering. You know, the
States argue that for their law enforcement officers who have cus-
tody of a criminal alien to notify the Federal Government on a
timely basis, so that they can turn that fugitive essentially over to
the Federal Government, that that is commandeering State appa-
ratus under the Printz case, and, therefore, it is—you know, the
Federal Government should not have that power.

That is the issue. And | personally am very skeptical of the com-
mandeering argument. That was adopted where the Federal Gov-
ernment passed gun control legislation, and basically were ordering
the States to set up the whole background check, and everything
else.

The idea here is simply one law enforcement agency notifying an-
other, and holding the person until they can be picked up. So | am
skeptical that that is commandeering. But that is the legal issue.

Senator BLACKBURN . My time is expiring, and | know we need
to finish this up, but | do look forward to talking with you again
about China——

General B ARR. Uh-huh.

Senator BLACKBURN [continuing]. And the intellectual property
violations. The way they go in and re-engineer, steal from our
innovators, and, of course, the way they are forcing fentanyl, and
illicit drugs——

General B ARR. Uh-huh.

Senator B LACKBURN [continuing]. Through our ports and through
that open southern border that we have to secure.

General B ARR. Uh-huh.

Senator B LACKBURN . Thank you. Yield back.

Chairman G rRaHAM . Senator Blumenthal.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Thanks, Mr. Chairman.

I want to join in thanking you for your patience. | am hoping
that |1 can get through all my questions on this round. | do not
know whether the Chairman will accede to a short third round, but
let me just try as best | can.

On the pardon issue and accountability, you would agree that the
President pardoning someone in return for changing his or her tes-
timony would be an abuse of the pardon power, and the President
should be held accountable.

General BARR. Well, a quid pro quo to change testimony could
potentially be obstruction.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Or for not testifying at all—

General B ARR. Uh-huh.

Senator B LUMENTHAL [continuing]. Would be obstruction of jus-
tice. If the Special Prosecutor or the prosecutor anywhere else came
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to you with proof beyond a reasonable doubt of that kind of ob-
struction, or any other crime, talking proof beyond a reasonable
doubt, would you approve an indictment of the President?

General B ARR. That is the kind of thing | am not—I am not
going to answer off the top of my head. But if we take it out of this
context and say if someone—if someone were—if a prosecutor came
and showed that there was a quid pro quo by which somebody
gives something of value to induce a false testimony or——

Senator B LUMENTHAL . It would be a crime.

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . And the question is whether the President
could be prosecuted while in office. | happen to believe that he
could be, even if the trial were postponed until he is out of office.
But because the statute of limitations might run for any other
number of reasons, a prosecution would be appropriate. Would you
agree?

General B ARR. You know, for 40 years the position of the execu-
tive branch has been, you cannot indict a sitting President.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Well, it is the tradition, based on a couple
of OLC opinions. But now it is potentially an imminent, indeed, im-
mediate possibility, and | am asking you for your opinion now, if
possible, but if not now, perhaps, at some point.

General B ARR. Are you asking me if | would change that policy?

Senator B LUMENTHAL . | am asking you what your view is, right
now.

General B ARR. You know, | actually have not read those opinions
in a long time, but | see no reason to change them.

Senator BLUMENTHAL . Well, | am happy to continue this con-
versation with more time and another opportunity.

General B ARR. Sure.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . | want to ask you about the Southern Dis-
trict of New York, which | believe is as important as the Special
Prosecutor. As | mentioned earlier in my question before, the Presi-
dent has been named there, “Individual Number 1,” as an
unindicted co-conspirator.

If the President fired a United States Attorney, would you sup-
port continuing that investigation, even under the civil servants,
the career prosecutors, who would remain? Assuming it is a legiti-
mate prosecutor.

General B ARR. Yes. And | have tried to say it a number of dif-
ferent ways. | believe, regardless of who or what outside the De-
partment is trying to influence what is going on, every decision
within the Department relating to enforcement, the Attorney Gen-
eral has to determine independently that—that it is a lawful ac-
tion. And if there was a lawful bona fide investigation that some-
one was trying to squelch, | would not tolerate that.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Putting it very simply, you would protect
that investigation against political interference, as hopefully you
would do——

General B ARR. With any investigation in the Department.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Exactly.

Let me move on to something unrelated, if | may. In the early
1990s, thousands of Haitians tried to flee persecution in their own
country by coming to the United States by boat. As you will re-
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member, you oversaw, | believe, a program that sent thousands of
them—some of them were HIV positive——

General B ARR. Uh-huh.

Senator B LUMENTHAL [continuing]. To Guantanamo Bay.

General B ARR. Uh-huh.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . These asylum seekers were kept at Guan-
tanamo Bay for 18 months. A Federal Judge in the Eastern District
of New York described the living conditions in Guantanamo Bay by
saying that asylum seekers were forced to live in camps ‘“sur-
rounded by razor barbed wire,” and compelled to “tie plastic gar-
bage bags to the sides of the building to keep the rain out.”

In an interview in 2001, at the Miller Center, you defended this
program. Do you have regrets about it nhow, and am | correct in
saying that when these asylum seekers first started coming to the
United States, it was your position that they should be kept there
indefinitely?

General B ARR. | really appreciate the opportunity to address this.

So in 1991, Aristide was overthrown in Haiti, and there was sort
of a mass exodus from Haiti. And up until then the policy of the
United States had been forced—until that time, administrations
had forcibly returned Haitian asylum seekers and so forth without
any kind of process.

It was a humanitarian problem, because a lot of these boats were
sinking. It was a 600-mile journey. So the Coast Guard—there
were two different issues. One issue is the processing of those who
are healthy, and the second issue is the HIV.

In a nutshell, the processing we started actually giving them, you
know, abbreviated asylum, hearings, on the ships. Eventually, we
moved some of that to Guantanamo. And we were admitting to the
United States 30 percent, which is the highest it has ever been. |
think before that it was just miniscule. Later, when the Clinton ad-
ministration adopted our policies, it went down to 5 percent, | am
told.

But in any event, then it became so overwhelming that we forc-
ibly repatriated the Haitians, because we felt that most of them,
the conditions were changing. We did not think that there was a
threat in Haiti, and we forcibly—we were just overwhelmed, and
we forcibly sent them back to Haiti.

Meanwhile, HIV was an exclusion. You could not admit anyone
with HIV, and this was adopted by the Senate, and then in the
first year of the Clinton administration, the Clinton administration
signed a bill that kept it as an exclusion, you cannot admit some-
one with HIV, except by case-by-case waiver, based on extreme cir-
cumstance.

So what we did with the HIV people is we first screened them
for asylum, because if they could not claim asylum, then they
would not be admitted, and then we started a case-by-case review.

| started admitting them on a case-by-case basis, where cases
could be made that there was a particular reason for doing it, like
pregnant women, and people who had not yet developed full-blown.

So | think there was a slowing down of the processing, because
people felt that the Clinton administration, which at the time was
attacking these policies, was going to be more liberal. And so peo-
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ple thought, well, why should we go through this process with
Bush, when Clinton’s right around the corner.

Clinton came in, adopted our policies, and defended them in
court, continued forced repatriation, continued the exclusion of
HIV. As part of settling a case, he brought in 200——

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Which did not necessarily make it right.

General B ARR. It was right under the law.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Did you favor keeping those Haitians in
Guantanamo indefinitely?

General B ARR. No.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . And let me ask you——

General B ARR. | think most of the articles at the time said we
were sort of in a Catch 22. We were trying to process the HIV peo-
ple on a case-by-case basis. And, in fact, the lawyers who—we, by
the way, agreed to have lawyers come down and represent these
people in the asylum hearings at Guantanamo.

In the book written by them, they say right at—we were making
progress. It stopped when the Clinton administration was elected.

So we were in this Catch 22 on the HIV, and | had staff mem-
bers go down there to Guantanamo, and they did not report, you
know, inhumane conditions, or anything like that. And that is not
mentioned, | do not think, in the book written by the lawyers who
represented them.

So it was a mass exodus situation, and we did the best we could.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Would you do it again in exactly the same
way, if you had it to do again?

General BARR. | mean, | do not know. It would depend on the
circumstances, and also depend on whether we thought this was
really a case of persecution.

Senator BLUMENTHAL . | ask you this: Would you again house
asylum seekers in Guantanamo?

General B ARR. Well, the Clinton administration did. In fact, they
doubled—they doubled the—and they started putting other nation-
alities in there, too.

Probably not, because of the associations of Guantanamo now.

Senator BLUMENTHAL . Would you segregate asylum seekers in
some other way then?

General B ARR. Well, | think it is always—given the abuses of the
asylum system right now, | would always prefer to process asylum
seekers outside the United States.

Senator BLUMENTHAL . And do you think we should do a better
job with asylum seekers in this country, in terms of the kinds of
facilities that we provide, particularly for women, and children, and
families?

General B ARR. Oh, absolutely. Yes. | think we—if we are going
to detain families, | think those have to be facilities that are safe
and appropriate for young children.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman G rRaHAM . Senator Lee.

Senator L Ee. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

Thanks again, to you, Mr. Barr, for being willing to answer all
these questions today.
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| want to continue on some of the same theme that Mr.
Blumenthal raised a moment ago. He raised a couple of questions
regarding immigration, regarding our asylum process.

I think it is significant to note here that we have some in our
political discourse today who are suggesting that the enforcement
of our immigration laws and the enforcement of our border is some-
how immoral, that it is somehow wrong.

We have had people who, in one of the major political parties,
multiple candidates, be elected, campaigning, among other things,
on either eviscerating ISIS power, or abolishing the agency alto-
gether.

As you noted earlier today, you gave a speech back in 1992, and
you were one of the first people | remember using the metaphor of,
you know, wanting to make sure that our immigrants come to this
country through the front door, and not through the back door, and
not through a side window, or something to that effect.

Can you just sort of describe to us why you think it is important
that we draw a clear moral distinction between the enforcement of
immigration laws, between legal immigration and illegal immigra-
tion?

Is this the functional equivalent, in other words, of the pre-
mature removal of a “Do Not Remove” tag on a mattress, or is it
something more than that?

General B ARR. | think it is something more. | mean, you know,
we have built a great society here in the United States, and a
vast—I forgot what the statistic is, but a very large majority of the
world lives under our poverty level, and for them, even, you know,
being poor in the United States would be a step up.

And we have a lot to be grateful and thankful for here. And if
it was unrestricted, a lot of people would come here, more than we
could possibly accommodate.

Senator L Ee. And who would that harm, first and foremost, if we
allowed that to happen? Would it be the wealthy who would most
immediately be harmed by that?

General B ARR. No, it would not.

Senator L EE. Yes.

General BARR. And so it just seems obvious that you have to
have a system of rationing. You have to have a system that makes
determinations who can come and when, and it is—Congress is in
charge of that. They can make the laws and determine it, and we,
I think, have a very expansive system. There are people waiting in
line for 10, 15—at least there were when | last looked at it, you
know, in the Philippines, for example, for over a decade waiting pa-
tiently, law-abiding people who want to come here and have family
here and other things like that.

And just to allow people to come crashing in, be told that if you
say this you will be treated as an asylum, and then you do not
have to—you do not have to reappear for your hearing or whatever,
it is just an abuse of the system, and it is unfair. | mean, all of
us have been standing in lines, long, long lines, and someone just
walks up to the front. That is unjust. That is unjust.

| also think that without control, you have unsafe conditions and
uncontrolled conditions on the border, which create, you know, seri-
ous safety problems for everybody on both sides of the border. So
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it creates uncontrolled access to the country as a national security
threat. You know, there are people around the world that are com-
ing into Latin America for the purpose of coming up through the

border. So these are—you know, these are the reasons why | think
it is important that we enforce—we have an enforceable system of
laws, which right now, the laws are sorely lacking.

Senator L eEe. Our desire to enforce our border is not unique to
us. In fact, our neighbors on the southern side of our border in
Mexico themselves have pretty strict laws which they enforce. And
our neighbors in Mexico, including the officials in the—in the new
Lopez Obrador administration, with whom | visited recently, are
themselves quite concerned about these uncontrolled waves of mi-
gration from Guatemala, from Honduras, from El Salvador.

It occurs to me, and it has occurred to them, that it is important
for us to figure out ways to turn off the magnets that are bringing
these uncontrolled waves in. If you could wave a magic wand, is
there anything—any change you would make to current asylum
law or policy that you think we ought to consider?

General B ARR. | really could not say off the top of my head. |
think—I had some ideas a while back about—you know, | am talk-
ing decades ago—about how we could change it because this has
always been the problem. But I—you know, | would have to see ex-
actly where the abuses are coming in and how we could deal with
it.

Senator L EE. Mr. Chairman, | have got one more question. Could
|——

Chairman G RAHAM . Sure. Absolutely.

Senator L Ee. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. | want to get back very
briefly to civil asset forfeiture. | referred briefly at the end of our
previous exchange to a process whereby some State law enforce-
ment agencies, seeing that they are prohibited from doing that
which they would like to do under State law, will go to Federal law
enforcement and agree to make the civil asset forfeiture that they
want with Federal such that it is no longer governed by State law.
Sometimes that happens, and the Department of Justice will enter
into an equitable sharing arrangement with that State where the
money is sort of—l do not like to use the word, “laundered,” but
it is filtered through the Federal system deliberately in an effort
to circumvent State law.

Would banning this type of equitable sharing in civil asset for-
feiture be something that you would be willing to do as Attorney
General?

General B ARR. Now, | could not say | am willing to do it now be-
cause | do not know enough about it. You know, | come at this,
number one, that asset forfeiture is an important tool; number two,
that it is important, you know, how we work with our State and
local partners; but number three, as you can tell from my early
statement on this matter, | am sensitive to creating a speed trap
problem and also due process issues where amounts are stolen
that, for all intents and purposes, it would be too costly for some
individuals to go and try to, you know, get back. So | am open to
looking at whether there are abuses, what kind of abuses occur,
and try to redress those.



120

Senator L Ee. Okay. Thank you. And it is my view that, at least,
in that circumstance where it is prohibited by State law, State law
enforcement agencies should not be able to make themselves. They
should not be able to seek the blessing of Government simply by
making it Federal, so | hope you will consider that, and appreciate
your remarks on due process. This really does touch on that, and
it is right at the surface of a whole lot of constitutional rights.
Thank you very much, sir. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman G rRAHAM . Thank you.

Senator Harris.

I am sorry—Booker. | apologize.

Senator BookeR. Gosh. Give a guy a little power as the Chair-
man, and he starts to push you around.

[Laughter.]

Chairman G raHAM . | tell you what——

Senator B 0okER. | thought we were friends.

Chairman G raHAM . He is doing better than | am. | am getting
tired.

Senator B ookER. | thought we were friends.

Chairman G rRAHAM . | apologize. We are friends.

Senator Booker. | am grateful, sir. Let me jump right in. You
wrote an article where you described how the law was being used,
and this was your opinion, and maybe it has changed because this
was over a decade ago, where you said, “the breakdown of tradi-
tional morality by putting on an equal plane conduct that was pre-
viously considered immoral.” And you mentioned the homosexual
movement is what you described as “one of the movements causing
an erosion of morality in America.” | can only gather from this—
the article | am quoting, unless your opinions have changed, that
you believe that gay, bisexual—being gay or bisexual, lesbian, or
transgender is immoral. Have your views changed on that?

General B ARR. No, but | do not think | said—I think you were
paraphrasing there. What did | say about the homosexual——

Senator B ookeRr. | will put in the record the——

General B ARR. Okay.

Senator B ooker [continuing]. The article that you—and, again,
I am quoting your actual language.

[The information appears as a submission for the record.]

General B ArRR. But | will tell you—I will tell you my views. If |
had been voting on it at the time, —my view is that under the law
and the Constitution as | originally conceived it before it was de-
cided by the Supreme Court, marriage was to be regulated by the
States. And if | were—and if it was brought to me, | would have
favored marital unions—single sex.

Senator BookeR. | guess | am more asking do you still believe
that homosexuality is a—is a movement or that——

General B ARR. Well—

Senator B ookeR [continuing]. That somehow that is immoral be-
havior.

General B ARR. What | was getting at is, | think there has to be
a live and let—in a pluralistic society like ours, there has to be a
live and let live attitude and mutual tolerance, which has to be a
two-way street. And my concern, and the rest of the article ad-
dresses this, is, | am perfectly fine with the law as it is, for exam-
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ple, with gay marriage—perfectly fine—but | want accommodation
to religion. And what | was concerned about——

Senator B ooKER. But, | guess that is not my concern. We live in
a country right now where, especially LGBTQ youth are dispropor-
tionately bullied at school.

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator B 0oKER. Many of them.

General B ARR. Hate crimes.

Senator B 0OKER. Hate crimes, serious hate crimes. Many of them
are missing school because of fear, disproportionately homeless.
And | guess what | am more concerned about is do you believe that
laws designed to protect LGBTQ individuals from discrimination
contribute to what you had described as a breakdown in traditional
morality.

General B ARR. No.

Senator B 0OOKER. You do not.

General B ARR. No.

Senator B ooker. Okay. Since——

General B ARR. But | would like to say what—I also believe there
has to be accommodation to religious communities.

Senator BookeR. You and | both believe in freedom of religion.
| guess what | am talking about, again, is discrimination. And |
know you believe—I know you believe—you do not need to say it
for me that you believe that firing somebody simply because they
are gay is wrong.

General B ARR. Totally wrong.

Senator BookeR. | understand that you believe that, but do you
believe the right to not be fired just because of your sexual orienta-
tion should be something that should be protected under civil
rights law?

General B ArRR. | am sorry. Your right not to be fired?

Senator B ooKER. Sir, right now——

General B ARR. In other words, are you saying that it should be
part of—part of Title VII?

Senator Booker. | am saying that right now in the United
States of America in the majority of our States, someone can be
fired. They can post their wedding pictures on their Facebook page
and be fired the next day just because they are gay.

General B ARR. | think that is wrong.

Senator B 0oKER. You think that is wrong.

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator Booker. And so you would believe that efforts by the
Department of Justice to protect LGBT kids or individuals from
harassment from hate crimes and efforts to protect the civil rights
of LGBTQ Americans——

General B ARR. | support that.

Senator B 0OKER. You support that. Okay.

General B ARR. That is what | said in the beginning. | am very
concerned about the increase in hate crime.

Senator Booker. Oh, | was really happy about that. You said
you recognize that violence based on sexual orientation is not ac-
ceptable and that you will work to combat that. | was really happy
to read that in your written testimony and hear it again. Will you
recognize, then, that there is a place for the Department of Justice,
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which is supposed to protect the civil rights of Americans, vulner-
able communities, that there is a place for the Department of Jus-
tice to protect the civil rights of LGBT Americans by banning dis-
crimination based on sexual orientation or gender identity?

General BARR. If Congress passes such a law, I—you know, |
think the litigation going on now on Title VIl is what the 1964 Act
actually contemplated. But personally, | think—

Senator BoOoOKER. So you—I| am sorry. You do believe the 1964
Act contemplated protecting individuals from having—being dis-
criminated upon——

General B ARR. No, no, no, | think it was male/female that they
were talking about when they mentioned sex in the 1964 Act.

Senator BOOKER. So protecting someone’s basic rights to be free
from discrimination because of sexual harassment is not something
that the Department of Justice should be protecting.

General BARR. No. | am saying Congress passes the law. The
Justice Department enforces the law. | think the 1964 Act, on its
face, and this is what is being litigated, what does it cover? | think,
for, like, 3 or 4 decades the LGBT community was trying to amend
the law.

Senator B ookeR. But the Obama administration—as you know,
the Justice Department under the Obama administration was
working to protect LGBTQ kids from discrimination. Are those
practices that you would be pursuing as well?

General B ARR. | do not—I do not know what you are referring
to. You know, | am against discrimination against anyone because
of some status, like, you know, their gender or their——

Senator B ookeRr. | understand. Really briefly——

General B ARR [continuing]. Sexual orientation or whatever.

Senator BookeR. Thank you. With the indulgence of the Chair,
just very briefly, the Department of Justice reversed the Federal
Government’s position in  Veasey v. Perry after arguing that—for al-
most 6 years, that the Texas voter ID law intentionally discrimi-
nated against minorities. Even the Fifth Circuit of Appeal, one of
the more conservative Circuits, ruled that the Texas law discrimi-
nated against minority voters. You said very strongly that voting—
the right to vote is paramount.

General B ARR. Mm-hmm.

Senator Booker. And | am wondering if confirmed, will you
bring the Department of Justice back on—into the mode of defend-
ing the right to vote because they have now pulled out of a lot of
cases that were—that were affirming people’s access for the right
to vote.

General B ARR. | will vigorously enforce the Voting Rights Act.

Senator B ooker. Okay. And then | will just say—Mr. Chairman,
| just want to say to you, please, | hope we get a chance to talk
more. | imagine this is our second round, and | am grateful for you
today answering my questions. Thank you, sir.

Chairman G rAaHAM . Now, Senator Harris.

Senator H ARRIS. Thank you. Sir, you were the Attorney General,
obviously under President H.W. Bush, and in the Reagan White
House, a senior policy advisor, so | am going to assume that you
are familiar with the Presidential Records Act. And my question is,
in the context of a Washington Post report that the President took
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possession of an interpreter's notes documenting the President’s
meeting with the Russian President Putin in 2017. And the ques-
tion then is, does that violate the Presidential Records Act?

General B ArRR. Your initial assumption, | am afraid, was wrong.
| do not—I am not familiar with that Act.

Senator H ARRIS. You are not familiar at all with it?

General B ARR. At some—at some time | was, but |—it is—you
know, | really do not know what it says.

Senator H ARRIS. You do not what it says?

General B ARR. No.

Senator H ARRIS. Okay.

General B ARR. At some time—at some point | was——

Senator H ARRIS. It requires the President to keep—to keep docu-
ments and not destroy them, essentially.

General B ARR. Okay. At one point | knew what it said, but | am
not familiar with it right now.

Senator H ARRIS. Okay. In December, a Texas Judge struck down
the Affordable Care Act. If the decision is upheld, the results could
include an estimated 17 million Americans losing their health in-
surance in the first year alone. Protections for pre-existing condi-
tions would be eliminated, and seniors would pay more for pre-
scription drugs. And some adults would no longer be able to stay
on their parents’ insurance plans until the age of 26.

Attorney General Sessions refused to defend the Affordable Care
Act in court. As you know, when there is a change of Attorney Gen-
eral in the Justice Department, there is often a change of priorities
from the previous AG. So in the context of also understanding that
many lawyers, including conservative legal scholars, have criticized
the Texas decision, including Philip Klein of the Washington Exam-
iner, would you reverse the Justice Department’s position and de-
fend the Affordable Care Act in court?

General BARR. That is a case that I, if | am confirmed, would
want——

Senator H ARRIS. If confirmed.

General B ARR. If | am confirmed, | would like to review the De-
partment’s position on that case.

Senator H ARRIS. Are you open to reconsidering the position?

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator H ARRIS. Attorney General Sessions also issued a memo
limiting the use of consent decrees. This came up earlier in your
hearing. And the limitation was on the use of consent decrees be-
tween the Justice Department and local governments. | am asking
then, within your first 90 days, will you commit to—if confirmed—
providing this Committee with a list of all consent decrees that
have been withdrawn since Attorney General Sessions issued that
policy? We would like some transparency and information about
what consent decrees have been withdrawn during the Sessions’
administration of the Justice Department. Would you commit to
doing that?

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator H ArRIS. And if confirmed, will you commit to providing
this Committee with a list of any consent decrees that you with-
draw during your tenure?

General B ARR. Through the tenure?
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Senator H ARRIS. Yes.

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator H ARRIS. And if confirmed, within 90 days of your con-
firmation, will you commit to convening civil rights groups to listen
to their concerns about this policy in the Department of Justice?

General B ARR. | will—I am very happy to convene that group.
Senator H ARRIS. | am going to interpret that as a commitment
that you will.

General B ARR. | am not—I| am not sure about 90 days. Give me
120.

Senator H ARRIS. Okay.

[Laughter.]

Senator H ARRIS. That is fine. That is the agreement then, within
120 days. That is terrific. And then the Voting Rights Act, you are
familiar, of course, with that, | am going to assume, yes?

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator H ArRIS. Okay. And under the Act, the record of discrimi-
natory voting practices, those States that have a record of such
practices, had to obtain Federal approval in order to change their
voting laws, as you know.

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator H ARRIS. And then came the 2013 Shelby decision where
the Court, by a 5-to—4 vote, pretty much gutted the Act, ending the
Federal pre-approval requirement. So, within weeks of that ruling,
you are probably aware that legislators in North Carolina rushed
through a laundry list of voting requirements. A Federal Appeals
Court later held those North Carolina laws to be intentionally dis-
criminatory against African-American voters, targeting them,
quote, “with almost surgical precision.” Do you believe there are
currently laws on the books that target African Americans or have
the effect of discouraging African Americans from voting in our
country?

General B ARR. Well, it sounds like those laws do.

Senator H ARRIS. Sure. Do you have any concern about that there
may be other laws that have the same——

General B ARR. | would be concerned if there are other laws, and
that is why | would vigorously enforce Section 2 of the Voting
Rights Act.

Senator H ArRRIS. And would you make it then part of your mis-
sion to also, in spite of the fact that the Voting Rights Act has been
gutted, to make it your mission to also become aware of any dis-
criminatory laws in any of the States, including those that were
covered by the Voting Rights Act because of their history of dis-
crimination and use the resources of the Department of Justice to
ensure that there is not voter suppression happening in our coun-
try?

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator H ARRIS. Thank you. My time is up. | appreciate it.

Chairman G raHAM . That was very efficient.

| think that is the end of the two rounds that | promised the
Committee we would do.

| think, Senator Hirono, you have a few more questions. Is that
correct?
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Senator H IRONO . Yes, thank you very much, and | thank Senator
Kennedy, as he was sitting in the Chair, to give me permission to
go a little bit further, so | will be as brief as | can.

Last year, the Justice Department in  Zarda v. Altitude Express—
it was a Second Circuit case—argued that Title VII—it filed an
amicus brief and argued that Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of
1964 did not prohibit discrimination on employment on the basis
of sexual orientation. So both the Second and the Seventh Circuits
have rejected the Department's argument. So if confirmed, would
you appeal this decision to the Supreme Court?

General B ARR. | think it is going up to the Supreme Court.

Senator H IRONO. So is DOJ going to continue to argue that Title
VII does not protect discrimination, employment discrimination?

General B ARR. You know, it is pending litigation, and | have not
gotten in to review the Department's litigation position. But the
matter will be decided by the Supreme Court.

Senator H IrRoNO . Well, | take it that—that sounds like a “yes” to
me, that the Department will continue to push the argument that
has been rejected.

General B ARR. Well, it is not just the Department’s argument. It
has been—it is sort of common understanding for almost 40 years.

Senator HIRoNO. So, employment discrimination on the basis of
sex is something that it would be okay by you if that——

General B ARR. No, that is not at all what | am saying. | am say-
ing the question is the interpretation of a statute passed in 1964.
As | have already said, | personally, as a matter of, you know, my
own personal feelings, think that there should be laws that prohibit
discrimination against gay people.

Senator HIRONO. So perhaps, should you be confirmed, you will
review the Department’s position on making the argument, con-
tinuing to put forth the argument that Title VII does not prohibit
employment discrimination. Would you review——

General B ARR. No, because there is a difference between law and
policy. The question in law is what was—I will enforce the laws as
passed by Congress. | am not going to amend them. | am not going
to undercut them. | am not going to try to work my way around
them and evade them.

Senator H IroNnO . Well, the DOJ also does not have to file an ami-
cus brief either.

Let me move on. Recently, The New York Times reported that
the Department of Health and Human Services wanted to redefine
gender for Federal anti-discrimination law such as Title IX—so
now we are talking about Title IX—as being determined by the bio-
logical features one has at birth. So do you believe that
transgender people are protected from discrimination by Title 1X?

General B ARR. | think that matter is being litigated in the Su-
preme Court, too.

Senator H IRoNO . Do you know what the Justice Department’s po-
sition is on whether—well, if they are going to go along with what
the Health and Human Services Department wants, then the Jus-
tice Department’s position is that Title IX does not protect discrimi-
nation on the basis of transgender——

General B ARR. | do not know what the position——
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Senator HIRoNO. This is probably another one that | would ask
you to review.

General B ArRR. Okay.

Senator HIRONO. Last questions. You have been asked this al-
ready, but after the Shelby County v. Holder decision, there were
some 13 States that passed various kinds of laws that one could—
that the argument could be made that they were intended to sup-
press voters. In fact, some of them were intentionally intended, not
just the effect of discriminating against basically minority voters.
So you did say that you would vigorously enforce the Voting Rights
Act, so that is good.

The Washington Post reported last week that officials in North
Carolina reported strong allegations of election fraud related to ab-
sentee ballot tampering to the U.S. DOJ. We are talking about
election fraud, not voter fraud. But the Justice Department did not
appear to take any action, and now that congressional race is still
being decided. But one thing the Department of Justice did manage
to do in North Carolina was to request that North Carolina turn
over millions of voting records to Immigration and Customs En-
forcement, ICE, apparently as part of a needle-in-the-haystack ef-
fort to prosecute voting by non-citizens.

If confirmed, will you continue to put resources into this kind of
effort to prosecute voting by non-citizens, which the evidence is
very clear that there is not this kind of voter fraud going on in
spite of the fact that the President said there were some, | do not
know, 3 million people who were not supposed to vote voting? So
would you continue to expend resources on requiring turning over
of millions of voter records to be turned over to ICE?

General B ARrR. Well, | do not know what the predicate for looking
into that is.

Senator HIRONO. It was to get at voter fraud, which, according
to the President, is going on in a massive way, which it is not.

General B ARrR. Well, yes, but the predicate, | do not know what
information triggered that review, but, you know, when | go into
the Department, | will be able to discern whether or not that is a
bona fide investigation, and if it is, | am not going to stop it.

Senator H IRoNO. What if the trigger was that there is massive
voter fraud going on, which is not the factual—it is not a factual
basis. | would hope that as Attorney General you would make deci-
sions based on facts, not on some kind of ideological need to go
after people. So that is all | am asking. | would just ask you to——

General B ARR. You are right, |——

Senator H IRONO [continuing]. Make that the predicates are based
on some factual basis so that we are not wasting short resources
to go after fraud that is not even—there are plenty of other things
that you could be doing to make sure that people are able to vote.

General B ARR. Right.

Senator H IRoNO . Thank you.

Chairman G raHAM . Okay. Can you make it a few more minutes?

General B ARR. Sure.

Chairman G raHAM . Okay. | know comfort breaks are necessary.
So what | would like to do, Senator Kennedy has one question—
right? Senator Blumenthal has a couple. Then we are going to
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wrap it up. If you had 10 minutes to live, you would want to live
in this Committee.

[Laughter.]

Chairman G raHAM . SO0 10 minutes is a long time. Senator Ken-
nedy.

Senator K ENNEDY . General, | am still confused about one point.
Let us assume that Mr. Mueller at some point, hopefully soon,
writes a report and that report will be given to you. What happens
next under the protocol, rules, and regulations at Justice?

General B ARR. Well, under the current rules, that report is sup-
posed to be confidential and treated as, you know, the prosecution
and declination documents in an ordinary criminal—any other
criminal case. And then the Attorney General, as | understand the
rules, would report to Congress about the conclusion of the inves-
tigation, and | believe there may be discretion there about what
the Attorney General can put in that report.

Senator K ENNEDY . So you would make a report to Congress?

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator K ENNEDY . Based on the report you have received?

General B ARR. Yes.

Senator K ENNEDY . Okay. Thank you.

Chairman G raHam . All right. A couple questions by Senator
Blumenthal, and we are going to wrap it up.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Thank you for your patience and your per-
severance, and | appreciate, let me say, your willingness to come
meet with me, and so | am going to cut short some of my questions.
And, also, | hope that you will come back regularly to the Com-
mittee. Obviously, the Chairman is the one who determines when
and whether we have witnesses, but the frequency——

Chairman G rRAHAM . He comes every 30 years——

[Laughter.]

General B ARR. Twenty-seven.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Twenty-seven. You were asked by Senator
Leahy about your statement that the Uranium One deal was more
deserving of investigation than collusion with Russia. You an-
swered that you were not specifically referring to the—referencing
the Uranium One deal, but just generally referring to matters the
U.S. Attorney might be investigating.

General BARR. | cannot remember the exact context of that.
There was a series of questions a reporter was asking, and then
the article sort of put them in a sequence that, you know, did not
necessarily show my thoughts.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Well, The New York Times just published,
in a Tweet, the email that you sent them, and you did reference
Uranium One specifically.

General B ArRR. Okay.

Senator BLUMENTHAL . | will ask that it be made part of the
record.

Chairman G raHAM . Without objection.

[The information appears as a submission for the record.]

General B ARR. So what did | say?

Senator BLUMENTHAL . The Tweet from Peter Baker of The New
York Times says, “Questions have been raised about what Bill Barr
told us for a story in 2017. Here is his full email from then, re-
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sponding to our request for comment. We are grateful he replied
and hope this clarifies any confusion.” And the email from you
says—and | will take the relevant part of the sentence—"l have
long believed that the predicate for investigating the uranium deal,
as well as the foundation, is far stronger than any basis for inves-
tigating so-called collusion.”

General B ARR. And what came before that?

Senator B LUMENTHAL . | will read the full email, with the permis-
sion of the Chairman.

Chairman G rRaHAM . Yes, please.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . “Peter, got your text. There is nothing in-
herently wrong about a President calling for an investigation. Al-
though an investigation should not be launched just because a
President wants it, the ultimate question is whether the matter
warrants investigation, and | have long believed that the predicate
for investigating the Uranium deal as well as the foundation is far
stronger than any basis for investigating so-called collusion. Like-
wise, the basis for investigating various national security activities
carried out during the election, as Senator Grassley has been at-
tempting to do. To the extent it is not pursuing these matters, the
Department is abdicating its responsibility.” Signed, “Bill Barr.”

General B ARR. Right. So the abdicating responsibility, | was ac-
tually talking about the national security stuff, and that was my
primary concern. You know, the Uranium One deal, the sort of pay-
for-play thing, | think at that point—I may be wrong on this, but
| think it was included in Huber’'s portfolio to review, suggesting
that there was something to look at there. But the point | was real-
ly trying to get at was that there was a feeling, | think, a strong
feeling among many people that it appeared, at least, on the out-
side, that there were double standards being applied. And |
thought it was important that the same standard for investigation
between used for all matters. But | have no, you know, specific in-
formation about Uranium One that would say that it has not been
handled appropriately.

Senator BLUMENTHAL . Well, that is really my question. What
was the factual basis for your saying that the Uranium One deal
was more deserving of investigation than Russian collusion, given
what you have——

General B ARR. | think the——

Senator B LUMENTHAL [continuing]. Very articulately described as
the potential threat to the national security of the United States
from Russian interference in our election?

General B ARR. Yes, | think at that time there was a lot of arti-
cles appearing about it. | think maybe Congressman Goodlatte had
written a letter about it. So there was smoke around the issue, as
there has been smoke around a number of issues that have been
investigated. But | was using it really as an example of the kinds
of things that were floating around that some people felt has to be
looked at as well.

Senator BLUMENTHAL . So the factual basis was whatever that
smoke was——

General B ARR. Well, the public information that a lot of opinions
are being formed.
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Senator BLUMENTHAL . And how about as to the foundation?
What was the basis of your claim that the foundation was more de-
serving of investigation than Russian collusion?

General B ARrR. Well, the foundation—I did not necessarily think
the foundation was—should be criminally investigated, but |
thought——

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Well, you did say that in the email.

General B ARR. | did? Criminally?

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Well, let me read that part of the sentence
again: “I have long believed that the predicate for investigating the
Uranium deal as well as the foundation is far stronger than any
basis for investigating so-called collusion.” You were referring to
the criminal investigation, as | read it.

General BARR. Yes. Well, the foundation | always wondered
about—it was the kind of thing that | think should have been
looked at from a tax standpoint and whether it was complying with
the foundation rules the way a corporate foundation is. And |
thought there were some things there that, you know, merited
some attention. But | was not thinking of it in terms of a criminal
investigation of the foundation.

| would like to—you know, Attorney General Mukasey said some-
thing that | agree with. He said, “It would be like a banana repub-
lic putting political opponents in jail for offenses committed in a po-
litical setting. Even if they are criminal offenses, it is something we
just do not do here.” And one of my concerns, frankly, is, you know,
politics degenerating into, you know, this kind of thing about
should we investigate this, investigate that, about political oppo-
nents, and that concerns me. So, that is why | said | think in, if
not that, some other article, I do not subscribe to this “Lock her
up” stuff.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . But a political or public official, even the
President of the United States, has to be held accountable. No one
is above the law.

General B ARR. Oh, yes, absolutely.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . And just one more question. You referred
earlier in response to a question from Senator Feinstein about the
emoluments issue, and | ask this question in the interest of full
disclosure. | will tell you that | am the lead plaintiff in a litigation
called Blumenthal, Nadler v. Trump that raises the issue of emolu-
ments and the payments and benefits that have been going to the
President of the United States without the consent of Congress in
violation of the chief anti-corruption clause in United States law,
the Emoluments Clause of the United States Constitution. So we
claim.

You said that your understanding of emoluments was that it
was—that it pertained only to stipends.

General B ARR. No—well, first—

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Maybe——

General B ARR. | have not looked at that clause, you know, | have
not researched it, and | have not even looked up the word, “emolu-
ment.” But all | said is just colloquially, off the top of my head,
that is what | always thought the word meant.

Senator BLUMENTHAL . So you are not necessarily disputing the
conclusion of at least one District Court, perhaps others, that
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emoluments relates to payments and benefits much broader than
just a stipend. You were speaking only of your colloquial under-
standing.

General B ARR. Yes. | mean, my colloquial understanding is that
emoluments does not refer to exchange of services and stuff like
that.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Which is not——

General B ARR. Commercial transactions.

Senator BLUMENTHAL . Which is not necessarily the under-
standing of the Founders and Framers of the Constitution.

General B ARR. We will see.

[Laughter.]

Chairman G raHAM . Well, that is a good way to end. We will see.
Thank you, Senator Blumenthal.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Thank you.

Chairman G rAHAM . Thank you, Mr. Barr, to your family. Thank
you. You should be proud. This was a very thorough examination
of a very important position in our Government. If confirmed, you
will be the chief protector of the rule of law, and | really appreciate
your time, attention, and your patience.

Any further questions can be submitted for the record by Janu-
ary the 21st. This hearing is adjourned, to be reconvened tomorrow
at 9:30. Thank you.

[Whereupon, at 6:12 p.m., the Committee was recessed, to recon-
vene at 9:30 a.m., Wednesday, January 16, 2019.]

[Additional material submitted for the record for Day 1 follows
Day 2 of the hearing.]



CONTINUATION OF THE CONFIRMATION
HEARING ON THE NOMINATION OF
HON. WILLIAM PELHAM BARR TO BE
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF THE UNITED STATES

WEDNESDAY, JANUARY 16, 2019

UNITED STATES SENATE ,
COMMITTEE ON THE JUDICIARY ,
Washington, DC.

The Committee met, pursuant to notice, at 9:32 a.m., in Room
SH-216, Hart Senate Office Building, Hon. Lindsey O. Graham,
Chairman of the Committee, presiding.

Present: Senators Graham [presiding], Grassley, Cornyn, Cruz,
Sasse, Hawley, Tillis, Ernst, Kennedy, Blackburn, Feinstein, Dur-
bin, Whitehouse, Klobuchar, Coons, Blumenthal, Hirono, Booker,
and Harris.

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. LINDSEY O. GRAHAM,
A U.S. SENATOR FROM THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

Chairman G rRaHAM . Good morning, everyone. To our witnesses,
thank you very much for sharing your testimony with the Com-
mittee.

We have nine very distinguished people. If you could keep it to
5 minutes, we appreciate it. We have your written testimony, and
we will certainly look at all of it.

Senator Feinstein, thank you. Yesterday, | thought it was a very
good hearing, asked a lot of good, tough questions that were appro-
priate. Nominating an Attorney General is no small matter, and |
thought the Committee acquitted itself well. And Mr. Barr, | think,
is a unique individual, and | am glad the President nhominated him.

Today, the purpose is to hear from people that have concerns and
support, and we are honored that you showed up. If you do not
mind, | will mention who is here, then turn it over to you. Is that
okay?

Senator FEINSTEIN . That is okay.

Chairman G rRaHAM . Thank you.

Our first witness will be the Honorable Michael Mukasey, former
United States Attorney, former U.S. District Judge, and former ev-
erything. Yes.

Mr. Derrick Johnson, president and chief executive officer of the
National Association for the Advancement of Colored People from
Baltimore. Welcome.

The Honorable Larry Thompson, former United States Deputy
Attorney General. Welcome, Larry. Good to see you.
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The Honorable Marc Morial. Is that right, sir? Morial. Sorry.
President and chief executive officer of the National Urban League.

Mrs. Mary Kate Cary, former speechwriter for President George
H.W. Bush and a senior fellow at the Miller Center, University of
Virginia.

Professor Neil Kinkopf, professor of law, Georgia State Univer-
sity College of Law, Atlanta, Georgia.

Professor Jonathan Turley, TV star, smart guy. That is enough.

Reverend Sharon Washington Risher from Charleston, South
Carolina, Mother Emanuel. God bless you. Thank you for coming.

Mr. Chuck Canterbury, the national president, Fraternal Order
of the Police.

And | will now turn it over to Senator Feinstein.

OPENING STATEMENT OF HON. DIANNE FEINSTEIN,
A U.S. SENATOR FROM THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Senator FEINSTEIN . Thanks very much, Mr. Chairman, and |
very much enjoyed your leadership yesterday and look forward to
it in the future.

Chairman G rRAHAM . Thank you. Thank you.

Senator FEINSTEIN . So thank you.

I would just like to take a moment to thank our panelists today
and just a few comments, if | may, on the discussion that we had
yesterday.

Yesterday, many of us from, | think, both sides of the aisle asked
Mr. Barr about his legal memo, and that was allowing the Special
Counsel to complete his work unimpeded and making the report at
the end of the investigation public. His answers were good. He
clearly understands the need for independence and the importance
of protecting the Department, as well as Mr. Mueller, from political
interference.

| was concerned by his equivocation regarding the report at the
end of the Special Counsel’'s investigation. Mr. Barr was clear that
he would notify Congress if he disagrees with Mr. Mueller, which
| am grateful for. But his answers on providing a report to Con-
gress at the end of the Special Counsel’s investigation were con-
fusing.

When | first asked him about the report, he said he would make
it available. However, it seemed to me that as the day progressed,
he referenced writing his own report and treating the Mueller re-
port as confidential. | am going to follow up with him in writing
on this. | think it is essential that Congress and the American peo-
ple know what is in the Mueller report.

| first met Bob Mueller when he was U.S. Attorney and | was
mayor in San Francisco, and | know his reputation, | know his in-
tegrity. And this is a big report, and the public needs to see it. And
with exception of very real national security concerns, | do not even
believe there should be very much redaction.

So | am hopeful that that report will be made public, and my
vote depends on that, Mr. Chairman, because an Attorney General
must understand the importance of this to the Nation as a whole,
to us as a Congress, as well as to every American.

| also plan to follow up on questions that Senator Blumenthal
asked about Roe and whether he would defend Roe if it were chal-
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lenged. This has always been a critically important issue for me
and, | believe, the majority of American women, and | very much
regret that | did not get to ask follow-up questions.

Mr. Barr's nomination comes at a time when we are very divided
on many issues, ranging from immigration and civil rights enforce-
ment to the very independence of the Justice Department, and the
witnesses today are going to speak to those key issues. For exam-
ple, Professor Kinkopf from Georgia University served in the Jus-
tice Department’s Office of Legal Counsel, and he can speak today
about issues he is focused on, primarily presidential authority, as
| understand it, and separation of powers.

Sharon Risher is an ordained pastor who lost her mother and
cousins to gun violence in the horrific hate crime that took place
at Emanuel AME Church in Charleston, South Carolina, and can
speak to the importance of enforcing common sense gun laws.

We will also hear from two prominent leaders of the civil rights
community who could speak to the impact of the Justice Depart-
ment's policies under President Trump. Mr. Marc Morial—Where
are you, Marc?—whose sister has been a colleague of ours, and it
is great to see you, the president and chief executive officer of the
National Urban League now. And Mr. Derrick Johnson, the presi-
dent of the NAACP.

So, on behalf of this side, | welcome everyone here.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman G raHAM . Thank you, Senator Feinstein.

If it is okay, lead us off. Oh, sorry. Got to swear you in first.

Would you please stand? All of you. Raise your right hand.

Do you solemnly affirm that the testimony you are about to give
this Committee is the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the
truth, so help you God?

[Witnesses are sworn in.]

Chairman G raHAM . All right, General Mukasey.

HON. MICHAEL B. MUKASEY, FORMER UNITED STATES ATTOR-
NEY GENERAL; FORMER U.S. DISTRICT JUDGE FOR THE
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK; AND OF COUNSEL,
DEBEVOISE & PLIMPTON LLP, NEW YORK, NEW YORK

Judge M ukasey . Thank you.

Good morning. Mr. Chairman, Ranking Member Feinstein, Mem-
bers of the Committee, it is a tremendous honor as well as a great
pleasure to be here to testify on behalf of Bill Barr to serve as At-
torney General.

I do not know of any nominee who has had his background and
his credentials for this job. Obviously, the job is about a lot more
than credentials, but he has done literally everything that you
could possibly do, including serving as Attorney General, to prepare
him.

Now, obviously, the Department of Justice is a different place
today from the time that he served. It is different from the time
that | served. But he is obviously well equipped to deal with what-
ever problems he faces.

He was with the CIA. He headed the Office of Legal Counsel,
which is, | think, the office that attracts, along with the Solicitor
General's Office, the best legal minds in the Department. He head-
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ed that office. He was Deputy Attorney General. So he knows how
the Department runs. And, of course, he was Attorney General. It

is impossible to improve on that. Not only what he did, but the way

he did it.

When he was Acting Attorney General, he supervised the libera-
tion of hostages at a Federal prison in a way that prevented any
casualties, and then follow that up by not taking any public credit
for it. That is the kind of person he is, and that is the kind of judg-
ment he has.

And as far as pressure from the White House, he was asked at
one point whether he could come up with a theory to justify the
line-item veto. And he did a lot of research and found that, well,
there was no precedent in our law. There was something that
might be called common law, going back to about the 15th century.

He said there was a Scottish king who had done something that
looked like a line-item veto. But, of course, that Scottish king, as
it turned out, was suffering from syphilis and was quite out of his
mind. And so you would have to call that the syphilitic prerogative
if you did it, Mr. President. And so the President decided not to as-
sert the power.

That is the kind of judgment he has. That is the kind of—

Chairman G rRAHAM . You learn a lot on this Committee.

Judge MUKASEY . Yes, it was a revelation to me, too. It is a ter-
rific story. But it illustrates what he is like. He does not—he is not
intimidated by questions or by the source of them.

When |—a couple of months ago, when General Sessions was
leaving, | thought to write an article pointing out all the good
things that he had done. And | called up Bill Barr to ask whether
he would join in that article. He did not hesitate for a nanosecond.
He said he would.

He said it was the right thing to do, it was the correct thing to
do, and he was glad he had done it. And that, | think, tells you
in substance what it is this person is about. He is an honorable,
decent, smart man, and | think he will make a superb Attorney
General.

Thank you very much.

[The prepared statement of Judge Mukasey appears as a submis-
sion for the record.]

Chairman G RAHAM . Mr. Johnson.

DERRICK JOHNSON, PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFI-
CER, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION FOR THE ADVANCEMENT OF
COLORED PEOPLE, BALTIMORE, MARYLAND

Mr. J oHNsON. Good morning, Chairman Graham and—is that
better? Great.

Thank you for allowing me to testify on the nomination of Wil-
liam Barr to be Attorney General of the United States.

My name is Derrick Johnson, and since October 2017, | have had
the honor of serving as the president/CEO of the NAACP. Founded
in 1909, the NAACP is our Nation’s oldest, largest, and most wide-
ly recognized civil rights organization. The NAACP opposes Mr.
Barr's nomination, and | urge every Member of this Committee to
vote against his confirmation.
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The Senate considers this nomination in extraordinary times.
Under the Trump administration, we have experienced the worst
erosion in civil rights in modern history. We have seen reversals
and rollbacks of longstanding policies and positions that have en-
joyed bipartisan support from their creation. We have seen an un-
dermining of both substantive protections and the tools necessary
for civil rights enforcement, such as the disparate impact method
for proving discrimination and the use of consent decrees to ad-
dress abuse by police agencies.

The next Attorney General of our United States has the oppor-
tunity to reverse course and place the Justice Department back on
the track to fulfill its historic role of safeguarding our civil and con-
stitutional rights. The Senate must seize this second chance for jus-
tice and insist upon an Attorney General capable of independence
and willing to enforce our Nation’s civil rights laws with vigor and
resolve.

After a thorough evaluation and review of the record, William
Barr is not that candidate. Mr. Barr's record demonstrates a lack
of strong commitment to protecting the civil and human rights of
all Americans. The community served and represented by the
NAACP will have a difficult time placing our trust in the Justice
Department and, by extension, the American criminal justice sys-
tem overall, even with the improvements just signed into law with
the First Step Act.

The Justice Department’s enforcement of our voting rights laws
is of paramount importance. But the current Department has jetti-
soned protections for the right to vote. It has reversed positions in
lawsuits to support voter suppression measures and to purge voters
from the rolls.

Because Shelby County v. Holder eliminated said guards under
Section 5 of the Voting Rights Act, litigation under Section 2 of the
Act is all more important. But the Justice Department has filed no
Section 2 claims since this administration has been in place.

As the Nation experienced rampant voter suppression throughout
the 2018 mid-term elections, the Justice Department stood silently
as communities of color across the Nation were denied access to the
polls. At a time when the Justice Department has abandoned vot-
ing rights protections, the need for Federal enforcement has never
been greater.

The U.S. Commission on Civil Rights recently reported that voter
suppression is at an all-time high and unanimously called on the
Department to pursue more voting rights enforcement in order to
address aggressive efforts by State and local officials to suppress
the vote.

Mr. Barr's record on criminal justice is abysmal. As Attorney
General, he championed mass incarceration and deprived countless
persons of color of their liberty and dramatically limited their fu-
ture potential. His Justice Department tenure was marred by ex-
traordinarily aggressive policies that harmed people of color.

He was a general in the war on the crime on drugs that was
rooted in racism. He literally wrote a book on, “The Case for More
Incarceration,” which stands in contradiction of the First Chance
Act.
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But William Barr did not and does not recognize racially dis-
criminatory impact of our criminal justice system policies. In 1992,
he said, “I think our system is fair and does not treat people dif-
ferently.” And just yesterday, he told Senator Booker, “Overall,”
and | quote, “the system treats Blacks and Whites fairly.”

This statement is singularly disqualifying. We need an Attorney
General who understands both the history and persistence of rac-
ism in our criminal justice system.

The Government response to inhumanity is inconsistent as it re-
lates to this administration’'s enforcement of immigration rights.
The NAACP, we filed a lawsuit as it relates to DACA. We need an
Attorney General who respects the rights of individuals.

Finally—and | am trying to rush through this quickly how—Mr.
Barr's recent actions make his impartiality on the ongoing inves-
tigation into Russian interference in the 2016 elections suspect.
And for the NAACP, we are very clear. Matters of international
questions is not under our purview.

But any time a foreign nation used the worst common denomina-
tion in this Nation’s history of racism to suppress African-American
votes in an effort to subvert democracy, it is a question of national
security, and we need an individual who has the independence to
stand up and be fair and make sure we protect democracy.

Thank you, Members of the Committee.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Johnson appears as a submission
for the record.]

Chairman G raHAM . Thank you, Mr. Johnson.

Mr. Thompson.

HON. LARRY D. THOMPSON, FORMER UNITED STATES DEPUTY
ATTORNEY GENERAL, AND PARTNER, FINCH McCRANIE LLP,
ATLANTA, GEORGIA

Mr. T HomMmPsoN. Good morning, Chairman Graham, Ranking
Member Feinstein, Members of the Committee.

It is my great honor to appear before you this morning in support
of Bill Barr's nomination to serve our country once again as Attor-
ney General of the United States.

| have known Bill since 1992. | can attest to the fact that Bill
has a deep, deep respect for and fidelity to the Department of Jus-
tice. Bill will go where the law leads him. In fact, as Attorney Gen-
eral, he did not hesitate when required by law to appoint or seek
to appoint various Special or Independent Counsel in high-profile
matters.

He served with great distinction as Attorney General and is
highly respected and admired on a bipartisan basis by the career
prosecutors and investigators he oversaw in the Department. Im-
portantly, Bill knows how to develop much-needed partnerships
with State and local law enforcement. He was very successful at
this during his tenure as Attorney General and created strong and
effective joint task forces across the country to combat white-collar
and violent crime.

Bill believes that every citizen, no matter where he or she lives,
deserves the full protection of the law. Bill also understands that
Federal law enforcement cannot do the job alone. In 1992, Bill vis-
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ited my hometown of Atlanta, Georgia, and spoke with members of
the Southern Christian Leadership Conference.

He said that when cleaning up crime-infested neighborhoods, and
| quote, “It cannot be a Washington bureaucratic project. It must
be a project where the solutions are found in the community itself.”

He acknowledged to the Reverend Joseph Lowery that in the
past decade, the Federal Government's anti-crime efforts have re-
lied too heavily on prison construction and not enough on crime
prevention.

Now, as a former general counsel of a large public company my-
self, | also appreciate and admire Bill's approach to his work in the
private sector. Bill was very supportive of the lawyers who worked
with him. He was collaborative with his colleagues. He welcomed
input, dialogue, and discussion.

He created opportunities for everyone he oversaw to develop and
grow in their careers, including many female lawyers and lawyers
of color. He was also supportive of diversity in the legal profession.

In 2002, the company Bill served as general counsel received the
Northeast Region Employer of Choice Award from the Minority
Corporate Counsel Association for successfully creating a more in-
clusive work environment.

Finally, Members of the Committee, | think the most important
point | can share with you is that Bill Barr is a person of very high
integrity. He led the Department of Justice as Attorney General
with an unbending respect for the rule of law. As general counsel
of a large public company, he emphasized the importance of com-
plying with all laws, rules, and regulations, and he stood up for his
corporate client a world-class compliance program.

Bill Barr’s integrity is rock solid. He will not—and | repeat—uwiill
not simply go along to get along. Last January, he resigned from
his position as the director of an important public company board.
Bill let his conscience and his integrity guide his decision.

As a citizen, | thank Bill for his willingness to return to public
service. He is needed, and | look forward to his tenure again in
service to our great country as Attorney General.

Thank you.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Thompson appears as a submis-
sion for the record.]

Chairman G rRaHAM . Thank you, Mr. Thompson.

Mr. Morial.

HON. MARC H. MORIAL, PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER, NATIONAL URBAN LEAGUE, NEW YORK, NEW YORK

Mr. M orIAL . Thank you.

Chairman Graham, Senator Feinstein, and Members of this
Committee, | want to thank you for the opportunity to testify on
the nomination of William Barr to be Attorney General of the
United States.

I am Marc Morial and have the pleasure of serving as president
and CEO of the National Urban League. Before doing so, | served
8 years as the mayor of my beloved hometown, New Orleans, presi-
dent of the national—the United States Conference of Mayors, a
Louisiana State senator, a college professor, and a practicing law-
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yer involved in one of the most important civil rights and voting
rights cases to come before the Supreme Court in the 1990s.

The National Urban League was founded in 1910. It is an his-
toric civil rights and urban advocacy organization with a network
of 90 community-based affiliates, and we have affiliates in every
town represented by the Members of this Committee. We have
worked hard and fought for civil rights, justice, and equal oppor-
tunity, along with fairness, for our entire existence.

My illustrious predecessor, the late Whitney Young, was one of
the “Big Six” of civil rights leaders who worked for the 1964 Civil
Rights Act, the 1965 Voting Rights Act, and the 1968 Fair Housing
Act. One of our prime missions is to ensure that each of these laws
is aggressively, faithfully, and consistently executed and enforced
by every President, every Congress, and every Attorney General.
That is why | am here today.

Mr. Chairman, on behalf of our entire Urban League movement
across this country, | urge this Committee and the entire Senate,
based on a careful examination of this nominee’s record, to soundly
reject the nomination of William Barr as the next Attorney General
of the United States. Let me tell you why.

For the past 2 years, the Justice Department has been led by an
Attorney General intent on restricting civil and human rights at
every turn. This Nation needs an Attorney General who will dra-
matically change course and enforce civil rights laws with vigor
and independence. Based on his alarming record, we are convinced
that William Barr will not do so.

Indeed, in a recent op-ed, Mr. Barr called Jeff Sessions, the ar-
chitect of these restrictive civil and human rights policies, an out-
standing Attorney General and offered praise for his anti-civil
rights policies. It is clear, based on the record, that Mr. Barr in-
tends to follow Mr. Sessions down the same regressive, anti-civil
rights road map.

The confirmation of William Barr, who espouses former Attorney
General Sessions’ policies, would enormously exacerbate our Na-
tion’s current civil rights crisis. When we submitted comments to
the United States Commission on Civil Rights raising concerns rel-
ative to Sessions’ actions on various civil rights issues, they were
as follows: overturning a memo from former Attorney General Eric
Holder aimed at reducing mass incarceration by avoiding manda-
tory sentencing, disproportionately subjecting African Americans
and other minorities to long-term incarceration; abandoning the
Justice Department’'s Smart on Crime Initiative; ending the Com-
munity Oriented Policing Services’ Collaborative Reform Project, a
Justice Department program that helped build trust between police
officers and the communities that it served; announcing a Justice
Department school safety plan that militarizes schools; offering a
sweeping review of consent decrees with law enforcement agencies
related to police conduct, nothing but a subterfuge to undermine a
crucial tool in the Justice Department’s efforts to ensure constitu-
tional and accountable policing.

Mr. Barr has a troubling record that tells us that there will be
no redress of Sessions’ blunders. Last year, after arduous work
done by many Members of this Committee, we passed the First
Step and the Juvenile Justice Reform Act of 2018, and | want to
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thank the Committee for its support of that. Mr. Barr's record on
criminal justice places these achievements at serious risk and gives
us no confidence that these hard-won reforms are going to be care-
fully executed.

Why? As Attorney General, Barr pushed through harsh criminal
justice policies—or rather, he pursued them that escalated mass in-
carceration in the war on drugs. His 1992 book, “The Case for More
Incarceration,” argued that the country was incarcerating too few
individuals.

Barr led an effort in Virginia to abolish parole, build more pris-
ons, and increase prison sentences by as much as 700 percent. Yes-
terday, Mr. Barr testified to this Committee of his intent to imple-
ment the First Step Act. If that is the case, this Committee should
ask him for a commitment to rescind the guidance that Mr. Ses-
sions issued on May 10, 2017, instructing all United States Attor-
neys to seek the maximum penalty in Federal criminal prosecu-
tions.

The Attorney General has a duty to vigorously enforce our Na-
tion’s most critical law—to protect the rights and liberties of all
Americans, to serve as an essential independent check on the ex-
cesses of an administration. And we feel the evidence is clear that
Mr. Barr is ill-suited to serve as chief enforcer of our civil rights
laws, and therefore, we urge this Committee, as a part of its delib-
erations, its duty, and its responsibility, to reject Mr. Barr's nomi-
nation as our next Attorney General.

And | want to thank you for your time.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Morial appears as a submission
for the record.]

Chairman G rRaHAM . Thank you, sir.

Ms. Cary.

MARY KATE CARY, FORMER SPEECHWRITER FOR PRESIDENT
GEORGE HW. BUSH, AND ANNE C. STRICKLER PRACTI-
TIONER SENIOR FELLOW, THE MILLER CENTER, UNIVER-
SITY OF VIRGINIA, WASHINGTON, DC

Ms. CaARY. Chairman Graham, Senator Feinstein, and Members
of the Committee, thank you for the invitation to testify today, and
| am here to give my enthusiastic support for the nomination of
William P. Barr as our next Attorney General.

My name is Mary Kate Cary, and | was a White House speech-
writer for President George H.W. Bush from 1989 to 1992. In Janu-
ary of 1992, | moved to the Justice Department from the White
House for the final year of the Bush 41 administration to serve as
Deputy Director of Policy and Communications, overseeing the
speechwriters in the policy shop and serving as one of two spokes-
men for the then-new Attorney General Bill Barr.

When | first started working for General Barr, | was 28 years
old. | got to know him very well, as speechwriters do, and quickly
learned the way he thinks. | found that Bill Barr has a brilliant
legal mind. He knows Mandarin Chinese, and he plays the bag-
pipes. He has got a great sense of humor and an easy laugh. He
is a kind and decent man, a dedicated public servant, and one of
the best bosses | have ever had. He is always a gentleman.
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Bill and | flew thousands of miles that year in a four-seater prop
plane to towns and cities all over America, where he met with local
law enforcement leaders, small town mayors, city council members,
victims’ rights advocates, criminal justice reform leaders, residents
of public housing, prison wardens, Federal prosecutors, religious
leaders, really all kinds of people from every walk of life.

We were often traveling in support of Bill's visionary initiative,
Operation Weed and Seed, which sought to remove violent crimi-
nals and drug gangs from underserved neighborhoods and then
allow grassroots organizations and programs to flourish, bringing
hope of a better life to residents through education, opportunity,
and stronger civil rights.

As we met with people in communities all over America, | saw
that Bill was a good listener. He was masterful at drawing out peo-
ple’'s concerns, and he had a knack for finding the best solutions
on the ground, figuring out what worked in a neighborhood, and
then putting the right policies in place. He made sure politics never
entered into it.

Bill Barr treated everyone with the same respect, whether they
were an up-and-coming chief of police, a receptionist at the Depart-
ment of Justice, or an 80-year-old resident of public housing. | be-
lieve this is why Bill Barr continues to be held in high esteem by
the career staff and the civil servants at the Department of Justice
and why he was such a successful Attorney General.

| also believe that in addition to being good policy, Bill Barr's
leadership style is why Operation Weed and Seed continued on for
many years after he left office.

Everywhere we went that year, we were accompanied by rank-
and-file FBI agents, and he was admired by every one of them that
| met. More than once, | can remember being in very dangerous
situations where the agents were concerned for his physical secu-
rity. Every time, he was more concerned about my security. The
fact that the Attorney General of the United States was more con-
cerned about the safety of a 28-year-old staffer than his own safety
tells you volumes about him.

Despite his top-notch education and his stunning intellect, Bill
Barr is not an ivory tower kind of guy. He went out of his way to
build friendships at the Department and across the United States,
checking in when someone was sick, helping people get jobs, just
staying in touch. He and his wife, Christine, came to my wedding,
and we have stayed friends for the 27 years since we have worked
together.

Like President Bush 41 did, Bill Barr has a devoted and wide
collection of friends, each of whom think of him as a really good
friend. | remember when he was Attorney General at the age of 42
and his three daughters were young girls. Despite the long hours
he kept, the tremendous amount of travel, and the time spent away
from his family, his daughters admired his devotion to the law so
much that each of them later went to law school in order to follow
in his footsteps.

As a mother myself, that, too, tells me volumes about the way
he has lived his life and the example he has given to young people,
especially women. It is no surprise to me that he is one of the few
people in American history to be asked to be Attorney General of
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the United States twice. It is an honor for me to highly recommend
William P. Barr to you for confirmation. Thank you.

[The prepared statement of Ms. Cary appears as a submission for
the record.]

Senator CorNYN [presiding]. Thank you.

Professor Kinkopf.

NEIL J. KINKOPF, PROFESSOR OF LAW, GEORGIA STATE
UNIVERSITY COLLEGE OF LAW, ATLANTA, GEORGIA

Professor KiNkopPF . My thanks to the Committee for the honor
and privilege to appear here today and testify on the nomination
of William Barr to be Attorney General.

In his testimony yesterday, William Barr minimized his 2018
memorandum on obstruction of justice. He characterized it as a
narrow analysis of a particular interpretation of a specific statute.
That is true in a sense, but to answer that very narrow question,
he elaborated a comprehensive and fully theorized vision of the
President’s constitutional power.

He declared without limit or qualification, and | quote, “Constitu-
tionally, it is wrong to conceive of the President as simply the high-
est officer in the executive branch. He alone is the executive
branch. As such, he is the sole repository of all Executive powers
conferred by the Constitution. Thus, the full measure of law en-
forcement authority is placed in the President’s hands, and no limit
is placed on the kinds of cases subject to his control.” That mani-
festo of an imperial Executive has alarming implications for the
Mueller investigation and for the whole of the executive branch.

First, 1 wish to highlight two implications for the Mueller inves-
tigation. William Barr gave reassurances yesterday regarding what
he would or would not do. These assurances are beside the point
because, on Barr's theory, the power rests with the President.
Therefore, the President does not have to ask Barr to do anything.
In his view, the Attorney General and the Special Counsel are
merely the President’s “hand.” Again, a quote.

The President needs only ask the Attorney General, “Can | ter-
minate the Special Counsel’s investigation,” and Barr's answer to
that question will be, “Yes.” This is not speculation or inference
drawn from the Barr memo. The Barr memo takes this on very di-
rectly. Again quoting the memo: “Say an incumbent U.S. Attorney
launches an investigation of an incoming President. The new Presi-
dent knows it is bogus, is being conducted by political opponents,
and is damaging his ability to establish his new administration and
to address urgent matters on behalf of the Nation. It would be nei-
ther corrupt nor a crime for the new President to terminate the
matter.” Well, President Trump has told us that that is exactly
how he regards the Mueller investigation.

Next, there was a great deal of discussion around the release of
Mueller’s report. First, it is clear that Barr takes the DOJ regula-
tions to mean that he should release not the Mueller report, but
rather his own report. Second, he reads DOJ regulations and policy
and practice to forbid any discussion of decisions declining to in-
dict, declination decisions. In combination with the DOJ view that
a sitting President may not be indicted, this suggests that Barr will
take the position that any discussion or release of the Mueller re-



142

port relating to the President would be improper and prohibited by
DOJ policy and regulations.

| wish to close by noting one consequence of the Barr memo’s
theory of Executive power that extends outside the Mueller probe.
The memo asserts that the President has, and | am quoting again,
“illimitable discretion to remove principal officers carrying out his
executive functions.” This would mean, for example, that the Presi-
dent may order the chairman of the Federal Reserve not to raise
interest rates and to fire the chairman of the Federal Reserve if the
chairman refuses to follow that order.

The independence of the Federal Reserve, the SEC, the FEC, the
FTC, the FCC, the dozens of administrative—of independent ad-
ministrative agencies are unconstitutional under Barr's theory of
Executive power. This is in spite of the fact that for over 80 years,
the Supreme Court has consistently upheld the constitutional va-
lidity of the independence of those entities.

Mr. Barr’'s theory of presidential power is fundamentally incon-
sistent with our Constitution and deeply dangerous for our Nation.

[The prepared statement of Prof. Kinkopf appears as a submis-
sion for the record.]

Senator CorNYN . Professor Turley.

JONATHAN TURLEY, J.B. AND MAURICE C. SHAPIRO PRO-
FESSOR OF PUBLIC INTEREST LAW, THE GEORGE WASH-
INGTON UNIVERSITY LAW SCHOOL, WASHINGTON, DC

Professor TurRLEY . Thank you, Senator Cornyn. Also allow me to
thank Chairman Graham, Ranking Member Feinstein, and all the
Members of the Committee for the honor of speaking to you today.

| have known General Barr for many years in my capacity as
both an academic and a litigator. | actually represented him with
other former Attorneys General during the litigation leading up to
the Clinton impeachment. | can think of no better person to serve
at that—in this position and lead the Justice Department at this
critical time.

I come to this as someone that holds different views of the Con-
stitution from General Barr. | am unabashedly a Madisonian schol-
ar, and | admit—I have always admitted in testimony that | favor
the legislative branch in fights with the executive branch. | also
have been a critic of the expansion of Executive power. My default
is in Article I. General Barr's default is Article Il. He tends to take
a robust view of Executive authority. Despite our different defaults,
however, | have always admired him. | have always found him to
be one of the most knowledgeable and circumspect leaders in the
United States when it comes to constitutional history and theory.

Now, | have already submitted written testimony addressing the
1989 and 2018 memos. | respectfully disagree with my friend, Neil,
even though | found many of the things he said very compelling.
We disagree on both what General Barr has said and also the im-
plications of his views. But ultimately this Committee has a dif-
ficult task regardless of the re “sumé of a nominee. You have to try
to determine what is the person’s core identity and values.

For me, that question has always come down to a rather curious
and little known fact about the Seal of the Attorney General that
sits underneath the Attorney General whenever he speaks. It has
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the familiar image of a rising eagle with the olive branch and the

13 arrows and talons, but under it is actually a Latin legend that

we continue to fight about how that legend was put on the seal.
What we know is that it appears to be derived from how the Attor-
ney General was introduced to the Queen.

The British Attorney General was introduced as one “who pros-
ecutes for our Lady the Queen.” That phrase was clearly adopted
by someone—there is a huge debate about who or when or even
why—but they made one change. It would not do to use that lan-
guage. So they changed the last words to “Domina Justitia,” “our
Lady Justice.” It would not do for the Attorney General to litigate
or appear on behalf of any leader. The Attorney General appears
on behalf of the Constitution, not the President.

I know that Bill Barr understands that distinction. He has said
so yesterday. He has maintained that position through his whole
career. He has a record of specific leadership, not just at the De-
partment of Justice, but in this very position. He is only the second
person ever to be nominated to fit—fill that position twice. There
are few nominees in history, as General Mukasey said, who has the
résumeé that Bill Barr has.

I will not go into depth about the discussion of the memo that
Neil was talking about other than to say this. | do go into it in my
written testimony. As Deputy Attorney General Rod Rosenstein
said, it is not uncommon for former Justice officials to share their
views about issues that they believe concern the Department. In-
deed, General Barr wrote to other Justice officials about the pros-
ecution of Senator Menendez. He had no connection with Senator
Menendez, no interest in that case. His interest was the theory of
prosecution being used against Senator Menendez, that he was con-
cerned swept too broadly under the Criminal Code.

The 2018 memo is vintage Bill Barr. It is detailed. It is dis-
passionate. It is the work of a law nerd, and that is what he is.
He is a law nerd. | should know because | am a law nerd, and |
teach with other 80 other law nerds. When people are suspicious
why would anyone write a memo this long spontaneously and send
it to anyone, that is because you do not know law nerds, okay? We
write these memos so that we do not follow strangers on the street
trying to talk about the unitary executive theory. Indeed | think
the best thing we could do for Christine and the family is to re-
incarcerate Bill on the fifth floor of Main Justice where he can talk
about this all day long.

Now, the dispute about that obstruction provision is a real one.
I am a little taken aback from the criticism. From a civil liberty’'s
standpoint, | have been critical of the expansion of the—of the ob-
struction theory. It sweeps too broadly for me, and it—as a crimi-
nal defense attorney, | have been critical of it for a very long time.
The issue that he was raising is a real one. He raises it from the
Article Il standpoint. Some of us have raised it from the civil lib-
erties standpoint.

What he really is arguing is not that the President cannot be
prosecuted. He says exactly the opposite. He says the President can
be charged with Federal crimes in office. He believes the President
could be charged with obstruction in office. So he says the diamet-
rically opposed thing to what many people are saying about him.
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What he believes is, just as Confucius said, that, “The start of
wisdom is to call things by their proper names.” He wants to call
this by its proper name. If the President commits a crime, he wants
that crime to be defined. He does not say, by the way, that that
same conduct cannot be another type of crime. He was only talking
about the Residual Clause of 1512. Those were fair questions about
statutory interpretation. | do not agree with everything in his
memo. | have said that publicly. | disagree on some of his conclu-
sions, but | wholeheartedly agree with him that this is a serious
problem and it has to be defined.

Now, ultimately, | believe if you read his testimony, you will find
that he is more measured than some of my friends have suggested.
Even Clinton’s own former appointees, like James Clapper, said
that yesterday he went as far as he could go as Attorney General
giving assurances. But this is a historic moment for the Justice De-
partment. | hope it does not pass. They need this man, and they
need it now.

| brought my children today, Aiden and Maddie, because | think
that they really should be here. | suspect they are here because
they heard that Senator Feinstein was giving out junk food to kids.

[Laughter.]

Professor TURLEY . But | hope that they will also understand the
historic moment for what it is. And | thank you for the honor of
being part of this.

[The prepared statement of Prof. Turley appears as a submission
for the record.]

Chairman G raHAM [presiding]. Thank you.

Reverend Risher.

REV. SHARON WASHINGTON RISHER, ORDAINED
PASTOR, CHARLOTTE, NORTH CAROLINA

Reverend RisHErR. Good morning, Chairman Graham, Ranking
Member Feinstein, and Members of the Senate Judiciary Com-
mittee. It is my honor to appear before you today to testify on the
nomination of William Barr to be Attorney General of the United
States.

My name is Reverend Sharon Risher, and | live in Charlotte,
North Carolina. My life, like so many other people’s throughout
this Nation, has been forever changed by gun violence—gun vio-
lence that is preventable with effective enforcement and common-
sense safety laws. On Wednesday, June 17th, 2015 is the day that
my life changed.

As a hospital trauma chaplain, | have worked and experienced
grief and tragedy and pain and loss as | worked with patients and
families to comfort them. But that night, | was the one in need of
comforting when | received the telephone call that no American de-
serves to get. My beloved mother and two of my cousins had been
shot and killed in the church along with six other parishioners at
the Emanuel African Methodist Episcopal Church in Charleston,
South Carolina.

In the Charleston community which | was raised, when the doors
of the church was open, my family was in the pews. That Wednes-
day was no different. A young White man entered the church at
the beginning of the Bible study. In the spirit of our faith, he was
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welcomed in by the congregation and sat near the pastor. After
studying the Gospel of Mark, they held hands, and bowed their
heads, and closed their eyes, and held hands in prayer. That was
the final moment for many in that church. That day that young
man pulled out his gun and started firing. Some ran, some hid
under tables, but they were gunned down.

A house of worship is supposed to be a refuge from the storms
of everyday life, but that young man robbed my family and the
eight other families of their loved ones. Five people survived. Five
people have to live every day with that tragedy in their hearts.
After the massacre in Charleston, | struggled to answer why my
loved ones and so many others had been killed. | was disturbed to
learn that the shooting was premeditated and driven by hate. The
shooter targeted parishioners at Emanuel simply because of the
color of their skins.

Along with so many Americans, | was baffled at how such a hate-
ful man was able to get his hands on a gun. We later discovered
that a loophole in our gun laws allowed the shooter to obtain the
gun used to murder my mother and my cousins and the six others
in that church. That loophole allowed hatred to be armed to Kkill.
The person that killed my family members should have not been
able to buy that gun.

The National Instant Criminal Background Check System was
designed to keep guns out of the wrong hands, including criminals,
domestic abusers, and unlawful users of controlled substances. The
Charleston shooter had previously been arrested for drug posses-
sion, something that should have blocked him from obtaining a gun
under our existing laws. Yet he was able to legally purchase one
because of a loophole in the Federal law. You see, if the FBI does
not finish a background check within 3 days, the sale can proceed
regardless of whether the check had been completed, and that is
exactly how the man who killed my family exploited a loophole and
got his gun.

And he is not the only one. The FBI reported that in 2017 alone,
gun dealers sold at least 4,864 guns to prohibited people before the
background checks had been completed. Those nearly 5,000 sales
were primarily made to felons, domestic abusers, or, like the man
who killed my family, unlawful users of controlled substances. A
strong background check system is the foundation for commonsense
safety laws that keep guns out of the hands of the wrong people.
We cannot stop—we can stop hate from being armed, but we need
background checks on all gun sales, and law enforcement needs
enough time to complete the background check.

Each day | wake up motivated to ensure that hate will not win.
As a member of the Everytown Survivor Network, | share my story
to put a human face on our Nation’s gun violence crisis. Our com-
munity of survivor advocates for change to help ensure that no
other family faces the type of tragedy we have experienced. If he
is confirmed as our Nation’s next Attorney General, Mr. Barr will
serve as our Nation’s top law enforcement officer in a position of
great power and influence. | hope he will make it a priority to pre-
vent gun violence and work with Congress to update our laws and
close loopholes that enable guns to get in the wrong hand, just like
that young man filled with hate, murdered my family.
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Nine lives were cut short in Charleston. Today | say the names
of my mother and my cousins and the six other people to honor
them in this most sacred place: my mother, Mrs. Ethel Lance; my
two cousins, Mrs. Susie Jackson and Tywanza Sanders; my child-
hood friend, Myra Thompson; the pastor of the church, Reverend
Clementa Pinckney; Reverend Daniel Simmons; Reverend
Sharonda Coleman-Singleton; Mrs. Cynthia Hurd; Reverend
DePayne Middleton-Doctor. | pray that whenever you hear their
names, you feel empowered to help bring about change.

Thank you for listening, and | will answer any questions that
you have.

[The prepared statement of Rev. Risher appears as a submission
for the record.]

Chairman G rRaHAM . Thank you, Reverend.

Mr. Canterbury.

CHUCK CANTERBURY, NATIONAL PRESIDENT,
FRATERNAL ORDER OF POLICE, WASHINGTON, DC

Mr. C ANTERBURY . Good morning, Mr. Chairman, Ranking Mem-
ber Feinstein, and distinguished Members of the Committee on the
Judiciary. 1 am the elected spokesperson of more than 345,000
rank and file police officers, the largest law enforcement organiza-
tion in the United States. | am very pleased to have the oppor-
tunity to offer the strong and unequivocal support of the FOP for
the nomination of William P. Barr to be the next Attorney General
of the United States.

In my previous appearances before this Committee, | have been
proud to offer the FOP support for a number of nominees with the
expectation that they would be good leaders, that they would serve
our country honorably and effectively. In this case, however, there
is no need to speculate whether or not Mr. Barr would make a good
Attorney General because he has already been a good Attorney
General in the administration of President George H.W. Bush. He
had the experience, the knowledge, and the ability to lead the De-
partment then, and he certainly does now.

Mr. Barr's career of public service began as a clerk for a judge
on the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia, and he
served a short tenure in the Reagan White House. He then joined
the Bush administration as Assistant Attorney General for the Of-
fice of Legal Counsel in 1989. President Bush took note of his lead-
ership, integrity, and commitment to law enforcement and pro-
moted him to Deputy AG in 1990.

In 1991, he was named acting Attorney General and was imme-
diately faced with a public safety crisis. At the Talladega Federal
Prison, more than 100 Cuban inmates awaiting transportation
back to their country staged a riot and took seven corrections offi-
cers and three Immigration and Naturalization employees hostage.
In the first hours of the standoff, General Barr ordered the FBI to
plan a hostage rescue effort.

The Cuban inmates demanded that they be allowed to stay in
this country and released one of the hostages. Over the course of
the 9-day siege, it was clear then that negotiations were failing.
General Barr ordered the FBI to breach the prison and rescue the
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hostages. They were freed without any loss of life, and the incident
was ended because of General Barr’s decisive action.

Following the successful resolution of this incident, President
Bush nominated him to be U.S. Attorney General.

The Committee on the Judiciary reported his nomination unani-
mously, and the Senate confirmed him as the 77th Attorney Gen-
eral. Through his service and his actions, he demonstrated he was
the right man for the job. The FOP believes he is the right man
for the job, again, today.

Two years ago, just after his inauguration, President Bush issued
three—oh, excuse me—President Trump issued three Executive or-
ders on law enforcement and public safety, the first directed to the
Federal Government to develop strategies to enhance the protection
and safety of our officers on the beat. The others created a task
force on crime reduction and public safety, and for the development
of a national strategy to combat transnational criminal organiza-
tions trafficking in human beings, weapons, and illicit drugs.

Mr. Chairman, during his tenure as Attorney General, Mr. Barr
directed and oversaw a similar transformation at the Justice De-
partment by refocusing its resources by making crimes of violence,
particularly gang violence, a top priority for law enforcement. |
submit to this Committee that Mr. Barr is the perfect person to
complete the work begun by General Sessions with respect to focus-
ing Federal resources to fight violent crime because he has not only
done it before, he has done it as the Attorney General.

President Trump has clearly made law enforcement and public
safety a top priority. His nomination of William Barr to be the next
Attorney General demonstrates that these priorities have not
changed. We know Mr. Barr's record and abilities as well as his
prior experience in that office. The FOP shares his views, and we
confident that Mr. Barr will once again be a stellar top cop. We be-
lieve the President made an outstanding choice, and for Mr. Barr
to return to public service as the Attorney General of the United
States will serve this country well.

The FOP proudly offers our full and vigorous support for this
nominee, and we urge this Committee to favorably report this nom-
ination just as you did in 1991. Thank you for the opportunity to
testify. | will be glad to answer any questions.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Canterbury appears as a submis-
sion for the record.]

Chairman G raHAM . Thank you, all, very much. | appreciate your
testimony, and | will get us started here quickly.

Reverend Risher, thank you for your coming up here and sharing
your loss and your story and your hurt. Some comfort | hope is that
Mr. Barr said, if he is the Attorney General, he will pursue red flag
legislation that | am working on with Mr. Blumenthal and others
that would allow law enforcement, if they have appropriate infor-
mation, to go and deny somebody a gun who is showing dangerous
behavior. | think that is a real gap in our law. Most of these cases,
people are screaming before they act, and we are just not listening.
The guy down in Florida did everything but take out an ad out in
the paper, “I am going to kill somebody.” And it would have been
nice if the police would have had a chance to go in and stop it be-
fore it happened.
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As to Dylann Roof, who is facing the death penalty in South
Carolina, he applied for a gun in West Columbia, South Carolina.
The system said he had just been arrested. During the 3 days of
looking into the arrest, he had not been convicted. The FBI agent
called the wrong solicitor’s office. There are two counties in Colum-
bia, and they did not find out the fact he had admitted to being—
possessing and using a substance that would have kept him from
owning a gun. So we need to reform the laws, but that was sort
of a mistake more than it was a loophole.

Mr. Turley, thank you for very much for what you had to say.
The Special Counsel regulation is 28 CFR §600.8. It says “at the
conclusion of the Special Counsel's work, he or she shall provide
the Attorney General with a confidential report explaining the
prosecution or declination decisions reached by the Special Coun-
sel.” So do you think Barr will take this report seriously if given
to him?

Professor TURLEY . Absolutely.

Chairman G raHAM . Okay. It also says, “The Attorney General
will notify the Ranking Member and Chairman of the Judiciary
Committee in both bodies.” Do you think he will do that?

Professor TURLEY . Absolutely.

Chairman G raHAM . Okay. It also says, “To the extent consistent
with applicable law, a description and explanation of instances, if
any, in which the Attorney General concluded that a proposed ac-
tion by a Special Counsel was so inappropriate or unwarranted
under established departmental practices that it should not be pur-
sued.” So, under this regulation, if Mr. Muller recommends a
course of action and Mr. Barr says | do not think we should do
that, he has to tell us about that event. Do you—do you agree that
is what the regulation requires?

Professor TURLEY . Absolutely.

Chairman G rRaHAM . Do you believe he will do that?

Professor TURLEY . Absolutely.

Chairman G raHAM . Okay. It also says, “The Attorney General
may determine that public release of these reports would be in the
public interest to the extent that their release would comply with
applicable legal restrictions.” Do you think he will be as trans-
parent as possible?

Professor TurRLEY. Yes, and he said that, and | could add one
thing to this, Mr. Chairman. The Committee pressed him on what
he meant by that. | know that Ranking Member Feinstein also
raised this in her comments. But as James Clapper and other peo-
ple noted yesterday, there is only so much that—so far that a nomi-
nee can go. You cannot ask that he satisfy ethical standards when
asking him to commit in advance to the release of information that
he has not seen yet, because part of his duty is to protect things
like Rule 6(c) information, grand jury information, and the deriva-
tive information, privileged information. He is duty-bound to re-
view that. So the only thing a hominee can say is that he is going
to err on the side of transparency and try to get as much of the
report to Congress as possible.

Chairman G raHAM . Based on what you know about Mr. Barr,
should we take him at his word?
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Professor TuRLEY . Absolutely. | have never known Bill Barr—in
all the years that we have known each other, | have never known
him to be anything but honest and straightforward. The last time
he came in front of this Committee, the Chairman of that Com-
mittee, one of your predecessors, praised Barr. He said that this is
sort of a throwback to what Committee hearings used to be like
where the nominee actually answered questions. He is a very hon-
est person. And if he said that he is going to err on the side of
transparency, you can take it to the bank.

Chairman G raHAM . Okay. So, Mr. Johnson, thank you for com-
ing today. | listened to your concerns about Mr. Barr. | voted for
Holder and Lynch. Do you think | made a good decision voting for
them to be Attorney General?

Mr. J OHNSON . | do.

Chairman G rRAHAM . Why?

Mr. J oHNsSON. | think their presentation before this Committee
was honest, direct, but more importantly, they committed to protect
our democracy. For African Americans, protecting democracy is to
also rigorously enforce efforts to ensure that all citizens can cast
their ballot. They committed to that, and they demonstrated that
while they were in office.

Chairman G raHAM . Okay. And you believe Mr. Barr will not be
committed to that?

Mr. JoHNSON . | have serious reservations and concerns. Those
concerns first start with this administration, their lack of enforcing
Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act.

Chairman G raHAM . How much of it is about this administration
versus Mr. Barr?

Mr. J OHNSON . In many ways it is difficult to separate the two.

Chairman G rRaHAM . So | just want to suggest something to you.
There are a lot of concerns | had about the Obama administration.

I will not bore you with my concerns. But | thought he chose wisely
with Mr. Holder and Ms. Lynch because they have differences on
policy than I, because | am a Republican, but | thought they would
be good stewards of the law and they would be fair arbiters being
Attorney General. It never crossed my mind that | would vote
against them because | had policy disagreements. If that is going
to be the new standard, none of us are going to vote for anybody
on the other side. So thank you for your input——

Mr. J oHNSON . But if | may, Mr. Chair?

Chairman G rRAHAM . Please.

Mr. J oHNSON . Going beyond policy disagreement, this Nation has
had a long history of discriminatory practices, particularly in the
criminal justice system. And any time we have a nominee come be-
fore this Committee who truly do not appreciate the disparities in
the criminal justice system, as he stated yesterday, that goes be-
yond policy disagreement. That goes toward whether or not we un-
derstand the equal protection of the law should be afforded to all
citizens.

Chairman G raHAM . Well, | want to make sure you understand
what he said, because | remember Senator Booker asking him, and
he says, yes, that crack cocaine sentences were disproportionate to
the African-American individual, and that is why we changed the
disparity between powder cocaine and crack cocaine. He acknowl-
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edged that. But in 1992, he thought the biggest victims of rampant
violent crime were, you know, low-income, mostly minority commu-
nities. So | do not buy what you are saying about him not under-
standing their differences and how one group is affected, particu-
larly in the drug arena. So, | think, what he was trying to do is
talk about crime.

But here is what is perplexing to me. The NAACP has been in
the fight for social and racial justice for a very long time, and | do
not know how we got here, but you do a scorecard every year. And
in 2017, every Democrat got 100 percent. | got 22 percent; Grassley
got 11; Cornyn got 11; Lee got 11; Cruz got 11; Sasse got 6; Ernst
got 11; Kennedy got 17; Tillis got 11; and Crapo got 6.

There is a disparity here. | would hope you think because | dis-
agree with your scorecard rating that | am not a racist. And | cer-
tainly do not know how to close this gap, but | would like to.

Mr. J oHNSON . Right. So the NAACP, we are a nonpartisan orga-
nization. Our scorecard is not based on political parties. Our score-
card is based on our agenda, and our agenda——

Chairman G raHAM . Well, how do you explain the differences?

Mr. J oHNsON . If you will allow me, our agenda is set by the dele-
gates from across the country, and we are very clear that discrimi-
nation should not be a part of any agenda.

Chairman G raHAM . How many of them are Republican?

Mr. J OHNSON . Excuse me.

Chairman G raHAM . How many of them are Republican?

Mr. J oHNsSON . We do not determine how many members are Re-
publicans. We have Republicans among our membership, on our
national board.

Chairman G rRAHAM . | do not want to——

Mr. J oHNSON . But if you will allow me to explain the report card.

Chairman G rRAHAM . Please.

Mr. J oHNSON . And so we establish our agenda not based on polit-
ical parties, because we understand that political parties are noth-
ing more than vehicles for agendas. And as many African Ameri-
cans were members of the Republican Party before the 1965 Voting
Rights Act, many African Americans may decide their agenda
based on the party’s platform. And if party platforms align with the
needs and interests of our communities, then they will vote for a
platform that support their needs, whether it is access to quality
public education, ensure that all African Americans can cast a fair
ballot, fair housing policies, making sure we have true tests to de-
termine disparate impact. Those are the issues we are concerned
about. Those are not partisan issues. Those are policy issues. And
individuals who run under party labels, they decide based on the
platform that they believe which party label they run under. We
do not make partisan decisions. We make policy decisions that are
informed by members across the country. Some are Democrats,
some are libertarians, some are Republicans.

Chairman G rRAHAM . You may not think that you are making—
that your agenda is party-neutral. All | can tell you, as somebody
who wants to solve problems, it is pretty odd to me that every
Democrat gets 100 percent, and | do the best as a Republican get-
ting 22. Maybe the problem is all on our side. | do not think so.
| think the agenda that you are pursuing in the eyes of conserv-
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atives is not as good for the country as you think it is, and it has
got nothing to do about Republican and Democrat. It is more it has
to do about liberal and conservative.

You have got to ask yourself: Why does every conservative on
this Committee—the best | can do is to get 227

Mr. M ORIAL . Mr. Chairman?

Mr. J oHNsoN . Well, | think it is a different question. | think the
members of the Republican Party should ask yourselves: Are you
willing to be expansive enough and inclusive——

Chairman G rRaHAM . That is a good question.

Mr. J oHNSON. To ensure the rights of individuals despite their
racial background, their interests are met, not based on conserv-
ative or liberal tendencies but based on those individuals’
needs—

Chairman G rRaHAM . Fair enough.

Mr. J oHNSON . And the interests that they advocate for.

Chairman G raHAM . Will you ask yourselves why | cannot get
better than 22 percent from conservatives?

Mr. J OHNSON . Yes, sure, we can go down each one of the policy
agendas——

Chairman G rRaHAM . Fair enough.

Mr. J oHNsSON . And we can go through each one of them, and we
can make a determination.

Mr. M ORIAL . Mr. Chairman, let me——

Chairman G raHAM . That is a good discussion.

Mr. M orIAL . | want to sharpen this discussion, because | think
it is an important discussion, and give you what concerns me when
it comes to this entire discussion. This is about whether the nomi-
nee is going to aggressively, faithfully, enforce the civil rights laws,
and let me give you a couple facts.

Chairman G rRaHAM . Can | ask you one question? Then you can
give me all the facts you want.

Mr. M ORIAL . Yes.

Chairman G rRaHAM . Name one Republican that you would sup-
port.

Mr. M oRIAL . | am not here to talk about Republicans and Demo-
crats. | supported him when he was a Democrat.

Chairman G raHAM . | just cannot think of a better person to pick
than Mr. Barr if you are a Republican. So, | do not know who is
going to do better than him in terms of experience, judgment, and
temperament. So, if this guy does not cut it, | am at a loss of who
we can pick.

Mr. M orIAL . Well, but, Senator, let me make my point because
I want the Committee to be extremely clear on this, and | want to
cite two examples. Attorney General Sessions—and we have to talk
about his record because the question for us is whether Mr. Barr
is going to continue the policies of Attorney General Sessions when
it comes to enforcing civil rights laws. In two instances, Attorney
General Sessions, in his first days and months in office, had the
Justice Department change sides in the middle of an important
civil rights case.

Chairman G rRAHAM . Elections matter.

Mr. M oRIAL. Texas—but, Senator, the enforcement of the law
does not. Enforcement of civil rights laws is neutral when it comes
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to elections. So what Attorney General Sessions had the Justice
Department do is, switch in a Texas voter ID law after the judge
had made a finding, a preliminary finding that the Texas voter ID
law was discriminatory. You know what it would be an example of?
If Drew Brees or Tom Brady, after leading his team to a lead, went
in at halftime and came out with the jersey of the other team on.
In the middle of the case.

Second, in the Ohio voter-purge case, the same thing occurs. Why
did the Justice Department, without any discussion with the Con-
gress, without any discussion with the civil rights community,
switch sides miraculously and immediately? That should not have
anything to do with who wins an election.

Chairman G raHAM . | will say this: | could have given you a hun-
dred examples of where Eric Holder and Loretta Lynch had a dif-
ferent view of a statute or a policy than | did. But if you do not
expect elections to matter, that is a mistake. The policy differences
we have are real. To expect Trump to win and everything Obama
did stay the same is unrealistic. All | am asking is let us look at
qualifications, because a Democrat will win 1 day and they will
nominate somebody with a completely different policy view than |
have. It will be a very simple decision. If | can find a difference,

I will vote no. The question | am trying to ask the country is: Do
you expect quality people to be chosen by the other side who has
differences with you? If the answer is “Yes,” then Mr. Barr is as
good as it will get.

Mr. M oriAL. Well, you know, Senator, lots of us thought you
were going to be nominated as Attorney General.

Chairman G raHAM . Would you have supported me?

Mr. M oRrIAL . Hey, guess what? | know we would have had a dis-
cussion, and | would not close the door on that.

Chairman G raHAM . Well, | appreciate that.

Mr. M oriAL. So | will say that. We thought you were going to
be nominated——

Chairman G rRAHAM . But | do not think | am nearly as qualified
as Mr. Barr. | do not think | could hold a candle to him. But the
fact you said that about me, | appreciate the hell out of it. And let
us see if we can find a way to get me above 22 percent.

Mr. M oRIAL . Let us work on it.

Chairman G raHAM . All right. We may change a few policies.

Senator Feinstein.

Senator FEINSTEIN . Reverend Risher, | just want to say some-
thing to you personally. | will never, ever forget your words, your
emotion, the truth you spoke, and your feelings. And | just want
you to know that there are so many of us that now know so many
victims of guns in this country that we will continue to fight on to
change this environment. So just know that. And | am so happy.
You are one of the best witnesses | have ever heard, and your
words will not be lost. | hope your family is in a better place.
Thank you.

Reverend RiISHER . Thank you so much.

Senator FEINSTEIN . Thank you.

Mr. Kinkopf, if | may, Mr. Barr has stated that the memo that
I spent all day reading and is very complicated, has stated that
that memo was narrowly focused on obstruction of justice. How-
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ever, Mr. Barr's arguments outline broad presidential powers.
Please explain how his view of Executive authority could impact
the Mueller investigation.

Professor KINkoPF . Okay. Well, in any number of ways, | think
most fundamental is his claim, without limit or qualification, that
the President is the executive branch and that, therefore, all Exec-
utive power is vested in the President personally, that the Presi-
dent can personally exercise that power. And not leaving this to
speculation or to chance, the memo specifically says that the Presi-
dent can control any litigation, any prosecution or investigation, in-
cluding a prosecution or investigation of the President personally
or the President’'s family members. And, further, it says that the
Attorney General, the Special Counsel, anyone serving under the
President, is merely the President’s hands.

Senator FEINSTEIN . Well, it was certainly the case for the unitary
executive and the all-powerful central figure. There is no question,
| think, about that. In my mind, the question is, you know, how—
does he really mean this? And it is hard if you do not know a
man—and he is here and he is in front of you for the first time and
you meet him—it is very hard to make those judgments.

He is obviously very smart. He was Attorney General before. No
one can say he is not qualified. The question comes we are at a
time and a place where there are a lot of other subjects that are
important.

He has stated that his memo was narrowly focused. Mr. Turley—
we have got a Defense Counsel, | guess—how do you see that same
question | asked Professor Kinkopf?

Professor TURLEY . It is a fair question, and Neil and | agree ac-
tually on a great deal because we both have real difficulty with the
expansion of Executive authority. We are both critics of aspects of
the unitary executive theory, but we disagree on the Barr memo.
| think it was narrow. He says in the memo that he believes the
President can be charged with obstruction in office. He believes
that a President can be charged with other crimes in office.

And where | disagree with Neil is that it is true that he says in
his memos that the Constitution does not limit the power of the
presidency in these regards, and that is demonstrably true. It is
not in the Constitution. There are not those limitations. But he has
said repeatedly in writing and before this Committee that he be-
lieves that a President can be charged for acts in office. He also be-
lieves that if the President misuses his authority, it can be an
abuse of power and it can be a violation of his duty to faithfully
execute the U.S. laws.

Senator FEINSTEIN . Well, it does not mean that Mr. Mueller
could recommend indictment of the President and Mr. Barr could
disagree.

Professor TURLEY . On that, | am not sure where Neil is——

Senator FEINSTEIN . Now, that is an esoteric question, | under-
stand, but | think it is along the line of your thinking.

Professor TURLEY . And | agree with some of the Senators on this
Committee. | have always said that a sitting President could be in-
dicted in office. | disagree with the OLC memos in that respect.
Would a General Barr change that position? My guess is he prob-
ably would not. Would the Special Counsel ask for a change? My
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guess is probably not. It is not really—if you look at the history of
both of these individuals, they are not like to either disagree or
move for a change.

Senator FEINSTEIN . Let me ask both of you or anyone who wants
to answer this, this memo and the whole concept of the unitary ex-
ecutive, all powerful, | think, has never been better expressed in
a contemporary way than | have read it in this memo. And | was
thinking last night, obviously Mr. Barr is qualified, he is bright, he
is capable. But it is hard for me to understand why, with our Con-
stitution, our Bill of Rights, why we want somebody that is all pow-
erful in every way to take these actions.

Professor KINkKOPF . Senator, | think——

Senator FEINSTEIN . My question was not well stated, but | think
you got the gist of it.

Professor KINKOPF . Right. Senator, | think we do not. So | would
agree that William Barr is amply well qualified by virtue of experi-
ence, by virtue of intellect, by virtue of integrity. | have no doubt
that he will stand up for his vision of the Constitution, and that
is what | find so troubling, because his vision of the Constitution
is so expansive and alarming with respect to the President’s power.
That is why | have quoted it. It is not my characterization. He says
directly, “The President alone is the executive branch.” He speaks
repeatedly through the memo of the President’'s “illimitable” pow-
ers. And while it is true that the Constitution does not specifically
authorize Congress to limit the President’s prosecutorial discretion
by its text, it also does not by its text give prosecutorial discretion
to the President. All investigation and prosecution is done pursuant
to laws enacted by Congress, and within that authority to enact
those laws is the authority to establish the parameters on that
power. You do that, and you do that validly and legitimately. The
Supreme Court has said that repeatedly. And what is so alarming
about the Barr memo is that it reads the Constitution in a way
that frees the President from those constraints.

Professor TuRLEY . This is where we do disagree, and | thought
the question was presented quite well, because it does isolate
where we depart, and that is, first of all, even though | do not like
the unitary executive theory, there are many, many judges and
lawyers who believe fervently in it. Also, there is not one single
definition of that theory. There is sort of a gradation of where you
fall on that.

Bill Barr actually disagrees with the position of the Trump legal
team. He expressly said that they are wrong, that it does not cur-
tail a President’s authority to prosecute him in office. So he is not
at the extreme on this.

But the other thing | wanted to note is, that | think where Neil
and | disagree is that Neil is taking Barr's statement as to the con-
stitutional footprint, the mandate of the Constitution, which does
not have limitations in these areas, from how they would apply,
where he said very clearly the President cannot do whatever he
wants; there are consequences; he can even be prosecuted.

Senator FEINSTEIN . Thank you.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman G rRAHAM . Senator Hawley.
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Senator H awLEY . Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and thanks to all
of you for being here today.

General Mukasey, can | start with you, | think? And thank you,
General, for your long service both as Attorney General, distin-
guished service, and on the Federal bench. As a former Attorney
General yourself, of course, you know the office firsthand. You have
done this job. You have done it at a time of great national security
peril for this country.

You referenced in your opening statement the qualifications that
Bill Barr brings, would bring to this job, and the advantages in
some ways he would have having done the job already. Can you
just speak more to that? | mean, | imagine if you were coming back
to be Attorney General again, there are things you would do dif-
ferently, knowing the job as you do now. So can you just elaborate
for us why you think that his prior experience is a major plus?

Judge Mukasey . Quite simply, he does not have and will not
have the same steep learning curve that | had coming out of Article
Ill. He does not have to do DOJ 101 and learn how each office
runs, and he does not have to learn how they interact. He does not
have to contemplate from ground zero the powers and the authority
of each of the offices under him. He has seen it and done it.

But | do not want to overstate the degree to which his experience
prepares him. Obviously, we are living in a different time, and the
issues are different. He is going to have to face that. But he is
going to be able to devote 100 percent of his energy to doing that
rather than learning the basics. That is what | meant.

If I can go back, if | may, to the conversation you were just hav-
ing about the President’'s powers, | do happen to believe in the uni-
tary executive, unlike the other two folks, and this is not a ques-
tion of a religious belief, and it is not some quirky attitude. The
Constitution says at the beginning of Article I, “The Executive au-
thority shall be vested in the President of the United States.” It
does not say, “all except a little bit of it.” It does not say, “most
of it.” It says, “the Executive power.” That means, all of it.

Obviously—obviously—the President can be removed not only for
crimes, but also for using his conferred powers in an improper way,
and the President runs the political risk of having that happen
every time he does something that comes close to the line or goes
over the line. And that, | think, is the constraint. And it has so far
been a reliable constraint. Everybody says that, “Well, he could re-
move Mueller.” Perhaps he could. But guess what? He has not done
it yet, and there is good reason why he has not done it yet: because
the Earth would open up and swallow him. We all know that. So
| think that that is really what is at stake here, the political risk.

Senator H AWLEY . General Mukasey, just staying with that point,
because | think this is interesting, and, again, as someone who has
held this office and advised Presidents and enforced the law as you
have, you are familiar with Mr. Barr's views on Executive author-
ity, Article 1l power. Do you think that those are out of the main-
stream?

Judge M uUkasEy . | do not.

Senator H awLEY . Do you think that they are inconsistent with
the Constitution?
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Judge Mukasey . No. They are faithful to the Constitution. That
is what he is faithful to.

Senator H AWLEY . Go ahead. | mean, explain to us why you think
it is important that the fact that Article Il vests all Executive
power in one person, in the President of the United States, why
that is an important concept and important for the functioning of
our constitutional system.

Judge MUKASEY . It is important because it assures that there is
going to be political responsibility lodged someplace. It assures that
when people in the executive act in a particular way that they, and
the person at the top, can be held responsible for what they do.
People spoke about independent agencies. They are in a sense inde-
pendent in the sense that they do not relate to other agencies. But
they are not a fourth or fifth or sixth branch of Government. They
are within the executive. And it is important that that be true, be-
cause there has got to be somebody responsible for how that func-
tions.

The people who wrote the Constitution were—if they were afraid
of anything, what they were afraid of was their experience under
the Articles of Confederation where there had been a very weak ex-
ecutive and no ability of the govern—of the country to defend itself.
They needed a strong executive, and that was the Constitution
they wrote. If we want to amend it, | guess we can. But that is
what is there.

Senator H AwLEY . Tell me this: In your view, the Vesting Clause,
the fact that the Vesting Clause in Article 1l gives the Executive
power to a President of the United States, a single President of the
United States, does that mean that this individual, the President
of the United States, has illimitable power or is able to do what-
ever he or she may please?

Judge M ukasey . No, because the one duty that it imposes on the
President—and this is also imposed by the Constitution—is to see
to it that the laws are faithfully enforced. That is just as much a
constitutional duty as any other. And if he does not do that, he is
subject to removal. That is his obligation. That is his really prin-
cipal obligation.

Senator H AwLEY . Thank you very much.

Mr. Canterbury, | want to ask you, you lead the Fraternal Order
of Police. It is incredibly important to me that the top law enforce-
ment officer in this country, the Attorney General, have the con-
fidence of the men and women of our Nation’s police forces. Can
you just elaborate for us what the most important issues were for
your members that led your group to support former Attorney Gen-
eral Barr, hopefully future Attorney General Barr, for this nomina-
tion?

Mr. C ANTERBURY . One is his past experiences, his job that he did
in the prior administration. We have been around a long time, and
we knew him then. We saw the way he administered the Depart-
ment of Justice, the way he worked with State and local law en-
forcement.

Regardless of who leads the Justice Department, if there is no
outreach to State and local law enforcement, then it really does not
transcend to the State and local level. Under former Attorney Gen-
eral Barr, he did just that, and as General Sessions did and as Eric
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Holder did. You know, we have testified for a number of nominees
over the years. Eric Holder had a tremendous reputation as a pros-
ecutor in the law enforcement community, so | sat at this very
table and testified for him. It is all based on the experiences that
they had as either U.S. Attorney, Federal judges, or even in private
practice.

Senator H AwLEY . Why do you think it is so important to police
officers that they have a capable, effective, experienced Attorney
General?

Mr. C ANTERBURY . Just the administration of justice. | have heard
the complaints about the Civil Rights Division, but we know from
experience that a collaborative effort rather than consent decrees
have real consequences in the cities. For instance, in Cincinnati,
when the administration entered a collaborative agreement and all
parties were at the table, we came out with a plan to help bring
that city back together. In the last election in Cincinnati, the FOP
endorsed a member of the NAACP to be a city councilmember.
That would not have happened if they had not gotten to know each
other sitting around a table working together for the betterment of
that community.

We favor the collaborative approach for consent decrees because
they are real circumstances other than just say you will do this or,
you know, we will not leave. Then they do it, and then obviously
nothing ever changes. But when it is collaborative and everybody
is at the table, we saw real change.

Senator H AWLEY . Thank you very much.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman G rRaHAM . Thank you.

Senator Durbin.

Senator D urBIN . Thanks, Mr. Chairman.

Reverend Risher, thank you. Thank you for your testimony, and
thank you for your touching words about that telephone call. I will
remember that, because so many people receive that telephone call
about people that they love who are victims of gun violence. | am
honored to represent the city of Chicago. Sadly, we have a lot of
gun violence and a lot of victims, families just like yours who will
never, ever forget as long as they live what happened.

| often think about what | am going to say to them. | stopped
saying, “Let me tell you about a new law that | have got in mind.”
| have stopped saying that because we do not pass laws on gun
safety in this United States Congress. We do not. And it is unfortu-
nate. We do not even pass the most basic and obvious things about
background checks. We just cannot do it, politically cannot do it.
A lot of reasons for it | will not get into here, but | will just suggest
to you that, as fate would have it, sitting to your left is a gen-
tleman, Mr. Canterbury, representing—345,000, did you say?

Mr. C ANTERBURY . Yes, Sir.

Senator DURBIN . Members of the police who put their lives on
the line every single day, and those guns on the street are aimed
at them many times. And if there is ever a moment when the vic-
tims of gun violence like you, Reverend Risher, and Mr. Canter-
bury and the police ever come together on agreement on a piece of
legislation, call me immediately. It will be a breakthrough moment.
We can talk about gun safety with credible voices on both sides.



158

Mr. Canterbury, while on the subject, thank you for the First
Step Act. The endorsement of the Fraternal Order of Police and
criminal justice reform and prison reform was historic and mean-
ingful and made a difference.

It was also noteworthy that we had the support of the prosecu-
tors, the criminal prosecutors across this country, and the support
of the American Civil Liberties Union. Go figure. How many times
has this bunch ever gotten together? Not very often. But | think
we passed something historic as a result of that, and | just want
to personally thank you and publicly thank you for the role that
your organization played in it.

Mr. Johnson, we are looking back on the history of Mr. Barr, the
things that he said, things that he has done, and | gave a speech
that people have heard a few times now, but they were startled the
first time | gave it. The title of my speech is, “Let Me Tell You
About the Worst Vote | Ever Cast as a Member of Congress.”

It was over 25 years ago, and | will bet you know what it was.
It was 100—to-1, crack cocaine to powder cocaine. We were deter-
mined to stop this new narcotic in its tracks. It was super cheap.
It was deadly. Pregnant women who got hooked on crack cocaine
would give birth to babies with lifelong problems, and we came
down as hard as we could, not just with 100-to—1 but mandatory
minimum sentences on top of it. Three strikes and you were out
for life, and we hit them hard, and we watched our prison popu-
lation explode, primarily with African Americans.

| look back on it as a big mistake, one of the worst | ever made
as a public official, and | have tried to rectify it. We passed the
Fair Sentencing Act 8 years ago. We have now passed the First
Step Act. We are starting to give to these men and some women
a chance to start their lives again.

So now we look at Mr. Barr, and some of the things he said were
consistent with my vote and the votes of a lot of Democrats back
in the day when we were getting tough on narcotics, and he was
as tough as it gets. He was writing books about building more pris-
ons and putting more people in these prisons. He has continued in
that vein up until the last few years.

So | just want to tell you, | pray for redemption, both personal
and political. Do you think Mr. Barr is entitled to a chance to re-
deem himself when it comes to this issue?

Mr. J oHNSON . Thank you, Senator Durbin. | think any individual
is entitled to redeem himself when they make a mistake. Our posi-
tion on mass incarceration is just that. We have had a lot of indi-
viduals who have made a mistake who should have been exoner-
ated or not prosecuted to the extent they were.

| grew up in Detroit, Michigan. | lived through the crack epi-
demic in the 1980s. | have seen the damage it did, but | have also
seen many individuals who were thrown away for many, many
years. For an individual who is situated to acknowledge the history
of what took place and, as you have just done, to say | made a mis-
take, that is a good thing. | have not heard that from the nominee.
That is my concern.

The other concern | have goes back to the exchange earlier when
we oftentimes conflate civil rights issues, issues of democracy, with
partisan considerations. Ensuring that individuals have access to
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the vote is not a partisan issue. It is an issue of democracy, and
any A.G. should vigorously protect the right of individuals to vote,
especially when over the last 2 years we have seen more attacks
on voter suppression than we have seen in the last 25 years.

Issues of equal protection under the law, it is not a partisan
issue. It is an issue to ensure that all citizens of this Nation are
afforded equal treatment.

So our objection to Mr. Barr’s nomination is not a partisan issue.
It is not an issue of disagreement. It is an issue of concern as it
relates to the mass incarceration and the vigorous prosecution that
took place in the 1990s and whether or not we are considering a
nominee who is still thinking in the 1990s frame or are we looking
at a nominee who is really looking at the First Step Act and the
progress that has been made.

Senator DuURBIN . | only have a minute left, but | want to take
it to the issue that you took it to, and | invite Mayor Morial to join
in on this too.

This question of election integrity has become a code word. When
you hear election integrity from the other political party, it is about
making sure that people who are not qualified and not legally eligi-
ble do not vote, and | do not think anybody disagrees with that
premise. But there is something else going on in the name of voter
integrity, and that is obstacles to voting that are totally unneces-
sary and really discourage people from using this right which is
fundamental to a democracy.

When | held hearings in this Committee in Ohio and in Florida
and asked them about ID cards and early voting and said, what is
the incidence of voting abuse in your State that led you to make
it harder to vote, there were none. | think it is just a policy, a polit-
ical policy, to fight demographics to try to keep people away from
the polls who may change the outcomes of elections.

| did not hear yesterday from Mr. Barr any commitment to voter
integrity in the terms that you and | would probably discuss it, and
that concerns me. | am not sure | can expect to hear it under this
administration.

But—Mr. Morial, would you close?

Mr. M oriAL . | think there is something important about what
you are saying. | would certainly point the Committee to exit polls
that took place after the 2018 election wherein people were asked,
Do you believe that voter suppression or voter fraud was a greater
issue? Voter suppression won the poll of the American people over-
whelmingly. These are exit polls where the numbers were sort of
58, and voter fraud was down, maybe in the thirties or forties. That
is number one.

Number two, the Shelby case has done significant damage, be-
cause it was post-Shelby that 40—the shenanigans of voter sup-
pression, of cutting back on early voting, on voter ID laws, on re-
stricting groups like the League of Women Voters in conducting
voter registration drives really, really exploded. Some 40 States
had proposals to restrict access to the ballot box.

When | think about this, | think about it that we are waging war
to, quote, “promote democracy,” Senator Graham, in Iraq, in Af-
ghanistan. But right here on the home front, how can we coun-
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tenance efforts based on no evidence to restrict access to the ballot
box?

The Shelby decision, | predict, will be seen in history the way
Dred was seen, the way Plessy was seen: as a bad, ill-advised deci-
sion. We need—because what we are left with is the power of the
Justice Department under Section 2, and under Sessions, not one
single Section 2 case was brought even though you have had this
explosion of voter suppression efforts.

So, what we need is an Attorney General who says, | am com-
mitted to the utilization of my Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act
powers to enforce the Voting Rights Act. | would certainly encour-
age that the nominee be asked his position on this, because this is
so crucial to the protection of democracy, which is really what this
Nation is all about. Democracy and voting is at the foundation of
our system.

Chairman G raHAM . | will make a quick comment, and then, Sen-
ator Kennedy.

| am glad you mentioned Iraq and other places where we are try-
ing to help people. There was an attack today on a restaurant. |
think it is the same restaurant | visited with Kurds and Arabs and
others in Manbij, Syria, to hold on to some representative govern-
ment. Unfortunately, | believe some American advisors were killed
there by ISIS. So this is not the subject matter of the hearing, but
| want to make a quick statement.

My concern about the statements made by President Trump is
that you have set in motion enthusiasm by the enemy we are fight-
ing. You have made people who we are trying to help wonder about
us, and as they get bolder, the people we are trying to help are
going to get more uncertain. | saw this in Irag, and | am now see-
ing it in Syria.

Every American wants our troops to come home, but | think all
of us want to make sure that when they do come home, we are
safe, and | do not know how we are ever going to be safe if people
over there cannot, at least, sit down and talk with each other. The
only reason the Kurds and the Arabs and the Christians were in
that restaurant was because we gave them the space to be in that
restaurant.

You can think what you want to about those people over there,
but they have had enough of killing. They would love to have the
opportunity that we have, to fix their problems without the force
of violence.

So | would hope the President would look long and hard before
he set it in Syria. | know people are frustrated, but we are never
going to be safe here unless we are willing to help people over
there who will stand up against this radical ideology.

Here is the good news. Very few fathers and mothers over there
want to turn their daughters over to ISIS, their sons over to ISIS.
They just need our help.

So to those who lost their lives today in Syria, you were defend-
ing America, in my view. To those in Syria who are trying to work
together, you are providing the best in hope for your country. |
hope the President will look long and hard about what we are
doing in Syria.

Senator Kennedy.
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Senator K ENNEDY . Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Pastor, 1 am very, very sorry for your loss. | wanted to tell you
that personally.

Reverend RISHER . Thank you, Senator.

Senator K ENNEDY . Before | ask my sole question, which | will di-
rect to each of you to comment briefly, if you could, | want to do
a couple of things. | want to give a shout out to my former mayor,
Mayor Morial. Many of you know him as the president and chief
executive officer of the Urban League. I, of course, know him in
that capacity as well, but | know him as our mayor in New Orleans
and as the head of the League of Cities and a State senator. We
still claim him in Louisiana.

| also want to recognize his sidekick, Senator Cravins—former
State Senator Cravins. We miss him in Louisiana, too.

| listened to the discussion we had about the scorecard that
Chairman Graham brought up. | want to make one very gentle ob-
servation that may be appropriate in other areas, including but not
limited to the challenges we face with the shutdown, and that is,
that so long as all of us on both sides and all sides and of every
political persuasion are drunk on certainty and virtue, it is going
to be hard to make progress. We probably ought to listen more and
talk a little less.

Here is my question, and if you do not care to answer it, that
is okay, or if you do not have any thoughts, but | would like to
know this. As you know, we have a Sixth Amendment right to
counsel in America. It is part of our Bill of Rights. But in some in-
stances, in too many instances, it is a hollow promise, and | would
like to know your thoughts about our Public Defender system in
America and whether you think it comports with the requirements
of the Sixth Amendment, the right to counsel.

We will start down here and just go down there, if that is okay.

I would ask you all to be brief because | want everybody to have
a chance.

Mr. C ANTERBURY . From our experience, the Public Defender sys-
tem is in dire need of assistance. It leads to plea bargains that
should not have happened, and we would definitely support more
money for right to counsel. We do not take a back seat to anybody
on your right to be represented. The system is woefully under-
funded.

Senator K ENNEDY . Okay. Thank you, sir.

Pastor?

Reverend RIsHER . | believe our Public Defender Office needs re-
sources. Most of the people that receive a Public Defender are
marginalized people without resources, and their opportunity to
have the best counsel they can is not something they get, and |
would want that office to be able to serve everyone regardless of
whether they have money or not.

Senator K ENNEDY . Okay.

Professor TURLEY . Senator, | am particularly thankful for you to
raise this issue. As a criminal defense attorney, | can tell you that
the Public Defender system is an utter wreck. It is underfunded.
Judges are sanctioning Public Defenders because they have too
many cases and they cannot get to court. So Public Defenders are
in this position where they cannot handle all the cases, and yet
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they are held in contempt, but they do not want to do a case inap-
propriately, without zealous representation.

So they have this absolutely impossible situation, and it is even
worse in the State system. | gave a speech in Pittsburgh and | sat
down with some Public Defenders there. The Public Defenders in
Pittsburgh who | had dinner with are all moonlighting as bar-
tenders and waiters to try to continue to be Public Defenders and
feed their families. | mean, that is how bad the system is.

Senator K ENNEDY . Professor?

Professor KinkoPF . | agree that Public Defenders are heroic pub-
lic servants. They are overworked, they are underpaid, and the sys-
tem of public defense and provision of counsel needs to expand far
beyond even the limited area it applies to now, into municipal
courts, into infractions that should not, but do, end up in people
serving jail time.

Ms. CARY. Senator, | am the daughter of a criminal defense law-
yer. | am married to a criminal defense lawyer, and he is the son
of a criminal defense lawyer. So | am all in favor of great lawyering
available for all Americans who find themselves in front of a court-
room.

The thing that | would suggest is, | am aware here, in Wash-
ington, of many law firms who are partnering pro bono with Public
Defender services to try to get young people in court and get them
great experience while also giving good representation to people
who need it. Maybe that is one of the answers that you can look
into. But my understanding is they need all the help they can get,
and maybe young people can help.

Senator K ENNEDY . Thanks.

Mr. M oriAL . A couple of quick things. | had the great privilege
and pleasure last year to speak in Atlanta to the Federal Public
Defender Service at its convening and gathering, and | would offer
to the Committee perhaps this, as an example of a bipartisan-ori-
ented initiative for this Committee, to hold hearings and do an ex-
amination of both the Federal Public Defender system, which may
be in a little bit better shape but underfunded and understaffed,
as well as local Public Defender systems, and you will get a real
sense of what everyone has said, how stretched, how overworked,
and how damaging this is to the operation of justice and to the con-
stitutional guarantee of the Sixth Amendment.

The last thing | would say is, in the late 1980s, Senator Ken-
nedy, | was part of a small group of lawyers that actually chal-
lenged the very same issue in Louisiana. We challenged it by ask-
ing the State Supreme Court to conduct an investigation, which
they did. They found that the system was underfunded, but then
they took the position that, as the Supreme Court, they could not
instruct the executive branch to adequately fund the Public De-
fender system.

The bottom line here is, | would offer this, and | am glad you
raised it, as an important element of this discussion around crimi-
nal justice reform, and that is to repair, to fix, to reform the Public
Defender systems both at the Federal, at the State, and also at the
local levels across this Nation.

Senator K ENNEDY . Thank you.
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Mr. T HompsoN. Thank you, Senator Kennedy, for raising this
issue. As someone who served on the board, at one time, of the At-
lanta Federal Defender Program, | think that the Public Defender
program, definitely at the Federal level, needs strengthening. How-
ever, at the State level, it is in total collapse. | think what the De-
partment of Justice can do, and you can pursue this with Attorney
General nominee Barr, is through the Office of Justice Programs
encourage OJP to develop programs to assist State Public Defender
Offices, appropriate funds for that purpose in terms of the grants,
because the Department of Justice is not the Department of Fed-
eral Prosecution. It is the Department of Justice. Thank you.

Mr. J oHNSON . | certainly agree with the panelists today that the
Public Defender system is in dire need. | served as a commissioner
on the State of Mississippi Access to Justice Commission, and we
reviewed this issue. Mississippi is one of the poorest States, similar
to Louisiana, and what we found was a system so corrupt it was
one of the primary factors for prison overcrowding, that a large
number of individuals are sitting in jail as pre-trial detainees be-
cause they have ineffective counsel or no counsel at all. So it is an
issue that | agree with my colleague, Marc Morial, that this could
be a bipartisan issue we could work on because the need is defi-
nitely there.

Senator K ENNEDY . Judge?

Judge M UKASEY . Senator, in my experience, | think it is probably
more limited than virtually the experience of all of the other panel-
ists because my experience is largely confined to one district in the
United States. That said, my experience with Federal defenders in
the Southern District of New York was that they were people of
unparalleled skill. There was competition to get those jobs, and
they were highly valued.

Similarly, under the Criminal Justice Act we appoint private
lawyers to represent defendants. Again, there is competition to get
on that list, so you really get lawyers, by and large, in my court
who represented indigent defendants were by and large more skill-
ful in my experience than the privately retained lawyers, some of
whom were simply showboats.

That said, | think the system is definitely in need of support, cer-
tainly at the State level. | second Larry Thompson'’s call for having
OJP target particular areas with grants so that there can be dem-
onstration projects that would show the way.

Senator K ENNEDY . Thanks to all of you. You honor us with your
time and your testimony today.

Chairman G rRAHAM . Senator Whitehouse.

Senator W HITEHOUSE . Thank you, Chairman.

And thank you very much to the panel, particularly Reverend
Risher. | would like to join my colleagues in expressing my appre-
ciation for your testimony here. | had the opportunity nearly 3
years ago to visit Emanuel AME Methodist Church with the Faith
and Politics Institute. It was one of the most moving experiences
of my life. It was remarkable, and to meet with the survivors a few
months later here in Washington was impressive, and | am so glad
that you are keeping that tragedy alive in our hearts because it
should not be overlooked, and | appreciate it.
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Reverend RisHER . Thank you, sir, for your words. And the Eman-
uel Nine will be something that | will continue to talk about their
lives to let other people know that they did not die in vain, and
| thank you for your comments.

Senator W HITEHOUSE . Do not ever stop.

Reverend RISHER . Thank you.

Senator WHITEHOUSE . Mr. Mukasey, | have some questions for
you, and | want to let you know right off the bat that this goes
back about 10 years, and so you will have full—I will give you
every chance to answer more fulsomely in written answers, you
know, questions for the record, so that if there is anything that you
do not recall now.

But the reason | wanted to ask you your questions is that | view
it, anyway, as a responsibility of the Attorney General to fearlessly
go where the evidence and the rule of law lead, and to allow, par-
ticularly in investigative matters, to let the evidence and the law
be your guides. Now, given the circumstances that surround the
Department, the willingness of an Attorney General to be inde-
pendent where evidence leads to the White House is of, | think,
particular moment.

And that takes me back to the investigation into the removal of
nine U.S. Attorneys in 2006. That report was concluded in 2008 on
your watch as Attorney General. As you will recall, it was a joint
effort. Those do not happen all that often in the Department, but
this was a joint effort between the Department of Justice Office of
Inspector General and the Department of Justice Office of Profes-
sional Responsibility.

The investigation led both into White House files and into Office
of Legal Counsel files. As to the White House files, the White
House refused to cooperate and refused to provide access to your
OIG OPR investigators to close out their investigation. The OLC
refused to provide un-redacted documents to members of their own
Department.

The report that was issued in 2008 indicated that the investiga-
tion had been, and | quote it here, “hampered and hindered” and
left with “gaps” as a result of the failure of the White House and
OLC to provide the necessary information to the investigators.

Judge M ukasey . That was the OIG report?

Senator WHITEHOUSE . Yes, OIG/OPR. It was both of them to-
gether, as you may recall.

So here is my concern. You were the Attorney General at the
time. You could have readily instructed OLC: Knock it off, guys,
provide these folks the documents. And while you cannot instruct
the White House what to do, when the investigation leads to the
White House gates and the White House gates come down, to me
it is the Attorney General’'s responsibility, at that point, to walk
down to the White House and say, one of two things is going to
happen, we are going to get cooperation in our investigation or we
are going to have a resignation, because the Department of Justice
needs to follow the law and the facts wherever, including into the
files of the Department.

As you know, there is no executive privilege issue as between the
Department of Justice and the White House. That is a separation
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of powers issue, and it keeps things from us but it does not limit
documents within the executive branch.

So, | would like to get, now, your recollection in a more fulsome
way, in a written fashion if you would like to elaborate, why it is
that you felt that when the Department of Justice had an ongoing
investigative matter that led to the gates of the White House, it
was okay for the White House to say, no, we are not cooperating,
and for the Department of Justice to stand down, because | think
that would be a lousy precedent for now.

Judge Mukasey . This goes to the qualifications of Mr. Barr to
serve as Attorney General, does it?

Senator WHITEHOUSE . To the extent that there is a concern about
whether he would be willing to do that, because we do not want
a replay of this. And if he is citing the Mukasey precedent, | want
to know more about the Mukasey precedent.

Judge M uKkaAsEYy . | doubt that he is citing the Mukasey precedent,
number one.

Number two, my recollection of that, which is dim over 10
years——

Senator W HITEHOUSE . Which is why you——

Judge M ukasey . Nonetheless, older people have a better recollec-
tion of the distant past sometimes than they do of the recent past,
so | do remember it to some extent.

My recollection is that the investigation did not lead to the gates
of the White House. It involves the circumstances under which nine
U.S. Attorneys were terminated, and those people were offered the
opportunity to come back. They were also offered apologies by me,
and that is the way the matter ended. That is my recollection.

Senator WHITEHOUSE . Okay. Well, | would ask you to take a look
at the question for the record that | will propound to you because
that is different than what the OIG and OPR said at the time, be-
cause they felt that they were hampered, hindered, and left with
gaps in their investigation, and it was White House files that were
at issue.

So my time is expired, but | hope we can settle this question be-
cause | do think it creates a difficult precedent in a world in which
the Department of Justice may now have to ask similarly tough
questions that take it into White House files.

Judge Mukasey . | seriously doubt that one investigation and
how it was handled creates a precedent in any sense for another,
but | will answer your question.

Senator W HITEHOUSE . Thank you.

Chairman G rRAHAM . Senator Grassley.

Senator GRASSLEY . First of all, for the Reverend, | do not under-
stand how people can have so much hate that they do what they
do. That is what comes to my mind all the time when | hear stories
like yours. | remember it from the day it happened. Thank you for
bringing it to our attention.

Reverend RisHER . Thank you, sir, for listening.

Senator GRASSLEY. Mr. Canterbury, you have talked some about
the First Step Act. | want to go back to the Fraternal Order of Po-
lice, who was very instrumental in helping get it across the finish
line. And obviously, as the Chairman of the Committee at that
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time, | thank you for doing that. We appreciate your strong leader-
ship.

The First Step Act requires that the Justice Department and the
Attorney General implement a risk and needs assessment system,
allow nonviolent inmates to receive earned time credit for partici-
pating in recidivism reduction programming, and recalculate good
time credit for all inmates.

Given Mr. Barr’'s past statements opposing criminal justice re-
form, especially sentencing reform, do you believe that he will be
able to dutifully implement the system that the Fraternal Order of
Police worked so hard to get passed? To be fair to Mr. Barr, yester-
day he testified that he would implement the law and not under-
mine it. Are you comfortable with that commitment?

Mr. C ANTERBURY . | think his past experience in following the law
speaks volumes to his ability to be able to take what Congress sent
to the President and the President signed and implement the pro-
gram. We have full confidence in that.

Senator GRrRAssLEY. Now, adding to what Senator Durbin said
about the vast support that this legislation had from what | would
say is extreme right to extreme left and everything in between—
law enforcement, the judicial branch, victim rights groups, civil
rights groups, faith groups—in your opinion, will Mr. Barr be able
to work with these stakeholders to effectively implement the First
Step Act?

Mr. C ANTERBURY . Yes, sir. We have full confidence that he will
be able to do that.

Senator GRrRASSLEY. Now to General Mukasey and to Mr. Thomp-
son. | am not questioning Mr. Barr’s truthfulness when | ask you
this question, but in the past Mr. Barr opposed our efforts at crimi-
nal justice reform. Mr. Barr also had concerns about the constitu-
tionality of the False Claims Act and opposed that law. Yesterday,
Mr. Barr testified that he would implement the First Step Act and
had no problem with the False Claims Act. We all know that the
Attorney General of the United States has a duty to enforce the
laws in a fair and even manner, and, of course, without personal
bias.

General Mukasey, in your opinion, will Mr. Barr be able to do
that? Do you believe that Mr. Barr will be able to faithfully imple-
ment and enforce the laws that he may not personally agree with?

Judge MUKASEY . | certainly think he will. His record shows that
he is—if he adheres to one thing, it is to the requirements of the
law. And | will tell you in my own case, | was initially opposed to
some part of the First Step Act. | later became a supporter of it.
So | am assuming that he will have the same open mind, at least,
the same open mind, that | have.

Senator GRAssSLEY. Okay. And, Mr. Thompson, along the same
lines, your opinion on Mr. Barr's ability to enforce the laws fairly,
evenly, and without personal bias?

Mr. T HOMPSON . Senator, as you know, | was a very strong sup-
porter of the First Step Act. If you look at what Attorney General
Barr did when he was Attorney General in the Bush administra-
tion and his emphasis in the Weed and Seed program on commu-
nity collaboration, his admitted statements to Reverend Joe Low-
ery, as | mentioned in my opening statement, about the failure of
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prison, putting more people in prison, to help rid our crime-infested
neighborhoods, he understands the need to do more than just lock
people up. So | think he will faithfully implement the First Step
Act, both in the spirit and literally.

Senator GRASSLEY. Also, do you, Mr. Thompson—since you have
worked with Mr. Barr so much, knowing him as you do, would you
say that he will be independent leader of the Justice Department
that we ought to expect? And—well, let me finish this because |
want General Mukasey also to speak to it. And maybe these ques-
tions come from the fact that we recently had an Attorney General
that referred to himself as the “wing man” for the President. So
what is your opinion of Mr. Barr’s ability to be independent head
of the Justice Department? Do you have any doubt that he will be
able to stand up to the President? So, it is kind of the same ques-
tion to both of you.

Judge Mukasey . | have not got any doubt at all. He has done
it in the past, number one. He is not anybody’s wing man. And |
think he understands that if he ever so behaved, he would come
back to the Department to find a mound of resignations on his
desk. So | do not think he would ever do anything like that, and
he is not inclined to do it.

Senator GRASSLEY . Mr. Thompson.

Mr. T HomPsoN . | agree with General Mukasey. Bill Barr under-
stands the many policies, traditions of the Department of Justice
that have stood for a separation between the Department and the
White House on matters of criminal investigations, decisions to in-
dict. |1 do not think that—the men and women that he has led over
the past years in the Department of Justice, | think he will under-
stand their respect for these traditions. And | think he will—he un-
derstands the nuances that lead to why we have these policies and
traditions, and | think he will faithfully follow them and support
them.

Senator GRASSLEY. Yes. And, for Ms. Cary and Mr. Thompson,
I think | will kind of answer my first question. | think you would
say about Mr. Barr’s fithess to be Attorney General in the United
States, but could you tell us some observations you have had about
him that leads you to believe he is the person that you have
worked with and then, in turn, to be a good Attorney General?

Ms. CARY. The year that he was Attorney General, in 1992, you
may recall, started with President Bush throwing up on the Japa-
nese prime minister. It was at the beginning of a rough year. As
General Mukasey pointed out, there was the Talladega prison riots.
There was the crack epidemic that Senator Durbin was talking
about. General Barr yesterday was pointing out that the violent
crime rate had quintupled over the previous three decades. Hurri-
cane Andrew—you may not remember this, but Hurricane Andrew
hit south Florida particularly hard and knocked out a tremendous
amount of Federal law enforcement resources down there. And
there was great fear that it was going to become sort of a lawless
place, where drug dealers would take control and the Coast Guard
would not be able to control things. And then there was also the
Rodney King verdict and the L.A. riots. So it was a very dangerous
year in a lot of ways.
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And | remember going to a press conference we were going to
have in Richmond, | think. It was with the late great Jack Kemp,
who was Secretary of HUD at the time. And as the two motorcades
pulled in with the Attorney General and the Secretary of HUD,
into this public housing project that we were going to talk about
how to make public housing projects more safe, right before we got
there, there was some sort of gang violence. And the law enforce-
ment had come in and arrested a whole bunch of people. And there
was gunfire. And so, as we got out of the cars, they came to Sec-
retary Kemp and General Barr. And they said, “It is still a little
dangerous here. There could be some stray bullets. We have got
two bulletproof vests for the two of you. And why don't you put
these on and head up to the podium?”

And General Barr points at me and says, “Well, what about her?”

And the agent said, “Oh, | am sorry, sir. We only have two bul-
letproof vests.”

And he says, “Okay. Well, Mary Kate, you take mine.”

And the agent said, “No, no, no, sir. That is not going to happen.
You take the vest. You head to the podium with Secretary Kemp.”

And he turns around to me, and he says, “Well, this is unaccept-
able. You get in the car, the armored limo, and just keep your head
down.”

And | thought at the time, “Boy, that tells you volumes about
him,” that he even noticed that | was standing there. But, really,
what was going on, the point of the story, is, that it was a very
dangerous place, and there were people who lived there all their
lives. And we were arriving in limos and going to be able to leave,
and they could not. And that, | think, made a big impression on
everybody involved, what people’s lives were like in this crazy year
of how dangerous things were, how bad the violent crime rate was.
And all he wanted to do was try to help some of these people who
were in these horrible situations. And | think that tells you vol-
umes about him and his motivations and the kinds of things he
tried to do as Attorney General. And, | think, | have no concerns
whatsoever about his enforcement of the First Step Act because
that is the kind of person he is.

Mr. T HOMPSON . Senator, | have observed Bill Barr in problem-
solving situations. Yes, he will be the leader, but he listens to peo-
ple very carefully. He has an open mind. He is respectful of dif-
ferent opinions. And he has a problem-solving personality in the
sense that everything is collaborative. And | think he will be a ter-
rific leader of the Department of Justice, and | have no doubt about
that.

Chairman G raHAM . Thank you. It is been a terrific panel. Sen-
ator Klobuchar, then we will take a break. You all have been going
at it for 2 hours. We will take a 10-minute comfort break after Sen-
ator Klobuchar. And we will plow through until we get done.
Thank you all for your patience.

Senator K LOBUCHAR . All right. Thank you very much, Mr. Chair-
man.

| am going to talk—start talking here about voting rights. |
asked a few questions of Mr. Barr about this, and it has been such
a problem across the country. | come from a State, as you know,
Mr. Johnson, with one of the highest voter turnouts, the highest in
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the last election. And part of that is because we have same-day reg-
istration, a bill that | have sponsored to bring out nationally. And

| have looked at the numbers that show States that have that.
Whether they are more red or more blue, they always are in the
top group for highest voter turnout. It makes a huge difference to
allow people to vote either with an ID or with a neighbor or with
some other forms of identification. And so | am very concerned
about the Supreme Court’s ruling, of course, in the  Shelby case.

And yesterday | asked Mr. Barr about the State election officials
in North Carolina who contacted the Justice Department to express
concerns about the integrity of the elections 9 months before the
election and about allegations of voter suppression. So he was not
there, of course, at the time, but | am just wondering how you
think the Department of Justice responded, how they should have
responded when they first heard from those State officials?

Mr. J oHNsSON . From the NAACP’s perspective, we are extremely
concerned with the lack of responsiveness from the Department of
Justice. Ever since the Shelby v. Holder case was decided, we knew
that Section 2 would be the vehicle to protect voters. The lack of
the current administration use of Section 2 was problematic. Mr.
Barr's commending AG Sessions’ tenure as AG is also concerning.
His lack of clarity on how he will use his Justice Department to
ensure all Americans can cast a ballot free of vote suppression or
intimidation leaves a huge question mark for us. Any individual
who serves as AG should have a primary consideration, the protec-
tion of the rights to vote of all citizens. It is not a partisan issue.

It should not be seen as a partisan issue. It should be something
that is above partisanship.

| am a resident of Mississippi. And we have seen the dog-whistle
politics for a very long time. In fact, if you look at the history of
voting in the State of Mississippi, some of the languages that were
used during the period called Redemption and after 1865 is being
used today. Some of the tactics that was used in 1870 and 1890 is
being used today. So we need a Justice Department that can rise
above partisanship and to appreciate that in order for our democ-
racy to truly work, all citizens should be afforded free and unfet-
tered access to the ballot box.

Senator KLOBUCHAR . Very good. Could not have said it better.
Thank you.

Mr. Mukasey, you and | worked together when you were Attor-
ney General. And, as you know, we had an issue in Minnesota, and
the U.S. Attorney left. And you worked with me to get a replace-
ment, which | truly appreciated. And we put someone good in place
in the interim, and the Office continues to be a very strong Office.
So, thank you for that.

Could you just briefly talk about when you were Attorney Gen-
eral. Did you ever say “No” to the White House?

Judge M UKASEY . Yes.

Senator K LOBUCHAR . Okay. Can you remember some of the in-
stances where you——

Judge M UKASEY . | remember one——

Senator K LOBUCHAR [continuing]. If some of them were public?

Judge MuUKASEY . | remember one in particular. And | cannot—
I mean, | do not think | can discuss it here.
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Senator K LOBUCHAR . Yes.

Judge MuUkasey . But it involved a position that the Government
would take in litigation. And the White House was of a particular
view, and the Department was of a particular view. And we pre-
vailed.

Senator K LOBUCHAR . So, you think that is an important—but |
had a discussion with Mr. Barr yesterday, just this concept of yes,
you are the President’s lawyer and that you are giving advice, but
you are also the people’s lawyer. And there are some times where
those may conflict. Do you want to just expand on that?

Judge MuUKASEY . Yes. | mean, when it comes to a pure legal posi-
tion and the White House has taken a policy position that affects
that legal position, yes, it gets very delicate. And it did in the one
instance that | mentioned. And the Solicitor was of a particular
view and was told, basically, “You do what you think the proper
view is, and let me take care of the politics.”

Senator K LOBUCHAR . Very good. All right. Thank you.

Mr. Morial, we—there has been discussion, bipartisan discussion,
up here about the First Step Act. And could you just talk about
some of the steps that we are going to need to take, that the Attor-
ney General will need to take, immediately to implement it?

Mr. M ORIAL . Yes.

Senator K LOBUCHAR . Because you can put all of the laws you
want on the books, but if you do not——

Mr. M oRIAL. Certainly. And let me just reaffirm my thanks to
you and every Member of the Committee who supported that. It
was a very, very long and difficult effort to arrive where we ar-
rived. We supported it early and continue to push for its improve-
ment, but it is the First Step Act.

The important, | think, step for the Attorney General is to get
this Oversight Committee in place with the right people on it, and
I think the most important thing that is going to be in the Attorney
General’s bailiwick is, one, organizing the U.S. Attorneys who are
going to be responsive to those who are going to go back to the
court where they were sentenced and request resentencing because
the resentencing, for example, for the crack cocaine disparity, is not
automatic. It is going to require a Public Defender service. It is
going to require private lawyers. And my hope is that the United
States Attorneys’ Offices are not going to get in the way, not going
to slow down the process, are going to move with speed and dis-
patch to facilitate and work with, if you will, criminal defense law-
yers to identify those who might be eligible and get the Act in im-
plementation.

But | also think that the aspect of it, which involves the work
of the Office of Justice, the Bureau of Prisons, which is the—and
this was a great concern under the Act, whether the Bureau of
Prisons was going to have the enthusiasm and the resources, Sen-
ator, to execute the ability of people to earn more “good” time,
which requires them to participate and develop release plans and
take steps toward preparing themselves for release. That is an en-
tire effort. | think you authorized some $350 million in order to do
that. That has got to be implemented. That has got to be executed.
And we do not need any foot dragging in order to do that. So, |
think, if the Committee continues to have oversight over the work



171

on resentencing and the work on the execution of the pre-release
program, and then the third element of it will certainly be—and
this was a great concern of ours—I think the nominee should be
asked to rescind the Sessions guidance that—wherein he directed
U.S. Attorneys to seek maximum sentences or the maximum pros-
ecution. So, if the nominee is going to be true to, “I will implement
the First Step Act,” then a good faith effort by him would be to re-
scind that guidance, right, to restore the discretion of the United
States Attorneys when it comes to charging decisions. So, there is
a lot of work to be done and | would urge the Committee to main-
tain its oversight role in ensuring that these things are executed.

Senator K LOBUCHAR . Okay. Thank you.

And | am out of time, but | wanted to thank you, Reverend, for
coming forward. And | will ask you on the record, not now, some
guestions about our bill that we have on stalking, because | know
you have been supportive of that, and on the boyfriend loophole. So
thank you.

And, Mr. Canterbury, we want to move forward on that cops bill
that we have with the training and the money for the officers. And
thank you for your support and work on that. Thank you.

Chairman G raHAM . Thank you. We will take a 10-minute recess
to give you a comfort break. | am going to have to go do something
else. And if Senator Blackburn would be kind enough to chair the
hearing until we are finished, | would appreciate it. And it has
been a great panel. Thank you, all, for coming—very, very much.
So, 10-minute recess.

[Whereupon the Committee was recessed and reconvened.]

Senator BLACKBURN [presiding]. The Committee will return to
order.

Senator Cornyn, you are recognized.

Senator CorNnYN . Thank you, Madam Chairman.

| was just complimenting Senator Blackburn on her rapid ascen-
sion to the Chairman of the Committee. | have been on the Com-
mittee for 16 years, and | haven't quite made it there. So, con-
gratulations.

Well, thank you all for coming and sharing your views. | cannot
help but comment on the stark differences that we are hearing
from the various witnesses about this particular nominee. He is ei-
ther the most-qualified person you could ever find, or he is the
least-qualified person, and there does not seem to be much room
in between.

But let me ask some specific questions. First, | want to talk a
second about criminal justice reform because it strikes me that of
all the topics that we have dealt with here recently, that is one of
the areas that brings us together. And | will just reflect, Mr. John-
son, | remember being in Dallas, Texas, maybe 10, 12 years ago.
| was visiting with a number of African-American pastors, and |
asked them, | said, What is the biggest problem in your congrega-
tion?

And they said, well, it is formerly incarcerated men who have a
felony on their record, and it is they cannot find a job, and they
cannot find a place to live. And that has sort of always haunted
me a little bit.
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But in light of some of the great work that has been done at the
State level on prison reform—and | would have to say | am proud
of the efforts made in Texas and elsewhere to try to provide people
opportunities when they are incarcerated, those who are willing to
accept responsibility for their own rehabilitation—that we have
had some remarkable successes in the people who have taken ad-
vantage of the opportunity to turn their lives around.

And | think our view as a Government and as a people has
changed significantly. Mr. Barr talked about 1992 and violent
crime back then, and there was a different attitude. And | think
we have learned from our experience.

But | want to go, General Mukasey, one of the things that you
testified to, | think, in a previous Congress when we were talking
about criminal justice reform, you said that really the test, the ulti-
mate test for the success of criminal justice reform is the crime
rate. | think | am quoting you correctly.

Could you explain that? Because there are a lot of people who
want to focus on other things, like incarceration rates and other
issues, but the crime rate, it strikes me—public safety—strikes me
as the most important one.

Judge Mukasey. Yes. | think that is—that is the ultimate test
for this, the statute that has just been passed and for future stat-
utes. What does it do to the crime rate?

The criminal justice system is there in substantial part to protect
the public. If it is doing that and the crime rate is dropping, then
bravo to the experience. And to a certain extent, it is going to be
an experiment. We will see how people do when they get out. We
will see how much money is saved and what it can be directed to-
ward by way of prevention, and hopefully, our situation will im-
prove.

Senator CornYN. Well, fortunately, in the criminal justice field,
though, we have actually used the States as the laboratories of de-
mocracy, and we tried this out before we have implemented at the
national level. And | think we have benefited from those State-
based experiences.

In my State, for example, we have reduced not only the crime
rate, but the recidivism rate, and we have closed plans to build
new prisons to incarcerate more people. So it really strikes me as
something that it is one of those unusual scenarios where, basi-
cally, we were able to come together, people of dramatically dif-
ferent ideology and orientation, and come together and do some-
thing very positive for the country. And | am—we are going to keep
an eye on the crime rate, to me is the litmus test of the success
of what we tried to do.

Professor Turley, | wanted to just, first of all, compliment you on
your article that you wrote in The Hill and just preface that—the
title, of course, was, “Witch Hunt or Mole Hunt? Times Bombshell
Blows Up All Theories.”

I have been extraordinarily troubled, frankly, by the
politicalization of the Department of Justice, including the FBI,
and | think you pretty much—in this polarized world we are living
in, you talk about cognitive bias. And depending on the lens you
are looking through, you can see a narrative, you can build a nar-
rative that tells your story.
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Would you take a minute to sort of explain the thesis of your ar-
ticle and the views you express there?

Professor TURLEY . Thank you, Senator.

What | thought was most interesting about The New York Times
article was actually not the point of the article, which was that the
President may have been investigated under the suspicion that he
could be an agent of a foreign power. But what came out to me
from the article was an insight into what and how the FBI was
looking at this early in the Trump administration, and we also
have an insight of how the Trump administration was viewing
what the FBI was doing. And this gets to the issue of cognitive
bias.

That it is a well-known concept that you can look at a problem
with a bias where you see things that reaffirm your suspicion. But
in this case, the FBI moved early on with an investigation that the
White House was aware of. That fulfilled the White House’s own
bias that this was a “deep state” conspiracy, and the White House
pushed back.

And when the White House pushed back, it fulfilled the cognitive
bias of the FBI that they are trying to hide something. And if you
take a look at the timeline, you see this action and reaction occur-
ring where each side is reaffirmed by the actions of the other side.

So what the column raises is a distinct possibility that we might
not have Russian collusion or a “deep state” conspiracy. That we
may have two sides that are fulfilling each other’'s narrative, and
we have gone so far down this road that it is impossible now to
stop and say, well, what if neither of these things actually did
exist?

In economics, it is called “pathway dependence,” that you can in-
vest so much into a single path that you can no longer break from
it. And so what the column is suggesting is that perhaps we can
actually use these stories and take a step back. And instead of as-
suming the worst motivations by both sides, look at this as wheth-
er both sides were trying to do what they thought was right or re-
acting to what they thought was correct, but they might have both
been wrong.

Senator CorRNYN. Madam Chairman, my time is up. Could | take
one more minute?

Senator B LACKBURN . Without objection.

Senator CorNYN. Yesterday, | was asking Mr. Barr about Rod
Rosenstein’s memo that is entitled, “Restoring Public Confidence in
the FBI.” And to me, one of the most encouraging things about Mr.
Barr's appointment is, | think he is exactly the kind of person who
could do that, having done this 27 years ago and being willing to
do it again for no other reason than his desire to help restore con-
fidence in the Department of Justice and the FBI.

So, but if you go back even further, back when James Comey
was—and the FBI were investigating Hillary Clinton’s email serv-
er, and he took the unprecedented step of having a press con-
ference on July the 7th, 2016, at which he essentially exonerated
Ms. Clinton while detailing all the derogatory information in the
investigation. And then later on had to come back because of that
press conference when the Weiner laptop was identified and say,
hey, we found some more emails.
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The idea that the FBI and the Department of Justice would be-
come so tangled up in an election and potentially influence an elec-
tion is really unprecedented in our country and very dangerous,
from my perspective. And then, of course, when Mr. Comey was
fired by the President, then folks on the left thought he was St.
James and after he had been the devil, | guess, previously when
he was investigating Ms. Clinton.

So | do think there is some of that cognitive bias going on here,
and we need to identify it and maybe step back from it and learn
from it.

Thank you, Madam Chairman.

Senator B LACKBURN . Senator Hirono.

Senator H IRoNO . Thank you, Madam Chair.

Reverend Risher, |, too, have had the opportunity to meet with
some of the survivors of that tragic day, and so thank you very
much for your heartfelt reminder of the work that remains for us
to do.

Professor Kinkopf, you have written a lot about the unitary exec-
utive, and that is something that Mr. Barr subscribes to. So | found
it really interesting what you mentioned today because there were
a lot of questions from so many of us, seeking reassurances from
Mr. Barr that he would not interfere with the Mueller investigation
in any way, shape, or form.

And today, though, you said those assurances are irrelevant be-
cause under the unitary executive theory that if Mr. Barr were
asked can the President fire Mr. Mueller, Mr. Barr would say yes.
So there goes the entire investigation.

| found that to be a really interesting statement on your part. So
that means that let us say that if the President does fire Mueller,
and one would say that under a normal circumstance that kind of
firing could be part and parcel of an obstruction of justice kind of
investigation. But if the entire underlying investigation goes away
because the investigator is fired, then where are we?

So that is very interesting as we sought to see the kind of reas-
surances that would enable us to feel that the Mueller investiga-
tion is, in fact, going to be able to proceed.

So you talked a little bit about what the impact of the unitary
executive—and | do—that theory—and | do understand that there
is a range. It is not—you know, there is a continuum there. So |
just want to ask, under the unitary executive theory, can a Presi-
dent commit obstruction of justice with impunity?

Professor KinkopF . So | will answer based on the memo that——

Senator H IRONO . Yes.

Mr. K INKOPF . Mr. Barr wrote last summer, because, as you say,
there is a range, and so the answer would be different, depending
on where you are on the range.

The Barr memo allows that there may be circumstances where
a President can be understood to have committed obstruction of
justice. Now that is different from saying the President can be
charged with obstruction of justice, and in fact, Mr. Barr yesterday
during his testimony said he sees no reason to deviate from the De-
partment’s policy that a sitting President cannot be indicted.

But even within that construct that a President can commit ob-
struction of justice, it is really difficult to see on his theory how
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that would end up happening, because he says when the President
exercises a legitimate Executive power, that that cannot provide

the basis for an obstruction of justice charge. And therefore, if he

exercises his authority to fire someone—James Comey is the dis-
cussion in the memo—then that cannot be the basis of an obstruc-
tion of justice charge.

If President Trump then used his authority to fire Mueller, that,
by extension, would not be something that could serve as the basis
of an obstruction of justice charge on the theory set forth in the
memo. And | think he should be, at least, asked in follow-up ques-
tions, whether or not he would apply the logic of the memo to that
situation, and he should be asked if that were to transpire, would
he resign?

Because | think yesterday, he indicated that that would be an
abuse of power, and that is something an Attorney General should
resign if the Attorney General sees.

Senator H IRONO . | think you have given us a further line of ques-
tions to submit to Mr. Barr.

Regarding the Voting Rights Act, so this is for Mr. Johnson and
Mr. Morial, we know that after the = Shelby County decision, there
were many, many States that passed all kinds of legislation that
would be considered by a lot of us as voter suppression.

And yesterday, Mr. Barr testified that he would vigorously en-
force the Voting Rights Act, the Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act.
For the two of you, since there has not been a single Section 2 pro-
ceeding brought by the Justice Department, what specifically could
Mr. Barr—what would you want Mr. Barr to do to vigorously en-
force the Voting Rights Act, as he testified yesterday?

Mr. M oRIAL . | think, number one, that he should review the deci-
sion by the Justice Department to switch sides in these two cases.
One has been resolved.

Number two, he should ask the Voting Section of the Civil Rights
Division to present to him all instances where the Justice Depart-
ment has been asked to initiate Section 2 claims.

Number three, | believe that he should investigate, evaluate, and
review those States that have passed voter suppression law to de-
termine whether, in fact, they are discriminatory. And in fact, if
they are discriminatory, to initiate a Section 2 claim.

The issue is, is for the Attorney General and the many competent
lawyers in the Civil Rights Division at Justice to do their job with-
out political interference, to make recommendations to him on
what steps should be taken. A lot of stuff has been put into the
deep freeze in the Sessions administration because he was just not
interested at all in enforcing the Voting Rights Act because he dis-
agreed with the Voting Rights Act and had had a long career of dis-
agreeing with the Voting Rights Act.

Well, the Attorney General does not have an option to pick or
choose which laws they want to enforce. They must enforce all laws
that are vigorous—vigorously because it is your job, as the legisla-
tive branch, to pass those laws.

So, | think, that there are a number of things that the Attorney
General can do, and most importantly, to publicly state that he will
not follow the policy of Attorney General Sessions when it comes
to the entire realm of civil rights. It is important for him to be on
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the record as forceful as possible, but also to commit to take the
necessary steps to ensure that Section 2 is vigorously enforced and
also to look at those instances where the Justice Department has
either switched sides——

Senator HIRONO . Yes.

Mr. M orIAL . Or refused to take a position. The case | mentioned
earlier in my testimony, the Chisom case, which was a judicial re-
apportionment case in which | was a plaintifi. The case was
brought in 1985. It was decided by the Supreme Court in 1991—
was a case where the Justice Department sided with us during the
Reagan administration.

And so the consistency of the Justice Department in siding, tak-
ing an affirmative stand in voting rights cases in support of those
who have been aggrieved is something that until the Sessions ad-
ministration was a bipartisan matter. And | think that this nomi-
nee should be asked whether he is going to restore that emphasis
and that integrity to the enforcement of the Voting Rights Act.

Senator H iIrRoNO . Madam Chair, | would like to ask Mr. Johnson
to respond.

Mr. JoHNSON. | agree with my colleague, but | also think he
should intervene in current litigation. There are several ongoing
voting rights cases that are taking place across the country.

Second, he should work to fix the issue around Section 5. The
House Special Committee on the Voting Rights Act will be doing
hearings across the country, from my understanding, and if he be-
comes the Attorney General, he should seek to also support a fix
in terms of Section 5.

And then, third, review formerly covered jurisdictions to see if,
in fact, they have made changes in their policies, practices, or pro-
cedures and if those changes were, in fact, vote suppression meth-
ods so we can document the record to show that without a
proactive Justice Department and law, jurisdictions will revert
back to past practices of discriminatory actions.

Senator H IRONO . Thank you.

Senator BLACKBURN . | recognize myself for questions at this
time.

And Mr. Turley, | would like to come to you first. You spoke last
December at the Press Club about privacy rights and security in
a world with changing technology and the rising use of artificial in-
telligence and facial recognition technology. And the challenges
that that is going to pose for the Justice Department, | think we
all realize they are going to be there and will have to be con-
fronted.

And no clear answers have emerged at this point as to who owns
the virtual you, you and your presence online. And more and more
now, on a daily basis we are hearing from consumers who are
wanting to make certain that there are privacy protections in a dig-
ital world and in that virtual space and that they are for everybody
and that everybody plays for the rules.

So Mr. Barr is going to have to address these issues because it
is going to require greater enforcement from the Attorney General.
And | would like to hear from you on the role that you see the De-
partment of Justice under Mr. Barr’s leadership playing as we deal
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with companies like Twitter and Facebook and some of these edge
providers in the technology space.

Professor TURLEY . Thank you, Senator.

Of those emerging areas, facial recognition technology is probably
the fastest moving and the one that has to be addressed the soon-
est. | have already spoken with people at Justice Department and
to see if there is any way that the privacy community and the Gov-
ernment and private industry could find common ground here.

| think that for privacy advocates, we can no longer just simply
say that all facial recognition technology is an evil, and we are not
going to work with it. Part of the reason is that the Fourth Amend-
ment controls the Government. It does not control private busi-
nesses.

And this market has progressed to the point that you are not
going to get that cat to walk backward. | mean, this is a—this is
an emerging market. The Chinese have put a huge amount of in-
vestment in it. If you just land at Shanghai, you will see what fa-
cial technology is going to look like across—around the world.

So the question is, how do we then marry the privacy values that
we have with the legitimate security interests of the Government?
And the answer is, there is a couple of things that we can do. One
is, that most of this technology is going to require a data bank to
be used effectively, including facial recognition data.

We can act proactively to try to create privacy protection for the
access of that information, how long that information can be stored,
for what reasons it can be used. We need to really get ahead of
this. And frankly, Bill Barr is a perfect person to do this because
not only does he have really the law enforcement chops in terms
of understanding how technology is used, but he has spent a lot of
time in private business at the highest levels.

And so | cannot imagine anyone better on this issue, quite frank-
ly, to tackle it.

Senator B LACKBURN . Mr. Thompson, let me come to you with an-
other technology question because last fall DOJ met with some of
our States’ Attorneys General to talk about the frustrations with
Google and Amazon and some of these edge providers and their
failure to protect consumer data and also their anti-competitive be-
havior.

And one of the things that came out of this was how Google
prioritizes search results—theirs—to give them a competitive ad-
vantage over Yelp. So we know that these challenges are only going
to be resolved if there is a multifaceted strategy that includes a
partnership with our States’ Attorneys General and if there is en-
forcement by the Antitrust Division and Consumer Protection
Branch.

So, with that in mind, how would you advise Mr. Barr or how
do you see him moving forward at DOJ to deal with big tech and
these issues that they are really confronting consumers every day?

Mr. T HoMPsoN . What | see with respect to your question, Sen-
ator, is that this is something, number one, that | really do not
know a lot about this. But | think the Attorney General nominee,
if he is selected, would come in and review with career Department
of Justice lawyers and other professionals in the Department on
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the issue, review the issues, listen to them carefully. This is what
he has done on other issues of import.

But more importantly to your question is that, | think, he has
great experience in the past of working with joint task forces, joint
efforts with State and local authorities, especially the State AGs,
and he knows how to do this. He has done it successfully in the
past, and | think he would be able to work with our State law en-
forcement colleagues and get at the answers to—that are raised in
your question. Very important, very important matters.

Senator BLACKBURN . In the minute that | have left and before
| yield—Mr. Blumenthal will be next—I just want to thank each
of you for being here.

And Reverend Risher, | want to thank you for your testimony.
And in the—I| came to the Senate from the House, and we have
passed some of the red flag legislation that Senator Graham had
mentioned that he is working on here in the Senate. We look for-
ward to some of those steps being taken, and | know that is some-
thing that is important to you.

And Mr. Canterbury, we always thank you for the work you do
for the thin blue line.

Mr. C ANTERBURY . Thank you.

Senator B LACKBURN . And the good work that you all are doing
there.

My time has expired.

Senator Harris, you were actually next. You are recognized.

Senator H ARRIS. Thank you. | appreciate that.

And thank you, Senator Blumenthal.

Mr. Morial, as we have heard, there has been a lot of discussion
about this nominee and the book that was entitled, “The Case for
More Incarceration,” for which Mr. Barr wrote the foreword. There
has been concern about his opposition to efforts to lower mandatory
minimums.

And so my question to you is based on your experience as the
mayor of New Orleans. During the time you were mayor, you saw
a 60 percent reduction in violent crime. And as General Mukasey
has talked about and others, one measure of the effectiveness of
criminal justice policies is a reduction in crime.

Mr. M oRIAL . Right.

Senator H ARRIS. So can you talk a bit about what it is that as
mayor you did and perhaps even best practices around the country
that have led to a reduction in crime?

Mr. M orIAL . Well, thank you very much for your question, and
it was a powerful moment for our community when we changed the
landscape of public safety. And | might add, we embarked on a
plan that was comprehensive in nature. There was a law enforce-
ment component to it, but there was also a human services and
youth development component to it. And | set aside the debate be-
tween the two and said that we needed to do both.

So our law enforcement component was a comprehensive reform
of what was at that time a very broken New Orleans Police Depart-
ment. And that comprehensive reform included weeding out corrup-
tion, dealing with a very brutal police force. It involved discipline
and firing and remaking of how we recruited, how we trained, how
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we paid, how we deployed, how we used technology. It was broad-
based. It was highly successful.

We did not have the problems whatsoever because we also put
our foot down and said we were going to have responsible and con-
stitutional policing. So it is important in the context of the Justice
Department—and when | took office, there was a Justice Depart-
ment investigation of the New Orleans Police Department. And in-
stead of fighting the investigation, instead of trying to delay the in-
vestigation, | worked with the Justice Department and presented
my own far-reaching, far-ranging plan, which, at that time, went
farther—we were prepared to go farther on a proactive basis than
any Department at that time had gone under a consent decree.

That is number one. But number two, and this is part of the pur-
view, because Justice, in addition to its law enforcement responsi-
bility, runs mentoring programs, programs funded by the Office of
Justice Programs. In the old days, Weed and Seed.

We also deployed and made full utilization of all of those initia-
tives, too, to invest in youth development, to expand recreation, to
expand after school programs, to expand youth summer jobs. It was
not just law enforcement. It was not just human services. It was
a combination of the two. So | think it is important to understand
that Justice has law enforcement responsibilities, but also Justice
has responsibilities with respect to investing in a community, in-
vesting in youth.

| would point this out, and | think this is important. At the time,
and this was during the Clinton administration, the Clinton admin-
istration worked cooperatively with us both to help us pursue vio-
lent crime through gun prosecutions and drug prosecutions, but
also invested through Weed and Seed and Office of Justice Pro-
grams. Also at that time, you had the Community Oriented Polic-
ing program, which provided us with additional resources for police
technology.

So the lesson to be learned, and | would say this, the consent de-
crees that are out there—and this is misunderstood by people. A
consent decree is, by its very definition, a voluntary agreement be-
tween a city and its police department and the Justice Department.
And most of those consent decrees that are entered into have been
entered into in lieu of litigation that the Department had the right
to do.

So the idea that pursuing consent decrees is, in effect, a vol-
untary collaboration. And | think General Sessions was against
consent decrees but offered nothing in exchange, offered no other
strategy in exchange. “I am just against consent decrees because |
think that they negatively affect police morale,” but did not offer
another approach.

We need this nominee to indicate that he is going to be com-
mitted to constitutional policing, committed to public safety. But
understand that public safety, we have learned, is not just crack-
down law enforcement. It is something much more comprehensive.
It is something much more proactive.

Yes, you have got to prosecute violent offenders, no doubt. But
you have also got to ensure that there are reentry programs so that
when people come out of jail, they are not apt to repeat. And that
is part of, | think, a sensible, smart on crime initiative.
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| hope that helps.

Senator H ARRIS. And, as a follow-up to your point, some of the
best and most innovative initiatives we have seen in the last few—
in a couple of decades on criminal justice policy have been the re-
sult of the U.S. Department of Justice funding innovation in a way
that supports local law enforcement, local prosecutors, and local
community groups to create the kind of collaboration that you are
talking about.

Mr. M orIAL. There used to be a Local Law Enforcement Block
Grant Program——

Senator H ARRIS. Right.

Mr. M oRIAL. That provided money, which allowed you, because
State—city governments are strapped always for resources, that
created a way for you to invest in some innovation, some collabora-
tion, some differential sorts of things. And | think Justice can play
a proactive, smart-on-crime role in helping make our communities
safer.

Senator HARRIS. Thank you. Mr. Johnson, you have testified
about your concern about the nominee’s statements that have been
made in the past about the fact that there is not statistical evi-
dence of racism in the criminal justice system. He did mention dur-
ing his testimony yesterday and acknowledged the disparities be-
tween crack and powder cocaine enforcement, but did not acknowl-
edge or mention any other of the disparities that we have seen in
the criminal justice system, such as arrest rates that relate to a va-
riety of crimes, but, in particular, drug crimes, the disparities
based on race in terms of who gets what amount of bail in the
criminal justice system, and, of course, incarceration rates, which
there are huge distinctions based on race in terms of the applica-
tion of sentences. So if he is confirmed, what do you believe will
be the ramifications or—of his failure to acknowledge that, and
what do you—what would you recommend he do if he is confirmed
to acknowledge and to be informed about these disparities?

Mr. J oHNsON . An individual who serves as Attorney General of
this Nation must recognize the long legacy of race disparity. And
as AG, | would hope that he would really look into the credible re-
search, and it would obvious that in the criminal justice system
there is a huge disparity. Some of that could be accounted for based
on income, but much of it is accounted for based on the racial
makeup of juries. It could be accounted for selective prosecution. It
could be accounted for as it relates to a myriad of things.

And as the Attorney General, | would hope he would factor in
that race is a problem. We are far from a post-racial society, and
we must attack problems with a racial lens because there is very
little in our criminal justice system that is race neutral.

Senator H ARRIS. And just one more question, Madam Chair. He
did—I requested that if—within a period of time, if he—if he is
confirmed, that he would meet with civil rights groups to under-
stand the ramifications of any policies. He agreed to do that within
the first 120 days, if confirmed. | think that we will all expect that
he will do that, and | look forward to hearing about the results of
those meetings. And thank you.

Mr. J oHNSON . Thank you.

Senator B LACKBURN . Senator Cruz.
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Senator CrRuz. Thank you, Madam Chairman. Let me say thank
you to each of the distinguished witnesses for being here, for being
part of this hearing. | appreciate your testimony and wisdom and
judgment.

Judge Mukasey, let me—let me start with you. You have served
as a Federal judge, you have served as U.S. Attorney General, as
has Mr. Barr, and you have built a long and distinguished career
of public service. Can you share, for this Committee, in your judg-
ment, the importance of rule of law and the importance of having
an Attorney General who is faithful to enforcing the law and Con-
stitution regardless of party, regardless of partisan interest?

Judge MUKASEY . It is really the only guarantee that we have be-
cause this country is defined by and is constituted by a law, the
Constitution. It is not based on land. It is not based on blood. It
is based on the law. It all started with a law. And that is what we
have built the society on, the notion that you can have a society
in which—that operates fairly, in which neutral principles neu-
trally applied allow people to reach their maximum potential. If
that is ever abandoned, if it is deviated from, if it is ever perceived
to be deviated from, then we are lost. Then we have no—nothing
to define us because we are defined by a law.

Senator CrRuz. Now, you have testified today that you know that
Mr. Barr is a, quote, supreme—"superbly qualified nominee, that
he has good judgment, and just importantly, that he has the will
to exercise that judgment despite pressure from any source.” Can
you share with the Committee what in your professional or per-
sonal experience gives you confidence that Mr. Barr will once again
well and ably carry out the responsibility of Attorney General of
the United States?

Judge Mukasey . Well, as | mentioned, he has had a past history
of doing that when he served as Attorney General, notwithstanding
that a desired—it was a desired result from the White House, and
he kind of deflected it and, as it were, laughed it off. He is some-
body who has testified here that—in view of the fact that most of
his career is the rearview mirror. He does not really have to con-
cern himself with the possible negative consequences of resisting
pressure from an administration. So that is an additional—that is
an additional guarantee.

But | think the person himself and who he has been over the
years consistently really speaks to that, and it is not just a ques-
tion of his having nothing to lose. | think that is the way he is con-
stituted. As Professor Turley said, he is a “law nerd,” meaning he
is devoted in a—in a way that very few people are to what defines
this country, and that is what he enjoys. That is his occupation and
his preoccupation. And that is, | think, an excellent guarantee for
the way he is going to approach the job.

Senator Cruz. Well, this Committee, in particular, | think you
will find no criticism for being a law nerd. We tend to attract more
than a few of them.

Mr. Thompson, you, likewise, have a long, distinguished, honor-
able career marred only by briefing being my boss at the Depart-
ment of Justice. And | apologize for all of my errant mistakes since
then—that time. Let me ask you the same question | asked Judge
Mukasey, which is, in your professional and personal career and
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interactions with Mr. Barr, what gives you confidence that he will
once again ably carry out the role of Attorney General?

Mr. T HOMPSON. Thank you, Senator, and | am very proud to
have you as one of my colleagues and former alums from the Dep-
uty Attorney General's Office. You have certainly acquitted yourself
well. Bill Barr has a long history in the Department of Justice as
| said in my opening statement. He has a great love for the Depart-
ment. | think that may be one of the reasons he wants to return
to public service. He has great fidelity to the Department.

But in addition to some of the sort of sterile constitutional ques-
tions that we have been discussing this morning, important but
still sterile in my view, he understands the traditions of the De-
partment of Justice. He respects the traditions of the Department
of Justice. He knows the impact that his decisions will have on the
men and women who are in the Department, who are in the inves-
tigative agencies.

And there are reasons for these policies. There are good reasons
for these traditions, not the least important of which is public per-
ception, that justice in this country, investigative decisions in this
country are carried out fairly, without fear or favor of what your
status is in society, and, most importantly, without political consid-
erations. He understands this, and | think this makes him superbly
qualified to be, again, the Attorney General of the United States.

Senator Cruz. Thank you. Ms. Cary, you have worked with Mr.
Barr some 2 decades. One of the things you testified about was Mr.
Barr's busy schedule, long travel hours, and yet in the midst of it
all, juggling to find time to be a husband and a dad to his three
daughters. As the father of daughters myself, | know how difficult
that can be with public life. Can you share with the Committee
some of what—just what you saw firsthand about how he managed
to carry out his responsibilities and still be there for his daughters?

Ms. CARY. Yes, he was a tremendous father, as we saw yester-
day, and a grandfather. And as | said in my testimony, the fact
that all three of his daughters went into the law is huge. My hus-
band is hoping that our daughters do not go into the law because
he thinks it is becoming an increasingly difficult profession.

But to your question about his demeanor and the way he con-
ducts himself, which, | think, is an example to his daughters—we
were in Houston and we were there for some events. And as he was
hearing from all these victims of crime and people talking about
how high the violent crime had gotten, can he please do something
to help, he spontaneously turned around to me and said, what do
you say we stop by the Harris County Jail? And it was not on the—
on the agenda at all. For security reasons, you would never tip that
the Attorney General was going to a prison. And the FBI basically
kind of rang the doorbell over at the prison and said, “We're here,”
and did an unannounced visit to the prison.

And the Attorney General—the prisoners did not know who he
was. Obviously, we did not announce it. He went around asking
these guys what their lives were like, what did they do get in here,
what is for lunch today, where do you exercise. And as much of a
law nerd as he is, this was a very compassionate side of him. He
was not showboating. He—there was no press involved. And to me,
it showed the way he could sort of shoehorn in a quick visit so he
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could back and see his family, but yet learn about what people’s
lives were like, see the impact, not just of the violent crime on the
victims, but also on proposed reforms on the people who were actu-
ally in the prisons.

And | would be willing to bet there are not a lot of Attorneys
General, present company probably excepted, who have been inside
a cell block like that on an unannounced thing so that he could get
back to his family, but also continue to learn the impact of the poli-
cies in a very real way.

Senator Cruz. Thank you for sharing that wonderful story. And
I will say his grandson, Liam, has become an internet sensa-
tion—

Ms. CARY. Oh, he stole the show.

Senator CRuz [continuing]. Not seen since John Roberts’ son,
Jack, did Spiderman at his announcement, and then, he, too, had
a moment of glory.

Ms. CARY. Right.

Senator CrRuz. Thank you to each of you.

Senator B LACKBURN . Senator Blumenthal.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Thank you, Madam Chairwoman. Thank
you to every one of you, and thank you for all of your written testi-
mony which | will review. We have only 7 minutes, and as a mat-
ter of fact, we are in the middle of a vote right now, so | am going
to be quick with a number of you.

First of all, Reverend Risher, thank you for being here today tell-
ing your story so powerfully and eloquently, and making sure we
understand that your mother and your two cousins would be alive
if that shooter could not get his hands on a gun.

Reverend RISHER . Thank you.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . A dangerous person with a gun. And | as-
sume that you would support the legislation that has been intro-
duced to improve the background check system. As you probably—
| am sure you know, that shooter was able to take advantage of
a loophole——

Reverend RISHER . Yes.

Senator B LUMENTHAL [continuing]. In the current laws. But more
broadly, Senator Graham and | have proposed a bipartisan meas-
ure to take guns away from people who are deemed to be dan-
gerous by a court after due process, and thereby keep guns out of
the hands of criminals and other dangerous people. | hope that you
can lend your voice and your face to supporting that legislation.

Reverend RisHER . | would support that legislation, sir, yes.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Thank you very much.

Reverend RIsSHER . Thank you.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Professor Turley, you and | are in agree-
ment that the President can be indicted. | think we are in agree-
ment——

Professor TURLEY . Yes.

Senator B LUMENTHAL [continuing]. While in office even if the
trial has to be postponed. | articulated that position to Mr. Barr
yesterday and asked him to agree with me, and he would not. You
implied this morning in your testimony that he did agree with it.
Do you have some information that——
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Professor TurLEY . Oh no, actually, | have no information. | have
never spoken to him about it. | was saying that if you look at the
history of both Mueller and Barr, | would not expect that they
would change this longstanding policy. From a constitutional
standpoint, | have never really—I| agreed with it as, | think, we
share this view. The Constitution does not say that the President
is immune from indictment, but an indictment goes to the Presi-
dent as a person. Impeachment goes to the President as an office-
holder.

That does not mean that a President is going to stand trial dur-
ing a term, as you have noted ably. And indeed as you also know
as a—as a prosecutor, it is exceptionally unlikely that when you
got to the point of an indictment, that a President would actually
face a trial, let alone incarceration during that term.

Where Bill Barr falls in this, | really do not know. When we talk
about him being a great advocate of the unitary executive theory,
this is not—I do not—I do not share in Neil's view that even
though | am not a big fan of the theory, that it is so horrific, you
know. He believes in clear lines, and | share that view of what is
an executive function and what is a legislative function. And when
we talk about the avoidance doctrine of courts in trying to interpret
statutes to avoid conflicts, it is important to remember that same
avoidance conflict protects Congress, right, | tend to favor in Arti-
cle 1. Courts also avoid conflicts interpreting statutes that might
impede your own authority. So | am not too sure where he comes
out on this specific issue.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Let me ask you, and | am going to ask a
couple of other members. | am deeply disturbed, an understate-
ment, by some of the President's comments about the FBI, about
judges, about our judicial system generally. And shouldn’t the At-
torney General of the United States be someone who stands up
for—you know, it is easy to say, “I am for the rule of law,” but
when the rubber hits the road, he should be defending all of those
institutions. Do you agree?

Professor TurLEY . | do. What | should caution is that | do not
think that Bill Barr is the type that is going to take a public stance
often against the President, but he is someone who | think will be
quite firm in his support with the—with the Department. | do not
know what the President thought he was getting with Bill Barr,
but | know what he is getting. He is going to get someone who
identifies incredibly closely and intimately with that Department.
And | think he will be a vigorous defender of it.

Senator BLUMENTHAL . Judge Mukasey, let me ask you, and |
am—I know that you may wish to be referred to as “General.”

Judge M uUKaAsEY . | do not. | have always been uncomfortable with
that even when | was in the position. | thought it was weird.

[Laughter.]

Senator BLUMENTHAL . As Attorney General—as Attorney Gen-
eral, | was referred to as “General” for 20 years, and | never was
comfortable with it, either.

Judge MuUkaskey . Yes, in the U.K., they call the Attorney General
“Attorney,” which seems a lot more civilized and a lot more accu-
rate, particularly when there are people in uniform around.
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Senator BLUMENTHAL . As Professor Turley pointed out, in his
testimony about the seal, the UK has a very different system. And
| thought, by the way, the—your history of the seal was really very
pertinent in terms of showing the differences between the Attorney
General as an advocate of justice as opposed to an advocate for the
queen or the President.

Professor TURLEY . Thank you.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . But let me ask you, are you not deeply
troubled by the President’s attacks on the judiciary?

Judge Mukasey . | disagree with them. | think it is extraor-
dinarily unwise for him to do it, and in that sense—in that sense
| am troubled. Obviously there is a—or there is or should be a po-
litical price to be paid for that, and | think we are in the process
of seeing it paid to a certain extent. But there has always been a
certain level of tension between and among the branches. How it
is expressed and how civilly it is expressed is a different thing, and
| think we are probably in agreement there. But there is always
a certain level of pulling and hauling. That is built into the con-
stitutional system.

Senator BLUMENTHAL . And are you not also troubled by the
President’s attacks on the FBI and the Department of Justice?

Judge MuUKASEY . Again, the FBI can function on a day-to-day
basis without a rooting section in the White House or a razzing sec-
tion in the White House. | think that some of his criticisms of the
FBI may very well turn out to be warranted. So far as the Depart-
ment, that is a different story entirely, and | have articulated that.
| think that the former Attorney General had no choice but to
recuse himself. He did, and that was not something that was—that
was not a criticism that ever held any water.

Senator B LUMENTHAL . Well, | want to, again, thank you all for
being here. | have a lot more questions. Maybe | will contact some
of you privately. My time has expired, and | know that Acting
Chairwoman and | have to go vote. But thank you, all, for being
here today.

Senator B LACKBURN . Thank you. Without objection and on behalf
of Senator Grassley, | would like to enter this letter from Tax-
payers Against Fraud into the record.

So ordered.

[The information appears as a submission for the record.]

Senator B LACKBURN . Thank you all for being here today and for
your insight into how Mr. Barr would lead the Department of Jus-
tice in what is a very challenging time.

Excuse me?

[Voice off microphone.]

Senator BLACKBURN . All right. He is in, just as | am getting
ready to end this hearing.

Mr. Coons, you are recognized.

Senator CooNs. Thank you, Senator Blackburn.

Senator B LACKBURN . You just made it in under the wire.

Senator CooNs. Yes, ma’am. Thank you to the panel. | appre-
ciate your patience. There have been, as you know, votes and other
issues happening in other settings. Reverend Risher, we did have
an opportunity to speak during the break, but | just wanted to re-
confirm my sense of loss at what you shared with us, and the fact
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that | had the opportunity to visit, and to worship, and then to

travel with Felicia Sanders and Polly Sheppard. It was a blessing
to get to meet you today, and | look forward to your upcoming writ-
ing, For Such a Time as This, and talking about reconciliation work
together. It is important and difficult work.

But | wanted to start, if | could, by asking both you and Mr.
Canterbury, with whom | have had the honor of working on other
issues, about background checks in particular. We talked pre-
viously about the ways in which the NICS System does not cur-
rently fully work to deny access to weapons to those who should
under the law be denied access to weapons.

Senator Toomey and | introduced a bipartisan bill in the last
Congress, the NICS Denial Notification Act, that would make a
simple improvement to how we enforce our current law. If you lie
and try, if you go into a gun dealership and fill out the form and
say | am entitled to buy a gun, they run the background check and
come back and say, umm, we are really sorry, but you spent 5
years in a Federal penitentiary for armed robbery, we are not giv-
ing you a gun today, and you storm out. In my home State, nothing
more happens. In his home State, because the State police conduct
that NICS notification, they know that they can now go have a con-
versation with you about for what purpose were you purchasing
this weapon.

This bill, if it were to become law, would require notification,
simple notification, to a State or local law enforcement contact. And
these cases—these so-called “lie and try” cases are rarely pros-
ecuted at the Federal level, partly because of a lack of knowledge,
partly because of a lack of resources. Mr. Canterbury, | would be
interested—I am grateful for what | understand is the FOP sup-
port for the concept in the bill. | wondered if you would be willing
to advocate with Attorney General Barr, should he be confirmed,
for the resources to enforce “lie and try” laws and to make sure
that our NICS system is working as it should.

Mr. C ANTERBURY . Absolutely. We have been very critical of the
lack of resources for the NICS System, and the fact that a “lie and
try” normally goes without prosecution. So, you know, we have sup-
ported that bill in the past. We are with you and Senator Toomey
on that. And obviously with that will come the necessary appro-
priations and authorization to enforce.

Senator CooNns. | sure hope. Reverend Risher, would it have
made any difference in the Dylann Roof case if he had been denied
the opportunity to purchase a weapon?

Reverend RISHER . Yes, it would have made a difference. | believe
if he was not able to secure his gun at that particular day, that
maybe the tragedy in Charleston may not have happened. One of
the things that we are up against is the 3-day waiting period that
I know that needs to be expanded in order to be able to have a
complete background check. And | think things would have been
different if those things were in place at the time he bought the
gun.

Senator Coons. Thank you, Reverend. As the Co-chair of the
Law Enforcement Caucus, | intend to work in this Congress as |
did in the last to try and find ways that both parties can support
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that would strengthen law enforcement and our system of denying
access to weapons to those who should not have them.

Professor Kinkopf, if I might, there was some vigorous back and
forth about the unitary executive theory. We could have a very long
conversation about this, but | am just going to ask a focused ques-
tion. Tell me specifically, the unitary executive theory is that it is
theory. It is not currently the law of the land. Am | right about
that?

Professor KiNkoPF . That is correct. In fact, the Supreme Court
has rejected it repeatedly in every case beginning with Humphrey’s
Executor.

Senator CooNs. Yet you suggested that if we were to have an At-
torney General with a very expansive view of Executive power, it
might have some negative implications, and it might have some
negative implications that would have some current relevance.
Could you just explain that just a little bit more? My superficial
and ill-informed view of this is that the Founders did not actually
say “all” Executive power is given to the—to the President, that it
was “the” Executive power. And then are examples of ways in
which Executive power is actually shared with other branches his-
torically. 1 do not want to get into a wonderful law nerd fight, but
| am interested in what are the practical implications if we have
an Attorney General who has a very broad and expansive view.

My predecessor, Senator Biden, when he was Chairman Biden,
although he was very complimentary of Mr. Barr, did express real
concern about how broad his Executive power theory was.

Professor KiNkoPF . Right. So that reading of the Executive Vest-
ing Clause was argued by President Harry Truman in the Steel
Seizure Case, and specifically rejected by the Supreme Court, but
that did not kill it. It keeps coming back. Lawyers in the Justice
Department, earnestly believing in it, applied it in the torture
memo, most infamously. So it is something we keep hearing.

And the torture memo is a good example in the sense that it il-
lustrates that much of what the Justice Department does never
gets into court. And so, the Attorney General is such an important
office because very often the Attorney General is the rule of law.
It is only the Attorney General's willingness to not only stand up
for what the Constitution says, but to recognize what the Constitu-
tion actually says. | have no qualms about William Barr on the
first score. It is on the latter that | have real trouble.

And so the Attorney General is a crucially important figure from
that standpoint for issues we cannot even begin to contemplate and
we may never know about it. But as the issues we do know about,
that we can be quite certain, and even issues that may end up in
court one day, that role is crucially important. Suppose the Presi-
dent decides he wants to tell the Federal Reserve how to run mone-
tary policy.

Now that is something that might end up in court, but the Myers
case, sort of the first case of the modern approach to the Presi-
dent’s removal power, is a case where Woodrow Wilson fired Frank
Myers, the Postmaster First Class in Portland, Oregon, while he
was President. His presidency ended in 1921. The Myers case was
decided by the Supreme Court in 1927. Can you imagine 6 years
of a cloud hanging over the independence of the Federal Reserve?
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So, even if, ultimately, the Supreme Court vindicates the proper
view of the Constitution, we have potential for enormous chaos in
the markets. And that is just one example of one independent
agency and the important role it plays in our lives.

Senator CooNs. And you previously cited a list of independent

agencies in Humphrey's Executor, and this is a line of questioning
| pursued with our most-recently confirmed Supreme Court Justice.
I am very concerned about how this view, which begins with the
Scalia dissent, and now has expanded significantly in terms of its
adherence, what its real consequences might be. If 1 might, with
deference to the Chair, ask one last brief question.

Senator B LACKBURN . Very brief——

Senator CooNs. Very brief.

Senator B LACKBURN [continuing]. Because | have not voted.

Senator CooNs. Mr. Morial, about 67,000 Americans every year
are dying of overdoses. Mr. Barr once said, “l do not consider it an
unjust sentence to put a drug courier in prison for 5 years. The
punishment fits the crime.” | have come to the conclusion we can-
not incarcerate our way out of the opioid crisis. Do you believe Mr.
Barr will advance policies to help those suffering from addiction get
the help they need without needlessly prosecuting and incarcer-
ating large numbers of low-level drug couriers?

Mr. M oRIAL . | do not think we heard anything from him—I was
not here yesterday—or anything in his record that would suggest
that. | think it is going to require strong constitutional oversight.

It is not the—if the way we treat the opioid crisis mirrors the way
we treated the crack crisis, we are just continuing the ill-advised
policies of mass incarceration. And they certainly do not work par-
ticularly for the user class. The user class. And what we did in the
crack cocaine crackdown is it was users who were incarcerated for
18 months, 2 years, 3 years. Sometimes they repeated, and they
went back to jail a second time.

And the opioid crisis is an opportunity now that we are losing
60,000 people a year, more than we are losing to gun violence, to
break from those policies and treat the opioid crisis for what it is.
It is a public health crisis, just like the crack and cocaine crisis—
these are people with deep problems with substance abuse. It is not
to exonerate the pusher, it is not to sanction it, but it is to come
up with a more intelligent approach. So | do not know if the nomi-
nee is there, if—and | think that this Congress and this Committee
is going to have to force him to get there.

Senator Coons. Thank you, Mr. Morial. Thank you to the whole
panel. Thank you to the Chair for your forbearance.

Senator B LACKBURN . And we thank you all for helping to give us
a clearer picture of what you perceive to be the judgment and the
understanding and the commitment of Mr. Barr. And this con-
cludes the hearing to consider William Barr as Attorney General.

I will remind the Senators that the record will be open until 5
p.m., on January 22nd, to submit questions, and we request your
timely response.

Senator B LACKBURN . This hearing is adjourned.

[Whereupon, at 1:04 p.m., the hearing was adjourned.]

[Additional material submitted for the record for Day 1 and for
Day 2 follows.]



APPENDIX

ADDITIONAL MATERIAL SUBMITTED FOR THE RECORD

Witness List

Hearing before the
Senate Committee on the Judiciary

On
“Attorney General Nomination”
Tuesday, January 15 and Wednesday January 16, 2019
Hart Senate Office Building, Room 216
9:30 am.
Introducer
The Honorable Orrin G, Hatch
Former United States Senator
State of Utah

Panel 1

The Honorable William P. Barr, to be Attorney General of the United States

(189)



190
Panel 11

The Honorable Michael B. Mukasey
Former United States Attorney General
Former U.S. District Judge for the Southern District of NY
Of counsel, Debevoise & Plimpton LLP
New York, NY

Mr. Derrick Johnson
President and Chief Executive Officer
NAACP
Baltimore, MD

The Honorable Larry D. Thompson
Former United States Deputy Attorney General
Partner, Finch McCranie LLP
Atlanta, GA

The Honorable Marc Morial
President and Chief Executive Officer
National Urban League
New York, NY

Ms. Mary Kate Cary
Former speechwriter for President George H.W. Bush
Anne C. Strickler Practitioner Senior Fellow
The Miller Center, University of Virginia
Washington, DC

Professor Neil J. Kinkopf
Professor of Law
Georgia State University College of Law
Atlanta, GA

Professor Jonathan Turley
J.B. and Maurice C. Shapiro Professor of Public Interest Law
The George Washington University Law School
Washington, DC

Reverend Sharon Washington Risher
Ordained Pastor
Charlotte, NC

Mr. Chuck Canterbury
National President
Fraternal Order of Police
Washington, DC



191

UNITED STATES SENATE
COMMITTEE ON THE JUDICIARY

QUESTIONNAIRE FOR NON-JUDICIAL NOMINEES
PUBLIC

. Name: State full name (include any former names used).

William Pelham Barr

. Position: State the position for which you have been nominated.

Attorney General of the United States

. Address: List current office address. If city and state of residence differs from your
place of employment, please list the city and state where you currently reside.

Kirkland & Ellis, LLP
655 15th Street, NW
Washington, D.C. 20005

McLean, Virginia
. Birthplace: State date and place of birth.

May 23, 1950
New York, New York

. Education: List in reverse chronological order each college, law school, or any other
institution of higher education attended and indicate for each the dates of attendance,
whether a degree was received, and the date each degree was received.

George Washington University Law School, 1973 - 1977, 1.D. received 1977
Columbia University, 1971 — 1973, M.A. received 1973
Columbia College, 1967 — 1971, A B. received 1971

. Employment Record: List in reverse chronological order all governmental agencies,
business or professional corporations, companies, firms, or other enterprises,
partnerships, institutions or organizations, non-profit or otherwise, with which you have
been affiliated as an officer, director, partner, proprietor, or employee since graduation
from college, whether or not you received payment for your services. Include the name
and address of the employer and job title or description.
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2009, 2017 ~ Present
Kirkland & Ellis, LLP
655 15th Street, NW
Washington, D.C. 20005
Of Counsel

2011 — Present
Home Address
Self-Employed Consultant

2000 - 2008

Verizon Communications

1 Verizon Way

Basking Ridge, New Jersey 07920

Executive Vice President and General Counsel

1994 - 2000

GTE Corporation

One Stamford Forum

201 Tresser Boulevard

Stamford, Connecticut 06901

Senior Vice President and General Counsel

1993 - 1994

Shaw, Pittman, Potts & Trowbridge (now Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman)
2300 N Street, NW

Washington, D.C. 20037

Partner

1989 - 1993

U.S. Department of Justice

950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW

Washington, D.C. 20530

Attorney General of the United States (1991 - 1993)

Deputy Attorney General of the United States (1990 - 1991)
Assistant Attorney General, Office of Legal Counsel (1989 — 1990)

1983 - 1989

Shaw, Pittman, Potts & Trowbridge (now Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman)
2300 N Street, NW

Washington, D.C. 20037

Partner (1985 - 1989)

Associate (1983 — 1984)

1982 - 1983
The White House
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1600 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Washington, D.C. 20500
Senior Policy Advisor/Deputy Assistant Director, Office of Policy Development

1978 — 1982

Shaw, Pittman, Potts & Trowbridge (now Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman)
2300 N Street, NW

Washington, D.C. 20037

Associate

19771978
U.S. Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit
E. Barrett Prettyman U.S. Courthouse and William B. Bryant Annex
333 Constitution Avenue, NW
Washington, D.C. 20001
Law Clerk to the Honorable Malcolm Richard Wilkey

1971 - 1977

Central Intelligence Agency

Washington, D.C.

Office of Legislative Counsel (1975 - 1977)
Intelligence Directorate (1973 — 1975)
Summer Intern Program (1971 - 1972)

Other Affiliations* (Uncompensated Unless Otherwise Indicated):

2018 — Present

President’s Intelligence Advisory Board
New Executive Office Building

725 17th Street, NW

Washington, D.C. 20502

Consultant

2017 — Present

Director’s External Advisory Board
Central Intelligence Agency

1000 Colonial Farm Road

McLean, Virginia 22101

Member

2016 ~ 2018

Och-Ziff Capital Management Group, LLC
9 West 57th Street, 39th Floor

New York, New York 10019

Director (Compensated)
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2014 - 2017

Catholic Information Center
1501 K Street, NW
Washington, D.C. 20005
Director

2009 — Present

Dominion Energy, Inc.
120 Tredegar Street
Richmond, Virginia 23219
Director (Compensated)

2009 - 2018

Time Wamer, Inc.

1 Time Warner Center

New York, New York 10019
Director (Compensated)

2008 - 2013

Holcim (US) Inc. and Aggregate Industries Management, Inc.

24 Crosby Drive

Bedford, Massachusetts 01730

Director, Holcim (US) (2008 — 2013 (Approximate)) (Compensated)

Director, Aggregate Industries Management, Inc. (2010 - 2013 (Approximate))
(Compensated)

2004 - 2009

The Ethics and Public Policy Center
1730 M Street, NW

Washington, D.C. 20036

Director

1994 - 2016

Selected Funds

c/o Davis Selected Advisers
620 5th Avenue

New York, New York 10020
Director (Compensated)

1994 - 2015

Becket Fund for Religious Liberty
1200 New Hampshire Avenue, NW
Washington, D.C. 20036

Director .

1986 - 1988
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Dalkeith Corporation (a subsidiary of Scottish Widows Fund Assurance Society)
1146 19th Street, NW

Washington, D.C. 20036

Director, Vice President, and Treasurer

1986 - 1988

1146 19th Street, NW (a subsidiary of Scottish Widows Fund Assurance Society)
Washington, D.C. 20036

Director, Vice President, and Treasurer

1984 — 1989

2300 N Street Associates

2300 N Street, NW

Washington, D.C. 20037

Real Estate Partner (Compensated)

* In connection with my law practice at Shaw, Pittman, Potts & Trowbridge (now
Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman), when the firm was asked to set up a new corporation
for a client, I would occasionally be listed as an incorporating director/officer for
purposes of filing incorporation papers but would be replaced by the permanent
director/officer. These affiliations are not listed above except where I continued to serve
on the board beyond my role for filing incorporation papers, as was the case with
Dalkeith Corporation and 1146 19th Street Corporation.

. Military Service and Draft Status: Identify any service in the U.S. Military, including
dates of service, branch of service, rank or rate, serial number (if different from social
security number) and type of discharge received, and whether you have registered for
selective service.

I have not served in the U.S. Military. I was born in 1950 and was not required to
register for selective service.

. Honors and Awards: List any scholarships, fellowships, honorary degrees, academic or
professional honors, honorary society memberships, military awards, and any other
special recognition for outstanding service or achievement.

George Washington University Law School Stockton Guard Alumni Award (2017)
Horace Mann Distinguished Achievement Award (2011)

Honorary Degree, Mercy College (2000 (Approximate))

John Jay Award, Columbia College (1998)

George Washington University Distinguished Alumni Achievement Award (1994)
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Catholic Lawyers Guild of New York, St. Thomas More Award (1992 (Approximate))
Honorary Doctorate, George Washington University (1992)

International Brotherhood of Police Officers Distinguished Service Award (1992)
Order of the Coif, George Washington University Law School (1977}

1.D. with Highest Honors, George Washington University Law School (1977)
National Defense Foreign Language Fellowship (Mandarin Chinese) (1967)

. Bar Agsociations: List all bar associations or legal or judicial-related committees,
selection panels or conferences of which you are or have been a member, and give the

titles and dates of any offices which you have held in such groups.

American Bar Association
Member (1978 — unknown)

Americans for Victory Over Terrorism
Senior Advisor (2002 - unknown)

Central Intelligence Agency Director’s External Advisory Board
Member (2017 — Present)

Council on Crime in America
Member (1995 — 1996 (Approximate))

Economic Crime Council
Chairman (1990 — 1991 (Approximate))

Organized Crime Drug Enforcement Task Forces Executive Review Board
Chairman (1990 — 1991 (Approximate))

Federalist Society
Convention Planning Committee (1987)

First Freedom Coalition
Co-Founder (1993 ~ 1994)

Governor’'s Commission on Parole Abolition and Sentencing Reform
Co-Chair (1994)

The International Conference Series on the Foundations and the Future of Democracy
(Democracy Conference Series)
Honorary Vice Chair (2007)
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National Center for State Courts
General Counsel Committee (1999 — 2005 (Approximate))

National Institute of Justice
Peer Reviewer (1986 - 1988)

National Legal Center for the Public Interest
Legal Advisory Council (Dates Unknown)

National Security Council Deputies’ Committee
Member (1989 — 1991 (Approximate))

Organized Crime Council
Chairman (1990 ~ 1991 (Approximate))

President’s Intelligence Advisory Board
Consultant (2018 — Present)

University of Virginia, Miller Center of Public Affairs, National Commission on
Federal Election Reform
Member (2001)

University of Virginia, Miller Center of Public Affairs, National Commission on the
Separation of Powers

Member (1997)

Commissioner (1998)

10. Bar and Court Admission:

a. List the date(s) you were admitted to the bar of any state and any lapses in
membership. Please explain the reason for any lapse in membership.

Virginia, 1977

District of Columbia, 1978

New York, 2002

New Jersey, 2007

There have been no lapses in membership. My New Jersey bar membership
ended in 2009 when I ceased serving as in-house counsel for Verizon

Communications.

b. List all courts in which you have been admitted to practice, including dates of
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admission and any lapses in membership. Please explain the reason for any lapse
in membership. Give the same information for administrative bodies that require
special admission to practice.
Virginia Supreme Court, 1977
District of Columbia Court of Appeals, 1978
U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit, 1978
U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia, 1978
U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit, 1988
U.S. Supreme Court, 1992 ,
U.S. Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit, 1994
U.S. Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit, 1996
There have been no lapses in membership.
11. Memberships:

a. List all professional, business, fraternal, scholarly, civie, charitable, or other
organizations, other than those listed in response to Questions 9 or 10 to which
you belong, or to which you have belonged, since graduation from law school.
Provide dates of membership or participation, and indicate any office you held.
Include clubs, working groups, advisory or editorial boards, panels, committees,

conferences, or publications.

American Red Cross
Board of Governors (1998)

Army Navy Club (2014 ~ Present)

Becket Fund for Religious Liberty
Board of Advisors (1994 - 2015)

Carnegie Club at Skibo Castle (2004 - Present)

Catholic Information Center
Board of Directors (2014 —2017)

College of William & Mary Board of Visitors
Member (1997 - 2005)
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Vice Rector (1999 — 2001)

Davis Selected Advisers
Board of Directors (1994 - 2016)

Dominion Energy, Inc.
Board of Directors (2009 — Present)

The Ethics and Public Policy Center
Board of Directors (2004 — 2009)

George Washington University Law Schoo! Board of Advisors (1993 — 1995
{Approximate))
Chairman, Law School’s Centuries Campaign (Dates Unknown)
National Chairman, Law Schoo! Annual Fund (2005)
Emeritus Member (1995 — 2015 (Approximate))

Holcim (US) Inc. and Aggregate Industries Management, Inc.
Board of Directors, Holcim (US) (2008 - 2013)
Board of Directors, Aggregate Industries Management, Inc. (2010 - 2013
(Approximate))
Member, Audit Committee, Holcim (US) (2008 ~ 2013)
Member, Audit Committee, Aggregate Industries Management, Inc. (2010
- 2013 (Approximate))

Inner City Scholarship Fund
Board of Trustees (2005 - 2008)

Knights of Columbus
Member (1984 — Present)
Supreme Board Member (1995 — 1998)

Och-Ziff Capital Management Group, LLC
Director (2016 - 2018)
Chairman, Committee on Corporate Responsibility and Compliance (2016
-2018)

Prospect Hall Shooting Club (2008 — Present (Approximate))

Time Wamer, Inc.
Board of Directors (2009 — 2018)

Union League Club of New York City (2007 —2012)

United States Piping Foundation
Board Member (2017 - 2018)
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b. Indicate whether any of these organizations listed in response to 1 1a above
currently discriminate or formerly discriminate on the basis of race, sex, religion
or national origin either through formal membership requirements or the practical
implementation of membership policies. If so, describe any action you have taken
to change these policies and practices. :

The Knights of Columbus is a Catholic fratemnal organization limited to men,
although there is a corresponding organization for women. To the best of my
knowledge, none of the other organizations listed above currently discriminates
or formerly discriminated on the basis of race, sex, religion, or national origin,
either through formal membership requirements or the practical implementation
of membership policies.

12. Published Writings and Public Statements:

a. List the titles, publishers, and dates of books, articles, reports, letters to the editor,
editorial pieces, or other published material you have written or edited, including
material published only on the Internet. Supply four (4) copies of all published
material to the Committee.

See Appendix 12a.

b. Supply four (4) copies of any reports, memoranda or policy statements you
prepared or contributed in the preparation of on behalf of any bar association,
committee, conference, or organization of which you were or are a member. If
you do not have a copy of a report, memorandum or policy statement, give the
name and address of the organization that issued it, the date of the document, and
a summary of its subject matter.

See Appendix 12b.

¢. Supply four (4) copies of any testimony, official statements or other
communications relating, in whole or in part, to matters of public policy or legal
interpretation, that you have issued or provided or that others presented on your
behalf to public bodies or public officials.

See Appendix 12¢.

d. Supply four (4) copies, transcripts or recordings of all speeches or talks delivered
by you, including commencement speeches, remarks, lectures, panel discussions,
conferences, political speeches, and question-and-answer sessions. Include the
date and place where they were delivered, and readily available press reports
about the speech or talk. If you do not have a copy of the speech or a transcript or
recording of your remarks, give the name and address of the group before whom
the speech was given, the date of the speech, and a summary of its subject matter.

10
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If you did not speak from a prepared text, fumish a copy of any outline or notes
from which you spoke.

See Appendix 12d.

e. Listall interviews you have given to newspapers, magazines or other
publications, or radio or television stations, providing the dates of these
interviews and four (4) copies of the clips or transcripts of these interviews where
they are available to you.

See Appendix 12e.
lic Office, Political Activities and iations:

a. List chronologically any public offices you have held, other than judicial offices,
including the terms of service and whether such positions were elected or
appointed. If appointed, please include the name of the individual who appointed
you. Also, state chronologically any unsuccessful candidacies you have had for
elective office or unsuccessful nominations for appointed office.

The White House, Office of Policy Development
Senior Policy Advisor/Deputy Assistant Director, 1982 — 1983, Appointed
by President Ronald Reagan

Department of Justice, Office of Legal Counsel
Assistant Attorney General, 1989 - 1990, Appointed by President George
H. W. Bush

Department of Justice
Deputy Attorney General of the United States, 1990 ~ 1991, Appointed by
President George H. W. Bush

Department of Justice
Attorney General of the United States, 1991 — 1993, Appointed by
President George H. W. Bush

Virginia Commission on Abolishing Parole
Co-Chairman, 1994, Appointed by Governor George Allen

College of William & Mary Board of Visitors
Member, 1997 — 2001, Appointed by Governor George Allen
Vice Rector, 1999 - 2001, Appointed by Governor George Allen
Member, 2001 — 2005, Appointed by Governor Jim Gilmore

1 have had no unsuccessful candidacies for elective office or unsuccessful
nominations for appointed office.
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b. List all memberships and offices held in and services rendered, whether
compensated or not, to any political party or election committee. If you have ever
held a position or played a role in a political campaign, identify the particulars of
the campaign, including the candidate, dates of the campaign, your title and
responsibilities.

Catholics for Romney
National Advisory Committee, 2012

Reaganites for Romney
Member, 2011

Romney Advisory Committee on Law Enforcement
Member, 2011 - 2012

McCain 2008 Justice Advisory Panel
Co-Chair, 2008

National Catholics for McCain Committee
Member, 2008

Bush for President
Vice Presidential Candidate Screening Team, 1988

D.C. Lawyers for Reagan-Bush
Vice Chairman, 1984

14. Legal Career: Answer cach part separately.

a. Describe chronologically your law practice and legal experience after graduation
from law school including:

i. whether you served as clerk to a judge, and if so, the name of the judge,
the court and the dates of the period you were a clerk;

From 1977 to 1978, 1 served as a law clerk to the Honorabie Malcolm R.
Wilkey of the U.S. Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit.

ii. whether you practiced alone, and if so, the addresses and dates;
2011 - Present
Home Address
Self-Employed Consultant

iii. the dates, names and addresses of law firms or offices, companies or

12
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governmental agencies with which you have been affiliated, and the nature
of your affiliation with each.

1978 - 1982

Shaw, Pittman, Potts & Trowbridge (now Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw
Pittman)

2300 N Street, NW

Washington, D.C. 20037

Associate

1982 - 1983

The White House

1600 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW

Washington, D.C. 20500

Senior Policy Advisor/Deputy Assistant Director, Office of Policy
Development

1983 - 1989

Shaw, Pittman, Potts & Trowbridge (now Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw
Pittman)

2300 N Street, NW

Washington, D.C. 20037

Associate (1983 — 1984)

Partner (1985 — 1989)

1989 — 1993

U.S. Department of Justice

950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW

Washington, D.C. 20530

Assistant Attorney General, Office of Legal Counsel (1989 — 1990)
Deputy Attorney General of the United States (1990 — 1991)
Attorney General of the United States (1991 — 1993)

1993 - 1994

Shaw, Pittman, Potts & Trowbridge (now Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw
Pittman)

2300 N Street, NW

Washington, D.C. 20037

Partner

1994 - 2000

GTE Corporation

One Stamford Forum

201 Tresser Boulevard

Stamford, Connecticut 06901

Senior Vice President and General Counsel

13
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2000 - 2008

Verizon Communications

1 Verizon Way

Basking Ridge, New Jersey 07920

Executive Vice President and General Counsel

2009, 2017 — Present
Kirkland & Ellis, LLP
655 15th Street, NW
‘Washington, D.C. 20005
Of Counsel

Whether you served as a mediator or arbitrator in alternative dispute
resolution proceedings and, if so, a description of the 10 most significant
matters with which you were involved in that capacity.

1 have not served as a mediator or arbitrator.

b. Describe:

i

the general character of your law practice and indicate by date when its
character has changed over the years.

From 1978 to 1982, | worked as an associate with the law firm of Shaw,
Pittman, Potts & Trowbridge (now Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman). 1
functioned largely as a generalist, with about 70% of my time devoted to
civil litigation and about 30% to other areas of the firm’s practice. The
litigation—all civil—was varied, although a significant part of it involved
environmental cases. My litigation matters also included a broad range of
commercial disputes, securities matters, and employment cases.

In 1982, 1 left Shaw, Pittman, Potts & Trowbridge to serve as Deputy
Assistant Director for Legal Policy in the Office of Policy Development at
the White House. My responsibilities included: preparing and
coordinating briefing papers and decision memoranda for the Cabinet
Council on Legal Policy; representing the White House on inter-agency
working groups; and reviewing agency bill comments and testimony as
part of the Office of Management and Budget process.

In 1983, I returned to Shaw, Pittman, Potts & Trowbridge. My practice
was different than it was during my earlier period with the firm—1I spent
less time on litigation and more on administrative/regulatory matters
before federal agencies. About one-third of my work involved litigation in
federal court or administrative tribunals. My litigation work was all civil,
with the exception of one large criminal matter representing the Henry J.
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Kaiser Co. in connection with a grand jury investigation into possible
violations of federal law in the construction of the William H. Zimmer
nuclear power plant in Ohio. My non-litigation practice focused on
administrative practice before a number of federal departments and
agencies, including the Internal Revenue Service, Department of the
Treasury, Department of the Interior, Department of Housing and Urban
Development, Department of Education, and Office of Personnel
Management.

From 1989 to 1993, I worked in the Department of Justice, serving first as
an Assistant Attorney General in the Office of Legal Counsel (1989 to
1990). My principal responsibility in that position was providing legal
advice and issuing legal opinions to Executive Branch departments. In
1990, I was confirmed as Deputy Attorney General of the United States.
As Deputy Attorney General (1990 — 1991), my responsibilities became
more managerial in nature, overseeing the day-to-day operations of the
Department of Justice. Ialso participated as a member of the National
Security Council Deputies’ Committee. In 1991, I was confirmed as
Attorney General of the United States and served in that role until 1993.

After my service in the Department of Justice, I rejoined Shaw, Pittman,
Potts & Trowbridge, working from 1993 to 1994 as a partner, before
joining GTE Corporation. During my tenure with Shaw, Pittman, Potts &
Trowbridge, with the exception of a case [ argued representing the
Republic of the Philippines against Westinghouse Electric Co. (Republic
of Philippines v. Westinghouse Elec. Corp., 43 F.3d 65 (3rd Cir. 1994)),1
did not litigate in court, and instead advised clients on litigation strategy
and questions of law arising in litigation.

From 1994 to 2008, I served as the Senior Vice President and General
Counsel of GTE Corporation and then its successor corporation, Verizon
Communications. Approximately half of my work involved supervising
the company’s advocacy in regulatory proceedings before state public
utilities commissions and the Federal Communications Commission. I
managed and participated in a series of both administrative and federal
court litigation challenging Federal Communications Commission
regulations that required local phone companies to unbundle their
networks and provide the unbundled elements at wholesale prices to
competitors. I also developed and conducted litigation challenging the
WorldCom and MCI merger, arguing the case before a competition panel
of the European Commission. Apart from litigation and regulatory
matters, approximately half my work at GTE Corporation and Verizon
Communications consisted of supervising commercial and corporate work,
including securities, M&A, employment, intellectual property,
compliance, and corporate governance.
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After I retired from Verizon Communications, | joined Kirkland & Ellis as
Of Counsel in 2009, where I engaged in firm promotional activities.
Following my time at Kirkland & Ellis, from 2009 to 2017, I served on
several corporate boards.

In 2011, Kirkland & Ellis engaged me as a self-employed consultant to
provide advice on the BP Gulf of Mexico oil spill. In early 2012, BP
retained me to provide consulting services to the company directly on this
matter. I stopped work on this project in the summer of 2012 due to a
grave health crisis in my family. In 2014, the law firm of White & Case
retained me as a consultant to assist the firm in providing advice to Credit
Agricole with respect to a Department of Justice investigation. My
involvement in this matter was limited and ended around 2015, In 2017,
Caterpiilar, Inc. requested me to represent the company in connection with
a Department of Justice grand jury investigation. I rejoined Kirkland &
Ellis on a non-exclusive basis to accept the Caterpillar, Inc. engagement.
Recently, consistent with my agreement with Kirkland & Ellis, and
approved by the firm, I have been retained by Cerberus Capital
Management to advise on regulatory aspects of multiple potential private
equity investments.

il. your typical clients and the areas at each period of your legal career, if
any, in which you have specialized.

In private practice at Shaw, Pittman, Potts & Trowbridge and Kirkland &
Ellis, the firms’ clients were mainly national or large local corporations.

In government service, at the White House and the Department of Justice
my clients have included public institutions, such as the President, the
Office of the President, and the United States.

During my tenure at GTE Corporation and Verizon Communications, my
clients were the companies.

In my role as a consultant, my clients are mainly national or large local
corporations

¢. Describe the percentage of your practice that has been in litigation and whether
you appeared in court frequently, occasionally, or not at all. If the frequency of
your appearances in court varied, describe such variance, providing dates.

During my first period with Shaw, Pittman, Potts & Trowbridge as an associate
(1978 to 1982), my appearances in federal cases were infrequent and were usually
handled by the supervising partner. I occasionally appeared in state court cases,
usually to argue motions. Most of the cases upon which I worked either were
settled or disposed of on motion.
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Upon returning to Shaw, Pittman, Potts & Trowbridge in 1983, after a stint in the
Office of Policy Development at the White House, I took on fewer cases and
assumed lead responsibility on my matters. My court appearances were more
frequent, either in federal court or administrative tribunals.

After my service in the Department of Justice (1989 to 1993), I rejoined Shaw,
Pittman, Potts & Trowbridge as a partner for approximately a year and a half.
During this time, I argued a case representing the Republic of the Philippines
against Westinghouse Electric Co. (Republic of Philippines v. Westinghouse Elec.
Corp., 43 F.3d 65 (3rd Cir. 1994)). Other than this, during this period, I did not
litigate in court, but advised clients on litigation matters.

When I worked for GTE Corporation (1994 to 2000) and then its successor
corporation, Verizon Communications (2000 to 2008), approximately half of my
wotk involved supervising the company’s advocacy in regulatory proceedings
before state public utilities commissions and the Federal Communications
Commission. I was heavily involved in drafting briefs and argued appellate level
cases concerning Federal Communications Commission regulations. [ also
challenged the WorldCom and MCI merger before a competition panel of the
European Commission.

i. Indicate the percentage of your practice in:

1. federal courts: 45% (approx.)

2. state courts of record: 15% (approx.)

3. other courts: 0%

4. administrative agencies; 40% (approx.)
ii. Indicate the percentage of your practice in:

1. civil proceedings: 85% (approx.)

2. criminal proceedings: 15% (approx.)

d. State the number of cases in courts of record, including cases before
administrative law judges, you tried to verdict, judgment or final decision (rather
than settled), indicating whether you were sole counsel, chief counsel, or associate
counsel,

At Shaw, Pittman, Potts & Trowbridge, I tried three matters to final decision as
associate counsel. As chief counsel I have directly participated in trying several
matters to final decision and briefed and argued various appellate cases.
i. 'What percentage of these trials were:
1. jury: 0%
2. non-jury: 100%

e. Describe your practice, if any, before the Supreme Court of the United States.

17
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Supply four (4) copies of any briefs, amicus or otherwise, and, if applicable, any
oral argument transcripts before the Supreme Court in connection with your
practice.

1 have argued three cases before the Supreme Court of the United States: Brecht v.
Abrahamson, 507 U.S. 619 (1993); AT&T Corp. v. Jowa Utilities Bd., 525 U.S.
366 (1999); and Verizon Communications Inc. v. FCC, 535 U.S. 467 (2002).

Citations to briefs, amicus or otherwise, and, any oral argument transcripts
reflecting my practice before the Supreme Court of the United States are supplied
in Appendix l4e.

15. Litigation: Describe the ten (10) most significant litigated matters which you personally
handled, whether or not you were the attomey of record. Give the citations, if the cases
were reported, and the docket number and date if unreported. Give a capsule summary of
the substance of each case. Identify the party or parties whom you represented; describe
in detail the nature of your participation in the litigation and the final disposition of the
case. Also state as to each case:

a. the date of representation;

b. the name of the court and the name of the judge or judges before whom the case
was litigated; and

¢. the individual name, addresses, and telephone numbers of co-counsel and of
principal counsel for each of the other parties.

1. Atchison, T. & S.F.Ry. Co. v. Alexander, 480 F.Supp.980 (D.D.C. 1979), aff'd
in part, rev’d in part sub nom., Izaak Walton League of America v. Marsh,
655 F.2d 346 (D.C. Cir.), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 1092 (1981) (District Judge:
Richey) (Circuit Judges: Wright, Robb, and Penn)

Almost one-quarter of my time from October 1978 through July 1981 was
devoted to defending against an action brought by 18 midwestern railroads and
three environmental groups challenging, under the National Environmental Policy
Act and the Administrative Procedure Act, a Corps of Engineers’ decision to
construct an expanded replacement facility for Lock & Dam 26 on the Mississippi
River. We represented the defendant-intervener, Association for the
Improvement of the Mississippi River (“AIMR”), an association of over 350
municipalities, businesses, farm and labor organizations, waterway carriers, and
shippers that depend on waterway transportation. The case involved extremely
complex technical and legal issues. Although the Corps was represented by the
Department of Justice, AIMR played a leading role in all aspects of the case. |
was responsible for legal research, developing factual and expert evidence,
discovery, trial preparation, and drafting numerous motions, pre-trial and post-
trial briefs, appellate briefs, and an opposition to a petition for certiorari. The trial
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court found for the Corps and AIMR; the Court of Appeals upheld the trial court
on all material points.

Principal Counsel:

Fred Disheroon
Deceased

Joseph V. Karaganis

Karaganis Law Office P.C.

414 North Orleans Street, Suite 810
Chicago, lllinois 60610

(212) 870-3500

2. Murray v. Henry J. Kaiser Co., 84-ERA-4 (1984) (DOL ALJ: Rokentenetz)

From September 1983 through May 1984, I defended Henry J. Kaiser Co.
(*HIK™), constructors of the William H. Zimmer nuclear power plant, against a
“whistleblower” suit brought by a discharged employee under the Energy
Reorganization Act. The case was highly sensitive because it was litigated during
a pending grand jury investigation into alleged conduct by HJK in the
construction of the nuclear power plant, including some of the allegations raised
by the discharged employee. 1 was responsible for developing factual evidence,
discovery, trial preparation, and drafting a pre-trial statement and post-trial brief.
The case was tried before a Department of Labor administrative law judge in
Cincinnati, Ohio. I personally tried half the case, with a Shaw, Pittman, Potts &
Trowbridge partner trying the other half. The ALJ decided for HIK.

Principal Counsel:

Andrew B. Dennison
Current Contact Information Unknown

3. Rapps v. United States, et al., Civil No. 78-0612 (D.D.C.) (Judge: Parker)

From October 1978 to March 1980, I defended a former high-level Consumer
Product Safety Commission (“CPSC”) official (Dimcoff) in an action brought by
another former CPSC official (Rapps) against the CPSC and several current and
former CPSC officials for violations of constitutional, statutory, and common law
rights, The other federal defendants were represented by the Department of
Justice. The case, which involved numerous complex legal issues, settled on the
eve of trial. 1 was responsible for the factual investigation, extensive legal
research, conducting most discovery, and drafting numerous motions, including
motions to dismiss, motions for summary judgment, and a pre-trial statement.
During discovery, I successfully overcame a claim of newsman’s privilege by a
journalist witness.
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inci 0 i:

Raymond Battocchi

Gabeler Battocchi and Powell PC
Madison Building

1320 Old Chain Bridge Road, Suite 200
McLean, Virginia 22101

(888) 399-8104

Lawrence Moloney
Current Contact Information Unknown

4. Gutherzv. U.S. World & News Report, 86 Civ. 2517 (GLG) (S.D.N.Y.)
{Judge: Goettel)

From February 1986 to March 1989, I was lead counsel defending U.S. News &
World Report in a large, multi-plaintiff age discrimination suit under the Age
Discrimination in Employment Act. The suit arose from the termination of half of
U.S. News’ advertising sales force after the magazine was taken over by a new
owner. I conducted and defended extensive discovery, represented U.S. News &
World Report in all court appearances, and drafted and argued a motion for
summary judgment. The motion was denied.

Principal Counsel:

Judith Viadeck
Deceased

Anne Vladeck

Vladeck, Raskin & Clark, P.C.
565 Sth Avenue

New York, New York 10017
(212) 403-7300

5. Brecht v. Abrahamson, 507 U.S. 619 (1993)

Certiorari was granted to review whether the Chapman hammless error standard
applied on collateral review of Doyle violations. Todd Brecht was sentenced to
life imprisonment after he was convicted of murder for shooting his brother-in-
law. The state court of appeals overturned Brecht’s conviction on the ground that
the state’s references to his post-Miranda silence violated due process under
Doyle. The state supreme court reinstated the conviction finding that while the
mention of post-Miranda silence was impermissible under Doyle, it was also
harmless error under Chapman. Brecht sought a writ of habeas corpus,
reasserting his Doyle claim. The district court set aside the conviction, and the
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court of appeals reversed, holding that the Chapman harmiess error standard did
not apply in reviewing a Doyle error on federal habeas review. I argued the case
before the Supreme Court on behalf of the United States as amicus curiae in
support of Gordon A. Abrahamson, Superintendent of Dodge Correctional
Institution. The Supreme Court affirmed the decision of the court of appeals,
holding that the Doyle violation did not substantially influence the jury’s verdict.

Principal Counsel:

Allen E. Shoenberger

Loyola University Chicago School of Law
Corboy Law Center

25 E. Pearson Street

Chicago, Illinois 60611

(312) 915-7141

Sally L. Wellman
Current Contact Information Unknown

6. Republic of Philippines v. Westinghouse Elec. Corp., 43 F.3d 65 (3rd Cir.
1994) (Judges: Becker, Lewis, Pollak)

In 1988, the Republic of the Philippines and the National Power Corporation filed
a complaint against a number of entities, including Westinghouse Electrical
Corporation and Westinghouse International Projects Company (collectively
“Westinghouse™), concerning the construction of a nuclear power plant in Bagac,
Bataan. Following a lengthy trial, the jury returned a verdict for Westinghouse
and the other entities on certain claims. The Republic of the Philippines sought to
collaterally appeal the issues that had been adjudicated, but the district court
adjudicated additional issues and ultimately issued an injunction against the
Republic of the Philippines. It further directed that any settlement in the case
must provide that the parties agree 1o the court’s retention of jurisdiction. The
Republic of the Philippines appealed. I argued the matter before the Third
Circuit. The injunctive portions of the district court’s order were vacated and the
matter was remanded for a redetermination of sanctions.

Principal Counsel:

Richard W. Clary

Cravath, Swaine & Moore LLP
825 8th Avenue

New York, New York 10019
(212) 474-1227

Gilenn A. Mitchell
Deceased
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7. GTE Corp. and Bell Atlantic Corp., Docket No. 98-184 (F.C.C. 1998 - 2000)

From 1998 to 2000, [ served as lead antitrust counsel to GTE Corporation in
seeking regulatory approval from the Department of Justice and the Federal
Communications Commission for the company’s merger with Bell Atlantic. I
also served as GTE Corporation’s lead counsel when the parties to the merger and
AT&T Corporation litigated certain regulatory issues before the Federal
Communications Commission.

Principal Counsel:

Paul Cappuccio
WarnerMedia

1 Time Warner Center
New York, NY 10019
(212) 484-8000

Steven G. Bradbury

United States Department of Transportation
1200 New Jersey Avenue, SE

Washington, D.C. 20590

(202) 366-4702

Peter Keisler

Sidley Austin LLP

1501 K Street, NW
Washington, D.C. 20005
(202) 736-8027

John Thorne

Kellogg, Hansen, Todd, Figel & Frederick, P.L.L.C.
1615 M Street, NW

Suite 400

Washington, D.C. 20036

(202) 326-7992

8. AT&T Corp. v. lowa Utilities Bd., 525 U.S. 366 (1999)

From 1996 to 2002, I represented GTE Corporation and led an industry challenge
to the Federal Communications Commission unbundling and pricing rules under
the Telecommunications Act of 1996. This involved a suite of six court of
appeals cases and two Supreme Court cases. I briefed and argued the following
cases: Jowa Utilities Bd. v. FCC, 109 F. 3d 418 (8th Cir. 1996) (before Judges
Bowman, Wollman and Hansen); lowa Utilities Bd. v. FCC, 120 F. 3d 753 (8th
Cir. 1997) (before Judges Bowman, Wollman and Hansen); AT&T Corp. v. Iowa
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Utilities Bd., 525 U.S. 366 (1999); Jowa Utilities Bd v. FCC, 219 F. 3d 744 (8th
Cir. 2000) (before Judges Bowman, Wollman and Hansen); and Verizon
Communications Inc. v. FCC, 535 U.S. 467 (2002). In addition, ] argued Texas
Office of Public Utility Counsel v. FCC, 183 F.3d 393 (5th Cir. 1999) (before
Smith, Duhe, Garza), and briefed US Telecom Ass'nv. FCC,290F. 3d 415 (D.C.
Cir. 2002) (before Judges Edwards, Randolph and Williams).

AT&T Corp. v. lowa Utilities Bd., 525 U.S. 366 (1999) addressed, in consolidated
cases, whether the Federal Communications Commission had authority to
implement certain pricing and competition provisions set out in the 1996
Telecommunications Act, including an unbundling rule, setting forth the
minimum number of network elements that local exchange carriers must make
available to requesting providers. Local Exchange Carriers (“LECs”) and state
commissions alleged that primary aunthority to implement local competition
provisions belonged to the states rather than to the Federal Communications
Commission. The Supreme Court held that notwithstanding the local nature of
some of the LECs, the Federal Communications Commission had rulemaking
authority to uphold the provisions in question. Citing the interconnectivity of
LECs with regional and national carriers, the Supreme Court concluded the
Federal Communications Commission could also reach LEC markets and regulate
their business practices.

Principal Counsel:

Laurence Tribe

Harvard Law School

1563 Massachusetts Avenue
Cambridge, Massachusetts 02138
(617) 495-1767

Michael K. Kellogg

Kellogg, Hansen, Todd, Figel & Frederick
1615 M Street, NW

Suite 400

Washington, D.C. 20036

(202) 326-7900

Seth Waxman

WilmerHale

1875 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Washington, D.C. 20006

(202) 663-6000

Donald B. Verrilli Jr.

Munger, Tolles & Olson LLP
1155 F Street, NW
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Washington, D.C. 20004
(202) 220-1101

9. Verizon Communications Inc. v. FCC, 535 U.S. 467 (2002)

The Telecommunications Act of 1996 entitled new companies secking to enter
local telephone service markets to lease elements of the incumbent carriers’ local
exchange networks and the Federal Communications Commission was authorized
to prescribe methods for state utility commissions to use in setting rates for the
sharing of those elements. Certiorari was granted to address whether, among
other issues, the Federal Communications Commission could require state utility
commissions to set the rates charged by the incumbents for leased elements on a
forward-looking basis untied to the incumbents’ investment. The Supreme Court
held that the Federal Communications Commission prescribed methods were
reasonably within the limits of statutory possibility.

Principal Counsel:

Theodore B. Olson

Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP
1050 Connecticut Avenue, NW
Washington, D.C. 20036

(202) 955-8668

Donald B. Verrilli Jr.
Munger, Tolles & Olson LLP
1155 F Street, NW
Washington, D.C. 20004
(202) 220-1101

Peter Keisler

Sidley Austin LLP

1501 K Street, NW
Washington, D.C. 20005
(202) 736-8027

10. WorldCom/MCI, Commission Decision No. [V/M.1069 (1998)
(Commissioner: Miert)

As GTE General Counsel, [ developed and brought an antitrust challenge in the
European Commission against the proposed merger of MCI and WorldCom in
1998. 1 presented and argued the case before a competition panel of the European
Commission, successfully obtaining the relief sought-—divesture of certain
internet backbone assets.

Principal Counsel:
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Paul Cappuccio
WarnerMedia

One Time Wamer Center
New York, New York 10019
(212) 484-8000

Steven G. Bradbury

United States Department of Transportation
1200 New Jersey Avenue, SE

Washington, D.C. 20590

(202) 366-4702

Scott Flick

Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman
1200 17th Street NW
Washington, D.C. 20036

(202) 663-8167

John Frantz

Verizon Communications

1 Verizon Way

Basking Ridge, New Jersey 07920
(908) 559-2001

Robert M. Kimmitt

1875 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20006

(202) 663-6250

Robert Ruyak

Ruyak Cherian LLP
1700 K Street, NW
Suite 810

Washington, D.C. 20006
(202) 838-1561

Mark Schechter

The Warner Building

1299 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
Suite 200

Washington, D.C. 20004

(202) 383-6890

16. Legal Activities: Describe the most significant legal activities you have pursued,
including significant litigation which did not progress to trial or legal matters that did not

25



216

involve litigation. Describe fully the nature of your participation in these activities. List
any client(s) or organization(s) for whom you performed lobbying activities and describe
the lobbying activities you performed on behalf of such client(s) or organizations(s).
(Note: As to any facts requested in this question, please omit any information protected
by the attorney-client privilege.)

While at Shaw, Pittman, Potts & Trowbridge (1983 — 1989), I worked on the following
significant legal matters where I was the sole associate, supervised by one partner.

Zimmer Grand Jury Investigation (1983 — 1984). I spent the substantial part of a year

successfully defending Henry J. Kaiser Co. in connection with a grand jury investigation
into possible violations of federal law in the construction of the William H. Zimmer
nuclear power plant in Ohio. Ialso handled a parallel Nuclear Regulatory Commission
investigation and three related whistleblower cases.

National Air Transportation Association (1985). T represented the National Air
Transportation Association in connection with proposed IRS regulations on the use of
employer-provided aircraft.

National Automobile Dealers Association (1985 — 1989). I represented the National
Automobile Dealers Association on a variety of tax issues. In 1985 and 1986 1 prepared
and submitted a series of formal comments on proposed IRS regulations regarding the
taxation of auto salesmen’s demonstrators.

Kanights of Columbus (1984 — 1989). I represented the Knights of Columbus in

connection with preserving the tax exemption for “fraternal benefit societies” under
Section 501(c){8). During 1985 and 1986, I prepared and submitted numerous
comments. I also assisted the Knights of Columbus in prevailing before the
Administration and House Ways & Means Committee to preserve an exemption in
“Treasure II” and subsequent Tax Reform legislation.

Sallic Mae (1988). I represented Sallie Mae in connection with Department of Education
regulations relating to due diligence requirements under the Guaranteed Student Loan
Program.

Laiwan Power (1986 — 1988). I represented the government-owned utility of Taiwan in
connection with its pre-sanction, long-term supply contracts for Namibian uranium. 1
unsuccessfully sought from the Treasury Department an interpretation of sanctions
legislation that would allow for “in transit” processing of Taiwan Power’s uranium.

Eguitable of [owa (1987 — 1988). I represented a Des Moines-based company in
opposing a Urban Development Action Grant for the development of a major shopping
mall on the outskirts of Des Moines. I prepared extensive submissions to the Department
of Housing and Urban Development. The grant was not awarded.

While at GTE Corporation (1994 — 2000) and Verizon Communications (2000 — 2008), |
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was substantially and directly involved in planning and executing the following four
major transactions.

GTE Corporation’s Acquisition of BBN Technologies (1997). This transaction in which
GTE Corporation acquired BBN Technologies, an internet backbone company, was

valued at approximately $616 million.

GTE Corporation’s Merger with Bell Atlantic (1998 — 2000). This $64 billion
transaction formed Verizon Communications. Following the merger, I was appointed
Executive Vice President and General Counsel of Verizon Communications, serving as
the company’s chief legal officer and overseeing its federal and state regulatory
functions.

Verizon Communication’s Acquisition of MCI Communications (2006). This involved

an $8.5 billion transaction in which I supervised the legal and regulatory work to acquire
MCI Communications through an intense bidding war against Qwest Communications.

Verizon Communication’s Acquisition of Alltel (2007). [ supervised the legal and

regulatory aspects of Verizon Communication’s acquisition of Alltel in a $28 billion
transaction.

As part of my responsibilities as General Counsel at GTE Corp. and Verizon
Communications, I occasionally engaged in lobbying activities. From 2005 to 2006, 1
was registered in Virginia for Verizon Communications.

Teaching: What courses have you taught? For each course, state the title, the institution
at which you taught the course, the years in which you taught the course, and describe
briefly the subject matter of the course and the major topics taught. If you have a
syllabus of each course, provide four (4) copies to the committee.

In the Fall of 1987, I assisted a Shaw, Pittman, Potts & Trowbridge colleague by teaching
one of his Legal Research & Writing sections at the George Washington University Law
School. Tdo not have a copy of the syllabus.

In the Spring of 2015, I co-taught a constitutional law seminar, Original Meaning
Research, at the George Washington University Law School with Professor Gregory E.
Maggs. A copy of the syllabus is supplied.

Deferred Income/ Future Benefits: List the sources, amounts and dates of all

anticipated receipts from deferred income arrangements, stock, options, uncompleted
contracts and other future benefits which you expect to derive from previous business
relationships, professional services, firm memberships, former employers, clients or
customers. Describe the arrangements you have made to be compensated in the future
for any financial or business interest.

I have vested unexercised AT&T stock options valued at approximately $270,000.
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19. Outside Commitments During Service: Do you have any plans, commitments, or

agreements to pursue outside employment, with or without compensation, during your
service? If so, explain.

None.

20. Sources of Income: List sources and amounts of all income received during the calendar

21

year preceding your nomination and for the current calendar year, including all salaries,
fees, dividends, interest, gifts, rents, royalties, licensing fees, honoraria, and other items
exceeding $500 or more (if you prefer to do so, copies of the financial disclosure report,
required by the Ethics in Government Act of 1978, may be substituted here).

The Office of Government Ethics will deliver my 278-E directly to the Senate Judiciary
Committee.

Statement of Net Worth: Please complete the attached financial net worth statement in
detail (add schedules as called for).

Please see the attached Net Worth Statement.

22. Potential Conflicts of Interest:

a. Identify the family members or other persons, parties, affiliations, pending and
categories of litigation, financial arrangements or other factors that are likely to
present potential conflicts-of-interest when you first assume the position to which
you have been nominated. Explain how you would address any such conflict if it
were to arise.

My daughter is a practicing lawyer and works for the Department of Justice in the
Deputy Attorney General’s Office. Both my son-in-laws are practicing lawyers—
one works for the Department of Justice in the National Security Division and the
other works in the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the Eastern District of Virginia.

In the event of a potential conflict of interest, | will consult with the appropriate
Department of Justice ethics officials and act consistent with governing
regulations.

b. Explain how you will resolve any potential conflict of interest, including the
procedure you will follow in determining these areas of concern.

In the event of a potential conflict of interest, I will consuit with the appropriate
Department of Justice ethics officials and act consistent with governing
regulations.

23. Pro Bono Work: An ethical consideration under Canon 2 of the American Bar
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Association’s Code of Professional Responsibility calls for “every lawyer, regardless of
professional prominence or professional work load, to find some time to participate in
serving the disadvantaged.” Describe what you have done to fulfill these responsibilities,
listing specific instances and the amount of time devoted to each, If you are not an
attorney, please use this opportunity to report significant charitable and volunteer work
you may have done.

While at Shaw, Pittman, Potts & Trowbridge I engaged in approximately 111 hours of
pro bono work between 1980 and 1987, In addition, the partnership made substantial
contributions to support groups providing legal services to the indigent and those in need.

At GTE Corporation and Verizon Communications, I personally handled two pro bono
matters. First, between 1997 and 2001, I spent approximately 80 hours organizing amici
(including former Attorneys General) to support an FBI sniper in defending against
criminal charges in connection with the Ruby Ridge incident in Idaho. I enlisted a law
firm to work pro bono on the case and assisted in framing legal arguments advanced by
the amici in the district court and the subsequent appeal to the Ninth Circuit. Second,
from 1999 to approximately 2002, I represented a clerical employee with cerebral palsy
who had been terminated from his job in a law school library. I represented him through
the grievance process and he was reinstated. 1 also represented him in a subsequent
dispute that ultimately led to his leaving the school. Ispent over 50 hours on these
matters.

During my tenure at Verizon Communications, I took on responsibility for supporting the
company’s historic relationship with the Archdiocese of New York. My particular
charitable focus was, and remains, raising scholarship funds to pay the tuitions of inner-
city children attending Catholic parochial schools in diocese. I joined the board of the
Archdiocese’s Inner-City Scholarship Fund and have spent considerable time fundraising.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENT

NET WORTH

Provide a complete, current financial net worth statement which itemizes in detail all assets (including bank
accounts, real estate, securities, trusts, investments, and other financial holdings) all Habilities (including debts,
mortgages, loans, and other financial obligations) of yourself, your spouse, and other immediate members of your

household.
ASSETS LIABILITIES
Cash on hand and in banks 71 638 | 466 Notes payabie to banks-secured (auto)
U.S. Government securities Notes payable to banks-unsecured
Listed securities — sce schedule 15 691 1 521 | Notes payable to relatives
Unlisted securities — see schedule 8| 070 | 179 | Notes payable 1 others
Accounts and notes receivable: Accounts and bills due
Due from relatives and friends Unpaid income tax
Due from others 60 | 000 | Other unpaid income and interest
Doubtful Real estate mortgages payable
Real estate owned ~ see schedule 41 200 | 000 | chatel mortgages and other liens payable
Real estate mortgages receivable Other debts-itemize:
Autos and other personal property 150 | 000
Cash value-fife insurance 11 089 | 500
Other assets itemize:
Total Liabilities
Net Worth 361 899 666
Total Assets 36 | 899 | 666 | Total liabitities and net worth 36 899 | 666
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES GENERAL INFORMATION
As endorser, comaker or guarantor Are any assets pledged? (Add schedule) No
On leases or contracts g'i:o}::‘; defendant in any suits or legal No
Have you ever taken bankruptcy? No

Legal Claims

Provision for Federal Income Tax

Other special det
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Net Worth Schedule as of December 14™, 2018

isted Securili
Dominion Energy Stock (D)

AT&T(T)

BANK OF AMERICA CORP VAR RT 04/23/2166

MORGAN STANLEY PFD 8.375%

CITIGROUP INC VAR RT 05/15/2168 5.80%

CITIGROUP INC VAR RT 05/15/2166 6.12%

JPMORGAN CHASE & COPFD 5.75%

J.P. Morgan Giobal Bond Opportunities Fund (GBOSX)

Altria (MO)

VA ST CMWLTH TRANSPRTN BRD TRANSPRTN REV CAP

SDPR Gold (GLD)

Phzer (PFE)

JPMORGAN CHASE & CO VAR RT PFD STK 10/30/2167

Merck (MRK)

NISOURCE INC VAR RT PERP MAT

NY ST ENVRNMNTL FACS CORP ST CLEAN WTR & DRINKING WTR
MA ST CLEAN WTR TR ST REVOLVING FD-GREEN BOND
NORTH TX TWY AUTH REV SPL PROJS SYS 5 1/2% A SEP 01 2036 DTD
DIST OF COLUMBIA SER C UNLIMITED TAX 5.000% 06/01/2038
AT&T Stack (T) Options

BANK OF AMERICA CORP 5.125%

GENERAL MOTORS FiNL CO :
PALM BEACH CNTY FL PUB IMPT REV REF 5.000% 05/01/2035
FAIRFAX CNTY VA WTR AUTH WTR REV REF 5.000% 04/01/2028
UNIV OF VA VA UNIV REVS REF-GEN-SER A 5.000% 06/01/2043
MET TRANSPRTN AUTH NY REV TRANSPRTN-SUBSER A-1 5.000%
FAIRFAX CNTY VA ECON DEV AUTHTRANSPRTN DIST IMPT REV
UPPER OCCOQUAN VA SEW AUTHREGL SEW REV

CHICAGO IL REF PROJS UNLIMITED TAX 5% A 01/01/2028
JPMORGAN CHASE & CO VAR RT 01/01/2166

NY CITY NY MUNI WTR FINAUTH WTR & SWR SYS REV
Deutsche Bank Structured Equity Note (25155MHBO)

NORTH CENTRAL TEXAS HEALTH FAC DEV REV BDS

Selected American Shares (SLADX)

FAIRFAX CNTY VA INDL DEV AUTHREV HLTH CARE

J.P. Morgan Floating Rate Income Fund (JPHSX)

J.P. Morgan High Yield Fund (OHYFX)

J.P. Morgan Strategic Income Opportunities Fund (JSOSX)

Bank of America {BAC)

Bristol-Myers Squibb (BMY)

N Municipal Credit | Fund {NZF}

GMAC 8% NOV 012031 DTD 12/31/2008

Vector Group (VGR}

REGIONS FINANCIAL CORP NT

ROYAL BK SCOTLND GRP PLC 6.125% 12/15/2022

CCO HLDGS LLC/CAP CORP 5.760% 01/15/2024

UNITED RENTALS NORTH AM 5.500%

EMC CORP 3.375% 06/01/2023

ENERGY TRANSFER EQUITY 7 1/2% OCT 15 2020

T-MOBILE USA INC 6.375% 03/01/2025

MGM RESORTS INTL 6.625% 12/15/2021

DISH DBS CORP 7 7/8% SEP 01 2019

AAPRPDHBRPDAADAAN AN ADAAAPDNDPARAHODARNDDAPPOARANHIANAAN DA OAIANNO AN

2,890,685
1,174,719
523,875
609,200
503,413
501,472
495235
448,108
435,181
428,236
399,760
363,365
362,487
310,738
285,862
284,895
282,067
277,921
276,323
270,412
256,713
250,048
227,824
221,264
219,748
216,305
215,487
215,233
204,328
204,135
201,410
184,176
156,755
117,704
105,603
101.894
100,607
81,827
78,432
69,580
456,236
29,131
27,595
26,038
23,451
22,672
22,397
21,727
21,308
21,081
21,031
20,938



222

WM S HART CALIFONIA UNION HIiGH S8CH DIST
ARCONIC INC 6.125% 10/01/2024

BALL CORP 4.000% 11/15/2023

CENTURYLINK INC 5.8% MAR 15 2022

EQUINIX INC 5.875% 01/15/2026

TECK COMINCO LIMITED NOTES 6 1/8% OCT 1 2035
L BRANDS INC 5.625% 10/15/2023

CIT GROUP INC 5.000% 08/01/2023

ICAHN ENTERPRISES/FIN 6.750% 02/01/2024
CROWN AMER/CAP CORP IV 4.500% 01/15/2023 DTD
VA ST RES AUTH INFRASTRUCTURE REV

HCA INC 5.500% 06/15/2047

PTC INC 6.000% 05/15/2024

ADT CORP 4.125% 06/16/2023

TENET HEALTHCARE CORPORATION 4.500%
BLUE CUBE SPINCO INC 8.750% 10/15/2023
CINEMARK USA INC 5.125% 12/15/2022
SOUTHWESTERN ENERGY CO 4.850% 01/23/2025
SPRINGLEAF FINANCE CORP 6.875% 03/156/2025
CIiT GROUP INC 5% AUG 16 2022

GANNETT CO INC 5.125% 07/15/2020

SERVICE CORP INTL. 5.375% 05/15/2024
CENTENE CORP 4.7560% 06/15/2022

SM ENERGY CO 5.625% 06/01/2025

WELLCARE HEALTH PLANS 6.250% 04/01/2025
MASTEC INC 4.875% 03/15/2023

POLYONE CORP 5.250% 03/16/2023

CDW LLC/CDW FINANCE 5.000% 09/01/2025

AES CORPORATION 4.875% 05/16/2023

NRG YIELD OPERATING LLC 5.375% 08/15/2024
CHEMOURS CO 7.000% 05/15/2026

LENNAR CORP 4.500% 06/15/2019

TELECOM ITALIA CAPITAL 7.721% JUN 4 2038
RANGE RESOURCES CORP 4,875% 05/15/2025
UNIT CORP 8 5/8% MAY 152021
FREEPORT-MCMORAN C & G 3.875% 03/15/2023
MURPHY Oil. CORP 6.875% 08/15/2024

CLEAR CHANNEL WORLDWIDE 6.500% 11/15/2022
EMBARQ CORP NOTES 7.985% JUN 1 2036
NOKIA QY. 4.375% 06/12/2027

LAMAR MEDIA CORP 5.750% 02/01/2026

TENET HEALTHCARE CORP 6.000%

HCA INC 4.75% MAY 01 2023

GLP CAPITAL LP / FIN It 5.375% 04/15/2026
UNITED CONTINENTAL HLDGS 5.000% 02/01/2024
WYNDHAM WORLDWIDE CORP 5.100% 10/01/2025
SPECTRUM BRANDS INC 5.750% 07/16/2026
TELEFLEX INC 4.875% 06/01/2026

WESTERN DIGITAL CORP 4.750% 02/15/2026

CDK GLOBAL INC SR NTS 5.875% 06/15/2026
DIAMONDBACK ENERGY INC 5.375% 06/31/2025
CF INDUSTRIES INC 5.150% 03/15/2034

ICAHN ENTERPRISES/FIN 6.375% 12/15/2025
CNO FINANCIAL GROUP INC 5.250% 06/30/2025
GROUP 1 AUTOMOTIVE INC 5.000% 06/01/2022

RAHNAND DA DAL AADANPDDPDARNB A AP O AR OD AP NPARABP DD PDDNDDD G D DD

18,746
19,691
16,671
18,997
18,852
17.050
17,037
16,381
15,513
15,116
15,100
14,687
14,390
14,058
13,823
12,463
11,883
11,608
11,401
11,266
11,206
11,163
11,088
11,070
11,038
11,000
10,969
10,950
10,831
10,870
10,337
10,015
10,003
10,003
9,671
9,424
9,322
9,178
8,424
8,308
8,394
8,251
8,040
8,047
7.991
7,966
7,854
7,157
7,269
7,038
7.000
6,965
6,854
6,825
8,762
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COMMERCIAL METALS CO 4.875% 05/15/2023
RADIAN GROUP INC 4.500% 10/01/2024
GOODYEAR TIRE & RUBBER 5.000% 05/31/2026
CHOICE HOTELS INTL INC 5.75% JUL 01 2022
ARAMARK SERVICES INC 5.125% 01/15/2024
TRANSDIGM INC 8.000% 07/15/2022

ANIXTER INC 5.125% 10/01/2021

SCOTTS MIRACLE-GRO CO 6.000% 10/15/2023
AECOM 5.875% 10/15/2024

AMERICAN AXLE & MFG INC 6.625%

HCA INC 4.250% 10/15/20189

CENTENE CORP 4.750% 01/15/2025

NIELSEN FINANCE LLC/CO 4.500% 10/01/2020
TARGA RESOURCES PARTNERS 5.250% 05/01/2023
CEDAR FAIR LP/CANADA'S W 5.375% 06/01/2024
CYRUSONE LP/CYRUSONE FIN 5.000% 03/15/2024
B&G FOODS INC 4.625% 06/01/2021

ANTERO RESOURCES CORP 56.126% 12/01/2022
FREEPORT-MCMORAN INC 4.000% 11/14/2021
HILTON DOMESTIC OPERATIN 4.250% 09/01/2024
NUANCE COMMUNICATIONS 5.625% 12/15/2026 DTD
GRAPHIC PACKAGING INTL 4.125% 08/15/2024
VIACOM INC VAR RT 02/28/2057

ENLINK MIDSTREAM PARTNER 4.850% 07/15/2026
CENOVUS ENERGY INC 4.45% SEP 16 2042
CLEARWATER PAPER CORP 4.500% 02/01/2023
GOODYEAR TiRE & RUBBER 4.875% 03/15/2027
TELECOM ITALIA CAPITAL 6% 09/30/2034
CHENIERE CORP CHRISTI HD 5.875% 03/31/2025
TOLL BROS FINANCE CORP 5 7/8% FEB 15 2022
VERISIGN INC 4.625% 05/01/2023

HILTON GRAND VACA LLC/IN 6.125% 12/01/2024
SPRINGLEAF FINANCE CORP 6.125% 05/15/2022
ALCOA INC 5.9% FEB 01 2027

CRESTWOOD MIDSTREAM PART 6.250% 04/01/2023
FREEPORT-MCMORAN C & G 5.450% 03/15/2043
WPX ENERGY INC SR NTS 5.75% 06/01/2026
NABORS INDUSTRIES INC 4.625% SEP 15 2021
M/ HOMES INC 5.825% 08/01/2025

AMERIGAS PART/FIN CORP 5.500% 05/20/2025
DYNEGY INC 7.625% 11/01/2024

NEWFIELD EXPLORATION CO 5.625% JUL 01 2024
ENLINK MIDSTREAM PARTNER 6.600% 04/01/2044
RADIAN GROUP INC 5.250% 06/15/2020

DELL INC 4 5/8% APR 01 2021

COVANTA HOLDING CORP 5.875% 03/01/2024
DCP MIDSTREAM OPERATING 3.876% 03/15/2023
ALCOA INC NT DTD 01/25/2007 6.85%

NRG ENERGY INC 8.625% 01/15/2027

MERITAGE HOMES CORP 7% APR 01 2022

CF INDUSTRIES INC 7 1/8% MAY 01 2020

NETFLIX INC 5.875% 02/16/2025

VERISIGN INC 5.260% 04/01/2025

WPX ENERGY INC 6% JAN 15 2022

LAMAR MEDIA CORP 5.000% 05/01/2023

AOBPABPAAPDOARDANDAANDABD A PDAAARPDABADARADOBRPIADAADPH DAL AIAPONDDARDD G

6,698

6,369
6,324
6,181
6,152
6,140
8,115
6,106
6,093
6,051
6,045
6,045
6,018
6,014
5,987
5,936
5,871
5,885
5,813
5775
5,754
5,707
5,671
5,618
5,562
5,490
5,387
6,305
5,218
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CARPENTER TECHMNOLOGY 4.450% 03/01/2023

AVIS BUDGET CAR/FINANCE 5.500% 04/01/2023

REYNOLDS GRP ISS/REYNOLD 144A 5.75%

TECK RESOURCES LIMITED 8% AUG 15 2040

AMERIGAS FINANCE LLC/COR 5.875% 08/20/2026

TRANSMONTAIGE PARTNERS 6.125% 02/16/2026

NOKIA CORP 5 3/8% MAY 15 2019

DISH DBS CORP 6 3/4% JUN 01 2021

SPDR S&P 500 (5PY)

CHICAGO Il O'HARE INTERNATIONA PREREFDED

SPDR S&P 400 MidCap (MDY)

CITIGROUP INC PFD 6.875%

WELLS FARGO & COMPANY PFD 5.85%

CHICAGO I O'HARE INTERNATIONA UNREFDED-GEN
Total Listed Securities

uni Securii
Giobal Access Hedge Fund

Mackay Municipal Strategic Opportunities Fund
CAP IV Private Investors

Benefit Street Partners IV

Watford Real Estate

PEG Digital Growth Fund I

Cerberus Vi Private investors

Providence Debt Hi Private Investors

BSREP I Private Investors

BCP Vi Private Investors

HPS Mezzanine Private Investors Il

ND! Healthcare Fund

Angelo Gordon Opportunistic Whole Loan Select
SLA Private Investors

Starweod SOF Vil Private Investors

GIF IV Private Investors

Blackstone GSO Private Investors

Providence VIi Private investors

Provid TMT Debt Opportunity Fund

ILM Capital

Apolic EPF Private Investors

CAP V Private Investors

Providence Vill Private Investors

Total Unlisted Securities

Real Estate Owned
McLean, VA
White Stone, VA
Total Real Estate Owned

HBPRBADDRN AP P AR

$

w4

3,018
2,982
2,932
2,904
2,844
2,755
2,015
2,008
1,848
1,821
1.708
1,294
987
380
15,891,521

1,861,005
1,144,383
592,296
575,440
533,375
513,788
451,422
421,813
415,363
361,682
323,547
263,762
186,941
132,014
89,027
67,666
57,878
46,213
19,504
7,138
5,047

8,070,179

2,200,000
2,000,000
4,200,000
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AFFIDAVIT

I, bU”/l/fM F BMA ., do swear

that the information provided in this statement is, to the best
of my knowledge, true and accurate.
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With Edwin Meese 11l and Michael B. Mukasey, Thank You for Your Work, Mr.
Sessions, Wash. Post, Nov. 8, 2018, at A17. Copy supplied.

Comey is Gone, the Russia Probe Isn’t, Wash. Post, May 14, 2017, at A25. Copy
supplied.

Trump Was Right To Fire Sally Yates, Her Action Must Go Down as a Serious
Abuse of Office, Wash. Post, Feb. 1, 2017. Copy supplied.

The FBI Director Merely Corrected the Record, Wash. Post, Nov. 1, 2016, at
A17. Copy supplied.

With Jamie S. Gorelick and Kenneth L. Wainstein, Stop the Leaks, N.Y. Times,
May 21, 2013, at 25. Copy supplied.

With Edwin Meese 1, 'Unseemly’ and ‘Dodgy’ Maneuvers Would Invite Legal
Challenges, National Review, Mar. 19, 2010. Copy supplied.

With Henry Weissmann and John P. Frantz, The Gild That is Killing the Lily:
How Confusion Over Regulatory Takings Doctrine is Undermining the Core

Protections of the Takings Clause, 73 Geo. Wash. L. Rev. 429 (2005). Copy
supplied.

High Court Clerks and Appellate Lawyers Decry Vanity Fair Article, Legal
Times, Sept. 27, 2004. Copy supplied.

Tackling Terrorists, Quickly, Wash. Post, Oct. 8, 2003. Copy supplied.

With Barbara Hart, Telecommunications: Are Class Actions Lawyers
Systematically Targeting Regulated Industries?, 4 Engage 143 (2003). Copy
supplied.

With Andrew G. McBride, Are Military Tribunals Appropriate? Yes, They
Conform to Law, Milwaukee J. Sentinel, Nov. 24, 2001, at 15A. Copy supplied.

With Andrew G. McBride, Military Justice for al Qaeda, Wash. Post, Nov. 18,
2001. Copy supplied.

With Griffin Bell, Edwin Meese 111, and Richard Thornburgh, Let Starr Do His
Job, Wall St. J., Mar. 11, 1998. Copy supplied.

Should Congress Refuse to Shorten Sentences for Crack?, Deseret News, Oct. 4,
1997. Copy supplied.

The Independent Counsel Process: Is It Broken and How Should It Be Fixed?, 4
five-panel program presented at the opening session of the Sixty-Seventh Judicial
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Conference of the Fourth Circuit, Panel One, 54 Wash. & Lee L. Rev. 1515 (June
27, 1997). Copy supplied.

FEC Appears to Have Focused Its Attention on Conservative Groups, Virginian
Pilot, Aug. 22, 1996. Copy supplied.

Rule of Law: The FEC’s War Against the First Amendment, Wall St. J., Aug. 14,
1996, at A13. Copy supplied.

A Practical Solution to Crime in our Communities, 1 Mich. L. & Pol’y Rev. 393
(1996). Copy supplied.

Regulatory Reform: Recognizing Market Realities. Telecommunications, Vol.
V29, Issue 1, January 1, 1995. Copy supplied.

Legal Issues in a New Political Order, 36 Cath. Law. 1 (1995). Copy supplied.

Foreword, “Fighting Crime: A Question of Will and Priorities,” in Report Card on
Crime and Punishment, American Legislative Exchange Council, Oct. 20, 1994.
Copy supplied.

With Richard Cullen, Virginia Must Close the Revolving Door for Violent
Criminals, Richmond Times-Dispatch, Feb. 22, 1994, Copy supplied.

Culpability, Restitution, and the Environment: The Vitality of Common Law
Rules, Symposium: The Environment and the Law, Panel IV, 21 Ecology L.Q. 549
(1994). Copy supplied.

With Ira H. Raphaelson, Viewpoint: Punishment that Exceeds the Crime — The
Crackdown on Corporate Fraud Threatens to Stifle the Financial System Warns
Former US Attorney General William P. Barr; The Banker Vol. 143, No. 813
(Nov. 1, 1993). Copy supplied.

With Gadi Weinreich, The Science of Compliance US-Style, 12 Int’l Fin. L. Rev.
32 (1993). Copy supplied.

Attorney General’s Remarks, 15 Cardozo L. Rev. 31 (1993). Copy supplied.

Crime, Poverty, and the Family, Heritage Lecture No. 401, July 29, 1992. Copy
supplied.

Should the Bill of Rights Fully Protect Fundamental Freedoms?, Three Levels of
Human Decisionmaking and the Protection of Fundamental Rights, Symposium:
Bill of Rights after 200 Years, Panel I, 15 Harv. J. L. & Pub. Pol'y 11

(1992). Copy supplied.
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Foreword, Seventh Survey of White Collar Crime, 29 Am. Crim. L. Rev. 169
(1992). Copy supplied.

Bush’s Crime Bill — This Time Pass It, N.Y. Times, Sept. 24, 1991, at A31. Copy
supplied.

Death-Penalty Delay Doesn’t Promote Justice, NY Times, Letter to the Editor,
Oct. 5, 1990. Copy supplied.

Wolves Fighting Crime Go ‘B-a-a-a’, L.A. Times, Sept. 13, 1990, at 7. Copy
supplied.

With Edwin Meese 111, Louis Fisher, Geoffrey P. Miller, and Kate Stith, Panel IV:
The Appropriations Power and the Necessary and Proper Clause, 68 Wash. U. L.
Q. 623 (1990). Copy supplied.



230

United States Senate
Committee on the Judiciary

Questionnaire for Non-Judicial Nominees

Appendix 12(b)

WILLIAM PELHAM BARR
Nominee to be United States Attorney General



231

National Commission on the Separation of Powers, The Separation of Powers:
The Roles of Independent Counsels, Inspectors General, Executive Privilege and
Executive Orders, December 7, 1998. Copy supplied.

“The State of Violent Crime in America,” Council on Crime in America, Jan. 5,
1996. Copy supplied.

Governor’s Commission on Parole Abolition & Sentencing Reform, Final Report,
August 1994. Copy supplied.

Campaign of George Allen for Governor, Violent Crime in Virginia: The George
Allen Plan for Abolishing Parole, July 1993. Copy supplied.

U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Policy and Communications, Office of
Policy Development, The Case for More Incarceration, October 28, 1992. Copy
supplied.

U.S. Department of Energy, Department of Energy Procedures for Intelligence
Activities, October 19, 1992. Copy supplied.

U.S. Department of Justice, Combating Violent Crime: 24 Recommendations to
Strengthen Criminal Justice, July 28, 1992. Copy supplied.

U.S. Department of Justice, Project Triggerlock: Incarcerating the Armed
Criminal, Year One — May 1991 — April 1992, July 1992. Copy supplied.

U.S. Department of Justice, 1992 Annual Report of the Attorney General of the
United States, 1992. Copy supplied.

U.S. Department of Justice, 1991 Annual Report of the Attorney General of the
United States, 1991. Copy supplied.
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In my long career in the public and private sectors, there have been many
instances in which I have testified, provided official statements, and made other
communications relating to matters of public policy or legal interpretation to
public bodies or public officials. I often have not kept records of many of these
instances, and I lack any recollection of many of them. The following materials
were compiled after a review of my own records and through searches of publicly
available records by persons acting on my behalf. The materials include letters
from my time at GTE Corporation and Verizon, during which time I signed my
name on behalf of those corporations in numerous letters and communications
with government entities. I did not keep copies of those documents. I have
provided all such communications found through reviewing my own records,
public records, and records requested from Verizon.

Letter to Deputy Attorney General Rod Rosenstein and Assistant Attorney
General Steve Engel, June 8, 2018. Copy supplied.

In 2017, T wrote a letter of support to the Senate Committee on Commerce,
Science, and Transportation, supporting the nomination of Steven Bradbury to be
General Counsel for the Department of Transportation. I have searched public
records and my own files but have been unable to locate a copy.

Letter to President Donald J. Trump, Feb. 23, 2017. Copy supplied.

Letter to Chairman Grassley and Ranking Member Feinstein, Dec. 5, 2016. Copy
supplied.

Letter to Mitch McConnell and Harry Reid regarding Sentencing Reform and
Corrections Act of 2015, Dec. 10, 2015. Copy supplied.

Letter to Majority Leader Reid and Minority Leader McConnell, May 12, 2014.
Copy supplied.

Letter to Chief Judge Reade, Apr. 26, 2010. Copy supplied.

Letter to Chairman Leahy and Ranking Member Sessions, Mar. 4, 2010. Copy
supplied.

Letter to Chairman Leahy and Senator Specter, Jan. 7, 2009, Copy supplied.

Letter to Chairman of Distinguished Graduate Award, Nov. 5, 2008. Copy
supplied.

Letter to Ambassador Sobel, Nov. 2, 2006. Copy supplied.

Letter to Chairman Arlen Specter, May 5, 2006. Copy supplied.
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Letter to Speaker DiMasi, Feb. 10, 2006. Copy supplied.
Letter to Chairman Specter and Senator Leahy, Jan. 4, 2006. Copy Supplied.

Letter to Senate Judiciary Committee, Sept. 20035, I wrote a letter to the
Committee regarding Chief Justice Roberts’s confirmation. | have searched public
records and my own files but have been unable to locate a copy.

Review of Department of Defense Detention and Interrogation Policy and
Operations in the Global War on Terrorism, 109th Cong. (July 14, 2005). Video
available at: https://www .c-span.org/video/?187644-1/detention-policies-military-
justice. Copy supplied.

Detainees, 109th Cong. (June 15, 2005). Video available at: https://www.c-
span.org/video/?187193-1/guantanamo-detainees. Copy supplied.

Letter to Chairman Arlen Specter, May 10, 2005. Copy supplied.

Meeting Minutes, William and Mary Board of Visitors, Apr. 21-22, 2005. Copy
supplied.

Letter to Congress in support of the USA Patriot Act, Sept. 23, 2004. Copy
supplied.

Letter to Chairman Powell, June 28, 2004. Copy supplied.

Letter to Chairman Powell and Commissioner Abernathy, June 1, 2004. Copy
supplied.

In February 2004, I wrote a letter of support to the Senate Judiciary Committee
supporting the nomination of William G. Myers 111 to the U.S. Court of Appeals
for the Ninth Circuit. I have searched public records and my own files but have
been unable to locate a copy.

Letter to Chairman Powell, Jan. 7, 2004. Copy supplied.

Hearing of the National Commission on Terrovist Attacks upon the United States,
Sixth Public Hearing, 108th Cong. (Dec. 8, 2003). Video available at:
https://www.c-span.org/video/?179456-4/terrorism-domestic-intelligence. Copy
supplied.

Securing Freedom and the Nation: Collecting Intelligence Under the
Law, Constitutional and Public Policy Consideration, 108th Cong. (Oct. 30,
2003). Copy supplied.

Consumer Privacy and Government Technology Mandates in the Digital Media

[



235

Marketplace, 108th Cong. (Sept. 17, 2003). Copy supplied.
Pornography on the Internet, 108th Cong. (Sept. 9, 2603). Copy supplied.

The WorldCom Case: Looking at Bankruptcy and Competition Issues, 108th
Cong. (July 22, 2003). Copy supplied.

In July 2003, [ wrote a letter to the General Services Administration on behalf of
Verizon regarding MCI’s bankruptcy. I have searched public records and my own
files but have been unable to locate a copy.

Letter to U.S. Attorney Comey, May 2, 2003. Copy supplied.

Letter to Chairman Donaldson, Mar. 19, 2003. Copy supplied.

Letter to Secretary Dortch, Feb. 6, 2003. Copy supplied.

Letter to Chairman Powell, Jan. 30, 2003. Copy supplied.

Letter to Chairman Powell, Jan. 17, 2003. Copy supplied.

Letters to Chairman Powell and Commissioners Abernathy, Adelstein, Copps, and
Martin, Dec. 17, 2002.

Letter to Chairman Powell, Nov. 22, 2002. Copy supplied.

Letter to Chairman Powell, Oct. 16, 2002. Copy supplied.

Letter to Chairman Powell, July 16, 2002. Copy supplied.

Letter to Chairman Powell, Jan. 9, 2002. Copy supplied.

Department of Justice Oversight: Preserving Our Freedoms While Defending
Against Terrorism, 107th Cong. (Nov. 28, 2001). Video available at:
https://www.c-span.org/video/?167495-1/justice-department-civil-liberties. Copy

supplied.

American Broadband Competition Act of 2001 and the Broadband Competition
and Incentives Act of 2001, 107th Cong. (May 22, 2001). Copy supplied.

Letter to Secretary Salas, Apr. 3, 2000. Copy supplied.
In February 2000, I wrote a letter to Congressman Charles Canady regarding bail

bonds. I have searched public records and my own files but have been unable to
locate a copy.



236

Letter to Chairman Strom Thurmond, July 22, 1999. Copy supplied.

Internet Freedom Act and Internet Growth and Development Act of 1999, 106th
Cong. (June 30, 1999). Video available at: https://www.c-
span.org/video/?125922-1/internet-broadband-issues. Copy supplied.

Reauthorization of the Independent Counsel Statute, Part I, 106th Cong. (Mar. 10,
1999). Video available at: https://www.c-span.org/video/?121721-
1/reauthorization-independent-counsel-law. Copy supplied.

Letter to Attorney General Janet Reno, May 235, 1998. Copy supplied.

The 1996 Telecom Act: An Antitrust Perspective, 105th Cong. (Sept. 17, 1997).
Copy supplied.

Universal Service Part I of III, 105th Cong. (Mar. 12, 1997). Copy supplied.

Letter from Edwin Meese and William Barr to Newt Gingrich and Robert Dole,
Dec. 29, 1996. Copy supplied.

Mergers and Competition in the Telecommunications Industry, 104th Cong. (Sept.
11, 1996). Copy supplied.

Restructuring Intelligence Agencies, Commission on the Roles and Capabilities of
the United States Intelligence Community, Jan. 19, 1996. Video available at
https://www.c-span.org/video/?69458-1/restructuring-intelligence-agencies-part-
3.

Prison Reform: Enhancing the Effectiveness of Incarceration, 104th Cong. (July
27, 1995). Copy supplied.

International Terrorism: Threats and Responses, 104th Cong. (June 12, 1995).
Copy supplied.

Combating Domestic Terrorism, 104th Cong. (Mar. 3, 1995). Copy supplied.

Balanced Budget Constitutional Amendment, 104th Cong. (Jan. 9, 1995). Copy
supplied.

The Balanced-Budget Amendment, 104th Cong. (Jan. 5, 1995). Video available at
https://www.c-span.org/video/?62572-1/balanced-budget-amendment-part-4.
Copy supplied.

On February 10, 1994, I joined a letter to the Chair of the ABA Standing
Committee on Ethics and Professional Responsibility regarding ethical concerns
relating to contingency fees. [ have searched public records and my own files but
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have been unable to locate a copy.

Federal Mandatory Minimum Sentencing, 103rd Cong. (July 28, 1993). Copy
supplied.

Letter to Director William Sessions, Jan. 15, 1993. Copy supplied.

In August 1992, I wrote a letter to the American Bar Association opposing their
decision to take a position on abortion. I have searched public records and my
own files but have been unable to locate a copy.

Letter to House Committee on the Judiciary, Aug. 10, 1992. Copy supplied.

Letter to the Committee on Labor and Human Resources, July 1, 1992. Copy
supplied.

Oversight of the Department of Justice, 102nd Cong. (June 30, 1992). Video
available at https://www.c-span.org/video/?26841-1/oversight-justice-department.
Copy supplied.

Role of the Department of Justice and the Drug War, Weed and Seed, 102nd
Cong. (May 20, 1992). Copy supplied.

Letter to Chairman Henry B. Gonzalez, May 15, 1992. Copy supplied.

Departments of Commerce, Justice, and State, the Judiciary, and Related
Agencies Appropriations for Fiscal Year 1993, 102nd Cong. (Mar. 19, 1992).
Copy supplied.

Letter to Chairman Glenn, March 4, 1992. Copy supplied.
Letter to Congressman Henry J. Hyde, Mar. 2, 1992. Copy supplied.

In approximately February 1992, [ wrote a letter to House Judiciary Committee
regarding proposed legislation that would impose a moratorium on returning
people to Haiti. I have searched public records and my own files but have been
unable to locate a copy.

Letter to Congress, November 25, 1991. Copy supplied (as reproduced in the
Congressional Record).

Confirmation Hearing before the Senate Committee on the Judiciary, 102nd
Cong. (Nov. 1213, 1991). The video of this two-day hearing is available at:
https://www.c-span.org/video/?22668-1/barr-confirmation-hearing-day-1 and
https://www.c-span.org/video/?22675-1/barr-confirmation-hearing-day-2. Written
transcript attached.
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Selected Crime Issues: Prevention and Punishment, 102nd Cong. (May 29, 1991).
Copy supplied.

Letter to Senator Rudman, March 15, 1991. Copy supplied.

Departments of Commerce, Justice, and State, the Judiciary, and Related
Agencies Appropriations for 1992, 102nd Cong. (Mar. 12, 1991). Copy supplied.

Letter to Speaker Thomas S. Foley, September 10, 1990. Copy supplied.
Letter to Richard G. Darman, Aug. 27, 1990. Copy supplied.
Letter to Sheldon Krantz, Aug. 2, 1990. Copy supplied.

Confirmation Hearing before the Senate Committee on the Judiciary, 101st Cong.
(June 27, 1990). Copy supplied.

On May 11, 1990, I wrote a letter to Senator Arlen Specter regarding his request
that a special prosecutor be appointed. I have searched public records and my own
files but have been unable to locate a copy.

Oversight of the Operation of Inspector General Offices, 101st Cong. (Apr. 25,
1990). Copy supplied.

Federal Death Penalty Legislation, 101st Cong. (Mar. 14, 1990). Copy supplied.
Hearing Before the Commiitee on Rules and Administration Regarding S. 1727,
The “Comprehensive Campaign Finance Reform Act of 1989, 101st Cong. (Feb.
27, 1990). Copy supplied.

Administrative Dispute Resolution Act, 101st Cong. (Jan. 31, 1990). Copy
supplied.

FBI Authority to Seize Subjects Abroad, 101st Cong. (Nov. 8, 1989). Copy
supplied.

Administrative Dispute Resolution Act of 1989, 101st Cong. (Sept. 19, 1989).
Copy supplied.

Hearings on Measures to Protect the Physical Integrity of the American Flag,
101st Cong. (Aug. 1, 1989). Copy supplied.

HR. 849, 101st Cong. (July 26, 1989). Copy supplied.

Statutory and Constitutional Responses to the Supreme Court Decision in Texas v.
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Johnson, 101st Cong. (July 20, 1989). Copy supplied.

Confirmation Hearing before the Senate Committee on the Judiciary, 101st Cong.
(April 5, 1989). Copy supplied.

In 1986, I wrote a letter to the Senate in support of the confirmation of Daniel
Manion to the Seventh Circuit. I have searched public records and my own files

but have been unable to locate a copy.

Office of Legal Counsel

The Attorney General has directed the Office of Legal Counsel (“Office™) to
publish selected opinions for the convenience of the Executive, Legislative, and
Judicial Branches of the government, and of the professional bar and the general
public. All of the opinions that the Office has determined to be appropriate for
publication, including those that I authored, are available at
https://www.justice.gov/olc/opinions-main.

The Office’s remaining records are generally privileged. However, the Office
sometimes waives privilege and releases additional records through FOIA or by
other public disclosure. Although these records have been released to the public in
some form, they have not been selected for official publication and thus they are
not included among the Office’s formal published opinions. The Office has
identified three such opinions that I authored during my tenure as the Assistant
Attorney General for the Office of Legal Counsel, which I have supplied.

Memorandum Opinion for C. Boyden Gray, Transportation for Spouse of Cabinet
Members, Apr. 4, 1990. Copy supplied.

Memorandum for Edith E. Holiday, Sequestration Exemption for the Resolution
Funding Corporation, Oct. 3, 1989, Copy supplied.

Memorandum for Martin L. Allday, Payment of Interest on Awards of Back Pay
in Employment Discrimination Claims Brought by Federal Employees, Sept. 18,
1989. Copy supplied.
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During my long career in the public and private sectors, I have had many
opportunities to provide remarks, speak on panels, present awards, and engage in
numerous other instances of public commentary. I have not kept detailed records
of all such appearances. The following materials were compiled after a review of
my own records and through searches of publicly available records by persons
acting on my behalf. It includes those events for which I have either personal
recollection or records of having spoken; it also includes some events that |
cannot personally recall or verify attending, but for which there is some public
indication that I may have spoken there. As requested, when I can recall the
nature of my remarks at an event and have not provided notes, a transcript, or a
recording, I have included a description of what my remarks were or would have
been.

July 11, 2018: Panelist, “Agency and Outside Perspectives on Independent
Oversight.” Inspector General Act of 1978 Commemoration Conference, Council
of the Inspectors General on Integrity and Efficiency, Washington DC.
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=WHpnk5fISS0. Press report supplied.

November 8, 2017: Speaker, “James F. Rill Fellowship Program,” Department of
Justice Antitrust Division, Washington, DC. I recounted Jim Rill’s contributions
to antitrust enforcement as Assistant Attorney General during my time at the
Department. | have no notes, transcript, or recording. The address of the US
Department of Justice is 950 Pennsylvania Avenue NW, Washington, DC 20530.

October 20, 2017: Panelist, “Practicing Law from the Top of the Public and
Private Sectors,” George Washington Law School, Washington, DC. 1 spoke on a
panel and at a lunch reception about my experiences in government and in
industry. I have no notes, transcript, or recording. The address of George
Washington Law School is 2000 H Street NW, Washington, DC 20052.

March 30, 2017: Speaker, *“The Role of Director in Reputation Risk,” George
Washington University Law School, Washington, DC. 1 spoke about the role that
corporate directors play in reputation risk. I have no notes, transcript, or
recording. The address of George Washington Law School is 2000 H Street NW,
Washington, DC 20052.

March 20, 2012: Speaker, “Obamacare in Briefs: The Amicus Writers Preview
the Key Questions,” The Heritage Foundation, Washington, DC. I do not recall
speaking at this event, but I would have spoken about my participation in briefing
key issues on the Affordable Care Act. I have no notes, transcript, or recording.
The address of The Heritage Foundation is 214 Massachusetts Ave NE,
Washington, DC 20002. Press report supplied.

July 24, 2010: Panelist, Summer Meeting, Virginia Bar Association, Hot Springs,
Virginia. | have no notes, transcript, or recording. 1 served on a panel discussion
on whether terrorists should be tried in military tribunals or federal criminal
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courts. I have no notes, transcript, or recording. The address of the Virginia Bar
Association is 1111 East Main Street, Suite 905, Richmond, Virginia 23219. Press
report supplied.

May 26, 2010: Panelist, “Permanent Injunctions in the District Courts and ITC:
Effects on Competition and Innovation,” U.S. Department of Justice, Alexandria,
Virginia. [ discussed the implications of seeking exclusion orders before the ITC
to intellectual property and antitrust policy. I have no notes, transcript, or
recording. The address of the US Department of Justice is 950 Pennsylvania
Avenue NW, Washington, DC 20530.

July 31, 2009: Panelist, “Lessons from History: A Conversation with Former
Attorneys General,” American Bar Association, Chicago, Illinois. I served on a
panel discussing the relationship between the White House and members of the
Cabinet. I have no notes, transcript, or recording. The address of the American
Bar Association is 321 North Clark Street, Chicago, Illinois 60654. Press reports
supplied.

September 17, 2007: Panelist, “Has America Kept the Founder’s Faith?” World
Forum on the Future of Democracy, College of William & Mary, Williamsburg,
Virginia. Video recording supplied. Press report supplied.

January 16, 2007: Speaker, Law and Information Society Lecture, Fordham
Center on Law and Information Policy, New York, New York. Notes supplied.
Press report supplied.

Approximately Early 2007: Presenter, “President’s Lecture Series,” Dominican
College, Orangeburg, New York. I spoke about the relationship between the
President of the United States and members of the Cabinet. [ have no notes,
transcript, or recording. The address of Dominican College is 470 Western
Highway, Orangeburg, New York 10962. Press report supplied.

November 16, 2006: Panelist, “Net Neutrality Debate,” The Federalist Society
2006 National Lawyers Convention, Washington, DC. Recording available at
https://fedsoc.org/conferences/2006-national-lawyers-convention?#agenda-item-
net-neutrality-battle-of-the-titans. Press reports supplied.

November 11, 2006: Panelist, “White House Counsel: Views from the Justice
Department,” University of Virginia Miller Center, Charlottesville, Virginia.
Copy supplied.

August 21, 2005: Speaker, “Aspen Summit 2005: Cyberspace and the American
Dream,” The Aspen Institute, Aspen, Colorado. I spoke about the importance of
competition and deregulation to broadband innovation. [ have no notes, transcript,
or recording. The address of the Aspen Institute is 2300 North Street NW, Suite
700, Washington, DC 20037. Press report supplied.
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July 18, 2005: Panelist, “Civil Liberties and Security,” 9/11 Public Discourse
Project, Washington, DC. Video available at: https://www.c-
span.org/video/?187714-1/civil-liberties-security. Press report supplied.

November 12, 2004: Panelist, “Corporations, Securities & Antitrust: Current
Developments in Business and Law,” Federalist Society 2004 National Lawyers
Convention, Washington, DC. Video available at: https://www.c-
span.org/video/?184419-1/government-business-regulation. Press report supplied.

March 18, 2004: Speaker, “Matching the Regulatory Regime to the Realities of
the Market,” Cato Institute, Washington, DC. Notes supplied. Press report
supplied.

November 15, 2002: Panelist, “Law Enforcement Post 9/11: Balancing Civil
Liberties and Public Safety,” The Federalist Society, Washington, DC. Transcript
supplied.

October 30, 2002: Speaker, “Forum on Litigation and Regulation in Financial
Services,” Federalist Society, New York City, New York. I spoke about the
importance of deregulation and competition for innovation in financial markets. 1
have no notes, transcript, or recording. The address of the Federalist Society is
1776 1 Street NW, Suite 300, Washington, DC 20006.

October 15, 2002: Keynote Speaker, “Corporate Governance Seminar,”
Richmond Bar Association, Richmond, Virginia. I spoke on corporate governance
issues. | have no notes, transcript, or recording. The address of the Richmond Bar
Association is 707 East Main Street, Suite 1620, Richmond, Virginia 23219, Press
report supplied.

June 28, 2001: Speaker, “FCC Regulation Luncheon,” The Manhattan Institute
for Policy Research, New York City, New York. I spoke about the importance of
competition and deregulation to broadband innovation. I have no notes, transcript,
or recording. The address of the Manhattan Institute is 52 Vanderbilt Avenue
New York, New York 10017. Press report supplied.

September 28, 2000: Speaker, “Antitrust 2001,” Fulcrum Information Services
Inc., Washington, DC 20037. I do not recall speaking at this event, but [ would
have spoken about the importance of competition and deregulation to
telecommunications innovation. I have no notes, transcript, or recording. The
address of Fulcrum is 5870 Trinity Parkway, Suite 400, Centreville, Virginia
20120,

August 21, 2000: Speaker, “Cyberspace and the American Dream,” Progress &
Freedom Foundation, Aspen, Colorado. I spoke about the importance of
competition and deregulation to telecommunications innovation. I have no notes,
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transcript, or recording. The address of the Progress & Freedom Foundation is
1444 1 Street NW, Suite 500, Washington, DC 20005. Press report supplied.

Early 2000s: Speaker, Benefit for St. Aloysius, New York, New York. Copy
supplied.

September 22, 1999: Speaker, “Telecommunications Regulatory Reform,”
Information Technology Association of America, Arlington, Virginia. I spoke
about the importance of competition and deregulation to telecommunications
innovation. I have no notes, transcript, or recording. The Information Technology
Association of America is no longer extant. Press report supplied.

September 22, 1999: Speaker, “Intellectual Property Rights: Constitutional
Principles and Federalism,” Heritage Foundation, Washington, DC. 1 spoke about
intellectual property rights and the constitution. I have no notes, transcript, or
recording. The address of the Heritage Foundation is 214 Massachusetts Ave NE,
Washington, DC 20002.

August 9, 1999: Panelist, “Attorneys General Forum,” American Bar Association,
Atlanta, Georgia. Video available at: https://www.c-span.org/video/?151507-
1/attorneys-general-forum. Press report supplied.

March 11, 1999: Panelist, Seminar, Legg Mason, Baltimore, Maryland. I spoke
about mergers. I have no notes, transeript, or recording. The address of Legg
Mason is 100 International Drive, Baltimore, Maryland 21202. Press report
supplied.

December 10, 1998: Speaker, “Annual Institute on Telecommunications Policy
and Regulation,” Practicing Law Institute, Washington, DC. I spoke about the
effects of the Federal Communications Commission’s regulatory efforts. I have
no notes, transcript, or recording. The address of the Practicing Law Institute is
1177 Avenue of the Americas, 2nd Floor, New York, New York 10036. Press
report supplied.

August 28, 1998: Speaker, Convocation, College of William & Mary,
Williamsburg, Virginia. Speech supplied. Press report supplied.

February 27, 1998: Speaker, Conference, Alliance for Public Technology. I spoke
about competition policy in the telecommunications industry. | have no notes,
transcript, or recording. The address of the Alliance for Public Technology
appears no longer to be extant. Press report attached.

November 13, 1997: Speaker, “Damn the Torpedoes: Full Competition Ahead!”
American Enterprise Institute, Washington, DC. I spoke about
telecommunications policy. I have no notes, transcript, or recording. The address
of the American Enterprise Institute is 789 Massachusetts Avenue, NW,
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Washington, DC 20036. Press report supplied.

June 8, 1997: Panelist, Midwestern Governors Conference, Midwestern
Governors Association, Overland Park, Kansas. I spoke about
telecommunications. I have no notes, transcript, or recording. The address of the
Midwestern Governors Association is 2025 M Street NW, Suite 800, Washington,
DC 20036. Press report supplied.

December 12, 1996: Panelist, “Telecommunications Act,” Practising Law
Institute, Washington, DC. I spoke about the Telecommunications Act. | have no
notes, transcript, or recording. The address of the Practising Law Institute is 1177
Avenue of the Americas, 2nd Floor, New York, New York 10036. Press report
supplied.

October 19, 1996: Panelist, “Attorneys General Forum,” University of California,
Hastings College of Law, San Francisco, California. Video available at:
https://www.c-span.org/video/?76051-1/attorneys-general-forum.

October 6, 1996: Speaker, St. Patrick Cathedral, Sixth Annual Red Mass,
Norwich, Connecticut. 1 do not recall the topic of my remarks. I have no notes,
transcript, or recording. The address of St. Patrick Cathedral is 213 Broadway,
Norwich, Connecticut 06360. Press report supplied.

May 1996 (approximately): Speaker, Commencement Speech to the Class of
1996, Stone Ridge School of the Sacred Heart, Bethesda, Maryland. Notes
supplied.

1995: Panelist, “The Bill of Rights, Community Policing, and Community
Decorum,” The Rights Revolution Symposium, The Federalist Society, Michigan.
Transcript attached.

December 2, 1994: Keynote Speaker, “The Challenge and Opportunities We
Face,” The Middlesex Club, Boston, Massachusetts. I spoke about accountability
and responsibility in government. [ have no notes, transcript, or recording. The
Middlesex Club appears not to have a physical address but can be reached at
contact@themiddlesexclub.org. Press report supplied.

November 22, 1994: Speaker, Republican Governors Association, Williamsburg,
Virginia. I spoke about the role states play through litigation. [ have no notes,
transcript, or recording. The address of the Republican Governors Association is
1747 Pennsylvania Avenue NW, Suite 250, Washington, DC 20006. Press report
supplied.

November 1994 (approximately): Speaker, Federalist Society, Federalist Society
Chapter at Duquesne Law School, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. I spoke of my
experiences at the Department and recounted notable enforcement operations. I
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have no notes, transcript, or recording. The address of the Federalist Society is
1776 1 Street NW, Suite 300, Washington, DC 20006. Press coverage supplied.

October 22, 1994 Panelist, “Crime Legislation,” University of California,
Hastings College of Law, San Francisco, California, Video available at
https://www.c-span.org/video/?61790-1/crime-legislation.

October 22, 1994: Panelist, “Immigration Law,” University of California,
Hastings College of Law, San Francisco, California. Video available at:
hitps://www.c-span.org/video/?61172-1/immigration-law.

August 6, 1994: Speaker, Twenty-First Annual Meeting, American Legislative
Exchange Council, Tampa, Florida. I discussed legislative priorities in the
criminal justice area. I have no notes, transcript, or recording. The address of the
American Legislative Exchange Council is 2900 Crystal Drive, 6th Floor,
Arlington, Virginia 22202.

June 26, 1994: Panelist, “Crime, Punishment, and the Criminal Justice System,”
the Independent Institute, Lawrence, Kansas. Video available at:
http://www.independent.org/multimedia/detail.asp?id=2610 and
http://www.independent.org/multimedia/detail. asp?id=2610&c=2717 and
http://www.independent.org/multimedia/detail.asp?id=2610&c=2718.

June 22, 1994: Speaker, National Conference on Criminal Violence, National
Rifle Association, Washington, DC. I discussed trends in crime statistics. [ have
no notes, transcript, or recording. The address of the National Rifle Association is
11250 Waples Mill Road, Fairfax, Virginia 22030. Press report supplied.

June 16, 1994: Speaker, Reception, Campaign of Republican Candidate John
Greiber, Annapolis, Maryland. I spoke on the importance of law enforcement. I
have no notes, transcript, or recording. The Campaign of Republican Candidate
John Greiber is no longer extant.

May 25, 1994: Panelist, National Policy Forum on Violent Crime, California State
University Fullerton, Fullerton, California. | discussed trends in crime statistics. [
have no notes, transcript, or recording. The address of California State University
Fullerton is 800 North State College Boulevard, Fullerton, California 92831.
Press report supplied.

May 7, 1994: Recipient, Distinguished Alumni Award, George Washington
University, Washington, DC. [ have no notes, transcript, or recording. | gave
comments on receiving the award. The address of George Washington University
is 2000 H Street NW, Washington, DC 20052. Press report supplied.

April 5, 1994: Town Hall Host, “Listening to America,” National Policy Forum,
Columbus, Ohio. This event was a listening session on neighborhood safety. 1
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have no notes, transcript, or recording. The National Policy Forum was part of the
Republican National Committee, the address of which is 310 First Street SE,
Washington, DC 20003, Press coverage supplied.

March 28, 1994: Panelist, “A Spirited Discussion,” College of William and
Mary’s Marshall-Wythe School of Law, Williamsburg, Virginia. Notes supplied.
Press coverage supplied.

February 9, 1994: Speaker, “Reflections of an Attorney General,” Federalist
Society Milwaukee Lawyers Chapter, Milwaukee, Wisconsin. I shared anecdotes
about the role of the Attorney General. I have no notes, transcript, or recording.
The address of the Federalist Society is 1776 1 Street NW #300, Washington, DC
20006.

October 23, 1993: Panelist, “Evolution of Attorney General Role,” University of
California, Hastings College of Law, San Francisco, California. Video available at
https://www.c-span.org/video/?53440-1/evolution-attorney-general-role. Press
coverage supplied.

October 14, 1993: Speaker, “Red Mass” Dinner, Roman Catholic Diocese of
Galveston-Houston, Houston, Texas. I spoke about lawyers’ contributions to the
Catholic Church. I have no notes, transcript, or recording. The address of the
Archdiocese of Galveston-Houston is 1700 San Jacinto, Houston, Texas 77002.
Press coverage supplied.

September 29, 1993: Keynote Speaker, Appreciation Dinner for Oklahoma
County District Attorney Robert H. Macy, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma. I spoke
about Mr. Macy’s contributions to law enforcement. I have no notes, transcript, or
recording. [ am unaware of the sponsoring organization. Press report supplied.

February 27, 1993: Speaker, “Congress of Tomorrow,” Congressional Institute
Inc., Plainsboro, New Jersey. I spoke about Republican politics. T have no notes,
transcript, or recording. The address of Congressional Institute Inc. is 1700
Diagonal Road #730, Alexandria, Virginia 22314. Press report supplied.

January 11, 1993: Speaker, Annual Law Enforcement Officer of the Year
Banquet, 100 Club of Jefferson County, Beaumont, Texas. I spoke on effective
law enforcement programs. [ have no notes, transcript, or recording. I have been
unable to locate a mailing address for this organization. Press report supplied.

1993 (approximate): Speaker, Bar Association, Virginia. I spoke about criminal
justice and my time in the Department of Justice. Notes supplied.

1993 (approximate): Speaker, “Corporate Ethics,” Sony In-House Counsel. I do
not recall the city and state where this event took place. Notes supplied.
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December 17, 1992: Speaker, Presentation of the Portrait of the Honorable
Malcolm R. Wilkey, United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia
Circuit, Washington, DC. Transcript supplied.

December 14, 1992: Speaker, The Attorney General’s 41st Annual Awards
Ceremony, Department of Justice, Washington, DC. Transcript supplied.

November 15, 1992: Speaker, Attorney General’s Remarks, Benjamin N. Cardozo
School of Law, New York City, New York. Remarks supplied.

October 29, 1992: Speaker, “Civil Justice Reform,” American Corporate Counsel
Association, New Orleans, Louisiana. I spoke about matters of civil justice
reform. T have no notes, transcript, or recording. The address of the renamed
Association of Corporate Counsel is 1001 G Street NW, Suite 300W,
Washington, DC 20001.

October 27, 1992: Speaker, 99th Conference of the International Chiefs of Police,
Minneapolis, Minnesota. Notes supplied.

October 16, 1992: Speaker, Press Conference Announcing Judge Frederick B.
Lacey’s Appointment as Independent Counsel re: BNL, U.S. Department of
Justice, Washington, DC. Document supplied. Press coverage supplied.

October 6, 1992: Speaker, Presentation at Catholic League for Religious and Civil
Rights Dinner, Washington, DC. Document supplied. Press coverage supplied.

October 1992 (approximately): Speaker, St. Thomas More Award Acceptance,
Catholic Lawyers Guild of New York, New York, New York. Speech supplied.

September 30, 1992: Speaker, Presentation to Pennsylvania State-Wide L.E.C.C.
Conference, Camp Hill, Pennsylvania. Document supplied.

September 29, 1992: Speaker, Presentation to Commonwealth Club, San
Francisco, California. Document supplied. Press coverage supplied.

September 26, 1992: Speaker, Presentation at Hispanic Bar Association
Luncheon, Atlantic City, New Jersey. I do not recall the subject of my remarks. I
have no notes, transcript, or recording. The address of the Hispanic Bar
Association is 1020 19th Street NW #5035, Washington, DC 20036.

September 25, 1992: Speaker, Presentation at Asian-Pacific American Bar
Association Luncheon, Washington, DC. Document supplied.

September 18, 1992: Speaker, Swearing-in Ceremony for Henry Hudson as
Director of U.S. Marshals Service, Arlington, Virginia. Document supplied.
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September 17, 1992: Speaker, Presentation at Rotary Club Luncheon, Conyers,
Georgia. Document supplied.

September 11, 1992: Speaker, Presentation to Society of Former Special Agents
of the FBI, San Diego, California. Document supplied.

September 10, 1992: Speaker, Presentation to Michigan Crime Summit, Lansing,
Michigan. Document supplied.

September 2, 1992: Speaker, Conference of the Organized Crime Drug
Enforcement Task Force, U.S. Department of Justice, San Antonio, Texas.
Document supplied. Press coverage supplied.

August 27, 1992: Speaker, Presentation to Sexual Assault Conference, New York,
New York. Document supplied.

August 18, 1992: Speaker, Presentation to National Organization for Victim
Assistance, Kansas City, Missouri. Document supplied. Press coverage supplied.

August 10, 1992: Speaker, 35th Annual Convention, Southern Christian
Leadership Conference, Dayton, Ohio. Document supplied. Press coverage
supplied.

August 5, 1992: Speaker, Presentation to Knights of Columbus, New York, New
York. Document supplied.

August 3, 1992: Speaker, Presentation to Congress of Corrections, American
Correctional Association, San Antonio, Texas. Document supplied.

July 29, 1992 Speaker, “Crime, Poverty, and the Family,” Heritage Foundation,
Washington, DC. Document supplied.

July 28, 1992: Speaker, “Combatting Violent Crime: 24 Recommendations to
Strengthen Criminal Justice,” Department of Justice, Washington, DC. Document

supplied.

Mid-1992 (approximate): Speaker, Weed & Seed Steering Committee, Fort
Worth, Texas. Notes supplied.

July 22, 1992: Speaker, Presentation to FBI National Academy Associates,
Section I National Training Conference, Fort Worth, Texas. Document supplied.

July 20, 1992: Speaker, “Combatting Violent Crime in America,” Presentation to
Florida Sheriffs Association, Fort Meyers, Florida. Document supplied.

July 8, 1992: Speaker, Southeast Region Summit on Violent Crime, United States



250

Department of Justice, Charlotte, North Carolina. I spoke about the need to fund
law enforcement. [ have no notes, transcript, or recording. The address of the US
Department of Justice is 950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW, Washington, DC 20530.
Press coverage supplied.

June 23, 1992: Speaker, “Immigration and Violent Crime,” Presentation at Town
Hall of California Luncheon, Los Angeles, California. Document supplied. Video
available at https://www.c-span.org/video/?26762-1/immigration-violent-crime.

June 21, 1992: Speaker, Presentation to National Sheriffs Association, San Diego,
California. Transcript supplied.

June 7, 1992: Speaker, Remarks for Receiving the Humanitarian Award, Agudath
Israel of America 70th Anniversary Dinner, New York, New York. Document
supplied. Press report supplied.

May 31, 1992: Speaker, Commencement Speech, George Washington University
National Law Center, Washington, DC. Document supplied.

May 24, 1992: Speaker, Commencement Speech, Catholic University of America
Law School, Washington, DC. Copy supplied.

May 21, 1992: Speaker, Presentation at California Peace Officers’ Association
72nd Annual Training Conference, Palm Springs, California. Document supplied.

May 20, 1992: Speaker, Brent Society Awards Dinner, Brent Society of the
Roman Catholic Diocese of Arlington, Arlington, Virginia, Document supplied.

May 14, 1992: Speaker, Presentation at Citizens Crime Commission of the
Delaware Valley Annual Law Enforcement Appreciation Day Luncheon,
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. Document supplied.

May 14, 1992: Speaker, Presentation at National Troopers Coalition Conference,
Linthicum, Maryland. Document supplied.

May 11, 1992: Speaker, Swearing-In of Deputy Attorney General and Associate
Attorney General, Department of Justice, Washington, DC. I made remarks at the
swearing-in of Department of Justice officials. I have no notes, transcript, or
recording. The address of the Department of Justice is 950 Pennsylvania Ave
NW, Washington, DC 20530. Press coverage supplied.

May 8, 1992: Speaker, Presentation at Greater Dallas Crime Commission
Luncheon, Dallas, Texas. Document supplied.

April 30, 1992: Speaker, Grand Rapids Rotary and Economics Club, Grand
Rapids, Michigan. Notes supplied.
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April 30, 1992: Speaker, Press Conference Re: Rodney King, U.S. Department of
Justice, Washington, DC. Document supplied.

April 27, 1992, Speaker, “Expanding Capacity for Serious Offenders,” Attorney
General’s Summit on Corrections, McLean, Virginia. Remarks supplied.

April 24, 1992: Speaker, Presentation at Victims Rights Week Ceremony in the
Rose Garden, Washington, DC. Document supplied.

April 23, 1992: Speaker, Presentation to Leaders of Victims Groups, Philadelphia,
Pennsylvania. Document supplied. Press coverage supplied.

April 22, 1992: Speaker, Presentation to Pittsburgh Rotary Club, Pittsburgh,
Pennsylvania. Document supplied.

April 11, 1992: Speaker, Presentation at Baylor University School of Law 1992
Law Day Banquet, Waco, Texas. Document supplied.

April 9, 1992: Speaker, Press Conference Re: Noriega Verdict, U.S. Department
of Justice, Washington, DC. Document supplied.

April 6, 1992: Speaker, “Weed & Seed,” U.S. Department of Justice,
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. Notes supplied. Press report supplied.

April 6, 1992: Speaker, “Weed & Seed,” U.S. Department of Justice, Richmond,
Virginia. I spoke about the Department’s “Weed & Seed” program. I have no
notes, transcript, or recording. The address of the Department of Justice is 950
Pennsylvania Ave NW, Washington, DC 20530. Press coverage supplied in
response to entry above.

April 1, 1992: Speaker, Governor’s Conference on Juvenile Crime, Drugs and
Gangs, Milwaukee, Wisconsin. Remarks and press coverage supplied.

March 27, 1992: Speaker, Presentation to International Brotherhood of Police
Officers, Boston, Massachusetts. Document supplied.

March 25, 1992: Speaker, Presentation at Mid-America Committee Luncheon,
Chicago, Hllinois. Document supplied.

March 23, 1992: Speaker, Presentation at Economic Club of Detroit Luncheon,
Detroit, Michigan. Document supplied.

March 19, 1992: Speaker, Maryland Summit on Violent Street Crime, Baltimore,
Maryland. | discussed strategies for combating violent crime. I have no notes,
transcript, or recording. I do not know the sponsoring organization, if any, for this
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event. Press report supplied.

March 1, 1992: Speaker, Presentation at United States Attorneys’ National
Conference, U.S. Department of Justice, Orlando, Florida. Document supplied.
Press coverage supplied.

February 11, 1992: Speaker, Greater Dallas Crime Commission, Dallas, Texas. 1
discussed crime policy. I have no notes, transcript, or recording. The address of

the Greater Dallas Crime Commission is 400 South Zang Boulevard, Suite C60,

Dallas, Texas 75208. Press coverage supplied.

February 10, 1992: Speaker, San Diego Chamber of Commerce, San Diego,
California. Copy supplied. Press coverage supplied.

February 9, 1992: Speaker, Law Enforcement Leaders of the San Diego
Community, San Diego, California. Notes supplied.

February 8, 1992: Speaker, Fifteenth Annual Law School Dinner, Pepperdine
University School of Law, Biltmore Hotel, Los Angeles, California. I do not
recall the topic of my remarks. 1 have no notes, transcript, or recording. The
address of the Pepperdine University School of Law is 24255 Pacific Coast
Highway, Malibu, California 90263.

February 8, 1992: Judge, 18th Annual Vincent S. Dalsimer Moot Court
Competition, Pepperdine University School of Law, Malibu, California. 1 served
as a judge at a moot court competition. I have no notes, transcript, or recording.
The address of the Pepperdine University School of Law is 24255 Pacific Coast
Highway, Malibu, California 90263.

February 7, 1992: Speaker, Executive Training Session, Federal Executive
Institute Alumni Association, Washington, DC. I spoke at the Alumni
Association’s executive training session. I have no notes, transcript, or recording.
The address of the U.S. Department of Justice is 950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW,
Washington, DC 20530.

January 31, 1992: Speaker, Presentation at Attorney General’s 40th Annual
Awards Ceremony, U.S. Department of Justice, Washington, DC. Speech
supplied.

January 30, 1992: Speaker, About Face Program, Memphis, Tennessee. |
discussed the “About Face” program for young drug offenders. [ have no notes,
transcript, or recording. The address of the U.S. Department of Justice is 950
Pennsylvania Avenue, NW, Washington, DC 20530. Press report supplied.

January 30, 1992: Presenter, Ceremony Presenting Check to Tennessee Highway
Patrol, Mempbhis, Tennessee. I presented funds recovered from a cocaine-
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smuggling operation. I have no notes, transcript, or recording. The address of the
Tennessee Highway Patrol, District Four Headquarters, is 6348 Summer Avenue,
Memphis, Tennessee 38134. Press coverage supplied.

January 15, 1992: Speaker, Address to the Law Enforcement Coordinating
Committee, Houston, Texas. I discussed the Department’s efforts to help states
address court-imposed limits on prison populations. I have no notes, transcript, or
recording. The address of the U.S. Department of Justice is 950 Pennsylvania
Avenue, NW, Washington, DC 20530. Representative press reports supplied.

January 14, 1992: Speaker, Presentation at 1992 Winter Conference, California
District Attorneys Association, Palm Springs, California. Speech supplied.
Representative press reports supplied.

December 23, 1991 (approximate): Speaker, Reception at Boys & Girls Clubs of
America Honoring Nike, Beaverton, Oregon. I spoke at a luncheon honoring Nike
in recognition of its support for children from disadvantaged circumstances. |
have no notes, transcript, or recording. The address of the Boys & Girls Club of
America is 1275 Peachtree Street Northeast, Atlanta, Georgia. Press report
supplied.

December 18, 1991: Speaker, 1991 Winter Conference Luncheon, Illinois State’s
Attorneys Association, Chicago, Illinois. Speech supplied. Press reports supplied.

December 11, 1991: Speaker, Presentation at National Board Meeting and
Recognition Luncheon, Boys and Girls Club of America, New York, New York.
Speech supplied.

December 4, 1991: Speaker, Presentation of Proceeds of Drug Asset Forfeiture
Program, London, United Kingdom. 1 delivered a check to the British government
in recognition of British detective work in uncovering money-laundering
networks. [ have no notes, transcript, or recording. The address of the United
States Department of Justice is 950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW, Washington, DC
20530. Press report supplied.

November 26, 1991: Speaker, Swearing-in Ceremony of William P. Barr as 77th
Attorney General of the United States, United States Department of Justice,
Washington, DC. Video available at: https://www.c-span.org/video/?23005-
1/attorney-general-swearing. Press report supplied.

November 1, 1991: Presenter, Ceremony Honoring Justice Clarence Thomas,
Supreme Court of the United States, Washington, DC. 1 presented a proclamation
from President Bush appointing Justice Thomas to the Supreme Court of the
United States. I have no notes, transcript, or recording. The address of the
Supreme Court of the United States is 1 First Street NE, Washington, DC 20543.
Press report supplied.
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October 16, 1991: Speaker, Attorney General Nomination Announcement, The
White House, Washington, DC. Video available at: https://www.c-
span.org/video/?22079-1/attorney-general-nomination-announcement. Press
report supplied.

October 14, 1991: Speaker, Columbus Day Quincentenary Celebration, National
Christopher Columbus Association, Washington DC. I made remarks
commemorating Columbus Day. I have no notes, transcript, ot recording. The
address of the National Christopher Columbus Association is 5034 Wisconsin
Avenue NW, Washington, DC 20016. Press coverage supplied.

October 7, 1991: Speaker, 98th Conference of the International Chiefs of Police,
Minneapolis, Minnesota. Copy supplied.

October 4, 1991: Speaker, Presentation at CFC Campaign Kickoff, United States
Department of Justice, Washington, DC. Speech supplied.

October 2, 1991: Speaker, Crime Stoppers International Annual Conference,
Louisville, Kentucky. Speech supplied.

September 26, 1991: Speaker, Multinational Conference on Asian Organized
Crime, San Francisco, California. Speech supplied. Press report supplied.

September 23, 1991: Speaker, Presentation at the Signing Ceremony of the United
States-EC Antitrust Cooperation Agreement, Washington, DC. Speech supplied.

September 19, 1991: Speaker, Presentation at National Hispanic Heritage
Ceremony, U.S. Department of Justice, Washington, DC. Speech supplied.

August 23, 1991: Speaker, Ground-Breaking Ceremony, FBI Identification
Center, Clarksburg, West Virginia. Speech supplied.

August 15, 1991: Speaker, “Farewell Address to Department of Justice,”
Department of Justice, Washington, DC. Video available at: https:/www.c-
span.org/video/?20587-1/farewell-address-department-justice. Press reports
supplied.

July 9, 1991: Speaker, Department of Justice Presentation of Drug Asset
Forfeiture Funds to Pennsylvania and New Jersey Law Enforcement Agencies,
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. I presented funds seized in federal investigations to
law enforcement agencies. | have no notes, transcript, or recording. The address
of the Department of Justice is 950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW, Washington, DC.
20530. Press report supplied.

June 7, 1991: Panelist, “Crime in the Streets: Must it Produce Congestion in the

14
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District Courts?” Judicial Conference of the District of Columbia Circuit,
Williamsburg, Virginia. Transcript supplied.

May 2, 1991: Panelist, “First Amendment v. National Security,” Federal
Communications Bar & American Bar Association, Washington, DC. Video
available at: https://www.c-span.org/video/?17804-1/amendment-v-national-

security.

March 20, 1991: Speaker, Department of Justice Presentation of Asset Forfeiture
Funds to New England Law Enforcement Agencies, Boston, Massachusetts. [
presented seized funds to local officials for use in financing drug investigations. I
have no notes, transcript, or recording. The address of the Department of Justice is
950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW, Washington, DC 20530. Press report supplied.

March 4, 1991: Panelist, “Preparing for Crime in the Future,” The 1991 Crime
Summit, Washington, DC. Video available at: https://www.c~
span.org/video/?16940-1/preparing-crime-future.

February 1991: Moderator, “Panel I: Should the Bill of Rights Fully Protect
Fundamental Freedoms?” Federalist Society Symposium on Law and Public
Policy, Federalist Society, New Haven, Connecticut. Published remarks supplied.

Late 1990: Speaker, “Strengthening the Rule of Law in the War Against Drugs
and Narco-Terrorism,” American Bar Association Standing Committee on Law
and National Security, Washington, DC. I spoke about possible measures in the
global war on drugs. I have no notes, transcript, or recording. The address of the
American Bar Association is 321 North Clark Street, Chicago, Hlinois 60654,
Press report supplied.

January 20, 1990: Panelist, “The Appropriations Power and the Necessary and
Proper Clause,” The Federalist Society. Video available at: https://www.c-
span.org/video/?10707-1/appropriation-power.
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During my lifetime, [ have given innumerable interviews to publications and have
appeared on many radio and television programs. I have not kept records for
almost any of those interviews or appearances. The following materials that
appear to have involved an interview, press statement, or media appearance of
mine were compiled after a review of my own records and through searches of
publicly available records by persons acting on my behalf.

Carol D. Leonnig, Trump Considering D.C. Lawyer to Replace McGahn, Wash.
Post, Sept. 2, 2018, at A4. Copy supplied.

Jeff D’ Alessio, Supreme Court Vacancy: Prepare for a Game-Changer, Experts
Say, News-Gazette (Champaign-Urbana, IL), July 8, 2018. Copy supplied.

Matt Zapotosky and Sari Horwitz, ‘We Just Need to Keep Pushing on’: Why
Trump’s Attacks Won't Make Jeff Sessions Quit, Wash. Post, June 5, 2018. Copy
supplied.

Kevin Johnson and David Jackson, Under Fire, Attorney General Sessions Silent
No Longer, Daily Advertiser (Lafayette, LA), Mar. 2, 2018, at A4. Copy supplied.
Reprinted in multiple outlets.

Jake Gibson, Gillibrand, Said to Have Her Eye on 2020, Vows to Block Key
Trump DOJ Appointee, Fox News, Jan. 18, 2018. Copy supplied.

Matt Zapotosky, No Sign Top Justice Dept. Jobs Will Be Filled Anytime Soon,
Wash. Post, Jan. 8, 2018, at A5. Copy supplied.

Peter Baker, ‘Lock Her Up’ Becomes More than a Slogan, N.Y. Times, Nov. 14,
2017. Copy supplied.

Philip Rucker and Matt Zapotosky, Trump Flouts Protocol, Pushes for Probe of
Democratic Party, Wash. Post, Nov. 5, 2017, at A1. Copy supplied. Reprinted in
multiple outlets.

Kevin Johnson, Trump’s Demand Raises Ethical Issues; Sessions Resisted Notion
of Reviving Clinton Inquiry, Dem. & Chron. (Rochester, NY), July 26, 2017, at
B2. Copy supplied.

Matt Zapotosky, Mueller Team’s Past Political Donations Under Microscope,
Wash. Post, July 6, 2017, at A4. Copy supplied.

Cavuto Coast to Coast, Fox Business Network, May 11, 2017. Available online at
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=gH550abkq40.

Steven Nelson, FBI Director Firing in Early "90s Had Some Similarities to
Comey Quster, U.S. News & World Rep., May 10, 2017. Copy supplied.



258

Glenn Kessler, Was it Appropriate for Trump and Comey to Discuss Whether
Trump was Under Investigation?, Wash. Post, May 10, 2017. Copy supplied.

Cavuto Coast to Coast, Fox Business, Feb. 2, 2017. Available online at
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=g-yqoaTbJkw.

Art Moore, Black Leaders Rebut Sessions Racism Charges, WorldNetDaily, Jan.
9, 2017. Copy supplied.

Cavuto Coast to Coast, Fox Business, Nov, 18, 2016. Available online at
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=74pnXFQFEsE.

Och-Ziff Appoints William P Barr to Board of Directors, U.S. Official News
(Pakistan), Sept. 2, 2016. Copy supplied.

Kevin Diaz, Baylor sex scandal blights Starr’s image and legacy; From
Whitewater to Waco, different picture emerges, Houston Chron., June 4, 2016, at
Al. Copy supplied.

Matt Apuzzo, Attorney General Sets New Agenda, N.Y. Times, Apr. 24, 2015.
Copy supplied.

Bobbi Bowman, Five Things to Know About Dominion Power, McLean Patch,
July 6, 2012. Copy supplied.

Helene Cooper and Peter Baker, Administration Opens Inguiries into Oil
Disaster, N.Y. Times, June 2, 2010. Copy supplied.

Former U.S. Attorney General William P. Barr Joins Time Warner’s Board of
Directors, Bus. Wire, July 23, 2009. Copy supplied.

Joe Palazzolo, Old Hands on Deck; Veteran Lawyers May Fill the top Two Legal
Spots in the Obama Administration, Corp. Counsel, Feb. 1, 2009, at 65. Copy
supplied. Reprinted in multiple outlets.

Jeff Jeffrey, Former AG William Barr Joins Kirkland & Ellis, Corp. Counsel, Jan.
8, 2009. Copy supplied. Reprinted in multiple outlets.

Joe Palazzolo, Obama Taps Washington’s Legal Reserves, Legal Times, Nov. 24,
2008. Copy supplied.

Amol Sharma, Verizon’s Barr Plans to Retire, Wall Street J., Sept. 30, 2008.
Copy supplied.

Verizon General Counsel William P. Barr Announces Retivement, PR Newswire,
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Sept. 29, 2008. Copy supplied.

Drew Combs, 4 Firm of Equals, The Am. Lawyer, July 1, 2008. Copy supplied.
Reprinted in multiple outlets.

MeCain Endorsed by Former U.S. Attorney General Bill Barr, U.S. Federal
News, Jan. 28, 2008. Copy supplied.

Amy Miller, The GCs’ Choice: Obama; Barack Obama is the favorite for
campaign donations from the highest-paid general counsel, Corp. Counsel, Jan. 4,

2008. Copy supplied.

Lara Jakes Jordan, Mukasey Sworn In as Attorney General, Associated Press,
Nov. 10, 2007. Copy supplied.

Homework for Mukasey, Legal Times, Oct. 29, 2007. Copy supplied.

Jon Ward, Legal Counsel Leadership a Bush Priority; Senate Approval a
Roadblock, Wash. Times, Sept. 20, 2007. Copy supplied.

Keith Ecker, Manual Labor, Inside Counsel, Sept. 1, 2007. Copy supplied.

Richard B. Schmidt, Two-Year Sentence for Libby; Talk Turns to Pardon, L.A.
Times, June 6, 2007. Copy supplied.

Jason McLure and Emma Schwartz, At DOJ, a Hard Job to Fill, Legal Times,
May 21, 2007. Copy supplied. Reprinted in multiple outlets.

Evan Perez, Politics & Economics: Gonzalez Deputy, in Crossfire, Looks for
Quiet Exit, Wall St. J., Apr. 16, 2007. Copy supplied.

Anna Palmer, Stand By Me, Corp. Counsel, Mar, 2007. Copy supplied. Reprinted
in multiple outlets.

Businesses Blast Official’s Detainee Spiel, The Daily Report (Fulton County,
GA), Jan. 24, 2007. Copy supplied.

Anna Palmer, Unintended Consequences, Legal Times, Jan. 22, 2007. Copy
supplied. Reprinted in multiple outlets.

Keith Ecker, Verizon Communications Inc. Discovering Solutions, Inside
Counsel, Sept. 1, 2006. Copy supplied.

Michael Aneiro, Dick Thornburgh, The Am. Lawyer, Sept. 2006. Copy supplied.

Tamara Loomis, The Untouchables, The Am. Lawyer, Sept. 2006. Copy supplied.
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Reprinted in multiple outlets.

Mark Sherman, Gonzales Slated to Defend Bush Spy Program, Associated Press,
Feb. 5, 2006. Copy supplied.

Susan Beck, The Right Size: At Munger, It 's Not How Many, It’s How Good, The
Am. Lawyer, Jan. 2006. Copy supplied. Reprinted in multiple outlets.

Peter Baker and Jim VandeHei, Clash Is Latest Chapter in Bush Effort to Widen
Executive Power, Wash. Post, Dec. 21, 2005. Copy supplied.

Vanessa Blum, Top Priority: His Company, Corp. Counsel, Dec. 1, 2005. Copy
supplied. Reprinted in multiple outlets.

Vanessa Blum, McNulty's New Mission, Legal Times, Oct. 31, 2005. Copy
supplied. Reprinted in multiple outlets.

Emma Schwartz, Government Lawyers Are in Demand, Corporations Find D.C.

Veterans Useful for Navigating the Capital, Nat’l L.J., Oct. 24, 2005. Copy
supplied. Reprinted in multiple outlets.

Vanessa Blum, Delay Reaction, Legal Times, Oct. 17, 2005. Copy supplied.
Reprinted in multiple outlets.

Kimberly Palmer, Fraud Squad, Gov’t Exec., Oct. 15, 2005. Copy supplied.

Emma Schwartz, Capital Hires; In the News, Corp. Counsel, Oct. 2005. Copy
supplied. Reprinted in multiple outlets.

David Hechler, 4 Cherished Experience; Corporate Counsels Rarely Argue
Before U.S. Supreme Court, N.Y. L.J., Sept. 15, 2005, at 17. Copy supplied.
Reprinted in multiple outlets.

David Hechler, GCs Before High Court Are a Rarity, National Law Journal, Aug.
29, 2005. Copy supplied. Reprinted in multiple outlets.

Emma Schwartz, Companies Chase Exiting Officials, Legal Times, Aug. 22,
2005. Copy supplied. Reprinted in multiple outlets.

Tom Brune and John Riley, Roberts’ Role in '91 Abortion Case Again Under
Scrutiny, Newsday, Aug. 15, 2005. Copy supplied.

Nancy Benac, Nominee s Lineage: Part Plainspoken Hoosier, Part Creature of
Washington, Associated Press, July 21, 2005. Copy supplied.

The Charlie Rose Show, PBS, July 19, 2005. Copy supplied.
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Vanessa Blum, The Quiet Man, Legal Times, July 18, 2005. Copy supplied.

Charles Lane and Jerry Markon, Similar Appeal; Different Styles; Two Judges
Seen as Potential Supreme Court Nominees Share Conservatives’ Approval,
Wash. Post, July 17, 2005. Copy supplied.

Brit Hume, Interview with William Barr, Fox Special Report, June 20, 2005.
Transcript supplied.

Siobhan Gorman et al., Justice Department, Nat’l Journal, June 18, 2005. Copy
supplied. Reprinted in multiple outlets.

Verizon Authorized to Create Trust in Connection with Purchase of 43.4 Million
MCI Shares, PR Newswire, May 13, 2005. Copy supplied.

Leigh Jones, Kirkland & Ellis Gets a Black Eye — For Now, National Law
Journal, Apr. 4, 2005. Copy supplied. Reprinted in multiple outlets.

Charles Lane, To Some, ‘Chief Justice Scalia’ Has a Certain Ring, Wash. Post,
Jan. 30, 2005. Copy supplied.

Tim Golden, After Terror, a Secret Rewriting of Military Law, N.Y. Times, Oct.
24, 2004. Copy supplied.

Verizon Calls FCC Action on CALEA Positive Step, PR Newswire, Aug. 4, 2004.
Copy supplied.

Kathleen Kocks, Good Shepherds, GWU Law School Alumni Magazine, Summer
2004. Copy supplied.

Verizon Encouraged by New York Proposal, PR Newswire, Mar. 30, 2004. Copy
supplied.

Appeals Judge Upholds FCC'’s Broadband Rules, Rider Research, Mar. 6, 2004.
Copy supplied.

Susan Beck, How O’Melveny and Myers Built a Litigation Powerhouse, Legal
Times, Jan. 12, 2004. Copy supplied. Reprinted in multiple outlets.

Shawn Young and Dennis K. Berman, MCI's Re-Emergence Portends Tougher
Telecom Competition, Nov. 3, 2003, at B4. Copy supplied.

Christopher Stern, Judge Clears WorldCom’s Reorganization, Wash. Post, Nov.
2, 2003. Copy supplied.
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Griff Witte, Federal Ban Doesn’'t Hurt WorldCom Much, Wash. Post, Oct. 24,
2003. Copy supplied.

Chris Mondics, Portrait of a Corporate Debacle, Philadelphia Inquirer, Oct. 19,
2003. Copy supplied.

Robert D. Novak, Ground the Flying Diplomats, Wash. Post, Sept. 25, 2003.
Copy supplied.

Bell Asks D.C. Appeals Court to Force FCC fo Change UNE Order,
Communications Daily, Aug. 29, 2003. Copy supplied.

Siobhan Roth, Searching for a New Number Two, Legal Times, Aug. 18, 2003.
Copy supplied.

I appeared on John McLaughlin’s One on One on August 3, 2003. I have no
recording or transcript of this interview.

Almar Latour, Dennis K. Berman and Yochi J. Dreazen, Getting Through: How
Rivals’ Long Campaign Against MCI Gained Traction — Drive by Verizon's Barr
Leads to Probes, Delay of Bankruptcy Hearing — Seeking the 'Death Penalty’,
Wall St. J., Aug. 1, 2003, at A1. Copy supplied.
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